



Electronic Journal of Folklore 55

Folklore

Electronic Journal of Folklore http://www.folklore.ee/folklore Printed version Vol. 55 2013

Folk Belief and Media Group of the Estonian Literary Museum

Estonian Institute of Folklore

Folklore

Electronic Journal of Folklore Vol. 55

Edited by Mare Kõiva & Andres Kuperjanov Guest editors: Tõnno Jonuks & Ester Oras

Tartu 2013

Editor in chief Co-editor Guest editors Copy editor News and reviews Design Layout Mare Kõiva Andres Kuperjanov Tõnno Jonuks & Ester Oras Tiina Mällo Piret Voolaid Andres Kuperjanov Diana Kahre

Editorial board 2008–2014: Dan Ben-Amos (University of Pennsylvania, USA), Larisa Fialkova (University of Haifa, Israel), Diane Goldstein (Memorial University of Newfoundland, Canada), Terry Gunnell (University of Iceland), Jawaharlal Handoo (University of Mysore, India), Frank Korom (Boston University, USA), Monika Kropej (Institute of Slovenian Ethnology), Kristin Kuutma (University of Tartu, Estonia), Aado Lintrop (Estonian Literary Museum), Wolfgang Mieder (University of Vermont, USA), Irina Sedakova (Russian Academy of Sciences).

Electronic version is supported by Estonian Science Foundation (grant no. 8137).

Printed version is supported by state programme projects EKKM09-168 and EKKM09-170.

Indexed in EBSCO Publishing Humanities International Complete, Thomson Reuters Arts & Humanities Citation Index, MLA International Bibliography, Ulrich's Periodicals Directory, Internationale Volkskundliche Bibliographie / International Folklore Bibliography / Bibliographie Internationale d'Ethnologie), DOAJ, C.E.E.O.L., ERIH (B)

Editorial address:

Folklore: Electronic Journal of Folklore Vanemuise 42–235 51003 Tartu Estonia phone: +372 737 7740 fax: +372 737 7706 e-mail: folklore@folklore.ee home page: http://www.folklore.ee/folklore

All rights reserved

© Folk Belief and Media Group of the Estonian Literary Museum EKM Teaduskirjastus/ELM Scholarly Press Estonian Institute of Folklore Authors Design Andres Kuperjanov

ISSN 1406-0957 doi:10.7592/FEJF2013.55

www.folklore.ee/folklore

CONTENTS

Archaeology of Holiness: Session Held at the 12th Nordic TAG Conference in Oulu, Finland, April 26–27, 2012 Ester Oras, Tõnno Jonuks	
Hulje: Calendrical Rites along a Small Stream Maria Petersson	11
Archaeology and Ritual: A Case Study on Traces of Ritualisation in Archaeological Remains from Lindängelund, Southern Sweden Anne Carlie	49
To Be or Not to Be a Christian: Some New Perspectives on Understanding the Christianisation of Estonia Tõnno Jonuks, Tuuli Kurisoo	69
Finding Folk Religion: An Archaeology of 'Strange' Behaviour Sonja Hukantaival	99
Sacrifice or Offering: What Can We See in the Archaeology of Northern Europe? Ester Oras	125
Materiality of Religion: Religion-Related Artefacts in Estonian Archaeological Collections Tõnno Jonuks, Ester Oras, Kristiina Johanson	151

NEWS IN BRIEF

The Seven-Year Conference Series about Holy Places Had a Worthy Ending in	
St. Petersburg. Tõnno Jonuks	177
International Symposium "Charms on Paper, Charms in Practice".	
Andrey Toporkov	181

Book reviews

Masterworks of Ancient Greece. Neeme Näripä	
Supernatural Beings in Slovenian Folklore. Reet Hiiemäe	190
Rescued Epics. Dmitri Funk, Elena Nam	
Reflections on the Fight against the Image of Shamanism. Art Leete	194

ARCHAEOLOGY OF HOLINESS: SESSION HELD AT THE 12TH NORDIC TAG CONFERENCE IN OULU, FINLAND, APRIL 26–27, 2012

Ester Oras, Tõnno Jonuks

This special issue of the journal is dedicated to the archaeology of religion. It is based on papers presented at the session *Archaeology of Holiness* at the 12th Nordic Theoretical Archaeology Group meeting in Oulu in 2012.

The session was initiated by the research project *The Materiality of Religion*: Religious Artefacts in Estonian Archaeological Collections, financed by the Estonian Research Foundation (ETF 8956) in 2010-2013. The main results and general conclusions of our project are discussed in this volume (see Jonuks et al. pp. 151-176). One of the aims of the project was to discuss the theoretical and methodological issues of the archaeology of religion. This led to a more general discussion about the terminology, including the meaning of this particular notion, which resulted in discussing the concept of 'holiness' in the archaeology of religion. Why namely holiness? Archaeology of religion is tightly connected with the concept of ritual. Our aim was to push the discussion further from and beyond this main focus and change the debate from religion and ritual to the numinous part of past religions. There are also other similar attempts made for using such alternative concepts (see, e.g., Rountree 2012). It is true that the further we step from the actual sources and physical remains of rituals in particular, the more speculative the interpretations will be. Nevertheless, we believe that it is important to bear in mind the mental background of religious practices and to speculate about those parts of religion that do not leave direct traces for archaeology. This led us to organising the session at the 12th Nordic TAG Conference, which resulted in seven interesting papers on the relationships between the concept of holiness and the archaeology of religion in the Baltic Sea area, five of which are published in this volume.



A selection of different pendants (AI 1977) found in Cēsis (Võnnu), Latvia, in 1888. Photo by Tõnno Jonuks 2013.

During the session the question of terminology appeared as a key-feature in several papers. These discussions also gain a significant position in the following articles. In fact, definitions and explanations of terms and concepts should be central in our studies. However, we have witnessed numerous cases, in which a loose usage of terminology ends with problems in final conclusions. Such an outstanding position of terminology in relation to religious studies led us to the next session, *Archaeology of Religion: Thinking about Terminology*, at the 34th Annual Conference of the Theoretical Archaeology Group, Central TAG, in Liverpool, in the same year.

This volume is organised from concrete topics and case studies to more general discussions. The first two articles, by Maria Petersson and Anne Carlie, are dedicated to the topics of rituals and ritualisation in archaeology. They both concentrate on the Swedish archaeological material from around the first half of the first millennium AD, providing very interesting case studies of deposits of simple and mundane objects relating to various Iron Age ritual activities. Both of these articles open up questions related to interpreting various private and communal rituals and their relation to contemporary social developments.

The following three articles discuss in addition to religion, also terms and concepts. Tõnno Jonuks and Tuuli Kurisoo focus on the concepts of Christianity in Iron Age and Early Medieval Estonia. They discuss both theoretical and practical issues of what constitutes Christianity and the idea of conversion in the prehistory, presenting examples from Estonian material. Sonja Hukantaival analyses terminology-related issues in relation to folk religion and magic. She emphasises the multifaceted development of the widely used but underanalysed idea of folk religion and its relation to contemporaneous official religious systems, and possibilities for studying folk religion, with case studies from Finnish historical material. The last paper in this volume by Ester Oras focuses on the specific terms of 'sacrifice' and 'offering'. The definitions and use of those concepts in anthropology and religious studies are introduced, and the problems of applying those ideas to archaeological material, especially on the example of intentional artefact deposits, are discussed. The section of articles ends with an overview paper about a three-year project that was dedicated to the materiality of religion and to the discussion about terminology in the archaeology of religion. The first preliminary results will be presented about the mapping of religion-related objects in Estonian archaeology collections, which will be followed by a short discussion about terminology.

We hope that the readers will benefit from the papers in this volume in their contributions to wider theoretical and terminology-related issues in the archaeology of religion and in tracing holiness in archaeological material, but also in the interesting case studies that they provide. We hope to provide a small section of some of the topical issues in this field around the Baltic Sea area in the early 2010s.

Finally, we are very grateful to all the presenters who were kindly willing to participate in our session and, furthermore, found some time to write an article for this special issue of *Folklore*. Unfortunately, not all of the presentations evolved into an article. However, we hope that these valuable thoughts will be used in some other forms. We would also like to thank our audience for their fruitful ideas and contributions to further discussions. As clearly exemplified in this session, further formal and informal debates, but also in the current volume of articles, the discussions are lively and waiting to be developed further. We are convinced that the archaeological material and theoretical debates deriving from these topics will provide plenty of food for thoughts in the decades to come.

REFERENCE

Rountree, Kathryn 2012. Introduction: Exploring New Approaches to the Archaeology of Spiritualities. In: K. Rountree & C. Morris & A. Peatfield (eds.) *Archaeology* of Spiritualities. Springer, pp. V–XII.

HULJE: CALENDRICAL RITES ALONG A SMALL STREAM

Maria Petersson

Abstract: In 2010, a ceremonial site dated to the Late Bronze Age and the Iron Age was excavated. The name of the site is Hulje and it is situated a couple of kilometres to the north of the town of Mjölby in Östergötland (East Gothland) County, Sweden. A small rocky hillock with several hundred cup-marks dominates the area of the ceremonial site. Approximately 50 metres from the site, a small stream once flowed. From the Late Bronze Age and Early Pre-Roman Iron Age to Early Medieval Times (c. 700 BC–AD 1100) the area around the stream was a site of activities charged with religious meaning. There were cooking pits of an exceptional size, in which most probably ceremonial meals were prepared. Fire-cracked stones and other waste materials from ceremonial meals were specially treated and deposited in the bed of the stream or along its banks. A few boulders might have constituted the foundation of a platform projecting out into the stream. Dug into the side of the stream there was a well, in which religious ceremonies were held, mainly during the Early Roman Iron Age (AD 1–200). Extremely well-preserved wooden artefacts have been found in this context.

In this article, my aim is to give quite a detailed overview of the site and the excavations. Some further aspects to be discussed concern the type of the site, the origin of the people who performed the ceremonies that we can see traces of, the time when the ceremonies were performed, and their purpose. Finally, Hulje is compared to other similar sites in Sweden.

Keywords: Iron Age, Old Norse religion, ritual meals, sacrifices, well, wooden objects

INTRODUCTION

In 2010, the excavation section of the Swedish National Heritage Board (RAÄ), UV Öst, conducted an archaeological excavation of a ritual site dated to the Iron Age (Petersson 2013a). The name of the site is Hulje and it is situated a couple of kilometres to the north of the town of Mjölby in Östergötland County, Sweden (Fig. 1).



Figure 1. The location of Hulje in western Östergötland, Sweden. Map by Lars Östlin, RAÄ.

The remains discovered at the site might best be described in ritual terms. Amongst many other remains, traces of meals dated to around 700 BC–AD 1100 were found. Furthermore, exceptionally well-preserved wooden artefacts dated to the Early Roman Iron Age were recovered from a well.

In this article, my aim is to give quite a detailed description of the site and the excavations. The reason for this is that there have been few excavations in Sweden of similar sites; this is due to their location in the landscape and their unassuming assemblages of finds. An approach based on a landscape perspective and on comparative religion was included in the theoretical background used to make the site apprehensible. These theoretical perspectives constitute the starting point in discussions concerned with the type of the site, the origin of the people who performed the ceremonies that we see traces of, the time when the ceremonies were performed, and their purpose. Finally, Hulje is compared to other similar sites in Sweden.

THE SETTING

Hulje is situated in a slightly undulating countryside, on the edges of the Östgöta Plain. The area constitutes a spatially well-defined prehistoric section of the landscape delimited by burial sites, which demarcate and emphasise the topographic boundary (Molin 1999; cf. Fallgren 2006). In recent times, the southern part of this prehistoric landscape was farmland and the northern part was formerly marshy. Until recently, a stream flowed along the southern side of the marshy land. In the entire area, there were no less than 13 cup-mark sites; a notable number of these were located near running water (Fig. 2).

The Early Iron Age society in Östergötland was stratified (Petersson 2011). A current research project, focusing mainly on the region around Linköping (located 50 kilometres to the east of Hulje), has shown that the Iron Age society consisted of farmsteads of different sizes and of varying significance. The highest stratum appears to have consisted of large farmsteads, each of these dominating their local society. Scattered around the landscape, surrounding these large farmsteads, there were a number of smaller subordinate farms, which are assessed to have been heavily dependent on the larger farms. Moreover, there



Figure 2. The ceremonial site at Hulje was situated in the same place as the pond, in the middle of the picture. Photo by Rikard Hedvall 2010.

seem to have been medium-sized farms, which were relatively independent in their relation to the dominant farmsteads. Yet another stratum of society seems to have consisted of farm workers, who did not own land but who lived together at the large farmsteads.

In the surroundings of Hulje, the prehistoric remains could be interpreted as representing this type of social structure during the Roman Iron Age. Smaller settlement sites have been encountered, which were dispersed throughout this well-defined section of the prehistoric landscape. The large settlement site at Hulje (RAA 89), of which roughly half has been excavated, is situated in the centre of the spatially defined prehistoric landscape (Carlsson et al. 1996; Kaliff 1999; Petersson 2013b). There were traces at this site of permanent settlement dating from the Late Pre-Roman Iron Age to Roman Iron Age, as well as from the Migration Period (c. 200 BC-AD 550). Parts of a very large farm site (c. 50,000 square metres) were excavated. This site is best described by the Scandinavian term 'gårdstun', meaning a site with the farm buildings including the adjacent area regularly used for a diversity of activities. The farm site was divided into functionally separate parts, including a workshop area and an area with furnaces for producing iron. Farm sites of such a size, divided into functional areas, are characteristic of high-status farmsteads of the Early Iron Age (Petersson 2006: 37f.). The buildings belonging to this elite farmstead are estimated to have been situated outside the area so far excavated.

The extensive burial site, Kungshögagravfältet, on Mjölbyåsen Hill, with 125 registered features, dominates the landscape. It is situated at a distance of 300 metres from Hulje and could have functioned as the burial site of the large farmstead during both the Early and Late Iron Age. No substantial excavations have been conducted at the burial sites in the area, which makes it difficult to use the burials in any interpretation of the arrangement of society in this region.

Another high-status characteristic in the Hulje area is the paved road, dated to the Early Iron Age, on the eastern side of the settlement site. This road has been partly excavated (Carlsson et al. 1996: 56). Paved roads from this period have only been discovered in exceptional cases. However, a network of roads dated to the Early Iron Age, surfaced with fire-cracked stones and edged with larger stones, was recently discovered in the region of Linköping. This system of roads was related to a regional power centre established during the period around AD 1. The construction might have been inspired by the Roman art of building roads, although in Östergötland the road was surfaced with fire-cracked stones instead of a paving of flat stones (Petersson 2011). The roads seem to have passed close by the buildings of large farmsteads.

EXCAVATIONS AT HULJE

The excavated site at Hulje was located approximately 300 metres to the north of the large settlement site. Formerly, a stream flowed through the site, but currently the area is drained. The site is situated aside from other known settlement sites, in a shallow basin where the stream once flowed.

Around 60 metres to the east of the stream and 100 metres to the south of the excavated site, there is a small hillock constituting the highest point in the landscape. This is the site of Östergötland's second largest occurrence of cup-marks, containing 275 registered cup-marks.

In 1994, trial trenches were excavated between the hillock with cup-marks and the currently investigated site. Several hearths were discovered, but no postholes indicating prehistoric buildings (Zetterlund & Helander 1995). Nor were any traces of buildings found at the currently excavated site when the preliminary archaeological investigation was conducted in 2009 (Holm 2009). On that occasion, about ten test pits were excavated in an approximately 20-centimetre-thick layer beside the stream bed. The layer contained fire-cracked stones, unburnt animal bones, one or two potsherds and a blue glass bead. A few hearths were also observed. These remains were radiocarbon-dated to the Roman Iron Age. The character and geography of the site along with the assemblage of finds, particularly the bead, was a possible indication of ritual activities, although the archaeologist who performed the excavation also maintained that the site included profane features.

During the excavation in 2010, the stream bed was surveyed along a stretch of around 170 metres. In the surroundings of the entire section, there were traces of a variety of activities, but the remains were particularly concentrated in the lower part of the stream towards the outlet into the marshy stretch of land. There is a clear spatial division of the site. In part, this is chronological, but above all, it features a functional division (Fig. 3). The clearest and most easily understood traces are associated with meals. The exploration covered an area that was 18,500 square metres in size. The topsoil of 5,500 square metres was stripped with a machine excavator. Along with previously investigated parts, the examined area now amounts to 25,000 square metres. It should be particularly noted that there are still no traces of buildings.

Pollen analysis of the material in the well situated in the part of the site excavated in 2010 shows that the ground along the valley of the stream was intensively grazed (Bergman 2012).



Figure 3. The ceremonial site at Hulje. Illustration by Lars Östlin, RAÄ.

Cooking

By the side of the stream at the site at Hulje, meals were cooked in cooking pits and hearths dated to the period between the Late Bronze Age, the earliest part of the Pre-Roman Iron Age and the Vendel Period, continuing until the Early Middle Ages (about 700 BC–AD 1100). These hearths and cooking pits were considerably larger than those at other settlement sites dated to the same period (cf. Petersson 2001; Petersson 2004: 117ff.). The reason for the substantial size of the cooking pits was that food was cooked for so many more people than usual in normal everyday contexts.

On the site, there were two clearly defined areas where meals were cooked. One of them was an area, $25 \ge 25$ metres in size, situated on the western side of the former stream, on a slight slope down towards the stream bed (Fig. 4). Among other features within this area, there were 12 comparatively large hearths and cooking pits.



Figure 4. The area of large cooking pits. Photo by Maria Petersson 2010.

The other area used for cooking meals was $15 \ge 10$ metres in size, situated in the eastern part of the excavated surface, close to the former stream. In this part of the site, there were hearths, pits and postholes. Moreover, the hearths and cooking pits were scattered over the entire excavated surface.

Meals

The archaeological finds from Hulje might in part illuminate what meals were like, what ingredients they were made of and how they were prepared (Fig. 5). The animal bones discovered on the site amounted to 2.2 kilos, mainly interpreted as waste from meals (Vretemark 2012). Furthermore, analysis of macrofossils was carried out, in which burnt seeds were identified mainly as grain.



Figure 5. Chart showing a) the proportions of species of animals used for their meat, based on the total number of identified fragments [NISP], and b) types of cereals. The chart is based on the data in (a) Vretemark 2010 and (b) in Heimdahl 2012.

The skeletal material of the site consisted of animal bones, which for the most part were unburnt bones of cattle, sheep/goats, pigs, horses and dogs. All the fragments of bone belonging to sheep/goats that could be determined by their species were from sheep. Cattle bones dominated among bones from animals used for their meat, followed by sheep/goats, pigs and horses.

Most of the bones of cattle came from fully-grown individuals, while the bones from pigs or sheep largely came from younger individuals; these were around 2–3 years old. The two teeth from horses came from adult individuals, at least five years old, but most likely older.

There was a clear predominance of bone fragments from meaty parts; most of the fragments came from the trunk of the animals and from the upper meaty parts of the extremities. This means that the skeletal material mainly consists of the remains from preparing and cooking meals and from the remains of meals. Consequently, the actual slaughtering and butchering was done somewhere else.

In 72% of the samples collected in cooking pits and hearths, burnt grain was identified. This shows that grain was regularly included in the food that was cooked and eaten (Heimdahl 2012). Hulled barley was most common, naked wheat also occurred, and there was some hulled wheat and oats. Further finds discovered in the macrofossil samples from Hulje showed that herbs such as, for example, Summer Savoury (*Satureja hortensis*), were included in the food.

The discovery of a large drinking vessel (see below) is a sign that beverages were an important part of the meals consumed on the site. There are no indications as to what kind of drinks existed, but it seems highly probable that it was some kind of beer or a similar beverage.

Refuse from cooking

The cooking process by the stream at Hulje resulted in large amounts of firecracked stones. These brittle stones were deposited in the stream bed and along the banks. There were unburnt bones among the fire-cracked stones. It is striking that the stones were not transported to other places to be used as building material. Instead, the people using the site chose to keep them in the area of the stream.

The platform

Along the stretch of the stream where fire-cracked stones were deposited, about ten boulders were found, approximately 0.5–0.8 metres in height (Fig. 6). The boulders lay on the western side of the stream bed and were interpreted as a foundation for a 4-7-metre-long and 2-metre-wide platform. According to the stratigraphy, the boulders were placed in the stream either during the period when the site was still in use or later. Fire-cracked stones were found underneath

the boulders. An indication in favour of this interpretation is the clear spatial connection between the boulders/foundation and a laver of fire-cracked stones situated in the slope, proceeding down towards the area with the boulders. The surface of laid cracked stones was clearly confined to this particular part of the slope; it continued all the way down to the bank of the stream. A possible interpretation is that the surface of laid stones was part of a paved road.

Figure 6. Boulders at the edge of the stream, which may have constituted the foundation of a platform. Photo by Maria Petersson 2010.



Finds discovered alongside the stream

By the side of the stream, near the largest area of cooking pits, a blue glass bead was recovered, as well as part of an iron knife or sickle. Further, the metacarpal bone of an adult dog was discovered in this part of the site.

Immediately beside the other cooking area, we found a ceramic pot placed on the shore of the former stream. This is a vessel with thick walls, most likely used for storage or cooking. A posthole was discovered about 1.5 metres from the pot, implying the occurrence of a pole. Most likely, there is a connection between the posthole and the pot.

A well with unusual content

Almost in the centre of the site, a well had been dug into the side of the old stream bed (Fig. 7). The well was surrounded by a layer of laid stones, the main part consisting of fire-cracked stones. The actual well was funnel-shaped, with a diameter at the upper edge of around 7 metres and a depth of just over 1.5 metres. At the bottom of the well, a boulder was naturally embedded in the



Figure 7. The well. Note the layer of fire-cracked packed stones surrounding the well. Photo by Maria Petersson 2010.

moraine, which would have come as an unexpected consternation for the people digging the well. In the upper parts of the well, there were traces of a wicker basket lining with stakes of oak and weaves mainly of alder. The analysis of the wood species showed that the material for the basketwork was harvested during the spring and summer, most likely before July. Thus, the basketwork must have been woven shortly after that (Strucke 2012).

There were signs of various types of intentional activity in the well. In the middle of the well, on different levels in the fill, loosely lying sticks of alder, hazel and non-specified *Salix* were encountered, several of which were sharpened to a point. The context was difficult to understand, but the sticks did not seem to belong to the basketwork in the well. These long sticks had been thrust into the well, either while the well was still in use or after it had been abandoned.

Several well-preserved wooden artefacts were encountered in the well. Among the objects there was a complete wooden drinking vessel, which was found near the big boulder. There was also part of a rake head and a board decorated with chip-carving, which had been a part of a composite object (Fig. 8). It was painted in black in such a way as to enhance the decorative design. These three objects were dated to the Early Roman Iron Age (AD 1–200). Further, wooden artefacts were found, such as fragments of pot and plate rims. Wooden plugs, a sawn-off horn of a fully grown cow, two polished handstones for grinding and potsherds from a ceramic vessel were also discovered in the well.

Towards the bottom of the well, seeds and fibres from flax were encountered (Heimdahl 2012). The fact that fibres of flax were found shows that the entire plant occurred in the well, which might mean that bundles of flax had been placed there.

Furthermore, remains of meals in the form of unburnt animal bones were found in the well. Bones from the front part of a young dog, 10–12 months old, were also recovered.

A 2-3-months-old ram was discovered in the well, dated to the end of the period when the well was still in use. It lay *on top* of the layers that had accumulated during the period of use. After this, the well had fallen into disuse; a layer of shells indicates that it was still damp and at times filled with water, but that the water was somewhat stagnant. The period of use was limited to the Early Roman Iron Age, and extended throughout 200 years at the most.









с



Figure 8. Wooden artefacts from the well: a) chip-carved and painted board; b) part of a rake head; c) drinking vessel; d) ear of a drinking vessel. Photos by Acta Konserveringscentrum AB.

The chronology of the site

At the former stream in Hulje, traces of a variety of activities could be found, which were radiocarbon-dated to the period 730 BC–AD 1160. The dated material included charcoal from hearths and cooking pits, animal teeth (remains of meals), and burnt cereal and flax seeds. Moreover, three of the wooden items from the well were dated, as well as material from the wicker basket of the well (Fig. 9).

Most of the dated features or artefacts are associated with meals; the dates cover the entire period. Only one date is from the Late Bronze Age, but during the period between the Pre-Roman Iron Age and Early Middle Ages the dates are quite evenly distributed. A striking point is that the most recent finds associated with cooking are situated on the outer edges of the site, on the southern and northern sides. A tooth of a horse, dated to AD 1010–1160, represents the latest known meal on the site.

The well was dug around the year AD 1, and it was abandoned around AD 200. Thus, the traces of activities that are centred around the well represent a limited period in the history of the site.

The rock with cup-marks is also regarded as a part of the context of the site at Hulje. In the west of Sweden, rock carving sites consisting entirely of cupmarks are dated mainly to the Early Iron Age (Bengtsson 2004).



Figure 9. Dating of the ceremonial site. The lighter shade represents meals and the darker shade shows dates from the well. Illustration by Lars Östlin, RAÄ.

INTERPRETATION OF THE EXCAVATED SITE AT HULJE

The oldest written sources in Scandinavia that describe prehistoric religion originate from the 13th century AD. So they date from a period more than 1000 years later than the times of the most intensive activity at the stream at Hulje. During the period of around AD 400/500–700, the prehistoric society in Östergötland underwent fundamental changes and most farmsteads were abandoned (Lindeblad & Petersson 2008; cf. Pedersen & Widgren 1998: 309 ff.). Changes also occurred in the religious sphere; old burial sites were abandoned and new cemeteries were established. New burial practices were introduced and even the pantheon of deities appears to have changed (Nilsson 1987; Kaliff & Sundqvist 2004). In other words, there is a reason to be cautious about using written sources from the 13th century AD as a key to the religious life of Östergötland around the year AD 1, i.e., 1200 years previously.

All the same, many researchers consider the written sources to have some bearing on pre-Christian religion (Näsström 2002; Steinsland 2007).

Some points of reference

Traces of human activity constitute the primary sources of archaeology. In Norse sources, descriptions of the activities related to religion and rituals are scarce. Instead, archaeology sometimes provides independent information about the religious world expressed in certain activities. Offerings under the foundation of houses and in wells are examples of this. Traces from ritual cooking are further examples; these occur at around 80% of all burial sites dated to the Early Iron Age in Östergötland (Carlie 2004; Århäll 1995; Petersson 2006).

My analysis of the excavated site at Hulje is founded on a landscape archaeological approach, which has been inspired by the past twenty years of research, in which Scandinavian researchers have played an important role (Asmore & Knapp 1999; Fabech & Ringtved 1999).

It is possible to discern three different levels on a geographical scale; this might prove to be a useful analytical tool when dealing with Early Iron Age society. In the archaeological finds, we have been able to observe rituals associated with each of these levels.

- The first level consists of buildings or separate farms. Rituals associated with this level comprise initiation rituals and closing rituals related to the abandonment of buildings and farms (Carlie 2004). There are also other types of rituals connected to wells and waterholes (Århäll 1995).
- The second level concerns the settled local area and local society. There are sites where out-door rituals were performed, which feature various kinds of offerings. The finds from these sites usually consist of artefacts for everyday use (cf. Lindeblad & Petersson 2009).
- The third level is regional; the sites are significant on a larger scale than the local level. At this type of sites, the assemblages of finds are much more diversified and there are indications of several different ritual themes. There might be buildings on this type of sites, but in most cases these sites are void of them (cf. Hagberg 1967).

When working with the analysis of the site at Hulje, I adopted the methods and terminology of comparative religious studies, applied by the American scholar of religion, William E. Paden (1994). Paden's categorisation is well suited for the conditions of the Early Iron Age in Scandinavia.

Paden uses the concept of 'world' in the analysis of different religious systems. His view is that "religious systems are more effectively understood as 'worlds' than as 'beliefs', and that these worlds are embodied in the languages of myth, ritual and other expressive forms" (ibid.: xiii). According to Paden, religious "reality" is primarily constituted through the following:

(1) Mythic language and prototypes. Myth articulates the foundations of what is sacred. In addition, myth serves as the matrix of religious practice, of lived religious time and space, providing authoritative, sacred prototypes for human behaviour.

(2) Ritual times. Ritual is "the deliberate structuring of action and time in order to give focus and expression to what is considered sacred. Ritual connects its participants with the sacred through (a) calendrical observances that renew what is foundational to the religious system, and (b) special observances that deal with changes or crises in one's world".

(3) The engaging of gods. The term 'god' is used here as a thematic label to include any beings that humans engage in a religious manner.

(4) The distinction between pure and profane behaviour. Every religious system observes distinctions between proper and improper behaviour, acts that foster sacred order and acts that diminish it (ibid.: 8f.).

The setting of the site in the landscape

A circumstance that determined the outcome of the excavation and the interpretation of the finds was that such a large area as 25,000 square metres was surveyed by trial trenching. The results indicated that these were not the outer edges of the settlement site; in such a case, remains of buildings with postholes and similar features would have been uncovered. No traces of burials appeared either. Consequently, the interpretation of the site should be sought in another sphere. A possible interpretation of the remains that are associated with neither the settlement sites nor with burial sites is the context of the outlying land. The Late Bronze Age and Early Iron Age focal places in the grazing landscape are characterised by single hearths and groups of hearths (Petersson 2006). These places were frequented by shepherds and grazing animals. Some other usages of the outlying land might also be considered, such as iron production places, or even specialised forms of gatherings may have generated traces at a resting place (Svensson 1998).

Yet another type, usually situated at some distance from a contemporary settlement, was the ritual sites of the Early Iron Age (Hedeager 1989; Carlie 2009). These sites are often located close to water or marshland. Votive deposits in bogs characterise the period. A typical feature of archaeologically excavated ritual sites is traces of ritual meals found in the form of an abundance of firecracked stones, along with bones that were left over from meals. Hearths for cooking commonly occur on these sites. According to Lotte Hedeager, the Early Iron Age is characterised by outdoor cult and sacrifice in marshland (Hedeager 1989). Her conclusion is that this practice ceases during the Late Iron Age when the cult moves indoors, into the houses of the elite.

Cooking and meals

At Hulje, traces of a considerable variety of activities can be found, but one practice that occurred repeatedly through the course of the centuries is cooking and eating meals. Meals were prepared in cooking pits and hearths on the site. These structures are much larger than the corresponding structures at excavated settlement sites. The twelve structures in the western part of the site were between 1.6 and 2.8 metres in diameter. This can be compared with hearths found on the settlement site at Hulje, which were between 0.6 and 1.6 metres in diameter, with an average of 1.1 metres. This size corresponds exactly with the results from the excavated settlement site at Abbetorp, located ten kilometres to the west of Hulje (Petersson 2013b). Single hearths associated with pasturelands in the western parts of Östergötland had an average diameter of 0.94 metres (Petersson 2006: 158). The comparison with the size of hearths at settlement sites is most informative. At settlement sites, hearths have primarily been used for everyday cooking. The substantial hearths and cooking pits at Hulje imply that another kind of cooking occurred here; probably, food was cooked for a larger number of people. There was room for at least four times the amount of food in these structures compared to the corresponding structures at settlement sites. Large amounts of food indicate a context of either storage economy or cooking for a feast, with more people participating than usual. Remains associated with specialised cooking, which may have been part of storage economy, had previously been excavated at Abbetorp. These remains were situated within the site (gardstun) of a large farm, at a distance of 40 metres from the main building (Petersson 2004). The hearths of the grazing land are also much smaller than those at Hulje. The conclusion is that the size and position of the hearths at Hulje indicate an association with cooking for a large number of people on festive occasions.

The dominant ingredient in the food at Hulje was probably meat, beef being the most important kind. A relevant question for the understanding of rituals at Hulje is whether the assemblage of animal bones is representative of the consumption at an ordinary settlement site, or whether particular species were preferred for these meals. A comparison can be made with the finds from the large settlement site at Hulje (Carlsson et al. 1996) (Fig. 10).

Species	The settlement site at Hulje, proportion of identified species (%)	The ritual site at Hulje, proportion of identified species (%)
Cattle	38	53
Sheep/goats	36	34
Pigs	21	10
Horses	4	2

Figure 10. Comparison between the proportions of identified fragments (NISP) of animal bones from the large settlement site (RAÄ 89) and the ritual site (RAÄ 281) at Hulje.

Figure 10 shows that the proportion of cattle was much larger at the site by the stream than it was at the settlement site at Hulje. The large proportion of cattle is associated with high status settlement sites in Östergötland, but also with ritual sites (Petersson 2006). An important conclusion in this context is that the higher quota of cattle bones among the animal bones reflects the fact that beef was a more important part of the food here than it was at other places. In Old Norse stories, it is clear that beef was the most highly valued kind of meat. The high proportion of beef in the assemblage of bones further emphasises the festive character of the meals. The dominance of bones from the meatiest parts is also a prominent feature of the site.

Burnt grain occurred in most of the cooking pits and hearths, indicating that it was an ingredient in the food that was cooked by the stream at Hulje. The distribution of different types of grain, as well as the combination of species among the edible animals, illuminates the character of the site. The most common grain at Hulje was hulled barley, which was predominant at most farms during the Early Iron Age (Pedersen & Widgren 1998: 379). In Early Iron Age society, consumption of wheat was related to high status. At the farm at Abbetorp, which belonged to a higher social level, the majority of the grain was wheat, while hulled barley dominated at a neighbouring subordinate farm (Petersson 2001). In this respect, the predominance of hulled barley at Hulje shows that the site did not belong among high status farmsteads.

A circumstance of considerable interest is that seasoning was included in the festive meals that were cooked in the large cooking pits at Hulje. Summer Savoury (*Satureja hortensis*) is a herb that spread to the Roman provinces during the expansion of the Roman Empire; it shows how Roman influences extended to places far beyond the borders of the Empire (Heimdahl 2012). Roman influence is mainly prominent in the ideas that were adopted by the elite; maybe the practice of growing herbs was an idea originating in Roman contacts. In this context, the inclusion of herbs further accentuates the impression that this was a case of a specific kind of meal. The cooking of such substantial amounts of meat in these gigantic cooking pits implies a process that would have taken a long time, several hours. Perhaps the grain was placed with the meat to absorb the juice from the meat.

Beverages are rather difficult to trace in the archaeological material. In rare cases, glass goblets have been found, and sometimes fine pottery occurs, which can be interpreted as fragments of drinking vessels. Several researchers consider beer to be a better way of preserving the nutritional value of grain, which is otherwise liable to be spoilt in storage. An almost complete wooden drinking vessel was found at Hulje. It was not possible to identify the original content, but the vessel may well have been used for drinking beer. It could have contained several litres and might have been passed around in a company of people.

The meals were eaten on the site, out of doors, by the side of the small stream. The finds that support this interpretation include the drinking vessel, pieces of a wooden plate found in the well and pieces of pottery occurring in the vicinity of the stream; another circumstance is the lack of any traces of buildings in the area.

Supplies of food and beverages were unevenly distributed in Early Iron Age society. There were groups of people who regularly starved (cf. Brøste 1984). However, at the ceremonies held at Hulje, there was probably an excess of food and drink. Since the festivities were not held at one of the large farms, it is feasible that other persons than the elite took part. It is possible that one or several of the leading farmsteads in the neighbourhood contributed all or at least a large part of the food for the feast (Steinsland 2007: 306).

Remains from cooking

Waste from cooking consists largely of fire-cracked stones. These stones were heated in the large cooking pits and hearths, and kept heat for a long time. Once they had cooled down, the stones cracked, sometimes after repeated use; after this, they could no longer be used for cooking. The cracked stones were deposited in the immediate surroundings. They were placed in the running water and along the edge of the stream. The stones were also used for paving the slope down towards the stream; this may have been part of a road. There were also unburnt and burnt bones amongst these cracked stones. Clearly, waste from meals was not transported away from the area around the stream to become building material somewhere else; instead, it was kept in the surroundings of the stream. It seems that particular conceptions were associated with this specific waste material, concerning how it should have been handled and where it could be deposited. Waste material can be discussed in terms of clean – unclean, as a way to understand boundaries (cf. Paden 1994). Evidently, this waste material was treated in a specific way due to its association with holiness (see below).

Deposition of artefacts

Another occurrence at Hulje consisted in intentional depositions of artefacts. Maybe waste from cooking should also be included in this category. However, I decided to treat it separately because of its uniform origin.

Along the edge of the stream, a blue bead was encountered, as well as part of an iron knife or a sickle. Beads are almost never found on settlement sites, although they are common in burials from this period. They regularly occur, although sparsely, at ritual sites dated to the Early Iron Age (Lindeblad & Petersson 2009). Furthermore, a bone of a dog was discovered close to the stream.

Along the water's edge, beside the remains of a pole, a ceramic pot containing food was deposited. Lipid analysis shows that the pot contained traces of a terrestrial animal, although maybe not a ruminant animal. Moreover, it contained traces of vegetables. The results of the analysis distinctly showed that the substances that are usually formed through heating were not present; this implies that the pot of food had nothing to do with cooking. One interpretation is that this is a small-sized storage jar, set into the side of the stream to keep the food cool. Nonetheless, other ideas are also conceivable. At a neighbouring ritual site, Abbetorp, a similar arrangement occurred (Petersson 2004); a ceramic pot had been placed on the ground next to a pole. Due to the context at Hulje, the pot and the pole are thought to have been part of the ritual setting of the site.

The well

In many places, wells appear to have been centres of activity, which cannot be explained in any other way than in ritual terms. There are wells in the region that have been used as a source of water, although they also include indications of sacrifice associated with both the inauguration of the well and its abandonment. They also contain traces of other ritual activities. If we look beyond Östergötland, wells occur that were constructed entirely for ritual and religious reasons, in which a variety of things have been sacrificed (Lindeblad & Petersson 2012; Carlie personal communication). Gunilla Århäll's study shows that there are several similarities between Scandinavian wells and the deep wells with an entirely ceremonial function occurring in the Celtic area, where both humans and animals were sacrificed along with other offerings (Wait 1985; Århäll 1995).

At Hulje, there were artefacts in the well that may be understood as having been intentionally deposited. These included a wooden drinking vessel, fragments of the rims of a vessel and a plate, a rake head, a carved and painted board, an object that might have been a wooden club, wooden plugs and two handstones for grinding, together with some other wooden objects that could not be identified. The composition of finds combined with similarities to material from ritual sites in Östergötland and adjacent areas supports the interpretation that the finds in the well at Hulje might be ritual depositions.

The drinking vessel could have contained several litres of drink. It is possible that it was passed around and the contents were shared among the assembled company. The drinking vessel may also have been used in libation ceremonies, in which sacred liquid was poured out on the ground – "blood from sacrificial animals, beer or other sacred beverages" (Steinsland 2007: 291).

The rake is a tool used for raking up hay as fodder for domestic animals. The alleged sickle was a small tool for cutting grain crops. Both tools are related to the annual crop growing in meadows and fields.

One of the less well preserved wooden items may have been a club. If it really is a club, we could draw interesting parallels. Often enough, wooden clubs are found at ceremonial sites, frequently together with rope and pegs for tethering cattle. It is thought that wooden clubs were used for killing sacrificial animals. Objects belonging to the animal were then deposited; perhaps they could not be taken back into a secular context again (Carlie 2009: 255).

Handstones used in pairs with quern-stones are a common category of artefacts in Early Iron Age contexts. They can be found in stone paving, but less often as foundation depositions; quern-stones are more common in those cases. Handstones also occur regularly in superstructures covering burials from this period. In this context, the grinding of grain may have a significant symbolic value associated with life-giving, fertility and reproduction (Carlie 2004: 83 and references therein).

The front half of a young dog was also found in the well. No traces of butchering could be seen on the bones, which means that it was not included in the ritual meals. It was a common practice to sacrifice dogs in particular, complete or in parts, in wells and in bogs throughout the entire Iron Age (Nilsson 2009: 89). Erika Räf (2012) points out the connection between dogs and the underworld or the abode of the dead in Celtic and Norse mythology.

Seeds and fibres of flax discovered in the well indicate that bundles of flax had been deposited in the well at an early stage. Linen is complicated to produce, which gives it a higher status; it was thus associated with important festivities. Religious historian Maths Bertell (2009) considers flax to be a symbol related to religious activity, presumably linked with fertility. In this context Freya, the great goddess of fertility, should be mentioned; she was also the goddess of linen (Viklund 2012: 161f.). Her second name was Härn or Hörn, a word that etymologically can be traced back to another word for linen or flax. Flax and linen were associated with women; seeds of flax were supposed to be sown on a Friday, the women's day (Viklund 2012: 162). Bundles of flax occur at the ritual site by Lake Käringsjön and at Skedemosse (Carlie 2000; Räf 2001; Monikander 2010). Flax seeds have been found in many prehistoric wells; in some cases, these have been interpreted as traces of processing flax for linen (Viklund 2012).

Besides depositions of artefacts, there were traces of another type of activity. Sharpened sticks of alder, hazel and unspecified *Salix* (willow) had been thrust into the well. According to folklore, hazel was associated with magical and religious ideas related to death, ghosts and rebirth. Hazel sticks were found in early Christian graves in Lund, dated to the 11th and 12th centuries (Östnäs n.d.: 24ff.). In Mörtlösa in Östergötland, a number of hazel switches, several metres in length, had been thrust into a well where a still standing ceramic pot had also been deposited (Lindeblad & Petersson 2012). The results of pollen analysis of the material from the well in Hulje indicate that no trees grew in the immediate surroundings of the well; the closest tree had stood about fifty metres away (Bergman 2012). This means that it was not a case of clearance of bushes around the edge of the well, which might subsequently have fallen into the well. It seems more likely that the sticks are traces of ritual activity.

Finally, a complete skeleton of a 2-3-months-old ram was found in the well; it lay *on top of* the layer that had accumulated during the period of use. In other words, it may have been associated with the events at the time when the well was abandoned. A feasible interpretation is that it was part of a sacrifice performed to seal the well. This kind of sacrifice is common in various prehistoric contexts, for instance, to mark the end of use of houses (Gerritsen 1999). At the neighbouring settlement site at Hulje, there was also a well, sealed with an offering. It had been placed on top of the well, which had been filled with fire-cracked stones (Kaliff 1999). The well at Mörtlösa had been sealed with an enormous round boulder (Lindeblad & Petersson 2012).

An analysis of parasite eggs from domestic animals, conducted on the contents of the well, implies that there could have been an enclosure around the well during the time of use (Bergman 2012). Since there are so few parasite eggs in the well, the only explanation is that the domestic animals that usually grazed in the area were not allowed near the well. Preservation conditions were excellent; if domestic animals had been allowed to graze around the well, a considerable amount of parasite eggs would have been present.

The platform

Several boulders were encountered in the stream bed, which might have formed the foundation of a platform. Platforms occur at a number of sacrificial sites dated to the Early Iron Age and the Migration Period; they have been found at sites at Käringsjön, Frösvi, and at Hassle in the Äverstaån stream (Arbman 1945; Lindqvist 1910; Annuswer 2007). These platforms are built of wooden poles. At Käringsjön and at Hassle, they follow the shore, but at Frösvi, there is a footbridge leading out to the platform. The distribution of recovered artefacts at these three sites indicates that sacrifice has been performed from the platforms. At Hulje, the platform was built along the southern shore on the same side of the stream as the well. No artefacts have been discovered that might have been thrown or deposited from the possible platform. Despite this, the most likely interpretation is that it was a platform.

THE CHARACTER OF THE CEREMONIES AND THEIR PURPOSE

Ceremonies associated with a certain time of the year are sometimes termed calendrical rites (Paden 1994). Paden describes the purpose of these rites, saying: "They are points where a community renews and acts out what it holds most sacred, and these times are as central and definitive in world construction as myths" (ibid.: 100). Religious historian Gro Steinsland mentions three annual *blóts* (sacrifices) described in ancient Norse sources; these are the autumn *blót*, midwinter *blót* and spring *blót* (Steinsland 2007: 290). The spring *blót* was meant to benefit a good year's crop and peace, the old prayer saying "til árs ok fríðar" (for a good year and firth (peace)). Another religious historian, Britt-Mari Näsström, also mentions the midsummer *blót* (Näsström 2002: 222).

There are several indications of the rites at Hulje, which were performed during spring and early summer. Switches used in the basketwork for the well were collected during spring or summer, most likely before July, and the basketwork was made shortly afterwards. The young ram that was used as a possible closing sacrifice in the well was two to three months old. The lambing season in the region normally occurs in April or May (Insulander 1956: 88f.), which implies that the lamb was killed during early summer. There are two separate indications pointing towards two occasions when the ceremonies at the well were performed during early summer. One possibility is that they took place at midsummer. Ritual meals constitute a ritual activity that is most often mentioned in Norse sources. These ritual meals were prepared in cooking pits (Näsström 2002: 225). According to Näsström, they can be understood as communion sacrifice, in which the human participants receive one share and the deity receives the other. As a rule, the deities were given the blood and entrails while the humans ate the meat. The purpose of this sacrifice was to influence the gods. Näsström maintains that communion sacrifice, a meal eaten together with the deity, was a common type of sacrifice in Scandinavia during the pre-Christian era and was associated with calendrical rites (ibid.: 251f.).

The sacrificed material at Hulje is quite unassuming and is related to everyday life. There are no weapons, no precious metals or imported goods. The deposited artefacts of the site originate from the everyday sphere of life. Several of the artefacts might be seen as expressive of a female aspect – the bead and the alleged sickle and maybe the ceramic pot for food. The possible deposition of bundles of flax might also represent female presence. In the past farming tradition, the rake was a tool that was strictly reserved for women. Men cut the hay or the grain crops with a scythe, while women followed behind and did the raking. Sickles often occur in women's graves from the Early Roman Iron Age, but are seldom found in men's graves (Björk 2005). If the find by the stream was part of a sickle, this presents yet another connection with the female sphere.

Other aspects manifested among the assemblage of finds concern domestic animals, grain and harvesting. The rake is a find related to domestic animals (cf. Arbman 1945), which was used to rake up hay for winter fodder. Moreover, it would imply early summer: the first harvest of hay usually occurs around midsummer. Besides the connection to the female sphere, the sickle is associated with grain, the annual crop and late summer or early autumn. Handstones for grinding would be related to the same sphere. In addition, Norse sources mention the idea of grinding for happiness (Carlie 2004).

Bringing the results of observations, comparisons and analysis together, it all points towards the interpretation of Hulje as a site where calendrical rites were performed during the early part of summer or possibly around midsummer. There are connections with both domestic animals and grain. It is close to hand to interpret this as indications of ceremonies that were part of a fertility cult. A female aspect is also manifested on the site. Maybe a female deity, possibly the prominent goddess Freyja, was in the centre of attention in the ceremonies. Britt-Marie Näsström claims Freyja to have been the great goddess in Scandinavia; the cult of Freyja had the characteristics of fertility rites (Näsström 2002: 143f.). The ritual meals that constituted a significant part of the activities at the site might be understood as communion sacrifice, when people tried to influence the great goddess to bring them a good year's crop and fertility.

The location and arrangement of the site

A number of prominent characteristics could be observed concerning the location in the landscape and arrangement of the ritual site at Hulje.

The site was situated in a secluded area in comparison with the contemporary settlement site. The area of the ceremonial site was substantial, probably around 25,000 square metres. Included in the ceremonial area is the highest point in the landscape – the small rocky hillock containing around 300 registered cupmarks. The rituals were concentrated in the area alongside the stream, maybe around the point where the stream flowed into marshland. It is possible that different sections of the stream were of significance during different periods.

We also know that the site is one of at least two sites in a ritual ceremony performed in several stages. Animal bones indicate that the animals eaten during ritual meals were not slaughtered on the site, nor were they butchered; this was carried out somewhere else. A common occurrence is that slaughter was included in the rituals. Per Vikstrand (2001), a historian of place names, has studied place names with religious connotations. He has observed indications in the use of place names that several neighbouring places were involved in the religious ceremonies, but has not discerned how this could have occurred. Hulje might represent a small-scale example of this practice (ibid.). It is possible that one stage of the ceremonies was performed at the rock with cup-marks and it was continued by the next stage at the stream.

The ceremonial site at Hulje was divided into different areas according to functions. This is a characteristic in common with the high status farmstead from the same period (cf. Petersson 2006: 37f.).

Ceremonies related to society

In my estimation, the ritual site at Hulje was of importance in the neighbourhood, but hardly outside the local community. The location set apart from the settlement, and the sparse assemblage of finds supports this interpretation. Thus, we should probably regard it as a place where the local inhabitants gathered. During the same period, there were ritual sites with other types of finds of a more manifest character, which would have been of importance for a wider region. Such a place has been discovered in connection with archaeological excavations in Motala, at a distance of around 20 kilometres from Hulje.

Of particular interest is the existence of a paved prehistoric road, which was constructed during the Early Iron Age. There is reason to believe that the road was a status marker when it was built and that it passed close by the leading farm of the neighbourhood. It is possible that it led to the ceremonial site. In the slope down towards the stream, there is a layer of fire-cracked stones, which could have constituted a part of the road. If this is the case, this might imply that the leading farm in the neighbourhood had a role in the management of the site.

Ceremonies at Hulje were performed during a period of around 1500 years, commencing at the end of the Bronze Age (c. 700 BC). Rituals conducted alongside the stream continued until the 12th century AD, during the same period as Christianity became established in this region. During the Early Roman Iron Age (AD 1–200), the use of the site was intensified and traces indicate a greater variety in the ritual activity. This is the period when the well at Hulje was used for ritual purposes. During the same period archaeologist Anne Carlie has observed a corresponding intensification in the south of Scandinavia. She assumes that it is connected with substantial "social, economic and political changes" in Scandinavian society during this period (Carlie 2009: 258). According to her, the observation of the cult was probably a way for the leading families to strengthen their position in society.

However, it is interesting to note that traces of ceremonies can be found that are dated to a period covering the *entire* Iron Age. Despite considerable changes that occurred at the beginning of the Late Iron Age (AD 400–600), the ceremonies continued, although to a lesser extent. Evidently, the ideas behind the custom of holding ritual meals at the small stream at Hulje stretched well into Christian times.

HULJE IN A COMPARATIVE PERSPECTIVE

Many of the major or minor features that characterise the ceremonial site at Hulje are also encountered in various combinations at other ceremonial sites. Per Vikstrand (2001: 189), a historian of place names, claims that place names with religious connotations in the east of Sweden indicate an ideological affinity between communities – people largely belonged to the same religious world. The eastern region of Sweden, where these place names occur, has demonstrated a notable stability over time. These parts also had a similar building tradition during the Early Iron Age. This means that Hulje should primarily be compared with other ceremonial sites within the same region. However, we should keep in mind that there were no normative written sources; therefore, variations in ritual activity and religious ideas would have been considerable. Maths Bertell, a religious historian, states that a fundamental characteristic of pre-Christian religion in Scandinavia was that it changed continually (Bertell 2009: 59).
Below I will provide a brief overview of a few places in western Östergötland that have various characteristic elements in common with Hulje. I will also shortly describe the site at Käringsjön in Halland, on the western coast of Sweden, since there are many similarities between these sites. A significant reason for this selection is the large amount of wooden finds from Käringsjön, which are also well published.

Väderstad in Östergötland

At Väderstad, around ten kilometres to the west of Hulje, a ceremonial site with many similarities to Hulje was excavated in 2007 (Karlsson 2012). These resemblances concerned both the position in the landscape and the natural features that were included in the site. There were traces of ritual meals and ritual depositions consisting of pottery. The site was dated to the Late Bronze Age and Pre-Roman Iron Age (980–50 BC).

On the site, there was a low rock with quite a number of cup-marks, just a few metres from the former stream bed, which by now has been filled in. In total, a hundred-metre-long stretch of the stream was excavated. Hearths occurred in and around the former stream bed. The hearths were dated to the Late Bronze Age and Pre-Roman Iron Age (760–50 BC) and were interpreted as cooking hearths. Pottery was encountered near the rock with cup-marks; decorated fine ware pottery was among the finds. In one case, a complete vessel had been intentionally placed at the edge of the stream bed.

Abbetorp in Östergötland

Abbetorp, in the parish of Rinna, is situated about one kilometre to the south of the ritual site at Väderstad and ten kilometres west of Hulje (Petersson 1999; Petersson 2004; Lindeblad & Petersson 2009). A complex ritual site was excavated in 1998. It consisted of a great number of different elements and covered an area of at least 10,000 square metres. Abbetorp included a sacrificial site, dated to the Late Roman Iron Age and the Migration Period, but with traces of occasional rituals continuing until the Early Medieval Period. Chronologically, the site was in use immediately after the ritual site of Väderstad. The site at Abbetorp was located by the side of a marshland and was adjacent to a contemporary burial site. Offerings were centred on two boulders at the edge of the marshland, and consisted of hundreds of ceramic pots, some sherds of glass vessels and a piece for a board game, along with beads of glass, amethyst and amber. Some of the ceramic vessels appear to have been intentionally smashed against one of the boulders. Around a hundred hearths bear witness to the cooking of ritual meals on the site, even though the farmstead that most likely organised the rituals was situated just a few hundred metres from the spot. Remains from the ceremonial meals, bones and fire-cracked stones, were deposited around the boulders and along the edge of the marshland, indicating that the meals were eaten in the open air. Furthermore, abutting a rocky outcrop, there was an area enclosed by a stone wall. A posthole was encountered on the outer side of this enclosure; immediately beside this, two complete ceramic pots had been placed on the ground during the Roman Iron Age. There were also burnt bones of horses and cattle. The circumstances of this deposition are very similar to the one with a complete pot at Hulje, which might also have been associated with a posthole.

Like at Hulje, the ceremonial site at Abbetorp comprises a large area, which had clearly been divided into different functional sections. The categories of finds encountered at Hulje were also present at Abbetorp; particularly pottery that may indicate offerings of food and drink. Moreover, there was a small but varied assemblage of around twenty beads of different sizes.

The proportions of different species of domestic animals at the ceremonial site at Abbetorp corresponded entirely with the species at the neighbouring settlement site. This was interpreted as an indication of the fact that no special selection had been made for ritual purposes (Lindeblad & Petersson 2009). On this point, Abbetorp differs from the site at Hulje. However, it should be stressed that the settlement site was interpreted as a high status site.

The ritual site at Abbetorp was used during the parts of the year when the ground was not frozen or covered with snow. Despite the nearness to the burial site, there was evidence that the rituals did not have any immediate connection with the burials (Lindeblad & Petersson 2009). The ceremonies appear to have been performed once a year and it is reasonable to believe that these were calendrical rites.

The ritual sites at Väderstad and Abbetorp were probably important in a local perspective. At Abbetorp, there is a clear relation to the local elite, while there is no such link to be observed in the assemblage of finds from Väderstad. The association with pastureland, probably also with fertility, is particularly distinct at Väderstad.

Hassle in Närke

The site at Hassle, by the stream of Äverstaån in Närke, is a parallel to Hulje in view of landscape, arrangement of the site and chronology. Minor archaeological excavations were carried out at Hassle during the late 1990s (Annuswer 2007). Ritual activities at the site focused on running water and a cup-mark site was part of the ceremonial area. Votive deposits were encountered in the stream of Äverstaån, with dates spanning the entire period from the Late Bronze Age to the Viking Age (c. 600 BC–AD 800/1050). There is thus a chronological correspondence with Hulje.

The oldest find from the site is the 'Hassle-find' dated to 600 BC, containing, amongst other items, a bronze situla. Along the stream, at a site located around one kilometre from the findspot of the bronze situla, offerings of war booty were discovered, which were dated to the period around the beginning of our era. During the Vendel Period, a platform was built at the side of the stream, from which sacrifice was performed. Around the platform, the bank of the stream had been reinforced with fire-cracked stones, twigs and branches. There was also a layer of fire-cracked stones. The assemblage of finds consisted of loom-weights, a grinding stone, pottery, a piece of flint for fire lighting, two studs for horses and nails (Annuswer 2007). A difference between Hulje and the site at the stream of Äverstaån is that, apart from finds of a peaceful and everyday character, items alluding to warfare were encountered in the stream. In contrast to the fertility-oriented calendrical cult, war booty offerings should be regarded as action related to "changes or crises in one's world" (Paden 1994: 8).

Frösvi in Närke

The sacrificial site at Frösvi in Närke, which was excavated at the beginning of the 20th century, seems to have come into use during the Migration Period (Lindqvist 1910). Ritual activities were mainly performed in the marshland, i.e., with a connection to water, but also on dry land. There were traces of depositions of objects and of ritual meals. The site may have covered 10,000 square metres.

At Frösvi, an eighty-metre-long narrow footbridge extended out into the bog: at that time, it was marshland with a small area of open water. At the end of the footbridge, there was a cultural layer, 15 x 7 metres in size, containing charcoal, burnt bones and a great amount of fire-cracked stones. Two pieces of flint were encountered in the cultural layer, which were thought to be fire-striking flint. Further, there was a small rectangular whetstone with a hole

for hanging, as well as two thin potsherds and three small beads of glass flux. An equal-armed bronze bow-shaped brooch was encountered at the bottom of the cultural layer, dated to the end of the 6th century AD. Timber of various types lay on top of the layer. All the longer stakes and planks were oriented in the east-west direction. Most of the bones came from a hearth in the layer; the bones were identified as young individuals of sheep (three animals) and pig (at least two animals). Lindqvist estimates that the three sheep and two pigs originated from one occasion. He states that "there were quite a few participants taking part in this [...] meal" (Lindqvist 1910: 134). Outside the actual cultural layer, two molars belonging to a cow or an ox were found.

Around 50 metres to the north of the cultural layer, an oval boulder was encountered, which was judged to have been transported to the site. Hundreds of pointed sticks had been stuck into the ground around the boulder, but Lindqvist does not mention which species of wood they were. Lindqvist (1910) associates the site with worship of the god Frö.

Käringsjön in Halland

Käringsjön is a ritual site dated to the Late Roman Iron Age (AD 200–400). This site holds a unique position in Swedish archaeology because of the rich and varied assemblage of finds (Arbman 1945; Carlie 1998; 2000; 2009). Now the area is a bog, but earlier on Käringsjön was a small lake with marshy edges.

The find material is dominated by almost a hundred ceramic vessels containing food and drink, which were deposited in the lake. There was pottery for storage and cooking as well as fine ware pottery in the form of drinking vessels and bowls. Chemical analysis has shown that the food offerings consisted of a mixture of blood and malt or grain, and some may have contained entrails (Carlie 2000: 21). Some of the pots had been intentionally broken.

Around forty wooden items were also recovered. These included two rakes, a pick-axe, a spade, a swivel (Swedish *lekane*), a peg for tethering animals, a turned wooden box, a sliding cover decorated with a geometrical square pattern, a rectangular wooden trough and a wooden board probably used for cooking. Archaeologist Anne Carlie states that many of the items evidently possessed a symbolic significance, and that the items, on the one hand, were associated with cooking and grazing in the spring, and on the other hand with harvest and slaughter (Carlie 2000: 23). Furthermore, there were two bundles of flax and a flax holder. Several white stones of quartz and quartzite were interpreted as offerings thrown into the lake (ibid.: 23f.).

Wooden platforms had been built along the bank of the lake, to improve access for sacrificing in the lake. The finds are concentrated along the side of the marsh, partly in the east and south-east, partly along the western bank.

By treating objects as symbols for various farming activities, Carlie (ibid.: 29) has studied the time of the year when the sacrificial ceremonies were performed. She found that sacrifice had been performed both in spring and autumn and, to some extent, also in midwinter. Carlie also claims that sacrifice on the site was initially performed in the morning, but later on in time, it was shifted to the evening. According to Carlie (ibid.: 33), Käringsjön functioned as a ceremonial site concerned with fertility, for the local community consisting of just a few neighbouring farms.

SUMMARISING DISCUSSION

Thematically, Hulje is related to several other sites where peaceful sacrifice was performed. They have much in common in their placing in the landscape. Several of the sites were located either by the side of standing water bodies or alongside running water. In several cases, a rock with cup-marks was included in the site. Ritual sites are often of a considerable size, 10,000–25,000 square metres, and they used to be strictly divided into functional units. This is a characteristic similar to settlement sites of the elite during the Early Iron Age. At all sites, rituals were performed outdoors; this was also the case with the ritual meals.

At many of the sites, the continuity of use stretched over a long period, spanning over prehistoric periods and times of fundamental change. At both Hulje and Hassle, the sites were in continual use throughout a period from the Late Bronze Age to the end of the Iron Age / Early Middle Ages. It is particularly notable that the ceremonial practice was continued throughout the entire Iron Age, despite substantial changes in society at the beginning of the Late Iron Age, as well as changes in burial practices and in religion. This was the case at Abbetorp, at the well-known ceremonial site at Skedemosse, and at the well containing offerings in the Iron Age fort at Eketorp; both of the two latter sites are situated on the island of Öland (Monikander 2010; Århäll 1995).

My interpretation is that Hulje is a site where calendrical ceremonies were performed; the well was taken into service during the early summer and closed for use during the same time of year. According to some researchers (Steinsland 2007: 290; Näsström 2002: 222), during the pre-Christian era, calendrical rites associated with fertility were performed in spring or even midsummer. On such occasions, matters that were basic for the religious system were renewed, people were reminded about the myths that articulated the foundations of what was sacred, and the gods were invoked (Paden 1994: 8f.). At Abbetorp there were indications that the ceremonies were performed during the time of year when the ground was not frozen or covered with snow. Considering the number of hearths, including signs of reuse in some of the features, we might presume that ceremonies occurred once a year (Lindeblad & Petersson 2009). At Käringsjön, the placing of sacrificial platforms implies that the ceremonies were conducted in spring and autumn (Carlie 2009).

Traces of ceremonial meals were present at all the sites that have been discussed here, and several researchers' considered opinion is that such meals were the most important ritual activity practiced during the pre-Christian period – a meal shared between humans and gods (Näsström 2002; Steinsland 2007). Meat, preferably beef, was cooked in cooking-pits and seems to have been the main ingredient in the meals. This is also indicated in Norse sources. While the practice of sacrifice and offerings has varied over time, it can be seen that ceremonial meals have been carried out during the entire period when the sites were in use.

Refuse from the ritual meals, mainly fire-cracked stones and bones, was one of the occurrences that particularly characterised the ceremonial sites. Usually, there are large amounts of fire-cracked stones that have been deposited in the water, at the side of the water, or gathered into substantial layers. This consistent treatment of the refuse illustrates the fact that it was connected with special conceptions, which meant that the refuse was not permitted to be taken from the sacred site. In such a way, the distinction between pure and profane behaviour at the ritual site was expressed (Paden 1994: 8f.).

The female aspect of the ceremonial site at Hulje is specifically expressed in the finds, through the bead and the alleged sickle. For instance, a brooch was found at Frösvi, which may also be indicative of female presence. Cup-marks have been regarded by many researchers as expressing a female aspect (Hauptman Wahlgren 2002: 58ff.).

Repeated depositions of ceramic pots containing food and drink are one of the main characteristics of Iron Age fertility offerings (Carlie 1998: 21). Moreover, pottery is the most common category of finds at the discussed ceremonial sites. Depositions of complete pots occur regularly and many of these contain remains of food. On one level, it is clear that the pottery represents offerings of food. The assemblages of finds from the ceremonial sites at Abbetorp, Väderstad and Frösvi are constituted in a distinctly similar way and could be understood in the same terms as the site at Hulje.

The arrangement of the ritual site at Hulje, and the fact that the area also includes a rock with cup-marks, gives an indication of a close association with the central parts of the pastureland and, consequently, also with animal husbandry. In the west of Sweden, sites with cup-marks have a clear connection with the grazing land of the Early Iron Age (Bengtsson 2004). Indirectly, this also indicates a fertility theme. In the finds from Hulje, there is also a distinct connection with the fertility of the land and with domestic animals. The rake head is associated with the growth of grass as well as with domestic animals, while the sickle is related to the yield of the cultivated land. The sticks in the well might also be understood in terms of fertility. Handstones for grinding found in the well may have a connection with grain, but could also be associated with the general theme of food and drink in excess.

The connection with domestic animals is most distinctly manifested at Käringsjön. This may depend on the fact that it is the only site, apart from Hulje, among the discussed sites, in which preserved wooden artefacts were found. Artefacts associated with harvest and grain occur at Hassle.

There are indications of strong ties between the farmstead that could have been the dominating farm on a local level and the ceremonial site at Hulje. There are remains of a paved road that may have connected the farm with the ceremonial site. The relatively large amount of beef that was consumed at the ceremonial site implies that people from a high status farmstead may have contributed meat of a particularly appealing kind. This argument is supported by the predominance of choice meaty parts among the bones. Being generous with food and drink was an ideal among the elite and was an indication of a good leader (Steinsland 2007: 306).

The ceremonial sites at Abbetorp, Väderstad and Frösvi are notably similar in their placing in the landscape, the arrangement of the sites and the assemblages of finds. They could be interpreted in a similar way as the site at Hulje. Maybe calendrical rites were performed at all of these sites, dedicated to a female deity for a good year's growth and peace, for "árs ok fríðar". The sites were important on a local level, but not within a wider geographical area. Instead, a number of similar places existed, which had connections with the local community. Perhaps the regular procedure was that the local elite acted as a support for the activities at the site.

The ritual sites that I have discussed clearly differ from such sites as Gullborg in Östergötland (Nordén 1938). Topographically, this site consists of a prominent peak of a rock, surrounded by a stone wall, rising sharply above the surrounding plain. Finds at the site consist of weapons, precious metals and imported artefacts. This is associated with a male aspect, in which rituals express warrior ideals, even if artefacts of the same types as those found at Hulje also occur. Perhaps a site such as Gullborg was devoted to other deities than those of the site at Hulje; maybe this site was mainly oriented towards the elite level of society.

Sites such as the one at Hulje have chiefly been encountered in later years during development-led archaeological excavations. These remains are often found in unexpected locations in the terrain and are only understood when larger areas are stripped of the covering topsoil. This means that development-led archaeology provides a unique opportunity to uncover remains that illuminate ceremonial activities and religious beliefs from a period for which no written sources exist in this northerly area.

Translation by Judith Crawford

ABBREVIATIONS

RAÄ – Riksantikvarieämbetet (Swedish National Heritage Board)

REFERENCES

- Annuswer, Bo 2007. De arkeologiska undersökningarna vid Hassle. [Archaeological Excavations at Hassle.] In: L. Karlenby (ed.) Om makt och offer. Röster om centralmaktens utveckling i tiden före historien. Stockholm: RAÄ, pp. 29–42.
- Arbman, Holger 1945. *Käringsjön. Studier i halländsk järnålder*. [Käringsjön. Studies of Halland's Iron Age.] KVHAA:s handlingar del 59:1. Stockholm: Wahlström & Widstrand.
- Århäll, Gunilla 1995. Myternas brunn. En studie i myternas betydelse för offernedläggelser i källor och brunnar, avseende nordiskt och keltiskt område. [The Well of Myths. A Study of the Significance of Myths of Sacrifice in Springs and Wells, Concerning Scandinavian and Celtic Areas.] Uppsats, påbyggnadskurs i Arkeologi, vt 1995. Stockholm: Stockholms universitet.
- Ashmore, Wendy & Knapp, Bernard A. (eds.) 1999. Archaeologies of Landscape: Contemporary Perspectives. Oxford: Blackwell Publishers.
- Bengtsson, Lasse 2004. Bilder vid vatten. Kring hällristningar i Askums sn, Bohuslän. [Images by the Water. Concerning Rock Carvings in the Parish of Askum, Bohuslän.] Gotarc Series C. Arkeologiska Skrifter No. 51. Göteborg: Göteborgs Universitet.
- Bergman, Jonas 2012. *Mikrofossil från offerbrunnen vid Hulje, RAÄ 281, Högby socken, Östergötland*. [Microfossils in the Sacrificial Well at Hulje, RAÄ No. 281, Högby Parish, Östergötland.] Teknisk rapport. Stockholm: RAÄ UV Mitt.
- Bertell, Maths 2009. Lin och vit kvarts. Jämförelse som redskap och analogins förföriska lockelse. [Flax and White Quartz. The Use of Comparison as a Tool and the Se-

ductive Temptation of Analogy.] In: A. Carlie (ed.) *Järnålderns rituella platser*. *Femton artiklar om kultutövning och religion från en konferens i Nissaström den 4–5 oktober 2007*. Halmstad: Kulturmiljö i Halland, pp. 51–63.

- Björk, Tony 2005. *Skäran på bålet. Om den äldre järnålderns gravar i Skåne*. [The Sickle on the Pyre. Grave Customs in Scania during the Early Iron Age.] University of Lund, Institute of Archaeology, Report Series No. 92. Lund: University of Lund.
- Brøste, Kurt (ed.) 1984. Prehistoric Man in Denmark: A Study in Physical Anthropology. Vol. 3: Iron Age Man in Denmark. København: Munksgaard.
- Carlie, Anne 1998. Käringsjön: A Fertility Sacrificial Site from the Late Roman Iron Age in South-west Sweden. *Current Swedish Archaeology*, Vol. 6, pp. 17–37. Available at http://www.arkeologiskasamfundet.se/csa/Dokument/Volumes/csa_vol_6_1998/ csa_vol_6_1998_s17-37_carlie.pdf, last accessed on October 22, 2013.
- Carlie, Anne 2000. I fruktbarhetens tecken. [In the Name of Fertility.] *Utskrift*, No. 6. Halmstad: Stiftelsen Hallands länsmuseer, pp. 4–31.
- Carlie, Anne 2004. Forntida byggnadskult: Tradition och regionalitet i södra Skandinavien. [The Cult of Prehistoric Buildings: Tradition and Regionality in Southern Scandinavia.] Arkeologiska Undersökningar, Skrifter No. 57. Stockholm: RAÄ.
- Carlie, Anne 2009. Käringsjön en gammal fyndplats i ny belysning. [Käringsjön: An Old Findspot Illuminated.] In: A. Carlie (ed.) Järnålderns rituella platser. Femton artiklar om kultutövning och religion från en konferens i Nissaström den 4–5 oktober 2007. Halmstad: Kulturmiljö i Halland, pp. 225–263.
- Carlsson, Tom & Kaliff, Anders & Molin, Fredrik & Sundberg, Karin 1996. *Hulje. Boplats, skärvsten och gravar*. [Hulje. Settlement Site, Fire Cracked Stones and Burials.]
 E4-syd, RAÄ 89, Högby socken samt RAÄ 234–236 och RAÄ 246, Mjölby socken, Östergötland. RAÄ, Rapport UV Linköping 1996:63.
- Fabech, Charlotte & Ringtved, Jytte (eds.) 1999. Settlement and Landscape. Proceedings of a Conference in Århus, Denmark, May 4–7, 1998. Moesgård: Jutland Archaeological Society.
- Fallgren, Jan-Henrik 2006. Kontinuitet och förändring: bebyggelse och samhälle på Öland 200-1300 e. Kr. [Continuity and Change: Settlement and Society on Öland AD 200–1300.] Uppsala: Uppsala University.
- Gerritsen, Fokke 1999. The cultural biography of Iron Age houses and the long-term transformation of settlement patterns in the southern Netherlands. In: C. Fabech & J. Ringtved (eds.) Settlement and Landscape. Proceedings of a Conference in Århus, Denmark, May 4–7, 1998. Moesgård: Jutland Archaeological Society, pp. 139–148.
- Hagberg, Ulf Erik 1967. The Archaeology of Skedemosse, I–II. Stockholm: Almqvist & Wiksell.
- Hauptman Wahlgren, Katherine 2002. Bilder av betydelse. Hällristningar och bronsålderslandskap i nordöstra Östergötland. [Images of Significance. Rock-Carvings and Bronze Age Landscape in North-Eastern Östergötland.] Stockholm Studies in Archaeology, Vol. 23. Stockholm: Stockholms universitet.
- Hedeager, Lotte 1990. Danmarks jernalder. Mellem stamme og stat. [Iron-Age Societies: from Tribe to State in Northern Europe, 500 BC to AD 700.] Aarhus: Aarhus Universitetsforlag.

- Heimdahl, Jens 2012. Makroskopisk analys av jordprover från offerplats Hulje, RAÄ 281, Högby sn, Östergötland. [Macroscopic Analysis of Soil Samples from the Sacrificial Site at Hulje RAÄ 281, Högby Parish, Östergötland.] Teknisk rapport. Stockholm: RAÄ.
- Holm, Jenny 2009. Förhistoriskt kulturlager och härdområde vid Hulje. Hulje 8:3, RAÄ 281. Mjölby socken, Mjölby kommun. Östergötland. [Prehistoric Cultural Layer and Area with Hearths at Hulje.] Arkeologisk förundersökning. RAÄ UV Öst rapport 2009:51. Linköping: RAÄ.
- Insulander, Nils 1956. Svensk fårskötsel. [Swedish Sheep Farming.] Stockholm: LTs förlag.
- Kaliff, Anders (ed.) 1999. Olika perspektiv på en arkeologisk undersökning i västra Östergötland. [Different Perspectives of an Archaeological Excavation in Western Östergötland.] Arkeologiska Undersökningar, Skrifter, No. 28. Stockholm: RAÄ.
- Kaliff, Anders & Sundqvist, Olof 2004. Oden och Mithraskulten. Religiös ackulturation under romersk järnålder och folkvandringstid. [Oden and the Mithras Cult. Religious Acculturation during the Roman Iron Age and Migration Period.] OPIA 35. Uppsala: Department of Archaeology and Ancient History, Uppsala University.
- Karlsson, Emma 2012. Förhistoriska aktiviteter intill ett vattendrag. [Prehistoric Activities beside a Watercourse.] Arkeologisk undersökning. RAÄ 168, Väderstadverken, Vallsberg 1:34, Väderstads socken, Mjölby kommun, Östergötlands län. Rapport 2012:11. Linköping: Östergötlands museum. Available at http://www.pdfrapporter. se/pdf/2012/2012-011.pdf, last accessed on October 23, 2013.
- Lindeblad, Karin & Petersson, Maria 2008. Landsbygdens vardagsliv under järnålder och historisk tid. Strategi för studier av landskap och bebyggelse. [Country Life during the Iron Age and in Historical Times. Strategies for Studying the Landscape and Settlement.] Arbetshandling, mars 2008. Linköping: RAÄ UV Öst.
- Lindeblad, Karin & Petersson, Maria 2009. Riter kring berg, block och vatten om utgrävningarna vid Abbetorp i västra Östergötland. [Rituals around Rocks, Boulders and Water: Excavations at Abbetorp in Western Östergötland.] In: A. Carlie (ed.) Järnålderns rituella platser. Femton artiklar om kultutövning och religion från en konferens i Nissaström den 4–5 oktober 2007. Halmstad: Kulturmiljö i Halland, pp. 101–137.
- Lindeblad, Karin & Petersson, Maria 2012. *Mörtlösa bytomt gårdar från järnålder och historisk tid.* [Mörtlösa Village Toft: Farms during the Iron Age and Historical Times.] Östergötland, Linköpings kommun, S:t Lars socken, RAÄ 323 m fl. Dnr 423-00337-2007. RAÄ, UV rapport 2012:50. Stockholm: RAÄ.
- Lindqvist, Sune 1910. Ett "Frös-vi" i Nerike. [A 'Frös-vi' in Nerike.] *Fornvännen*, Vol. 5, Häfte 3–4. Stockholm, pp. 119–138. Available at http://samla.raa.se/xmlui/ bitstream/handle/raa/575/1910_119.pdf?sequence=1, last accessed on October 23, 2013.
- Molin, Fredrik 1999. Mellan skog och slätt äldre järnålderns bebyggelse och byar i västra Östergötland.[Between Forest and Plain: Settlement and Villages of the Early Iron Age in Western Östergötland.] In: A. Kaliff (ed.) Olika perspektiv på en arkeologisk undersökning i västra Östergötland. Arkeologiska Undersökningar, Skrifter, No. 28. Stockholm: RAÄ, pp. 12–27.

- Monikander, Anne 2010. Våld och vatten. Våtmarkskult vid Skedemosse under järnåldern. [Violence and Water: Wetland Sacrifice at Skedemosse in the Iron Age.] Stockholm Studies in Archaeology, Vol. 52. Stockholm: Stockholms universitet. Available at http://su.diva-portal.org/smash/get/diva2:309712/FULL/TEXT02.pdf, last accessed on October 23, 2013.
- Näsström, Britt-Mari 2002. Fornskandinavisk religion: En grundbok. [Religion in Prehistoric Scandinavia: An Elementary Book.] Lund: Studentlitteratur.
- Nilsson, Catharina 1987. Gravundersökningar i Östergötland åren 1967–1984. [Archaeological Excavations of Burials in Östergötland during the Years 1967–1984.]
 In: T. Andrae & M. Hasselmo & K. Lamm (eds.) 7000 år på 20 år. Arkeologiska undersökningar i Mellansverige. Stockholm: RAÄ, pp. 79–108.
- Nilsson, Lena 2009. Häst och hund i fruktbarhetskult och blot. [Horses and Dogs in Fertility Cult and Blot.] In: A. Carlie (ed.) Järnålderns rituella platser. Femton artiklar om kultutövning och religion från en konferens i Nissaström den 4–5 oktober 2007. Halmstad: Kulturmiljö i Halland, pp. 81–99.
- Nordén, Arthur 1938. Östergötlands järnålder. [The Iron Age of Östergötland.] Monografier. D. 1. Enskilda fyndgrupper och problem. Häfte 2: Kolmården – V. Husbydalen – Fornborgarna. Stockholm: Författarens förlag.
- Östnäs, Elisabeth n.d. *Gravkäppar i nytt ljus*. [Fresh Light on Burial Rods.] Centrum för Teologi och Religionsvetenskap. Uppsats. Lund: Lunds universitet. Available at http://lup.lub.lu.se/luur/download?func=downloadFile&recordOId=2427441& fileOId=2427442, last accessed on October 23, 2013.
- Paden, William E. 1994. *Religious Worlds: The Comparative Study of Religion*. Boston: Beacon Press.
- Pedersen, Ellen Anne & Widgren, Mats 1998. Järnålder, 500 f. Kr.–1000 e. Kr. [Iron Age, 500 BC–AD 1000.] In: S. Welinder, E.A. Pedersen & M. Widgren. Jordbrukets första femtusen år: 4000 f. Kr.–1000 e. Kr. [The First Five Thousand Years of Farming: 4000 BC–AD 1000.] Det svenska jordbrukets historia. Borås: Natur och Kultur, pp. 237–459.
- Petersson, Maria 1999. Abbetorp: An Initial Presentation. In: C. Fabech & J. Ringtved (eds.) Settlement and Landscape. Proceedings of a Conference in Århus, Denmark, May 4–7, 1998. Århus: Jutland Archaeological Society, pp. 395–404.
- Petersson, Maria 2001. Grazing and Hearths in West Östergötland 1000–1 BC. In: T. Darvill & M. Gojda (eds.) One Land, Many Landscapes. Papers from a session held at the European Association of Archaeologists Fifth Annual Meeting in Bournemouth 1999. Oxford: BAR International Series 987, pp. 125–145.
- Petersson, Maria (ed.) 2004. Abbetorp ett landskapsutsnitt under 6000 år. Arkeologisk undersökning av en boplats, ett gravfält, en offerplats, stensträngar och fossil åkermark. [Abbetorp A Section of the Landscape during 6000 Years. Archaeological Excavation of a Settlement Site, Burial Site, Sacrificial Site and Fossil Fields.] RAÄ 288 m fl, Abbetorp 1:2 och 1:10, Rinna socken, Boxholms kommun. RAÄ 241 m fl, Väderstad 1:2 och 5:1, Väderstads socken, Mjölby kommun, Östergötland. Dnr 421-3277-1997, 421-800-1998. RAÄ. Rapport UV Öst 2002:43. Linköping: RAÄ.
- Petersson, Maria 2006. Djurhållning och betesdrift: Djur, människor och landskap i västra Östergötland under yngre bronsålder och äldre järnålder. [Animal Husbandry

and Cattle Herding: Animals, Humans and Landscape in Western Östergötland during the Late Bronze Age and Early Iron Age.] Uppsala & Stockholm: Uppsala Universitet & RAÄ.

- Petersson, Maria 2011. The Early Iron Age Landscape: Social Structure and the Organisation of Labour. In: P. Kruse (ed.) Arkaeologi i Slesvig / Archäologi im Sleswig. Sonderband "Det 61. Internationale Sachensymposion 2010", Haderslev, Danmark. Neumünster: Wachholtz Verlag, pp. 249–268.
- Petersson, Maria 2013a. Hulje en rituell plats från yngre bronsålder och järnålder. [Hulje – A Ritual Site from the Late Bronze Age and Iron Age.] Särskild arkeologisk undersökning. Östergötland, Mjölby kommun, Högby socken, Hulje 1:3, RAÄ 251 och 281. Dnr 423-00900-2010. UV Rapport 2013:114. Stockholm: RAÄ.
- Petersson, Maria 2013b. Hulje bebyggelse från äldre järnålder och tidigneolitikum. [Hulje – Early Iron Age and Early Neolithic Settlement.] Särskild arkeologisk undersökning. Östergötland, Mjölby kommun, Högby socken, Mjölby 40:5 m fl, RAÄ 89. UV Rapport. Stockholm: RAÄ. Unpublished manuscript.
- Räf, Erika 2012. Inte utan min psykopomp. [Not without my Psychopomp.] Arkeologi i Östergötland 2012. Linköping: RAÄ & ÖLM, pp. 8–9.
- Steinsland, Gro 2007. Fornnordisk religion. [Old Norse Religion.] Stockholm: Natur & Kultur.
- Strucke, Ulf 2012. *Vedartsanalys av trä från Hulje* [Identification of Species of Wood from Hulje.] RAÄ 281, Högby socken, Östergötland. Protokoll. Stockholm: RAÄ, UV Mitt.
- Svensson, Eva 1998. *Människor i utmark*. [People in the Outland.] Lund Studies in Medieval Archaeology 21. Lund: Almqvist & Wiksell International.
- Viklund, Karin 2012. Linet i Sverige. [Flax Cultivation in Sweden.] Svensk Botanisk Tidskrift, Vol. 106, No. 3–4, pp. 156–164.
- Vikstrand, Per 2001. Gudarnas platser: Förkristna sakrala ortnamn i Mälarlandskapen. [The Places of the Gods: Pre-Christian Sacral Place-Names in Central Sweden.] Uppsala: Uppsala universitet.
- Vretemark, Maria 2012. Osteologisk analys av djurben från Hulje 8:3, RAÄ 281, Mjölby socken, Östergötland. [Osteological Analysis of Animal Bones from Hulje.] Skara: Västergötlands museum.
- Wait, Gerald 1985. *Ritual and Religion in Iron Age Britain*. Oxford: BAR British Series 149.
- Zetterlund, Peter & Helander, Annika 1995. Väg E4 Mjölby Väderstad, Väg 32 och trafikplats Mjölby västra. Mjölby kommun, Östergötland. [E4 Road Mjölby – Väderstad, Road 32 and Junction Mjölby Västra.] Rapport, RAÄ UV Linköping 1995:38. Linköping: RAÄ.

ARCHAEOLOGY AND RITUAL: A CASE STUDY ON TRACES OF RITUALISATION IN ARCHAEOLOGICAL REMAINS FROM LINDÄNGELUND, SOUTHERN SWEDEN

Anne Carlie

Abstract: The aim of this article is to discuss traces of ritualised actions in archaeological material. The basis for the discussion is the archaeological site Lindängelund, near Malmö, in southern Sweden, where recent excavations have revealed a large settlement complex dating from Neolithic, Iron Age and Early Medieval Times. I focus here on the period 150 BC–AD 300, in which traces of ritualised actions stand out in the archaeological record, represented by wooden poles/artefacts, assemblages of animal bones, sherds of pottery vessels, etc. It is suggested that a small wetland area with wells/waterholes containing ritual waste, lying next to the Iron Age village, was used as a ceremonial place for ritual feasting. Later on in the same period, as traces of ritualisation decline in the archaeological record at the central place, similar deposits of ritual waste have been found in private wells on big farm sites. This shift in the ritualisation strategies is suggested to reflect a strengthening social competition between the leading families in the village.

Keywords: archaeology, Neolithic Era, Early Iron Age, ritualisation strategies, ritual killings and feasting

INTRODUCTION

This article is concerned with the identification of traces of ritual actions in archaeological material. In previous research rituals were mainly linked to sacred phenomena. However, in later years this approach has been criticised by scholars in the field of ritual theory, who from a practice perspective see rituals as a social activity with its own participants. Thus, the criteria often used to separate rituals from acts performed in everyday life – that is, their formalism, constancy and repetitive character – can also be used to describe other types of social actions (Bell 1992: 88–93, with reference to, for example, Julian Huxley 1966). What Catherine Bell is interested in is why certain actions distinguish themselves by being ritualising, and thus are assigned greater importance than other social acts. Here she compares the qualities of the ritual with a kind of separation strategy, which also includes the ritualisation of agents (ibid.:

140–142, 220). Through its qualities the ritual creates and reproduces social relations, for example, hierarchical relations. The ritual becomes a strategy to create and maintain power relations, i.e., a strategy to keep social control (ibid.: 169–181). On the other hand, ritualised actions are not to be seen as instruments of social control, but rather require both the consent and, to some degree, also resistance of the participants (ibid.: 200–221).

Swedish archaeologist Ann-Britt Falk has tried to use the concept of ritualisation in her thesis on building sacrifices (Falk 2008). According to Falk, there are several benefits in using ritualisation as an analytical concept when reading the archaeological record. One of the benefits is that the focus is moved from the meaning of the ritual to the social action as such, which we know was actually performed. By applying a ritualisation perspective, new questions can be addressed to the actions themselves. What characterises the ritual? How does it change over time and why? Why were rituals carried out, in what context and in whose interests (ibid.: 55)? Here Falk emphasises changes in the archaeological record as a point of departure for the analysis, as change gives an opportunity to confront different records with each other. Thus, changes in the structures or patterns of the archaeological record could be interpreted as changes in meaning (ibid.: 59).

The aim of this paper is to discuss the possible traces of ritual actions in archaeological material, and to explore how people in the past used ritualisation as a strategy for social change. The point of departure is taken in recent excavations of a settlement complex at Lindängelund, Malmö, in southern Sweden (Fig. 1), dating from the Neolithic and Iron Age to Early Middle Ages (c. 3000 BC-AD 1200).



Figure 1. Location of the Lindängelund site, Malmö. Map by Henrik Pihl 2013.

THE ARCHAEOLOGICAL SITE

The excavations at Lindängelund were carried out in 2008–2010, by the Swedish National Heritage Board excavation department in Lund. During three seasons an area of some 90,000 square metres was excavated (Strömberg et al. forthcoming; Carlie & Lagergren forthcoming). Altogether, remains of about 70 houses were found, mostly post-built longhouses, but also outbuildings and pithouses. In two periods, 150 BC–AD 300 and AD 700–1100, when the population was slightly bigger in the area, the farms probably belonged to a villagelike structure. It is also during these two periods that traces of possible ritual actions are more profound in the archaeological record (Strömberg & Carlie 2012; Schmidt Sabo & Söderberg 2012).

In this article I will focus on the period 150 BC–AD 300, during which the settlement was organised in three phases as a dispersed Iron Age village. In the first phase, c. 150 BC–AD 1, it consisted of four farmsteads. Three of them were large units, consisting of a multifunctional longhouse, 25 to 35 metres long, with four or five rooms. One of the farms, located in the northern part of the village, stands out, as it had a separate granary and its own well on the plot.

In the two following phases, from AD 1 to c. AD 300, the village consisted of five to six units. During this period several changes occurred in the settlement. Besides a greater variation in house sizes, from 15 to 40 metres, some farm sites were given a more structured organisation by adding a post-built fence surrounding the plot, complementary buildings or its own well. Some farms were also distinguished for having a burial site on the plot. It is highly likely that these changes in size and organisation indicate an increase in social differences between households.

There was a small wetland area in the vicinity of the Iron Age village. As the peat layer was removed during the excavation, numerous wells/waterholes of different sizes were found in the ground. None of the excavated structures contained any wooden or stone constructions, for example, to support the earth walls or to sift the water. Therefore the structures should not be characterised as wells in the proper sense, but rather as some kind of water sources. Thus, in the following they are called wells/waterholes.

The structures consisted of a pit dug in the ground to reach the water-bearing sediments. They usually had a round shape, between 1.5 to 3 metres in diameter. However, there were also larger structures, c. 10–12 metres, containing several small wells/waterholes. Based on radiocarbon dating, the wells/waterholes had been constructed over a very long time, from c. 3300 BC to AD 1200.

Many wells/waterholes contained archaeological material, consisting mainly of animal bones and wooden poles/artefacts, but also finds of pottery, grinding- and hammerstones, fossils and human bones. Some wells/waterholes also contained huge amounts of fire-cracked stone. The most numerous and complex archaeological record was found in three areas of wells/waterholes contemporary with the Early Iron Age village. Judging by radiocarbon and pottery dates, most depositions dated from the period 150 BC–AD 150. In the 2nd century of our era, the activities seem to have decreased or were perhaps exercised more sporadically. This could indicate a change in the functions of the site.

TRACES OF RITUAL ACTIONS

There are many traces of action in the archaeological record from Lindängelund that may represent ritual acts. However, as human practice may be seen as acts in a continuum of formalism, from everyday routines to formal ceremonies, we cannot equalise a high degree of formalism with ritual. Instead, we may apply Catherine Bell's concept on ritualisation, based on the idea that all acts can be ritualised to make them more important (Bell 1992). Thus, ritualised actions could be carried out on special occasions or at particular places, which were not accessible to everyone. Strategies of ritualisation also often include material things, as, for example, objects, particular clothing or buildings with a special function – all categories that can be identified in the archaeological record.

A way of identifying strategies of ritualisation in the archaeological material could be to look for special objects or features at a site, in what context they appear and if the spatial distribution shows particular patterns that may indicate some kind of separation from everyday activities (Berggren 2010: 114–123). Furthermore, as meaning created by ritualisation is relational, the relations between people, places and things are part of these acts, reflected in the archaeological record (ibid.: 379–380).

There are in particular two find categories from wells/waterholes at Lindängelund, which due to their special character may reflect traces of ritual actions: wooden poles/artefacts and bones from human skeletons (Fig. 2). These two categories were mainly found in wells/waterholes lying in or near the small wetland area, which could indicate a ritualisation strategy. This assumption is supported by the spatial distribution of other find categories in the archaeological record, such as animal bones, pottery and grinding-/hammerstones, which appear not only in the same area but also in the same archaeological contexts (Figs. 3–4).

In the following I will discuss four categories in the archaeological record, which due to similarities in spatial distribution and specific traces of practice probably reflect ritualisation strategies.



Figure 2. Spatial distribution of wooden poles and human bones at Lindängelund. Illustration by Henrik Pihl 2013.



Figure 3. Spatial distribution of animal bones at Lindängelund. Illustration by Henrik Pihl 2013.



Figure 4. Spatial distribution of pottery and stone artefacts at Lindängelund. Illustration by Henrik Pihl 2013.

PRACTICES WITH WOODEN POLES/ARTEFACTS

Altogether fourteen finds of wooden poles/artefacts appeared in the wells/waterholes that dated from the Neolithic to the Viking Age. An interesting feature that reappears over time is that the objects were found in a standing position, having been hammered into the bottom of the waterholes. Thus, the poles/artefacts were put in place when the waterholes were dug, which indicates that they were part of some kind of foundation rituals.

In the Neolithic and Bronze Age, the people at Lindängelund used natural branches or small stems sometimes chopped at the base in the rituals (Fig. 5a). In the Early Iron Age, the practice changed and, instead, people used different wooden artefacts, complete or in parts. Among the objects found at Lindängelund, where it has been possible to interpret their functions, there is an ard share, a wooden nail and the axle of a small cart. The first two objects date back to the Early Iron Age, while the latter dates from the Viking Age (Figs. 5b–d).



С

<image>

Figures 5a–d. Examples of wooden poles/artefacts from wells/waterholes at Lindängelund: a) natural stem – Early Neolithic; b) wooden nail – Early Iron Age; c) ard share – Early Iron Age; d) axle of a cart – Viking Age. Photos a, c–d by Anne Carlie 2009 & 2010, photo b by Håkan Svensson 2010.

In the case of the ard share, it was found, stuck into the ground, with the point downwards, in the bottom of a small well (Fig. 5c). At the time of deposition the share, which was made of oak, was new and almost unused, with only discreet traces of wear and some marks of fire. This could indicate that the share was used in other rituals before being placed in the well/waterhole (Fig. 6) (Carlie & Lagergren forthcoming: Appendix 3).

In archaeological literature finds of complete or partial ards in wetlands have often been interpreted as having been deposited in connection with ritual ploughing. In support of this interpretation, archaeologist P.V. Glob emphasises that many of the objects were not designed for practical use; i.e., they are incomplete or made of soft wood, which makes them unsuitable as working tools. But there are also examples of tools that are completely worn out (Glob 1951: 104–105).

The ard share from Lindängelund perfectly fits into this picture. As mentioned above, the share was not only practically unused, but was also made of oak sapwood, which is not as resistant to wear as heartwood (Melin & Linderson forthcoming). Furthermore, it had marks of fire, indicating that the ritual actions probably included the use of fire. In this context it seems likely that the ard share, before it was placed in the well, was used in ritual ploughing, perhaps in order to fertilise Mother Earth to ensure soil regeneration, fertility and regrowth.

Many of the wooden items from wells/waterholes are difficult to interpret in terms of function. Thus, a four-sided pointed artefact could either have been used as a wooden nail to fix road planks to the ground in waterlogged areas, or it may have been used as a tethering pole (Fig. 5b). Also, there is a pointed tool which, judging by the use wear, was probably used as a digging stick (ibid.). The wheel axle mentioned above was found in a well situated at a short distance from the small wetland. It is radiocarbon-dated to the Late Viking Age and is thus between eight and nine hundred years younger than the ard share (Strömberg et al. forthcoming: Appendix 7). The almost complete axle was found in a standing position in the middle of a well basket, where it had been hammered down some twenty centimetres into the underlying subsoil. This position, as in the other cases from the small wetland, indicates that the axle was deposited in the well basket in connection with inauguration rituals. The axle, made of beech wood, is likely to have belonged to a small wagon or cart with spoked wheels (Melin & Linderson forthcoming). Unlike the ard share above, the axle had extensive traces of wear, i.e., it had been in practical use before it was deposited. Could it be that the wheel axle had been a ritual object used in fertility rites before it was placed in the well?



Figure 6. Ard share dating from the Early Roman Iron Age. The share is 65.5 centimetres long. Photo by Staffan Hyll 2012.

In the Norse sources there are several examples of stories where gods and goddesses travel in chariots in processions of a religious character. In the *Flatey Book*, a medieval Icelandic script on the old Norse kings, there is a story about a young priestess who would go, with God Frey's image placed on her wagon, around the villages to secure the year's growth and crop for the farmers. A young man named Gunnar followed her on the trip. The party was taken by surprise by bad weather and stopped to rest. This angered the god, who wrestled the young man down. When Gunnar felt his strength decline, he swore in his mind that he would have himself converted and serve King Olav Tryggvasson. Then the devil that had lived in him disappeared and Gunnar broke the image of Frey into pieces, and it became a lifeless block. The story ends with Gunnar and the priestess managing to escape back to Norway, to be baptised by King Olav (after Näsström 2009: 273–274).

Regarding the use of wagons, one can also recall the much older Nerthus cult, which according to the ancient writer Cornelius Tacitus was practised by some Germanic tribes, who probably lived in today's Schleswig-Holstein, Jutland and the surrounding islands (Tacitus 1969: 144–145). Also, in the cult of Goddess Nerthus, whom Tacitus compares with *Terra Mater* – Mother Earth – there is a story about a procession in which the goddess, accompanied by a

priest, travels around in a holy chariot drawn by cows. The description has been interpreted by various scholars to mean that the goddess, or rather an image of the goddess, was taken around the villages by her servants to promote the fertility of humans, animals and fields (ibid.; Näsström 2009: 273).

In this context, religion historian Britt-Mari Näsström has drawn attention to Tacitus's statement which claims that when the festivities were held there was "peace and quiet" (*pax et quies*) (Tacitus 1969: 90–91). The Germanic word for peace (in Swedish *frid*) actually derives from a verb meaning "to love", which according to Näsström shows a direct link to sexuality and the time when all living beings could reproduce (Näsström 2009: 274).

Thus, there is plenty to indicate that ritualisation strategies at Lindängelund were conducted in connection with religious ceremonies, in which fertility rites were a dominant feature, in order to ensure the continuity of fertility and regrowth of the earth.

In the more than four thousand years that the ritual acts of poles in wet holes can be observed at the Lindängelund site, the rituals changed in character to a certain extent. It is possible that the changing practice of poles in the Early Iron Age, ranging from natural stems to various tools related to tillage and agriculture, reflects new elements and an increased complexity in the rituals. Furthermore, it is possible that changes in ritual practice, besides cosmology and myths, were also based on changes in social structure and social relations. In the following sections I will look more closely into how other traces of ritualised actions stand out at Lindängelund in the Early Iron Age.

PRACTICES WITH HUMAN BONES

Six finds of human bones occurred in four wells/waterholes, of which three were situated in or near the small wetland. The oldest find is radiocarbon-dated to the Late Neolithic period (c. 2000 BC). It consists of an almost complete skeleton belonging to a five-year-old child. The skeleton, which unfortunately was partly damaged at the excavation, was found in a sitting position with both legs in front of the body. According to the field observations made by osteologist Caroline Arcini, the upper body and head were probably folded over the legs (Arcini & Magnell forthcoming). The forensic analysis of bone marrow from the upper right arm (humerus) shows the presence of diatoms of a similar type as the ones found in reference samples from the well sediment. This, according to professor Henrik Druid from Karolinska Institute, Stockholm, who conducted the analysis, indicates that the child died from drowning (Druid & Risberg forthcoming; Carlie et al. forthcoming). In the same well/waterhole that contained the child, three wooden poles and three complete digging sticks were also found. The poles had been hammered into the subsurface of the well/waterhole, while the digging sticks were found in the same sediments as the child's skeleton (Carlie et al. forthcoming).

The other five finds of human bones are all radiocarbon-dated to the Early Iron Age (c. 160 BC-AD 75). The human bones are mainly fragments of skulls, but there are also fragments from two femurs (Carlie & Lagergren forthcoming: Appendix 3). The identification of the bones shows that they come from three or four individuals, two of whom were probably of female gender. The individuals were all adults at the time of death (Arcini & Magnell forthcoming). There are no traces of cut marks on the bones to suggest violence. However, gnawing marks on the two femurs show that they had been exposed for some time before being covered with sediments. Of special interest for the interpretation of the human bones are the remains of an almost complete cranium from a woman probably in her thirties (Fig. 7). The skull was found in the same well/waterhole as the ard share mentioned above, but in the sediments in the well, indicating that the two depositions took place on different occasions. The cranium had old fractures and the facial bones were missing, which indicates that the skull was old at the time of deposition. This, along with the absence of violence marks, could indicate that we are not dealing with human sacrifice, but rather with ritual practices of "old" bones, perhaps from ancestral burials.



Figure 7. Human skull belonging to a thirty-year-old woman, found in the same well as the ard share in Figure 6. Photo by Staffan Hyll 2012.

PRACTICES WITH ANIMAL BONES

In addition to the ritualised actions with wooden poles/artefacts, the handling and deposition of bones from slaughtered animals is the most prominent feature in the material from Lindängelund. From Lindängelund 1 site alone, some 32 kilos of animal bones including 1,300 identified fragments were recovered. The majority of the bones date back to the Early Iron Age. Most of the bones were found in wells/waterholes, in particular in the small wetland area mentioned earlier, but also in wells at individual farm sites.

Most of the bones were thrown into the wells/waterholes when they were no longer used for water supply. However, one big well/waterhole stands out, which was used for depositions already from the first days of its construction. The osteological analysis shows that the animals selected for ritual killing were mainly domestic animals, especially cattle, sheep/goats, pigs, horses, and dogs. However, there is also a small marine element present in the form of seal bones (Cardell forthcoming). In many societies ritual killing is not associated with rare species, but mostly with animals that form a central part of the economy (Magnell 2011: 194).

The osteological analysis also indicates that young animals in particular were chosen for ritual killings. Here we are mainly dealing with young adults (> 3.5–4 years), but there are also several very young individuals aged between a month and one year (Cardell forthcoming). In the rituals different body parts were deposited. Thus, there are bones both from meaty parts such as from the trunk, represented by vertebrae from the neck, chest and lower back (spine and pelvis), but also bones from parts with less meat, such as the head (skull and jaw) and feet (metapodes and phalanges). Bones from the latter parts are usually seen as debris from slaughter, while bones from meaty parts can be assumed to represent remnants of meals. An examination of the occurrence of bones with cut marks and bones split to extract the marrow shows that most of these bones were found in watery places. This, according to Annica Cardell, supports the assumption that ritual waste from slaughtering and butchering carcasses was thrown into wells/waterholes (ibid.).

As argued above, it is probable that bones from meaty parts come from meals. In addition to these finds there are several examples of very young individuals (a sucking calf and two yearling lambs) which are represented by bones from all body parts. This could indicate that the bodies were cooked in one piece and that these bones also represent remnants from meals (ibid.).

PRACTICES WITH POTTERY, STONE ARTEFACTS AND FIRE-CRACKED STONES

Besides animal bones, the wells/waterholes also contained finds of pottery and various kinds of stone artefacts. The pottery vessels are in general highly fragmented (approx. 8 kilos, 855 sherds). This is probably due to the ritual handling of the objects, as well as bad preservation conditions and our excavation methods. However, there are also a few finds of almost complete vessels. Among the ceramics there are sherds both from thicker-walled vessels, which were probably used for storage or cooking, and thin-walled, occasionally polished sherds of fine ware. Among the fine ware pottery there are parts of a pedestalled beaker and an almost complete cup – vessels that were probably used as dishes for serving foods and drinks (Brorsson forthcoming) (Fig. 8).

The stone artefacts consist of some thirty items made of rock and flint (Fig. 9). No analysis of the material has yet been performed. Judging by their appearance and traces of use wear, the stone artefacts had different functions. Thus, some stones were probably used for grinding cereals, while others look like hammerstones, although we do not know exactly for what purpose they were used. Similarly to the animal bones and pottery, most of the stone artefacts were found in the same wells/waterholes, indicating that they too were part of the ritualisation strategies. Perhaps the stones were used in the different processes of preparing food and drinks in connection with the ritual meals?



Figure 8. Example of pottery from wells / waterholes at Lindängelund 1: Ceramic vessel – pedestalled beaker. Drawing by Torbjörn Brorsson (forthcoming).



Figure 9. Example of stone artefacts from wells/waterholes at Lindängelund 1: Grindstones and hammerstones. Photo by Staffan Hyll 2012.

A third element that occurs at Lindängelund is large amounts of natural stones, often with traces of weathering or cracking from fire and heating. The stones vary in size, but usually they are the size of a fist. Most stones were found in the fillings of wells/waterholes, both in the bottom layers and along the edges. In the latter case, the stones were probably used to stabilise the moist soil close to water. As for the stones deposited in the centre of the wells/waterholes, the fact that they lie mixed together with bones, pottery and stone artefacts indicates that the stones were part of the rituals as well. We may assume that the fire-cracked stones come from cleaned-out fireplaces. Thus, traces of an activity area with a number of hearths and pits contemporary with the Iron Age wells/ waterholes were found on an elevation near the small wetland area. The use of fire-cracked stones in rituals is well known from other ceremonial places, both in wetlands, such as Hindby votive fen (Berggren 2007: 66–78) and Röekillorna in Skåne (Stjernquist 1997), and in a so-called ritual field with hearths and cooking pits (Fendin 2005: 374–378).

To conclude, I present my interpretation of the archaeological record from wells/waterholes at Lindängelund as remains of ritualisation practices, probably related to feasting. The interpretation is based on different characteristics, which have often been used in the anthropological and archaeological literature to identify ritual feasting, such as the selection of special foods, the use of special vessels for preparing and serving food and drinks, as well as for greater wastage than normal (Hayden 1996: 137–139; Groot 2008: 106–108). Thus, the ritualisation strategies at Lindängelund included not only the selection, killing and butchering of a large number of domestic animals, in particular young individuals, but also the handling of special serving vessels and different stone items. Furthermore, large quantities of ritual waste from the feasting activities – mainly animal bones and fire-cracked stones – were deposited at the site.

CONNECTIONS WITH CALENDAR FESTIVALS

Certainly, an interesting question in this context is how often the ceremonial site was used for feasting activities. One way to elucidate this issue is to estimate the number of sacrificed animals. Here, a calculation based on animal bones from the two biggest wells/waterholes (features 58377 and 152645), shows that a relatively large number of animals (approx. 50 individuals) were killed and consumed at the site. From feature 58377, there are bones of at least 33 animals, including 12 cattle, 7 sheep, 5 pigs, 4 horses and 5 dogs. Bones from cattle and sheep also dominate in feature 152645. Of the 20 animals represented among the bones from this well/waterhole, 7 are cattle, 5 sheep, 3 pigs, 2 horses and 3 dogs (Cardell forthcoming). Although the above calculations are based on a minor part of the bone assemblage (386 of roughly 1,300 identified fragments), the figures still give some idea of the proportions of animal killings at the site.

One problem that arises when we try to estimate the scale of feasting is that the dating evidence, based on radiocarbon and pottery, gives little guidance as to the time frame of the ritual activities. Are we dealing with many recurrent activities or events in just a few decades, or were the wells/waterholes used for gatherings on special occasions over several centuries? In fact, we do not know and will probably never get a clear picture of this. Therefore, we can only suggest different scenarios.

If we take a closer look at the animals selected for ritual killing, we can conclude that no less than half of the individuals from the two big wells/waterholes are big meaty animals (19 cattle and 6 horses). The ritual killing of a cow or a horse cannot be considered a minor gift, but rather a special killing carried out on occasions when a greater number of people took part in the ritual activities. This could indicate that at least some of the ritual killings were carried out in connection with big religious ceremonies or social events, which required large amounts of food. This type of feasting may have gathered not only the inhabitants of the local village, but also people from villages in the neighbouring area. If the wells/waterholes were used more or less at the same time as the archaeological record and dating suggest, it is also possible that different wells/waterholes were used by people from different farms or villages. We do not know what the ritual calendar looked like in the Early Iron Age, but it probably resembled the annual festival cycle in pre-Christian times, mentioned in the Old Norse written sources. From these sources we know that the festival cycle contained at least three, but probably four, major religious festivities, linked to the year's four quarters. In the old Norse folk tale *Ynglinga saga*, Chapter 8, Snorri Sturluson recounts: "One should sacrifice (*blóta*) towards winter for regrowth, in the middle of winter for harvest and the third time at the beginning of summer" (after Nordberg 2009: 285).

Furthermore, we know that in addition to the annual festival cycle, which was linked to the lunar year, there were also large religious gatherings which, according to contemporary written sources – Adam of Bremen's *Gesta Hammaburgensis ecclesiae pontificum* and Thietmar of Merseburg's *Chronicon*, both recorded in the 11th century – took place "once every nine years". According to religion historian Andreas Nordberg, there is much evidence that this festival cycle was related to the eight-year cycle of the bound lunar year. This would mean that the very large sacrifices in fact took place every eight and not every nine years (ibid.: 294–295).

RITUALISED ACTIONS IN SOCIAL EVENTS

If we briefly return to the question of which animals were selected for ritual killing, the analysis of bones from the two big wells/waterholes mentioned above shows that the other half of the sacrifices is small animals: 12 sheep, 8 pigs and 8 dogs. Of these, we may assume that the sheep and pigs were killed for their meat. As for the dogs, however, they were probably killed for other reasons.

Feasts are often part of different kinds of rites of passage, which serve to secure the transition from one social status to another, such as childbirth, weddings and funerals. In traditional societies, the lives of important buildings are also often accompanied by foundation or closure rituals, to promote a long life or a safe transition when the house is abandoned. Different kinds of rituals may also have been practised at events of a more private nature, such as to promote fertility in the event of childlessness or to cure diseases (Carlie 2004: 28–30 and references therein).

There are several finds in the archaeological record from Lindängelund 1, which could be interpreted as parts of rituals in connection with rites of passage, represented by the handling of special, perhaps magical, objects such as fossilised sea urchins, animal skulls and selected human bones (Carlie 2004: 136, 141–143, 155–160). Another interesting find from one of the big wells/waterholes consists of hemp remains. The hemp has been radiocarbon-dated to the Early Roman Iron Age (AD 55–130) (Carlie & Lagergren forthcoming: Appendix 3). The palaeoecological analysis shows that all parts of the plant are represented in the sample: straws, seeds and pollen. This suggests, according to palaeontologist Mikael Larsson, that the plant remains are probably waste from retting (Larsson & Lagerås forthcoming). Whether retting was done in the well, or the waste was ritually deposited there, cannot be stated with certainty. However, the small amounts of plant material found at the excavation could speak in favour of the latter.

Generally it can be said that hemp was grown in Scandinavia throughout most of the Iron Age, with an expansion during the Late Iron Age and Viking Age, along with the increasing need for materials for ropes in connection with ship construction. Besides ropes, the hemp was also used for making nets, warp yarn and fabrics. After the Viking Age the use of hemp in Scandinavia is supposed to have decreased (Pedersen & Widgren 1998: 381–382).

As for the plant as such, we do not know if people in the Early Iron Age used hemp for its narcotic properties. The fact is that we do not even know whether the kind of hemp that was cultivated in Scandinavia at the time contained such levels of cannabinoids that it could have been used as a drug or for medicinal purposes (see http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Cannabis, last accessed on October 9, 2013).

For whatever purposes hemp was grown and used by the Iron Age people at Lindängelund, the find is interesting as the plant remains were probably used in the ritualised actions at the site.

CHANGES IN RITUALISATION STRATEGIES

Gradual changes can be seen in the archaeological record from Lindängelund dating from the 1st and 2nd centuries AD. In the period when the central ceremonial place was still used for gatherings and feasting, traces of ritual actions began to appear in wells/waterholes at individual farm sites in the Iron Age village.

The archaeological record from these wells shows many characteristics similar to those of the ceremonial place, i.e., assemblages of bones from domestic animals (mainly cattle), sherds from pottery vessels, stone artefacts and clusters of fire-cracked stones. In one case we also found a wooden stick with an edge, hammered into the bottom of a well. From these finds we can conclude that ritual feasting did not take place only at the central place, but also on individual farms in the village. The question is: why? How should we interpret the changes in ritualisation strategies?

As I mentioned earlier, there are signs in the archaeological record of an increased social stratification between households and farms in the Iron Age village in the first centuries AD. The increasing social and economic differences are mainly manifested in the construction of large multifunctional longhouses, often provided with a small outhouse and a private well. Sometimes these big farms also had a surrounding fence or a private burial site on the plot.

The increased prosperity and social stratification most probably resulted in a growing competition between different households/families in the village, in which ritual feasting was used as a strategy to create or maintain social status and control. What supports this presumption is that the traces of ritualisation in wells on individual farm sites were often related to closure rituals, i.e., as the wells were taken out of use and closed. This could indicate that the ritualisation strategies on single farms were not performed at calendar festivals, but rather at social events related to important transitions or rites of passage. This could have happened when village leadership changed from one family (farm) to another. Hopefully, research continued in this field will shed further light on this issue.

REFERENCES

Arcini, Caroline & Magnell, Ola forthcoming. Bilaga 8: Osteologisk rapport av humanmaterialet från Lindängelund 1. [Supplement 8: Osteological Report on the Human Material from Lindängelund 1.] In: A. Carlie & A. Lagergren (eds.) Lockarp 44:1 m fl. (Lindängelund 1). Basdokumentation. Bebyggelse och offerplats från yngre stenålder, järnålder samt vikingatid/tidig medeltid, Skåne, Malmö kommun, Bunkeflo socken, RAÄ Bunkeflo 77:1, 78:1, 150, 151, 152 och 153. Arkeologisk undersökning 2010, Del 2 bilagor Kontextbeskrivningar och analysresultat. *Riksantikvarieämbetet UV Rapport 2013:93*.

Bell, Catherine M. 1992. Ritual Theory, Ritual Practice. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

- Berggren, Åsa 2007. Till och från ett kärr. Den arkeologiska undersökningen av Hindbygården. [To and from a Fen: The Archaeological Excavation at Hindbygården.] Malmöfynd 17. Malmö: Malmö Kulturmiljö.
- Berggren, Åsa 2010. Med kärret som källa. Om begreppen offer och ritual inom archaeologin. [With the Fen as a Source: On the Concepts of Sacrifice and Ritual in Archaeology.] Vägar till Midgård 13. Lund: Nordic Academic Press.
- Brorsson, Torbjörn forthcoming. Bilaga 7: Keramik från äldre järnålder, tidig medeltid och modern tid i Lindängelund 1. [Supplement 7: Pottery from the Early Iron Age, Early Middle Ages and Modern Times at Lindängelund 1.] In: A. Carlie & A. Lagergren (eds.) Lockarp 44:1 m fl. (Lindängelund 1). Basdokumentation. Bebyggelse och offerplats från yngre stenålder, järnålder samt vikingatid/tidig

medeltid, Skåne, Malmö kommun, Bunkeflo socken, RAÅ Bunkeflo 77:1, 78:1, 150, 151, 152 och 153. Arkeologisk undersökning 2010, Del 2 bilagor Kontextbeskrivningar och analysresultat. *Riksantikvarieämbetet UV Rapport 2013:93*.

- Cardell, Annica 2013. Bilaga 9: Slaktavfall i brunnar och måltidsrester i gropar. Osteo-logisk rapport. Lindängelund 1. [Supplement 9: Waste from Slaughter in Wells and from Meals in Pits.] In: A. Carlie & A. Lagergren (eds.) Lockarp 44:1 m fl. (Lindängelund 1). Basdokumentation. Bebyggelse och offerplats från yngre stenålder, järnålder samt vikingatid/tidig medeltid, Skåne, Malmö kommun, Bunkeflo socken, RAÄ Bunkeflo 77:1, 78:1, 150, 151, 152 och 153. Arkeologisk undersökning 2010, Del 1 Huvudtext och Del 2 bilagor Kontextbeskrivningar och analysresultat. *Riksantikvarieämbetet UV Rapport 2013:93*.
- Carlie, Anne 2004. Forntida byggnadskult. Tradition och regionalitet i södra Skandinavien. [Prehistoric Building Cult: Tradition and Regionality in Southern Scandinavia.] Arkeologiska Undersökningar Skrifter No. 57. Stockholm: Riksantikvarieämbetet.
- Carlie, Anne & Lagergren, Anna forthcoming. Lockarp 44:1 m fl. (Lindängelund 1). Basdokumentation. Bebyggelse och offerplats från yngre stenålder, bronsålder, järnålder samt vikingatid/tidig medeltid. Skåne, Malmö kommun, Bunkeflo socken. [Lockarp 44:1 etc. (Lindängelund 1). Documentation. Settlement and Sacrificial Site from the Neolithic, Bronze Age, Iron Age and Viking Age/Early Middle Ages.] RAÄ Bunkeflo 77:1, 78:1, 150, 151, 152 och 153. Arkeologisk slutundersökning 2010. Dnr 3.1.1-0781-2010. Del 1 Huvudtext. *Riksantikvarieämbetet UV Rapport 2013:93*.
- Carlie, Anne & Arcini, Caroline & Druid, Henrik & Risberg, Jan forthcoming. Archaeology and Forensics: The Death of a 4000-Year-Old Child in Southern Scandinavia and its Interpretation. *Antiquity*.
- Druid, Henrik & Risberg, Jan forthcoming. Supplement: Forensic Analysis Concerning the Presence of Diatoms in Human Skeletal Remains from Lindängelund, Malmö. *Antiquity*.
- Falk, Ann-Britt 2008. En grundläggande handling. Byggnadsoffer och dagligt liv i medeltid. [A Foundation Act: Building Sacrifice and Everyday Life in Medieval Times.] Vägar till Midgård 12. Lund: Nordic Academic Press.
- Fendin, Titti 2005. De rituella fälten på Glumslövs backar. [The Ritual Fields at Glumslövs Backar.] In: P. Lagerås & P. Karsten (eds.) Bronsåldersbygd 2300–500 f. Kr. Skånska spår – arkeologi längs Västkustbanan. Lund: Riksantikvarieämbetet, pp. 366–419.
- Glob, Peter Vilhelm 1951. Ard og Plov i Nordens Oldtid. [Ard and Plough in Prehistoric Scandinavia.] Jysk Arkæologisk Selskabs Skrifter, Bind I. Aarhus: Universitetsforlaget i Aarhus.
- Groot, Maaike 2008. Animals in Ritual and Economy in a Roman Frontier Community. Excavations in Tiel-Passewaaij. Amsterdam: Amsterdam University Press.
- Hayden, Brian 1996. Feasting in Prehistoric and Traditional Societies. In: P. Wiessner
 & W. Schiefenövel (eds.) Food and the Status Quest. An Interdisciplinary Perspective, pp. 127–148. Berghahn Books.
- Larsson, Mikael & Lagerås, Per forthcoming. Bilaga 5: Rapport avseende analyser av växtmakrofossil och pollen från Lindängelund 1. [Supplement 5: Report on the

Analysis of Plant Macrofossils and Pollen from Lindängelund 1.] In: A. Carlie & A. Lagergren (eds.) Lockarp 44:1 m fl. (Lindängelund 1). Basdokumentation. Bebyggelse och offerplats från yngre stenålder, järnålder samt vikingatid/tidig medeltid, Skåne, Malmö kommun, Bunkeflo socken, RAÄ Bunkeflo 77:1, 78:1, 150, 151, 152 och 153. Arkeologisk undersökning 2010, Del 2 bilagor Kontextbeskrivningar och analysresultat. *Riksantikvarieämbetet UV Rapport 2013:93*.

- Magnell, Ola 2011. Sacred Cows or Old Beasts? A Taphonomic Approach to Studying Ritual Killing with an Example from Iron Age Uppåkra, Sweden. In: A. Pluskowski (ed.) The Ritual Killing and Burial of Animals. European Perspectives. Oxford & Oakville: Oxbow Books, pp. 192–204.
- Melin, Karl-Magnus & Linderson, Hans forthcoming. Bilaga 6: Lindängelund 1 och 4, Bunkeflo sn, Skåne. Analys av träföremål från senneolitikum till sen vikingatid/ tidig medeltid. *Knadriks kulturbygg Rapport* 2011:4. [Supplement 6: Lindängelund 1 and 4, Bunkeflo Parish, Skåne. Analysis of Wooden Objects from the Late Neolithic until the Late Viking Age/Early Middle Ages.] In: A. Carlie & A. Lagergren (eds). Lockarp 44:1 m fl. (Lindängelund 1). Basdokumentation. Bebyggelse och offerplats från yngre stenålder, järnålder samt vikingatid/tidig medeltid, Skåne, Malmö kommun, Bunkeflo socken, RAÄ Bunkeflo 77:1, 78:1, 150, 151, 152 och 153. Arkeologisk undersökning 2010, Del 2 bilagor Kontextbeskrivningar och analysresultat. *Riksantikvarieämbetet UV Rapport 2013:93*.
- Näsström, Britt-Mari 2009. Vem var Nerthus? Spåren efter en gudinna. [Who was Nerthus? Traces of a Goddess.] In: A. Carlie (ed.) *Järnålderns rituella platser*, Utskrift 9. Halmstad: Stiftelsen Hallands länsmuseer, Kulturmiljö Halland, pp. 265–280.
- Nordberg, Andreas 2009. Tid, tideräkning och talsymbolik i Adam av Bremens skildring av kulten i Uppsala. [Time, Calendar and Symbolism of Numbers in Adam of Bremen's Description of the Uppsala Cult.] In: A. Carlie (ed.) *Järnålderns rituella platser*, Utskrift 9. Halmstad: Stiftelsen Hallands länsmuseer, Kulturmiljö Halland, pp. 281–297.
- Pedersen, Ellen Anne & Widgren, Mats 1998. Järnålder 500 f. Kr.–1000 e. Kr. [Iron Age 500 BC–AD 1000.] In: Det svenska jordbrukets historia. Jordbrukets första femtusen år. Stockholm: Natur och Kultur / LTs Förlag, pp. 237–459.
- Schmidt Sabo, Katalin & Söderberg, Bengt 2012. Vinna eller försvinna? Avgörande val i bybildningstid. [To Win or Disappear? Decisive Choices at the Time of Village Formation.] In Situ Archaeologica 2011–2012, pp. 139–163.
- Stjernquist, Berta 1997. The Röekillorna Spring: Spring-Cults in Scandinavian Prehistory. Stockholm: Almquist & Wiksell International.
- Strömberg, Bo & Carlie, Anne 2012. Samhällen i förändring 300–700 e. Kr. ekonomisk kris eller social nyordning? [Changing Societies AD 300–700: Economic Crises or Social Reorganisation.] In Situ Archaeologica 2011–2012, pp. 103–137.
- Strömberg, Bo & Carlie, Anne & Lagergren, Anna forthcoming. Lindängelund 4, Malmö kommun, Skåne län. [Lindängelund 4, Malmö Municipality, Skåne County.]
 Skåne, Lockarps sn, Lockarp 42:1, 43:1 och 24:1, fornlämning 76, 129, 144, 146, 147 & 148, Bunkeflo sn, fornlämning 50 & 92, Lockarps socken. Arkeologisk undersökning 2008–2009. *Riksantikvarieämbetet UV Rapport 2013:80*.
- Tacitus, Cornelius 1969. *Germania*. Translated by A. Önnerfors. Originalets text med svensk tolkning jämte inledning och kommentar. Stockholm: Natur och Kultur.

TO BE OR NOT TO BE... A CHRISTIAN: SOME NEW PERSPECTIVES ON UNDERSTANDING THE CHRISTIANISATION OF ESTONIA

Tõnno Jonuks, Tuuli Kurisoo

Abstract: The Christianisation of Estonia has been a subject of extensive research already for a couple of centuries. Archaeologists generally agree that some elements of Christian religion were present in Estonia already prior to official Christianisation at the beginning of the 13th century. Still, speculations about what those elements were and what they meant have been avoided. We suggest that the materiality of Christianity is wider than traditional cross pendants, and other objects carrying Christian symbols should be considered as well. As a conclusion, we outline some Christian elements that were probably used by local people before the official baptism; to describe these people, a new concept – prehistoric Christians – has been taken into use.

Keywords: Christianisation, cross, pendants, symbolism, baptism

INTRODUCTION

Christianisation can be regarded as one of the most important research issues in the studies of the history of religions in Estonia. It became an actively debated issue in Estonian religiosity already during the 18th-century Enlightenment, when Baltic-German scholars developed the first general approaches to Estonian and Livonian history (e.g. Merkel 1798; Hupel 1774). Since then it has remained the fundamental issue in a majority of studies concerning the religions of ancient Estonia (e.g. Selirand 1961, 1974; Kala 1998, 2006; Valk 2003; Mägi 2002, 2004 and references therein). Christianisation is a crucial issue not only in Estonia, but could be regarded as one of the main topics also in the whole of northern Europe. It certainly has several reasons in addition to religious change, and for a researcher one of the most important of them is differences in sources. It is common that writing skills (at least in today's meaning) spread together with Christianity, which also brought along literary sources more informative than the previous limited inscriptions or archaeological remains.

But Christianisation also meant a new administrative system, in many senses new nobility and new, urban culture. Such a difference was especially

http://www.folklore.ee/folklore/vol55/jonuks_kurisoo.pdf

dramatic in Estonia but could also be observed all over northern Europe. In addition, Christianity carried a new kind of identity, in which the earlier, originbased cognition was replaced by a new, world-based religion. In conclusion, all of this indicates that Christianisation led us to a new period of history, which also justifies such a great interest in the origin of the process.

But the issue of identity is also important in studying the Estonian nationality. The first researchers, the Baltic-German enlighteners in the late 18th and early 19th centuries, created an approach of a cultural gulf before and after Christianisation, pointing at free and pagan Estonians before the violent Crusade (e.g. Merkel 1798: 235). As this is also the core of Estonian Grand Narrative, Christianisation, often seen as hostile and alien, has become a milestone in studying the Estonian identity.

In these approaches two different views on the process of Christianisation can be seen – sudden and gradual. The latter is predominantly accepted by the academic audience and Christian influences are also stressed in Late Iron Age religion. The former approach – the sudden conversion – is often used by the authors of popular and more ideological studies. Similarly to enlighteners, the cultural gulf is emphasised as having been created by Christianisation as a chronologically limited event (early 13th century). According to this view, after the conquest the pagan prehistoric religion changed into conservative folk-religion under Christian rule, preserving many features from the old times. Being rather an ideological approach, it will be excluded from here further on and, instead, we will focus on a more academic tradition and try to dwell more on what those "Christian influences" might have meant in the 12th-13thcentury Estonia.

Religion has never been a favoured topic of discussion in Estonia, both for historical and political reasons (see Jonuks 2009: 32ff.), and it becomes manifest when Christianity is discussed. Too often the personal scholarly background plays a crucial role, and also influences interpretations. One and the same phenomenon has been interpreted considerably differently, or perhaps too much stress has been laid on a single feature. Thus the opposition to inhumationcremation burials, orientation of the body, presence or absence of grave goods, etc., has been used for justifying or opposing Christianity in Late Iron Age society. The main problem in many of those studies, at least according to current authors, is the simplified approach to the concepts of 'Pagan' and 'Christian', which allows for such loose interpretations about the archaeological source material.

A SHORT HISTORY OF THE IDEA

When following the general approach to the studies of Christianisation, it becomes evident that scholars have mostly focused on either the conquest or the church history and institution. Without any doubt this is the safest approach as most of the available sources refer to these issues. At the same time the actual religiosity of the missionised folk has largely been ignored, the main reason for it being sources – all that has been written is either about official Christianity or comes from those sources, leaving little ground to speculate what local people really thought or felt. When addressing the religiosity of local people, the statement that pagan topoi of Christian clerics are used in chronicles is most often followed (Tamm & Jonuks forthcoming). And indeed, none of the 12th-13th-century chronicles and clerics were anthropologists and what local people believed either prior to or after Christianisation was never an issue for them. It was more important to make the crusaders' achievements immortal as it is presented in the introduction of crusade period chronicles (Selart 2008: 199). Another, religiously even more crucial goal was to express otherness, the pagan side of those strange savages, therefore legitimising also Christianisation as such (Kaljundi 2008; Tamm forthcoming, and references therein).

One can point to several examples in the approach, some of the most colourful of which are descriptions of pagan burial customs. According to the words of chronicles from the 12th and 13th centuries only cremation was used by locals. Even though cremation has been used in Christian contexts throughout history as an accepted burial custom in extreme situations, it had become a characteristic feature of pagan societies by the time of Livonian mission at the end of the 12th century. All chronicles from that period mention cremation only in connection with locals, stressing the pagan and alien religion and culture. As it is known from archaeology, inhumation cemeteries were widespread all over Livonia and Estonia at that time and it is highly unlikely that priest Henry of Livonia, the best known chronicler of the period, did not know about it. Thus, the prevailing description of cremations should not be regarded as a description of local culture, but rather as a pagan topos that was interesting and important to Christian chronicles. Subsequently, the study of the history of Christianisation in Estonia has recently focused especially on crusades and on how foreign crusaders saw the last pagan part of Europe (Kaljundi 2008; Tamm 2009). Thus, the research focus has slightly shifted among historians and it is the viewpoint of foreigners and the wider European perspective that is being taken into account now.

Still, the issue of Christianisation has preserved its prominence in archaeological studies, and has resulted in a reinterpretation of many archaeological finds. Scholars have been remarkably unanimous when stating that people who lived in what today is Estonia had some Christian influences that had reached them already before official Christianisation at the beginning of the 13th century (Selirand 1961, 1974: 186; Loorits 1962: 218; Pauts 1997; Valk 2001; Mägi 2002, 2004; Leimus 2009). Unfortunately, suggestions of what these influences *mean* have been considered too speculative and this issue has been avoided. But before we start to speculate about the religiosity of Final Iron Age Estonia, we have two crucial issues to resolve: Which archaeological material can be related to Christianity? What are Christianity and Paganism altogether?

ARCHAEOLOGICAL APPROACH

As compared to literary sources, archaeology offers richer and more varied material; however, in the latter interpretations are in many ways more speculative than those in written sources. Estonian archaeological material in general is very poor in symbolism and the most widespread signs are abstract marks to which different meanings could be ascribed (see Jonuks 2009). Considering the wide use of different ornaments, it rather seems more appropriate to suggest that these might have been simply aesthetic marks without any symbolic meaning. Even though some ornament styles, like the triangular 'wolf-teeth' signs on brooches and bracelets, have been interpreted as 'pagan' (Pauts 1997) or magic symbols (Tamla & Kiudsoo 2009: 48), they rather seem to appear in all possible connections with other symbols and thus cannot be interpreted as carrying some specific 'pagan identity'. The shortage of signs is especially eyecatching considering the rich variety of Christianity-related symbolism in the 12th and 13th centuries.

We are not going to present the spread of cross symbolism in Estonia in detail as it can, to some extent, be studied on the basis of previously published researches (Selirand 1974; Leimus 2009; Kurisoo 2012). In short, it can be stated that cross pendants first appear at the end of the 11th century and by the late 12th and early 13th centuries the cross is the most popular and widely used symbol in Estonia. In addition to cross-shaped pendants, similar kind of symbols decorate round silver pendants, but the cross also appears as an ornament motif on bracelets, sword sheaths, penannular brooches, etc. The earliest forms of pendants appear mostly in wealth deposits dating from the end of the 11th century onwards, while by the end of the 12th century cross pendants also occur among burials, mostly in those of females or children (Kurisoo 2012), and thus the situation is similar to that in north-western Russia (Musin 2012: 508). This is quite interesting as Estonian data have mostly been gathered from the


Figure 1. A selection of 12th-13th-century jewellery with cross symbolism (1 – TLM 16373; 2 – TLM A93:134; 3 – AI 3884: 2956; 4 – AI 3579: 4; 5 – TÜ 1777: 1257; 6 – TÜ 1777: 1256; 7 – AM 290; 8 AM 1036: 156; 9 – AI 2670: 7; 10 – AI 4116: 138B; 11 – AM 1036: 124; 12 – AI 4133; 13 – TÜ 1777: VI; 14 – AI 2513: 19). Photos by Tõnno Jonuks and Tuuli Kurisoo 2013.

northern and western part of the country. At the same time, just across the Gulf of Finland, cross pendants in southern Finland are more characteristic of male burials (Purhonen 1998: 150). But either way, in all those countries, and also more widely in northern Europe, cross symbolism is characteristic of wealthy burials (Staecker 1999; Gräslund 2000).

Round silver pendants with cross signs also occur in burials dating from the end of the 12th and largely from the beginning of the 13th century, still being more numerous in wealth deposits. Among other cross pendants, a more unique item is known from Viltina cemetery, Saaremaa, where an encolpion was found from a cremation burial stone grave (Jonuks 2009: 296) (Fig. 1: 3). This find clearly represents an import that can also be associated with exotic souvenirs, magical objects, etc., and despite its originally Christian meaning this might have changed while the object was taken out of its original context (cf. Schülke 1999). However, taking into account the fact that at least four cross pendants were found in the same grave, it is likely that the original meaning of the encolpion, which was associated with Christianity, was preserved. Another unique find, a cross pendant from a hoard found in Tartu, should be mentioned here (see Tvauri 2001: 74). It is the only example from Estonia of a pendant depicting crucified Christ, while the same style is more widespread both in Western Europe (see Staecker 1999) and northern and western Russia (Musin 2012).

Conventionally, cross pendants have been divided into two types, based on their possible origin – the 'Scandinavian' and the 'Russian'. Russia has traditionally been considered a source of Christian influences for Estonia (e.g. Selirand 1961). Jüri Selirand (1974) was the first in Estonia to raise the issue of locally made cross pendants, which created the basis for considerably different interpretations (see below). As some recent studies have shown (Kurisoo 2012), at least a quarter of cross pendants from inhumation burials are of local origin and, as such, carry the local meaning instead of an imported tradition. The same is also valid for round silver pendants that represent the 'Finnish-Estonian type', have been locally produced and thus, carry the meaning that local people have ascribed to them. Ivar Leimus (2009) has suggested multiple influences for the cross to become a central motif of the aforementioned pendants, and it seems likely that in many cases it is actually the cross pendant that is represented on a silver disc (Fig. 2).



Figure 2. Cross pendants and a round silver pendant from Savastvere and Kumna hoards $(1 - AI \ 3355; \ 42; \ 2 - AI \ 3355; \ 38; \ 3 - AM \ 434; \ 4 - AM \ 580; \ 6161)$. Note the similarities between cross pendants and the cross on the round pendant. Photo by Tuuli Kurisoo 2013.

Thus, we could suggest that cross pendants and round pendants with a cross sign actually carry the same meaning. While checking the position of such pendants in burials, it is apparent that round pendants were really worn in the same way as cross pendants. But, in addition, cross pendants have also been represented in the extensions of some penannular brooches, suggesting semantic similarities as well (cf. Ó Floinn 2012: 18).

Theoretically, it is much easier to ascribe magical meanings to foreign objects as they are moved away from their original context. However, cross symbolism created, used and reinterpreted locally indicates that the symbol that (it must be stressed here again) was the most widespread in the Late Iron Age, had a meaning also in officially pagan Estonia and the purport most likely derived from the general Christian framework. The same argument has also been used in the studies of early Christianity elsewhere, for instance, in Bulgaria (Pluskowski & Patrick 2003: 48 and references therein). But the numerous imported cross pendants of more widespread types most likely carry the same meaning and, considering the wider sense of symbolism during that period, cannot be interpreted as magical amulets.

As a brief conclusion, it can be stated that most probably the cross in the 12th-13th-century Estonia had a rather uniform background and it was not important from the semantic point of view in which form it was represented. On the contrary: crosses worn as pendants, as symbols on round silver pendants or as extensions of penannular brooches all seem to carry the same wider idea (see also Leimus 2009). But what could it be about?

Traditional interpretations of cross symbolism

In the interpretations of cross symbolism two main approaches are used, both of which are connected with the cross as a sign. The first of them can be exemplified as 'magic'. The wider background to this approach is that the cross is an ancient and pagan symbol and, as such, should be interpreted as a universal pagan and magical sign and should not be exclusively connected to Christianity. Without any doubt the cross as a rather simple and universal symbol appears in various contexts, starting from the Palaeolithic cave paintings, and is represented universally in many cultures throughout the entire prehistory and history. It is also obvious that the cross occurs in many 'pagan' contexts, for instance, together with teeth-pendants (Laul & Valk 2007: 123 and references therein) or numerous cross pendants combined in the same necklace (Kallis 2010: 160f.) (Fig. 3).



Figure 3. A necklace from Kaberla burial CLXXXIII. Note the multiple cross pendants. The third from the left is made of an ornamental pin. Photo by Irita Kallis (2010: 165).

None of those cases really resemble the way that the cross should have been worn in Christianity, hence magical interpretations seem to be reasonable. But we should also recognise that the meaning of a sign is determined by its temporal and cultural context. Bearing this in mind, we can see that cross symbolism actually appears in Estonia only from the late 11th century onwards and not before¹; it spreads more widely in the 12th century and is most widespread in the early 13th century. Thus, the spread of cross signs in Estonia corresponds well with the Christianisation of the neighbouring countries. Considering the latter, it is more likely that the cross in Final Iron Age Estonia had its meaning derived from Christianity and not from a sort of universal paganism. The actual use of the cross symbol is another issue and without doubt the cross might have been in use as a magical sign, as a protective amulet, etc. But the supernatural power of the symbol derives from Christian religion, hence it should still be considered as a Christian symbol even though its actual use was different from that in traditional Christianity (see also Samdal 2000: 88f.).

According to another approach, which is the most frequently represented one in academic studies and is also crucial to this study, the cross represents Christian symbolism and reflects Christian influences in Estonian Final Iron Age religion (e.g. Moora 1927: 5; Selirand 1961; Mägi 2002; Valk 2003). Even though it is widely accepted, it differs in how we understand 'Christian influences' and what labels of identity we are allowed to ascribe to those people. Depending on this, the understanding of 'Christian influences' can be dramatically different, starting from indirect influences and reaching up to baptised persons. But according to the dominating tradition the abstract notion 'influences' is no more precisely determined.

Other Christianity-related archaeological materials

Traditionally it is the cross that has been regarded as the main source material for Christian religion. However, the cross is not the only symbol – the symbolism of Christianity can be much more varied. Pentagram-signs are quite rarely found on round silver pendants, which should probably be interpreted as Christian symbolism and, similarly, the four-legged swastika on some round silver pendants can be considered as the interpretation of the cross. Some unique examples include round pendants made of bronze, which carry a depiction of Christ and were found in Savastvere hoard, originating from the second half of the 12th century (Tamla & Kiudsoo 2009: 42) and in Kobratu stone grave. The style and position of Christ on both of these indicate that the East is the source of the aforementioned pendants (Fig. 4: 1, 2).

Among other rarer examples are the separated heads of cross-headed pins, which were also worn as cross-pendants (Tamla 1993; Kurisoo 2012). Deliberately smoothed surfaces of the fracture indicate that heads of those pins were remanufactured by intension (Fig. 4: 3).

But in addition to symbols, there have been a few more exotic cases, such as pieces of painted ceramic eggs, which were found in Tartu (Tvauri 2001: 162) (Fig. 4: 4, 5) and associated with the Easter egg tradition symbolising the rebirth of one's soul. Such items were especially popular in Russia, and Kiev is considered to have been the major production base for them. Closely connected to the latter, a red ochre-painted bird egg dating from the early 13th century,



Figure 4. A selection of other Christianity-related artefacts: fragments of ceramic Easter eggs from Tartu, a cross pendant made of an ornamental pin from Viru-Nigula, and pendants depicting Jesus. (1 – AI 3355: 40; 2 – AM A 593: 53; 3 – AI 3357: 267; 4 – TLM A 102: 897; 5 – TLM A 70: 2115). Photos by Tõnno Jonuks and Arvi Haak 2013.

which was found in a wealthy female burial at Kukruse, should probably be interpreted similarly (see below; Jonuks & Mänd & Vahur in prep.).

Some alternative sources have been connected to Christianity, such as *lunu-la*-shaped pendants. Baiba Vaska has associated those pendants with Christianity, especially when found as part of a necklace carrying also cross-pendants (Vaska 2003: 99). *Lunulae* dating from the Late Iron Age and the Middle Ages have been identified with solar and moon symbolism and therefore could be seen as symbols of Virgin Mary (Vaska 2003: 114; Engemann 2004).

Toomas Tamla (1997) has also associated numerous bronze vessels found all over Estonia, but most numerously from the northern part, with the Christian mission. Danish priests are described in the *Chronicle of Henry of Livonia* (HCL 1982) to send holy water to distant villages where they could not go on their own to baptise folk before the Brethren Order. According to Tamla (1997), the bronze vessels, many of which are decorated with Christian symbols, could have been used for carrying holy water and ended up in the hands of local peasants who buried the vessels as hoards.

In addition to symbolic artefacts, there are three main features from the archaeology of burials that have been referred to in the discussion about Christianity – inhumation, orientation and grave goods. As a starting point, usually the dogmatic approach of a Christian burial is chosen. According to this it must be an inhumation burial, orientated to the west, facing to the east, and the grave is supposed to be void of grave goods. It is apparent that most Christian burials from Christian society do look like this, but exceptions to such a dogmatic approach can be found everywhere, including deeply Christian societies. Therefore, a question should be raised about if it is at all justified, while interpreting Christian symbolism, to look for dogmatic Christian customs in officially non-Christian contexts?

According to the Christian tradition, **inhumation** is preferred. At the same time cremation has always been known in the Christian world and was widely used in Early Christianity (Mitchell 1981: 457). But cremation was practiced in extreme situations also in the Middle and Modern Ages. This was supported by a letter from Pope Innocent III in 1214/1215, which allowed local neophytes in Livonia to choose their burial custom according to their preferences (see Leimus 2011: 11 and references therein). From Estonian sources we know from the Chronicle of Henry of Livonia (HCL 1982: XXI, 4) how the body of Livonian chief Kaupo was cremated after the battle in Estonia. He was lethally wounded, received sacraments and bequeathed everything to the church. After his death he was cremated and his bones were taken back to Livonia. Such descriptions can also be found elsewhere; for example, a Russian soldier cremated on the field after the battle, according to the Livonian Rhymed Chronicle (Vahtre 1960: 73). But even if cremation among the neophytes was officially tolerated by the church, the cases of when it was used can still be considered unique. The most obvious explanation for such instances is that the corpses of Christian warriors, killed far away from their homes, were difficult to transport and so exceptional burials were used. But considering the papal permission and cases known from the chronicles, it means that it is not justified to handle all cremation burials from the Middle Ages as pagan.

In spite of the legal permission for cremation it is clear that inhumation has always dominated in the history of Christianity. On the one hand, inhumation is connected to Christian theology through the resurrection of the soul and the Last Judgment, while during cremation both the body and soul would be destroyed. The preservation of the body became important in order to reconnect the soul and body after the Last Judgment, hence cremation was excluded. But, on the other hand, there was also a political reason as cremation was widely used by Iron Age people in northern Europe, against whom missionary wars were started in the 8th century. So cremation became a symbol of paganism and was officially sanctioned by Charles the Great in 789, in the context of a missionary war against the Saxons (Sanmark 2004: 37). From this time onward cremation became a symbol of Paganism, despite the fact that it has always been used in Christian context as well.

Another important feature in the archaeology of burials is the **orientation** of the body, by which the head should be orientated to the west, facing to the east. According to theology, the body stays in the grave until the Last Judgment Day, when bodies and souls are reunited and they rise to face God coming from the east. Simultaneously another and probably more popular version was spread, according to which the soul of the deceased moved directly to Heaven or Hell. Both concepts separately or their symbiosis was simultaneously in use and caused no contradiction, at least not for common people (Baun 2008: 615).

During Estonian Late Iron Age, literally every single direction was used for orientation (Kurisoo 2011: 27). Still, Kaberla and Pada cemeteries stand out from the generally heterogeneous picture. Both of them include more than one burial using Christian symbolism, but the orientation of Late Iron Age burials was dominantly towards the west (ibid.: Appendix 5). At the same time, the majority of burials orientated to the west contained no other signs referring to Christianity. When considering the orientation as an indication of Christianity, the best example should be Kukruse cemetery (Lõhmus et al. 2011). All major directions for the orientation were represented among fifty inhumations. A specific group of six persons stood out – there were two male and four female burials in the studied part of the cemetery. In addition, Christian symbolism was represented only in the four female burials. This grouping is in a certain contradiction with other examples, as was the case in Pada and Kaberla cemeteries, where it was not possible to determine such groups (Kurisoo 2011: 27).

But despite the example from Kukruse, and having the cases of Kaberla and Pada in mind, the orientation alone should not be considered as a primary indicator of a Christian burial. The orientations of Late Iron Age burials are open to different interpretations, in addition to the possible connection to Christian theology, but most of them are not traceable any more. One should keep in mind that the orientations of burials from the Middle and Modern Ages have varied as well, including those of Christian origin. This issue is also well-known elsewhere (see Jonsson 2009: 98f. and references therein) and some studies value more the position of the burial – either in the church or close to it – and not so much the orientation of the body (Poulík 1975: 99; Lucy 2000; Pluskowski & Patrick 2003: 46 and references therein).

The issue of **grave-goods** is the most widely discussed issue in connection to Christianity besides cross symbolism. Again a dogmatic view is accepted, according to which in the case of a Christian burial the grave is supposed to be void of grave goods. Similarly to cremation, this is also a ban that was imposed in the 8th century in the context of the Saxons' mission. During the crusade the opposition between paganism and Christianity became an essential topic and northern European Iron Age tradition of using grave goods became a pagan symbol. Some scholars suggest that nothing in the Christian doctrine bans the use of objects at a burial (Kiefer-Olsen 1997: 187). This means that the rule not to bury grave goods should be understood similarly to cremation – neither of them is proscribed in script or in theology, but during the crusades they became symbols of Paganism due to historical reasons. This suggests that even though they were officially prohibited, grave goods have been found from burials throughout the Middle Ages and Modern Times (Valk 2001) until today. It is generally known and accepted that objects such as swords, bishop regalia, etc., which were used in Christian burials from Early Christianity through to Modern Ages, indicate the deceased's rank (see Kiefer-Olsen 1997; Gräslund 2000: 84ff.; Staecker 2003). The majority of grave goods used in pagan burials (e.g. weapons) are usually also interpreted as symbols of rank. In addition to the aforementioned obvious symbols of position, there is also food placed in Christian burials, for instance, in Denmark during the Middle Ages (Kiefer-Olsen 1993), which makes such burials look pagan. Still, there is a clear theological difference in the meaning of goods placed with burials in pagan and Christian contexts. Grave goods in pagan burials, as it is commonly thought, should guarantee that the soul of the deceased could continue its existence and therefore the food, rank equipment, and seldom also tools, were placed in the grave with the body. In Christian theology, on the contrary, such items were not necessary as the soul of the deceased did not need them while waiting for the Judgement Day in the grave, enjoying Heaven or suffering in Hell.

In addition, the concept of grave goods can also be understood very differently. Some authors have a radical view, regarding all the preserved objects found from the grave as grave goods, including jewellery, metal ornaments for clothes and fastening instruments like brooches. These have been considered as evidence of syncretism and it has been proposed that the medieval church in Estonia had to compromise with old beliefs and let people add grave goods to a Christian burial (Tamla 1993). In fact, ornaments of clothes and other attachments should not be considered as grave goods (Thunmark-Nylén 1995: 162; Gräslund 2000: 84), and the custom to bury the dead in richly ornamented festive dresses was followed in Estonia until the end of the 13th century and it was in any way against the Christian doctrine or common customs.

To conclude the discussion on sources, it has to be stated that the source material about Christianity is much more varied than just cross symbols. But as all these symbols and burial custom features occur in different cultures and times with different meanings, the concrete context must be considered. Thus, the wider context in Northern Europe in the 12th and 13th centuries suggests that new symbols and changes in burial customs originate from the Christian religion spreading to the north. But what does it mean? As explained above, there is no reason to look for some universal pagan background and those changes should be interpreted as emanating from Christianity. Traditionally it has been stated that during the Late Iron Age 'Christian influences' were introduced into pagan religion. But what did those influences mean, how did they change religion as a whole and – most speculatively but methodologically interestingly – how to describe the identity of such people who use Christian symbolism while living in a pagan society?

DISCUSSION: PAGANS OR CHRISTIANS?

There are several different patterns created to study the spread of Christianity to northern Europe (e.g. Birkeli 1973; Lager 2002; Sanmark 2004; Musin 2012). Considering the major cultural centres around Estonia in the Final Iron Age, the 11th–13th centuries, the most important of them are studies about south-Scandinavian and north-west Russian Christianity. However, none of the patterns proposed for these areas seem to apply to the Estonian material. We presume that one of the major reasons for this is the different historical context of how and when Christianity reached Estonia. The spread of Christianity from the 5th century Mediterranean to northern Europe lasted for almost a millennium, during which the original religion met different cultures, societies and religions. Simultaneously, the social context changed as in many parts the shift to Christianity meant centralised power systems, changed trading routes and a new, cross-European identity. All this suggests that Christianity also changed during the process and missionary tactics varied in different cultural and political contexts (e.g. Muldoon 1997; Edwards 2005: 122). In this respect it is important to note that in the early days of Scandinavian and Russian missionary work, the first missionaries had to accept strong and powerful non-Christian societies and thus different kinds of compromises were usual (e.g. primsignatio, simplified Christian teachings, etc.; see more in Sanmark 2004). By the time of the Baltic Crusade the situation was different, Christian communities were in an increased position of strength and therefore compromises such as *primsignatio* were not necessary and no longer practiced.

Besides different missionary practices, the methodological aspect needs to be considered – we tend to assume that Christian symbolism indicates Christianity in whatever form it appears. Alex Pluskowski and Philippa Patrick (2003: 30) have stressed that the approach towards Christianity is simplified everywhere and there is a need to re-conceptualise the notion of 'Christianity', even though a good alternative is yet to be found. To us it seems more promising to focus on the general picture, which might not even contain classical references to Christianity, but the general view is nevertheless Christian. According to our material it seems that the situation might have been much more complicated and there could have been 'Christians' who had nothing to do with the 'real' Christianity.

As explained previously, it is very dangerous to build interpretations on a single aspect, such as burial orientation, presence or absence of grave goods or cross symbolism. Moreover, many of these aspects come from dogmatic Christianity or from another time period and have therefore nothing to say about medieval Christianity². It is a well-known problem that Christianity is seen as one unit and the definition of Christianity derives too often from our modern understanding of religion or occasionally from medieval but dogmatic Catholicism (see also Kilbride 2000). But contemporary northern European Lutheranism and medieval Catholicism, especially in the context of crusades, are more or less different religions, whereas in the latter Christ himself does not represent an innocent martyr but a victorious warrior, and to defend the Christian society, pagans were permitted to kill (e.g. HCL 1982: XXIII, 10; Gräslund 2000: 95; Jensen K.V. 2011; cf. also King 2008).

Moreover, most of our literary sources about medieval Christianity are about the official religion, which says little, if anything at all, about the religiosity of common people outside urban culture, especially about the eastern side of the Baltic region before the 13th century.

Still, the rich use of Christianity-related symbolism points clearly to the position that religion had in the Baltic area in the 12th and 13th centuries, right before the North-East Crusade brought the last 'pagan' stronghold in Europe to an end. One of the most recent finds allowed us to have a closer look at a 40+ years-old female inhumation from the early 13th century Kukruse cemetery in north-eastern Estonia (Fig. 5). She was not wearing the most classical item, the cross-pendant, and she was accompanied by a number of grave goods but, nevertheless, we can speculate that this was a burial of a Christian female. Her body was covered with a set of numerous breast chains, there were eight and nine circlets around her right and left forearm, respectively, her clothing

was decorated with different patterns made of small bronze spirals, etc. At the foot of the burial there was a ceramic vessel, once filled with food, and also a rich set of grave goods - a scythe, a knife, etc. On her left shoulder, there was a small bronze horse-shaped pendant, which had most probably been originally attached to the breast chain or clothing. From the religious perspective, the most interesting find was a necklace with seven round silver pendants carrying different signs in between glass beads. The most central and prominent pendant depicted a cross, and on both sides of it, pendants were decorated with lunula-shaped imprints. Often a cross symbol is created by combining four of such motives, but on these pendants no more than three signs could have been placed. The next pair represented pentagrams, which is rather unique in Estonia, and until then only one example of a similar kind had been known - from Ubina hoard, dated to the beginning of the 12th century (Tamla et al. 2006: Fig. 3:2). The set ended with two smaller pendants with a significantly simpler ornament. The set was probably made by one master and possibly also ordered as one unit. Thus, we could assume that the symbols and the pattern in which they were arranged had a specific meaning for the owner as well as the rest of the community.



Figure 5. Burial VII from Kukruse early 13th-century cemetery. Close-ups of red ochrepainted egg and necklace. Note the symmetrical position of pendants in the necklace. Photos by Marko Usler, Signe Vahur and Tõnno Jonuks 2010.

In addition, an egg was found in between her thighs, on top of the clothing and ornaments, and thus on display to all mourners. Small preserved fragments of red colour were discovered on the eggshell. This find is the first of its kind in Estonia, while many are known from the lower reaches of the River Daugava in Latvia, from the 12th and 13th centuries. It can be speculated that in some cases an egg buried with the deceased was there simply as food (Stenberger 1977: 472; Urtāns 1973), but considering the coloured shell and displayed position it is likely that this has more to do with the symbolic meaning. We could consider both interpretations here – the pagan and Christian symbolism. According to the former, the egg could be connected with the creation myth, according to which the world originates from an egg, and birds have also been associated with soul-birds (Nazarova 2006: 152). According to the latter, the colourful egg in the grave could be connected with the Easter egg tradition, symbolising the resurrection of the soul. The spread of eggshells in graves is eye-catching: in the eastern Baltic region these cases appear predominantly in the wealthy graves in coastal areas, and are limited to the 12th and 13th centuries, which points to some external influences rather than a local pagan mythical tradition. Considering the fact that eggs were coloured and found from graves, the latter interpretation – the egg as a symbol of the soul's resurrection – seems more plausible. But it does not necessarily mean that it was placed there just as a symbol of Christianity. The egg could just as well have transformed into a symbol of the soul's resurrection in pagan societies (Shepard 2008: 145), but even then it would probably have preserved something from its original meaning.

In the Kukruse case we are seemingly dealing with a wealthy female burial, and deciding by her grave goods and the food in the grave, her soul most likely had to continue a way of life similar to that before her death. At the same time Christian symbols were clearly demonstrated in her as well as the three neighbouring female burials (see above). It is interesting that among fifty studied burials this group of six burials was clearly distinctive – they were all buried close by (four females, two males), one male and all females were richly equipped for the Afterworld and all four females had either round silver pendants with cross-signs or a cross pendant on them. The latter, the biggest of its kind found in Estonia, was probably of local origin. While cross symbolism is present in the case of those four, it is interesting to note that the rest of the burials of the explored part of the cemetery did not include anything to symbolise their religion – neither Christian nor pagan.

The combination of crosses and rich grave goods can also be traced in other cemeteries, although not conclusively. So far only the appearance of cross pendants has been studied (Kurisoo 2012), according to which it could be concluded that it was mainly females and children that wore cross pendants, and they were very rarely found in male burials. Also, burials with cross pendants do not differ by any other features from the rest of the burials in the community – but for this, the burial ritual seems to have been similar. So the main conclusion so far is that in the late 12th and 13th centuries some of the deceased were marked with Christian symbolism, but buried in the same way as the rest of the members of the community. This apparent mixing of religious phenomena shows that people of that time, who used Christian-related symbolism, did not differentiate themselves from the rest of the community. It is possible that the rich, locally produced and used Christian symbols had a meaning in society at the time, so it seems plausible to suggest that a kind of local interpretation of Christianity was represented in the religion of the 12th and 13th-century Estonia. So, what was the reason and what was their religion?

Who is a Christian? What about a Pagan?

It seems that even though 'Christian influences' proposed traditionally as an interpretation of such Christian symbolism is a relevant term, the term itself is very diffuse with complicated meanings, and needs to be reconsidered (Pluskowski & Patrick 2003). Too often archaeologists and historians of religion seem to identify the early Christian as someone who has changed the religious identity together with all necessary sacraments, who excludes the pagan gods and follows Christian doctrines (cf. also Musin 2012). In other words – a Christian in these early medieval societies could have been a person who corresponded to the doctrinal definition of the religion. Without any doubt such a narrow definition does not apply to transition societies and the features of one's religious identity were more diffused. It is even more obvious when studying the use of terms 'Christian' and 'Pagan' in Medieval Chronicles. It is widely known that the term 'Pagan' was not merely used when talking about religious opponents but in many cases about political opponents as well, irrespective of their religious background (Mägi 2002: 152; Tamm & Jonuks forthcoming). The medieval rural population in Estonia has constantly been called 'neophytes' in chronicles, even though the land and the folk had officially been Christianised for centuries (Kala 2006). Such a use of the term in Medieval Chronicles appears most clearly in the context of heresy, even though heretics considered themselves to be Christians (e.g. Janson 2003). And this is where we reach the issue of religious identity that we have traditionally based on seemingly objective and opposing official definitions - 'Christian' and 'Pagan'. Yet, especially in transitional societies the situation was much more merged and therefore it happened too often that people who considered themselves Christians were

labelled as Pagans. In this context it has not been discussed what could have been the religious identity of the people that used Christian symbolism but lived in a pagan society.

As in those days Christian symbolism spread among part of the Estonian population, we should focus on both personal and group identities. Identity has been thoroughly explored in archaeology and therefore multiple different definitions are in use. Margarita Díaz-Andreu and Samantha Lucy have defined identity as "inextricably linked to the sense of belonging. Through identity we perceive ourselves, and others see us, as belonging to certain groups and not others" (Díaz-Andreu & Lucy 2005: 1). Although we agree to the aspect of belonging, the distinction between 'us' and 'others' seems to be too clear-cut in the definition. In light of the archaeological finds from the Estonian Final Iron Age and their context, Timothy Insoll's study (2007) about religious identities in the Arabian Gulf region seems much more relevant. According to him, religious identities may be overlapping and vary much depending on the observer's position. We understand the religious identity as both personal and collective self-identification, and as something that is marked by using religious symbolism. The crucial aspect of this definition is the way the person in the past understood him/herself and what could have been the word to describe him/ her. This means that the official definitions of 'Pagan' and 'Christian' based on doctrinal categories are of no more importance than the more speculative and subjective assumptions of what those people thought about themselves (cf. also Makarov 2009: 114).

Considering the rich local variety in using the cross and other Christian symbols at the time when all the major cultural centres around Estonia were experiencing a shift in religion, it seems plausible that the Estonian nobility (or at least a part of it) identified themselves as 'Christians'. In this context it must be kept in mind that characteristically of the 12th-13th-century religious worldview 'Christianity' and 'Paganism' did not eliminate one another. It is apparent in many medieval chronicles that pagan gods and supernatural beings existed in the Christian world as well and represented evilness (Jensen C.S. 2011). What mattered was who was more powerful (Kala 2006: 3). We may assume that such an approach was also represented in the Late Iron Age Estonian religion and Christ as a god could have been regarded merely as one of the many in the gods' family, and in the 12th and 13th centuries more powerful than others.³ Thus, from a very basic standpoint we can assume that from the 11th century onwards the local population, and especially the nobility, was aware of Christianity as a new religion and its adoption did not result in a religious shift and exclusion of the existing or former gods. The wearing of crosses and other Christian symbolism in plain view indicates that it was important for them to express their religious identity despite whatever the official or theological understanding of a 'Christian' was. It is also well known that Christian symbolism most often occurs in pre-Christian contexts, in which people possibly had to express their identity (Golubeva 1997; Staecker 2003; Jonuks 2009: 298; Madgearu 2012: 310). With all this in mind, the local nobility could have had closer relations with foreign and 'proper' Christian nobility. Medieval Christianity was mostly based on collective identity (Sanmark 2004: 182), which probably gave some ground for the locals to identify themselves as part of the wider nobility as well.

But what could have it meant to be a Christian in the 12th-13th-century Estonia? What could have been the themes in medieval Christianity that were attractive to pagan societies and could therefore have been the first to be integrated into the pagan religion?

Themes

In spite of wearing Christian symbolism and possibly considering themselves Christians, the religious knowledge of local folk differed considerably from the doctrinal treatment. If we presume that one of the major attractions of the new religion was its prestigious image, it is most likely that some elements of the Christian teaching were taken over as well. When studying the latter, we must remember that this sort of knowledge spread in a liminal situation from one newly Christianised society to another, or even in military contexts. And this definitely designated the topics that were significant and shaped the form of Christianity. It is most likely that we can leave aside complicated and doctrinal concepts, like the sin, the Holy Trinity, etc. (Sanmark 2004: 184). As Alexandra Sanmark has suggested, the Christian teaching in transition societies could have been made simpler in order for it to be more compatible with the former religion and in some cases it could have ended up even with what was heresy for the official theology (ibid.: 100).

The first of the attractive themes was probably eschatology together with the concept of the soul's resurrection and the Afterworld. These were some of the central motives in medieval Christianity and without a doubt existed in the Iron Age religion as well. The presence of 'proper' grave goods – i.e., objects placed into graves other than ornaments or articles of clothing – can be regarded as a proof of this. From the Migration Period onwards, the number of grave goods increased, comprising mostly weapons, and sometimes also tools or pet animals. According to the present view, these were the items that either belonged to the deceased or symbolised them, and the reason for placing those in the grave or

on the pyre was that the deceased's soul needed them in the Afterworld. Since the richly furnished inhumation graves started to appear in the 11th century, they also included ceramic vessels. Some of them contained charcoal (Jaanits et al. 1982: 347), but the majority seems to have been once filled with food. The presence of food in graves seems to be the best argument to suggest the existence of the Afterworld as a place where souls of the deceased continue a similar way of life and where they also need tools, weapons and food.

In medieval Christianity the souls of the deceased left the body and entered the purgatory for purification. The purgatory could be multiform, depending on cultural and historical backgrounds, but had a common element of souls being punished or awarded according to the life that they had led. During the Last Judgment souls and bodies were reunited to enjoy the eternal life in Paradise. Along with the official theological treatment, a more popular interpretation was simultaneously in use, according to which souls received an award also prior to the Last Judgment (Baun 2008). If a person led his/her life according to Christian teachings, the soul could have been provided with better conditions, or was punished in the opposite case, already before the Eternality (ibid.: 615). Those two views on afterlife were mixed in medieval religion and even though we could find a contradiction in the theological point of view, they were not in conflict in folk religion (Bernstein 2009: 204).

While the concepts of sin and purification most likely remained unfamiliar to locals, the idea of eternal afterlife in ideal Paradise was probably something that befitted the existing concepts and added some new valuable nuances. It is interesting to note that in many cases the burials with Christian symbolism included a most numerous set of grave goods. A good example of this was seen in Kukruse cemetery, where female burials with Christian symbolism were also accompanied by a rich set of tools and meal pots. This is partly connected with the nobility as they could afford investing in grave goods. At the same time such a connection is striking, emphasising again that there was no semantic contradiction between Christianity and Paganism in these societies.

God was probably another attractive topic besides the Afterworld. The concept of the Holy Trinity has often been considered too complicated for the local people to understand, but it was central in medieval Catholicism. As already mentioned, during the Middle Ages concessions were made in teaching Christianity. Therefore the Holy Trinity was probably not viewed as Trinity but as three different gods. And it is likely that this was acceptable and understandable in Iron Age societies and could have been introduced into their religion and pantheon. In addition to the three supreme gods, a legion of saints was also introduced by Christianity. When looking at medieval folk religion in Western Europe as a close analogy with rich sources available, there are no serious differences between Iron Age pagan and medieval Christian folk religions, and Christian saints were venerated in the same way as gods formerly.

The changed concept of Christ needs to be borne in mind when talking about gods. While the first Christian influences reached Estonia in the 11th and 12th centuries, the Christian world had entered the age of crusades. The concept of god had also adjusted to it and Christ from the crusade period was not a suffering martyr but a victorious warrior. Such a concept was understandable and attractive to both newly baptised and non-Christian societies. And that was most likely the reason why Christian symbols can be found in Estonian Late Iron Age burials, and especially among wealthier ones. But Christianity was characteristic of nobility not only in pagan countries but all over Northern Europe. The first known Estonian Christian originated from the nobility – it was a local chief, called Thabelinus from Virumaa, who was baptised in Gotland, possibly by the priests of the bishopric of Riga (Vahtre 1997: 14). Nicholas and Johannes, two boys from Estonia who were on a pilgrimage to the cathedral of Nidaros (currently Trondheim, Norway) (see Blomkvist 2009), could also be regarded as members of nobility. Otherwise it would have been rather difficult to accomplish the pilgrimage from Estonia to Norway in the memory of their father. There are also some examples that suggest the initiative role of the local nobility in church-building (Johansen 1933: 209; Mäll 1998).

Bearing all this in mind, we can suggest that several individuals from the nobility may have added Christ into their personal pantheon, that the new approach to the Afterworld was probably attractive and, judging by the Christian symbolism on display, they apparently regarded themselves as Christians.

But was it Christianity?

Although in the 12th and early 13th-century Estonia there were people whose identity could be regarded as Christian and who most probably managed to create their own version of Christianity, they were not Christians for the rest of the Christian world. A crucial issue in speculations about Christianity prior to Christianity is that there have been many versions of the religion. Leaving aside extreme examples, such as eremites, the medieval Christianity was communal (Sanmark 2004: 182) – people belonged to congregations and bishoprics, they visited churches and received regular sacraments, etc. None of these phenomena were possible in Estonia when the church administrative system was absent, there were probably no priests, etc. Despite the fact that Bishop Fulco had been appointed Bishop of Estonia already in 1165, he probably never reached his bishopric. From as early as a century before, there is a message from Adam

of Bremen (Adam 2002: 16) who says that there was a church being built in Kurland. Such a claim could have partly been propaganda to demonstrate the spread of Christianity, but at the same time it is very likely that the German merchants, who regularly visited the eastern coast of the Baltic, had erected a sacral building for themselves (see also Kala 1998: 44; Rebane 2001: 39; Mägi 2002: 156). As merchants of the period stayed in the same place for a longer time (e.g. for winter), they were probably accompanied by a priest and it would only have been natural to also have a small church or a chapel for services. Nevertheless, those occasional events probably exerted merely negligible influence on the locals. It is more likely that instead of systematic teaching only random elements were obtained from Christianity and reinterpreted in the existing system. Therefore the local Christians could not have been considered 'proper' Christians by the rest of the Western world. Despite the possible Christian identity of the locals they were still considered Pagans and therefore the crusade at the beginning of the 13th century was non-contradictory.

CONCLUSION

As any other religion, Christianity has changed in the course of time and also through different contexts. This rather obvious statement seems to have often been neglected when discussing the most complicated phase of Christianity – the transforming society. Far too often claims and concepts of dogmatic Christianity have been ascribed to the mission of northern Europe during those 500 years. During this half a millennium religion changed considerably and as the mission always depended on the local context, there could not have been two similar examples of missions. So, the Christianity that reached the eastern side of the Baltic region during the 11th and 12th centuries was also unique. Christianity in the north was still marginal at the time of the Saxons' or even Scandinavians' missions in the 10th and 11th centuries and thus, mission tactics had to consider this. Indeed, the situation was different thereafter and by the 12th century, when the first Christians appeared in Estonia, religion was in power position. This also changed the mission strategy as reflected in such black-andwhite depictions of local pagans and foreign Christians in medieval Livonia.

Along with the Christianisation of the most important centres of the Baltic region – south of Scandinavia and north-west of Russia – at the end of the 10th century the first cross-shaped pendants appeared in Estonia. It is characteristic that in the beginning, during the 11th and early 12th centuries, crosses appeared mostly in hoards, but from the end of the 12th century and especially at the beginning of the 13th century Christian symbolism was widely used, locally

interpreted and - most importantly - had a meaning in local religion. Considering the temporal circumstances, we can safely argue that the primary meaning of symbolism came from Christian religion, but the actual use and meaning in each single case could vary. The cross could have also been worn as a protective amulet (but the supernatural power of the symbol derived from Christianity) or as a prestigious symbol of nobility (with the origin of the tradition rooted in foreign Christian nobility), etc. But most likely Christian symbolism was used to mark either a Christian person or somebody who had accepted Christ as one of the gods. Yet, it must be stressed that this self-appearing form of Christianity was not acceptable for the rest of the Christian world. Instead of different forms of Christianity, the crusade at the beginning of the 13th century brought just the 'one and only' version of it to Estonia. So, at the beginning of the 13th century, when the Saxons and Danish started an organised crusade to Estonia, they most likely fought with the nobility, considering themselves, at least partly, Christian. But the crusaders did not regard themselves as Christians as they did not belong into the Christian world but simply practiced their own version of the religion. Therefore it was justified for Christians to call locals pagans, despite whatever the locals' identity and their symbols were. And so, in the end, a crucial question remains: While discussing the religiosity of those years, what should we consider more important: our seemingly objective (and always problematic) characteristics that we apply to an ancient religion on the basis of our sources, or our speculations of what those people thought about themselves?

Research for this article was supported by research project SF 0030181s08 and grant ETF 8956.

NOTES

- ¹ There are some cross-shaped pendants from the Roman Iron Age, but those clearly represent a special sub-group of the cross, which is determined by the era (3rd–5th century AD) but also by the form, and are therefore not comparable or connected to the tradition of using the cross in the Late Iron Age (Jonuks 2009: 228).
- ² This is not a methodological problem of Christianity alone but can also be traced among other religions. See Insoll 2007 and references therein for a similar problem of Muslim identities based on different standpoints.
- ³ It should be mentioned that we purposely avoid using the term 'syncretism'. As William G. Kilbride has pointed out, the usage of this term is based on a false assumption that it is possible to clearly define early medieval Christianity or, moreover, paganism, which means that the concept of syncretism is founded upon a false antithesis and should therefore be rejected (Kilbride 2000: 8).

ABBREVIATIONS

- AI Archaeology collection at the Institute of History, Tallinn University
- TLM Archaeology collection at the Tartu City Museum
- AM Archaeology collection at the Estonian History Museum, Tallinn

REFERENCES

- Adam 2002 = Adam of Bremen. *History of the Archbishops of Hamburg-Bremen*. Translated with an introduction and notes by F.J. Tschan & T. Reuter. New York: Columbia University Press.
- Baun, Jane 2008. Last Things. In: T.F.X. Noble & J.M.H. Smith (eds.) The Cambridge History of Christianity, Vol. 3. Early Medieval Christianities, c. 600–c. 1100. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, pp. 606–624, http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/ CHOL9780521817752.031.
- Bernstein, Alan E. 2009. Heaven, Hell and Purgatory: 1100–1500. In: M. Rubin & W. Simons (eds.) The Cambridge History of Christianity, Vol. 4. Christianity in Western Europe c. 1100-c. 1500. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, pp. 200–216, http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/CHOL9780521811064.016.
- Birkeli, Fridtjov 1973. Norske steinkors I tidlige meddelalder. Et bidrag til belysning av overgangen fra norrøn religion till kristendom. [Nordic Stone Cross in the Early Middle Ages. A Contribution to the Illumination of Transition from Nordic Religion to Christianity.] Skrifter utgitt av det Norske Videnskaps-Akademi I Oslo: Historisk-Filosofisk Klasse, N.S., 10. Oslo: Oslo Universitetsforlaget.
- Blomkvist, Nils 2009. Early Agents of Europeanization: Nicholas and Fulco on the Bumpy Road to Twelfth-Century Estonia. In: P. Raudkivi & M. Seppel (eds.) Sõnasse püütud minevik. In honorem Enn Tarvel. Tallinn: Argo, pp. 29–58.
- Díaz-Andreu, Margarita & Lucy, Sam 2005. Introduction. In: M. Díaz-Andreu & S. Lucy & S. Babič & D.N. Edwards (eds.) The Archaeology of Identity. Approaches to Gender, Age, Status, Ethnicity and Religion. London & New York: Routledge, pp. 1–12.
- Edwards, David 2005. The Archaeology of Religion. In: M. Díaz-Andreu & S. Lucy & S. Babič & D.N. Edwards (eds.) The Archaeology of Identity. Approaches to Gender, Age, Status, Ethnicity and Religion. London & New York: Routledge, pp. 110–128.
- Engemann, Josef 2004. Spätantike Funde and Rhein und Mosel. Heidnisch synkretisch – christlich. In: S. Ristow (ed.) Neue Forschungen zu den Anfängen des Christentums im Rheinland. Jahrbuch für Antike und Christentum. Ergänzungsband. Kleine Reihe 2. Münster Westfalen: Aschendorff Verlag, pp. 17–50.
- Golubeva 1997 = Golubeva, Leonilla. Amulety. [Amulets.] *Arkheologiia. Drevniaia Rus*'. *Byt i kul'tura*. Moskva: Nauka, pp. 153–165.
- Gräslund, Anne-Sofie 2000. The Conversion of Scandinavia: A Sudden Event or a Gradual Process? In: A. Pluskowski (ed.) Early Medieval Religion. Archaeological Review from Cambridge, Vol. 17, No. 2, pp. 83–98.
- HCL 1982 = Henriku Liivimaa kroonika = Heinrici Chronicon Livoniae. Transl. by R. Kleis. Tallinn: Eesti Raamat.

- Hupel, August Wilhelm 1774. Topographische Nachrichten von Lief- und Ehstland. Bund I. Gesammelt und herausgegeben durch August Wilhelm Hupel. Riga: Johann Friedrich Hartknoch. Available at http://dspace.utlib.ee/dspace/ handle/10062/1850, last accessed on November 27, 2013.
- Insoll, Timothy 2007. Changing Identities in the Arabian Gulf. Archaeology, Religion, and Ethnicity in Context. In: T. Insoll (ed.) The Archaeology of Identities. A Reader. London & New York: Routledge, pp. 308–325.
- Jaanits, Lembit & Laul, Silvia & Lõugas, Vello & Tõnisson, Evald 1982. *Eesti esiajalugu*. [Estonian Prehistory.] Tallinn: Eesti Raamat.
- Janson, Henrik 2003. What Made the Pagans Pagans? In: R. Simek & J. Meurer (eds.) Scandinavia and Christian Europe in the Middle Ages. Bonn: Hausdruckerei der Universität Bonn, pp. 250–256.
- Jensen, Carsten Selch 2011. 'Verbis non verberibus': The Representation of Sermons in the Chronicle of Henry of Livonia. In: M. Tamm & L. Kaljundi & C.S. Jensen (eds.) Crusading and Chronicle Writing on the Medieval Baltic Frontier. Surrey & Burlington: Ashgate, pp. 179–206.
- Jensen, Kurt Villads 2011. Bigger and Better: Arms Race and Change in War Technology in the Baltic in the Early Thirteenth Century. In: M. Tamm & L. Kaljundi & C.S. Jensen (eds.) Crusading and Chronicle Writing on the Medieval Baltic Frontier. Surrey & Burlington: Ashgate, pp. 245–264.
- Johansen, Paul 1933. *Die Estlandliste des Liber Census Daniae*. Kopenhagen: H. Hagerup & Reval: F. Wassermann.
- Jonsson, Kristina 2009. Practices for the Living and the Dead: Medieval and Post-Reformation Burials in Scandinavia. Stockholm Studies in Archaeology, Vol. 50.
- Jonuks, Tõnno 2009. *Eesti muinasusund*. [Prehistoric Religions in Estonia.] Dissertationes archaeologia Universitatis Tartuensis 2. Tartu: Tartu University Press. Available at http://dspace.utlib.ee/dspace/bitstream/handle/10062/9494/ Jonukst%C3%B5nno.pdf?sequence=1, last accessed on November 27, 2013.
- Jonuks, Tõnno 2012. Rahvuslus ja muinasusund: religioon eestluse loojana. [Nationality and Prehistoric Religion: The Making of Estonian Identity.] *Ajalooline ajakiri*, No. 3/4, pp. 269–285. Available at http://ojs.utlib.ee/index.php/EAA/article/ view/769/748, last accessed on October 2, 2013.
- Jonuks, Tõnno & Mänd, Raivo & Vahur, Signe in prep. Eggshells as Grave Goods from Late Iron Age Burials: Possible Interpretations on the Example of the Late 12th – early 13th Century Kukruse Cemetery.
- Kala, Tiina 1998. Vana-Liivimaa ja ristiusustamine. In: S. Rutiku & R. Staats (eds.) Eestimaa, Liivimaa ja Lääne kristlus: Eesti-Saksa uurimusi Baltimaade kirikuloost = Estland, Lettland und westliches Christentum: Estnisch-deutsche Beiträge zur baltischen Kirchengeschichte. Kiel: Friedrich Wittig Verlag, pp. 39–74.
- Kala, Tiina 2006. Ristimine paganate ja kristlaste pilgu läbi. [Baptism as Seen by Pagans and Christians.] *Tuna*, Vol. 3, pp. 8–26.
- Kaljundi, Linda 2008. Waiting for the Barbarians: Reconstruction of Otherness in the Saxon Missionary and Crusading Chronicles, 11th-13th Centuries. In: Erik Kooper (ed.) *The Medieval Chronicle*, Vol. 5. Amsterdam & New York: Rodopi, pp. 113-127.

- Kallis, Irita 2010. Kaberla kalmistu 12.–13. sajandi klaashelmed. [Glass Beads from Kaberla Cemetery in the 12th–13th Centuries.] In: Ü. Tamla (ed.) Ilusad asjad. Tähelepanuväärseid leide Eesti arheoloogiakogudest. Muinasaja teadus, Vol. 21, pp. 149–170.
- Kieffer-Olsen, Jakob 1993. Grav og gravskik i det middelalderlige Danmark. [Burial and Burial Customs in Middle Ages Denmark.] Højberg: Afd. for middelalderarkæologi.
- Kieffer-Olsen, Jakob 1997. Christianity and Christian Burial. The Religious Background, and the Transition from Paganism to Christianity, from the Perspective of a Churchyard Archaeologist. In: C.K. Jensen & K.H. Nielsen (eds.) Burial & Society. The Chronological and Social Analysis of Archaeological Burial Data. Aarhus & Oakville, Conn.: Aarhus University Press, pp. 185–189.
- Kilbride, William K. 2000. Why I Feel Cheated by the Term 'Christianisation'. In: A. Pluskowski (ed.) Early Medieval Religion. Archaeological Review from Cambridge, Vol. 17, No. 2, pp. 1–17.
- King, Karen L. 2008. Which Early Christianity? In: S.A. Harvey & D.G. Hunter (ed.) The Oxford Handbook of Early Christian Studies. Oxford: Oxford University Press, pp. 66–84, http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/oxfordhb/9780199271566.003.0004.
- Kurisoo, Tuuli 2011. *Ristripatsid Eesti 12.–13. sajandi laibakalmistutes: ehted, kristlaste või paganate tunnused?* [Cross-Shaped Pendants in the 12th–13th-Century Inhumation Burials: Adornments or Signs of Christians or Pagans?] Bachelor thesis. Manuscript at the University of Tartu Library. Available at http://www.arheo.ut.ee/docs/BA11_Kurisoo.pdf, last accessed on October 3, 2013.
- Kurisoo, Tuuli 2012. Ristripatsid Eesti 12.–13. sajandi laibakalmistutes: kas ehted või usu tunnused? [Cross-Shaped Pendants in the 12th–13th-Century Inhumation Burials: Adornments or Signs of Belief?] Õpetatud Eesti Seltsi aastaraamat, pp. 213–234. Available at http://www.ut.ee/OES/wp-content/uploads/Kurisoo.pdf, last accessed on October 3, 2013.
- Lager, Linn 2002. Den Synliga Tron. Runstenskors som en spegling av kristnandet i Sverige. [The Visible Faith: Runestone Crosses as Reflections of the Christianisation of Sweden.] Uppsala: Institutionen för arkeologi och antik historia, Uppsala universitet.
- Laul, Silvia & Valk, Heiki 2007. Siksälä: A Community at the Frontiers. Iron Age and Medieval. CCC Papers 10. Tallinn & Tartu: University of Tartu.
- Leimus, Ivar 2009. Läänemere kristlikud paganad. [The Christian Pagans of the Baltic Sea.] *Tuna*, Vol. 4, pp. 5–22. Available at http://rahvusarhiiv.ra.ee/public/TUNA/ Artiklid_Biblio/LeimusIvar_Laanemere_kristlikud_TUNA2009_4.pdf, last accessed on November 27, 2013.
- Leimus, Ivar 2011. Iura christianorum Läti Henriku sõnakõlks või nõks paganate alistamiseks? [Iura Christianorum: A Catch Phrase by Henry of Livonia or a Trick to Subdue Pagans?] *Tuna*, Vol. 1, pp. 9–19. Available at http://rahvusarhiiv.ra.ee/ public/TUNA/Artiklid_Biblio/LeimusIvar_Lura_Christianorum_TUNA2011_1. pdf, last accessed on October 11, 2013.
- Lõhmus, Mari & Jonuks, Tõnno & Malve, Martin 2011. Archaeological Salvage Excavations at Kukruse: A Modern Age Road, 13th–15th Century Cemetery. In: E. Oras & E. Russow (eds.) Archaeological Fieldwork in Estonia 2010. Tallinn: Muinsuskaitseamet, pp. 103–114.

- Loorits, Oskar 1962. Zur christlichen Terminologie bei den Esten, Liven und Letten. Eesti Vaimulik Raamat. Uppsala: Arostryck.
- Lucy, Samantha 2000. The Anglo-Saxon Way of Death. Stroud: Sutton Publishing.
- Madgearu, Alexandru 2012. The Significance of the Early Christian Artefacts in Post-Roman Dacia. In: Orsolya Heinrich-Tamáska & Niklot Krohn & Sebastian Ristow (eds.) Christianisierung Europas. Entstehung, Entwicklung und Konsolidierung im archäologischen Befund. Regensburg: Schnell & Steiner, pp. 299–317.
- Mägi, Marika 2002. At the Crossroads of Space and Time: Graves, Changing Society and Ideology on Saaremaa (Ösel), 9th–13th Centuries AD. CCC Papers 6. Tartu: University of Tartu.
- Mägi, Marika 2004. From Paganism to Christianity: Political Changes and Their Reflection in the Burial Customs of 12th–13th Century Saaremaa. In: D. Kattinger & J. Olesen & H. Wernicke (eds.) Der Ostseeraum und Kontinentaleuropa 1100–1600. Einflußnahme – Rezeption – Wandel. CCC Papers 8. Schwerin: Thomas Helms Verlag, pp. 27–34.
- Makarov 2009 = Makarov N. Iazychestvo i khristianstvo. [Paganism and Christianity.] In: Arkheologiia Severnorusskoi derevni X–XIII vekov. Srednevekovye poseleniia i mogil'niki na Kubenskom ozere. Tom III. Moskva: Nauka, pp. 106–115.
- Mäll, Jaak 1998. Verwaltungsgeschichte und Christianisierung der Insel Oesel im 13.–14. Jahrhundert. In: N. Blomkvist (ed.) Culture Clash or Compromise? The Europeanisation of the Baltic Sea Area 1100–1400 AD. Acta Visbyensia XI. Visby: Gotland Centre for Baltic Studies, pp. 158–166.
- Merkel, Garlieb Helwig 1798. Die Vorzeit Lieflands: ein Denkmal des Pfaffen- und Rittergeistes. Erster Band. Berlin: Voss. Available at http://dspace.utlib.ee/dspace/ handle/10062/2908, last accessed on November 27, 2013.
- Mitchell, Edwin Knox 1981. Death and Disposal of the Dead (Early Christian). In: J. Hastings (ed.) Encyclopædia of Religion and Ethics, Vol. IV. Edinburgh: T&T. Clark, pp. 456–458.
- Moora, Harri 1927. Die Kultur der Esten zur Zeit ihrer Selbständigkeit im Altertum (Eestlaste kultuur muistsel iseseisvus-ajal). Tartu: Veröffentlichung des Archäologischen Kabinetts der Universität Tartu IV.
- Muldoon, James (ed.) 1997. Varieties of Religious Conversion in the Middle Ages. Gainesville, FL.: University Press of Florida.
- Musin, Alexander 2012. The Christianisation of Eastern Europe in the Archaeological Perspective. In: Orsolya Heinrich-Tamáska & Niklot Krohn & Sebastian Ristow (eds.) Christianisierung Europas. Entstehung, Entwicklung und Konsolidierung im archäologischen Befund. Regensburg: Schnell & Steiner, pp. 497–520.
- Nazarova, Eugenija 2006. Funeral Traditions in the Russian North (13th–19th Centuries). In: T. Fischer & T. Riis (eds.) Tod und Trauer. Todeswahrnehmung und Trauerriten in Nordeuropa. Kiel: Ludwig Verlag, pp. 147–157.
- Ó Floinn, Ragnhall 2012. A Review of Early Christianity in Ireland Based on the Most Current Archaeological Research. In: Orsolya Heinrich-Tamáska & Niklot Krohn & Sebastian Ristow (eds.) Christianisierung Europas. Entstehung, Entwicklung und Konsolidierung im archäologischen Befund. Regensburg: Schnell & Steiner, pp. 11–35.
- Pauts, Heikki 1997. Pahaga hoburaudsõled Eestis. [One Type of Penannular Brooches in Estonia.] In: *Töid ajaloo alalt I*. Tallinn: Eesti Ajaloomuuseum, pp. 79–115.

- Pluskowski, Aleksander & Patrick, Philippa 2003. 'How do you pray to God?' Fragmentation and Variety in Early Medieval Christianity. In: M. Carver (ed.) The Cross Goes North. Process of Conversion in Northern Europe, AD 300–1300. York: York Medieval Press, pp. 29–57.
- Poulík, Josef 1975. *Mikulčice: Sídlo a pevnost knížat velkomoravských*. [Mikulčice: The Seat and Stronghold of Great Moravian Princes.] Praha: Academia.
- Purhonen, Paula 1998. Kristinuskon saapumisesta Suomeen: Uskontoarkeologinen tutkimus. [On the Arrival of Christianity in Finland. A Study in the Archaeology of Religion.] Suomen Muinaismuistoyhdistyksen aikakauskirja, 106. Helsinki: Suomen Muinaismuistoyhdistys.
- Rebane, Peep Peeter 2001. From Fulco to Theoderic. The Changing Face of the Livonian Mission. In: A. Andresen (comp.) Muinasaja loojangust omariikluse läveni. Pühendusteos Sulev Vahtre 75. sünnipäevaks. Tartu: Kleio, pp. 37–68.
- Samdal, Magne 2000. Amuletter: Gjenstander med amulettkarakter I vestnorske graver i tidsrommet 350–1000 e.Kr. [Amulets: Objects with Characteristics of Amulets from West-Norwegian Graves from AD 350–1000.] Hovedfagsoppgave I arkeologi med vekt på Norden. Bergen: Unversitetet i Bergen.
- Sanmark, Alexandra 2004. Power and Conversion: A Comparative Study of Christianization in Scandinavia. Doctoral thesis. Uppsala: Department of Archaeology and Ancient History, Uppsala University.
- Schülke, Almut 1999. On Christianization and Gravefinds. European Journal of Archaeology, Vol. 2, No. 1, pp. 77–106, doi:10.1177/146195719900200105.
- Selart, Anti 2008. I am tunc... The Political Context of the First Part of the Chronicle of Henry of Livonia. In: Erik Kooper (ed.) The Medieval Chronicle, Vol. 5. Amsterdam & New York: Rodopi, pp. 197–209.
- Selirand, Jüri 1961. Muistsed matmiskombed eestlaste usundi ja ristiusu-vastase võitluse kajastajana. [Ancient Burial Customs Reflecting Religion of Estonians and Fight against Christianity.] In: E. Jansen (ed.) Religiooni ja ateismi ajaloost Eestis. Artiklite kogumik II. Tallinn: Eesti Riiklik Kirjastus, pp. 71–93.
- Selirand, Jüri 1974. *Eestlaste matmiskombed varafeodaalsete suhete tärkamise perioodil* (11.–13. sajand). [Burial Customs of Estonians during the Early Period of Feudal Relations (11th–13th Centuries).] Tallinn: Eesti Raamat.
- Shepard, Jonathan 2008. Slav Christianities, 800–1100. In: T.F.X. Noble & J.M.H. Smith & R.A. Baranowski (eds.) The Cambridge History of Christianity. Volume 3. Early Medieval Christianities, c. 600–c. 1100. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, pp. 130–155.
- Staecker, Jörn 1999. Rex Regum et Dominus Dominorum: Die Wikingerzeitliche Kreuzund Kruzifixanhänger als Ausdruck der Mission in Altdänemark und Schweden. Lund Studies in Medieval Archaeology, Vol. 23. Stockholm: Almqvist & Wiksell International.
- Staecker, Jörn 2003. The Cross Goes North: Christian Symbols and Scandinavian Women. In. M. Carver (ed.) The Cross Goes North. Process of Conversion in Northern Europe, AD 300–1300. York: York Medieval Press, pp. 463–482.
- Stenberger, Mårten 1977. Vorgeschichte Schwedens. Berlin: Akademie-Verlag.
- Tamla, Ülle & Kiudsoo, Mauri & Rohtla, Mari-Liis 2006. Rescue Excavations on the Site of Discovery of the Ubina Silver Hoard. In: Ü. Tamla (ed.) Archaeological Fieldwork in Estonia. Tallinn: Muinsuskaitseamet, pp. 231–244.

- Tamla, Ülle & Kiudsoo, Mauri 2009. Eesti muistsed aarded. [Ancient Hoards in Estonia.] Tallinn: MTÜ Arheoloogiakeskus.
- Tamla, Toomas 1993. Viru-Nigula kirik ja Maarja kabel. [The Church of Viru-Nigula and St. Mary's Chapel.] *Stilus*, Vol. 4. Tallinn: Eesti Arheoloogiaselts, pp. 18–36.
- Tamla, Toomas 1997. Bronzeschalen. Zeugnis der Christianisierung Estlands im 13. Jahrhundert. In: M. Müller-Wille (ed.) Rom und Byzanz im Norden. Mission und Glaubenwechsel im Ostseeraum während des 8.–14. Jahrhunderts. Band II. Akademie der Wissenschaften und der Litteratur. Stuttgart: Franz Steiner Verlag, pp. 9–36.
- Tamm, Marek 2009. Communicating Crusade: Livonian Mission and the Cistercian Network in the Thirteenth Century. *Ajalooline Ajakiri*, No. 3/4, pp. 341–372. Available at https://ojs.utlib.ee/index.php/EAA/article/view/375/368, last accessed on November 27, 2013.
- Tamm, Marek 2013. How to Justify a Crusade? Conquest of Livonia and the New Crusade Rhetoric in the Early Thirteenth Century. *Journal of Medieval History*, Vol. 39, No. 4, pp. 431–455, http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/03044181.2013.833541.
- Tamm, Marek & Jonuks, Tõnno forthcoming. Religious Practices of the Native Population of Livonia in the Medieval Written Sources (11th–15th Centuries). In: M. Kõiva (ed.) Mythologia Uralica: Esthonica. Helsinki: SKS.
- Thunmark-Nylén, L. 1995. Churchyard Finds from Gotland (11th–12th Centuries). In: I. Jansson (ed.) Archaeology East and West of the Baltic. Theses and Papers in Archaeology. N. S. A 7. Stockholm: University of Stockholm, pp. 161–193.
- Tvauri, Andres 2001. *Muinas-Tartu: Uurimus Tartu muinaslinnuse ja asula asustusloost.* [Prehistoric Tartu: A Study of the Settlement History of the Tartu Prehistoric Hillfort and Settlement.] Muinasaja Teadus, Vol. 10. Tallinn & Tartu: Teaduste Akadeemia Kirjastus.
- Urtāns, Vladislavs 1973. Aizkraukles arheologiskās ekspedīcijas 1972. gada darba rezultāti. [Results of the Fieldwork of the Archaeology Expedition to Aizkraukle in 1972.] Zinātniskās atskaites sesijas: Materiāli par arheologu, antropologu un etnogrāfu 1972 gada pētījumu rezultātiem. Rīgā: Zinātne, pp. 66–70.
- Vahtre, Sulev 1960. Bartholomäus Hoeneke Liivimaa noorem riimkroonika 1315–1348. [The Rhymed Chronicle by Bartholomaus Hoeneke 1315–1348.] Tallinn: Eesti Riiklik Kirjastus.
- Vahtre, Sulev 1997. Tabelinus. In: S. Vahtre (ed.) *Eesti ajalugu elulugudes. 101 tähtsat eestlast.* [Estonian History in Biographies: 101 Important Estonians.] Tallinn: Olion, pp. 14–15.
- Valk, Heiki 2001. Rural Cemeteries of Southern Estonia 1225–1800 AD. CCC Papers 3. Visby: Gotland University College Centre for Baltic Studies & Tartu: University of Tartu, Archaeology Centre.
- Valk, Heiki 2003. Christianisation in Estonia: A Process of Dual-Faith and Syncretism. In: M. Carver (ed.) The Cross Goes North. Processes of Conversion in Northern Europe, AD 300–1300. York: The Boydell Press, pp. 571–579.
- Vaska, Baiba 2003. Solar and Lunar Symbols in Medieval Archaeological Material from Latvia (13th–17th Centuries). Art, Applied Art and Symbols in Latvian Archaeology, Vol. 2, No. 39. Humanities and Social Sciences, Latvia. Riga: University of Latvia, pp. 96–117.

FINDING FOLK RELIGION: AN ARCHAEOLOGY OF 'STRANGE' BEHAVIOUR

Sonja Hukantaival

Abstract: Archaeology is not only about describing things; we also seek to understand what we find. Sometimes a find can seem puzzling, unexpected in the context in question. It is argued here that evidence of non-Christian elements of religiosity in a historical context can constitute such surprising finds. These finds become less confusing in the light of other sources, such as folklore accounts and historical records. Still, archaeology can offer something not accessible to other disciplines.

This paper discusses the phenomenon of folk religion, and the ways that we can take to find the meanings behind the material remains of practices, which may perhaps seem odd to us. A multidisciplinary approach is favoured, and the contribution of archaeology is crucial in gaining information about past practices. The paper also offers a short survey of some archaeological approaches to questions of folk religion. Another issue addressed is why we might be surprised to find evidence of 'strange' practices in historical contexts. It is suggested here that historical constructs about the 'civilising' effects of Christianity, Reformation, and Enlightenment, respectively, have affected the way that religiosity has been seen in the context of historical Europe.

Keywords: folk/popular/vernacular religion, historical archaeology, multidisciplinarity, ritual deposit

INTRODUCTION

If, for example, an upside-down turned goat skull is found, clearly deliberately deposited at a border-mark (see Fig. 1), archaeologists' interpretations easily turn towards a potentially religious action behind the find. In a prehistoric setting, such a find may be discussed without any unconcealed value-charges, but what if it was found in a historical, Christian, context? The find in question was unearthed during archaeological excavations in the town of Turku (in south-western Finland) in 2006 (Hukantaival 2007: 72; Saloranta 2010: 70). It was dated to the 14th century, and it lay right next to the cathedral; thus it was situated in the middle of the religious centre of the area.



Figure 1. Deposited goat skull at a 14th-century border mark. Photo by Sonja Hukantaival 2006.

As historian Stephen A. Mitchell points out, Western historiography has revealed a tendency to portray the conversion to Christianity in a triumphalist manner, resulting in a complete, uniform, and evenly distributed spiritual hegemony. Any controversial evidence has generally been dismissed out of hand (Mitchell 2011: 38). One can easily suspect that the original reasons behind this conduct have been political, but I suggest that this attitude is still unconsciously with us scholars, even though the importance of the political reasons has diminished.

Many scholarly works offering a general survey of religious matters reveal this aspect. It is perhaps not so surprising that the general surveys offered by archaeologists, who traditionally have concerned themselves with prehistoric contexts, often present Christianity (and other 'world religions') as a final chapter. They often only discuss the 'origins' of these traditions, which suggests that after the 'triumph' of the world religions, the questions of religion become of merely marginal interest to archaeologists and, to a greater extent, the concern of other disciplines (see, e.g., Steadman 2009; less blatantly Insoll 2011). The 'controversial evidence' against the cohesion of religion is often called 'folk religion' (e.g. Yoder 1974; Christian 2004). Other terms also used are 'popular' (e.g. Crummey 1993) and 'vernacular' (e.g. Primiano 1995) religion. The most openly problematic term is naturally 'superstition', because of its strong negative connotations (see Cameron 2010: 4–6). I have here chosen to use the term 'folk religion', even though it also has its subtexts (I will return to discuss these further below). Nevertheless, it is the term I am accustomed to since it translates most closely to the Finnish *kansanusko* (more precisely 'folk belief'), which is the general term for these phenomena in Finnish research (see, e.g., Koski 2011; Enges 2012). I might on some occasions use the term 'folk belief' as a synonym for 'folk religion', but I prefer 'religion' over 'belief' as a broader concept including practices as well as beliefs. The definition of folk religion will be discussed in the next chapter.

I am proposing that the aforementioned believed 'triumph' of uniform Christianity causes (unconscious?) presumptions about religiosity in historical times. As a result, archaeologists who are working with material from historical times have had difficulties interpreting evidence inconsistent with the expectations of past religiosity, as has, for example, been noticed by Roberta Gilchrist (2008: 120). This is why I call the archaeology of folk religion an archaeology of 'strange' behaviour in the title of this paper; a title that may seem slightly provocative, but is meant to be playful and self-critical.

The aim of this paper is to bring forth for archaeologists the complex nature of religiosity in European historical times and to discuss how our understanding of different phenomena can be increased. I will address questions about the nature of folk religion, about who the 'folk' in question are, and what the role of archaeology is in gaining an understanding of the phenomena. I will also offer a brief and limited overview of the current relationship of archaeologists and folk religion in (mainly) northern Europe.

'OFFICIAL' RELIGION AND FOLK RELIGION

The term 'religion' has been recurrently discussed among scholars. It may even seem like the only commonly shared view on religion is that it is difficult to define (see, e.g., Goody 1961; Asad 1983: 238; 1993: 29, 54; Insoll 2004: 5–23; Whitehouse 2004: 1–3; Steadman 2009: 21–23). When 'folk', another term facing considerable definitional problems (see, e.g., Foster 1953), is added to the equation, this task becomes even more confusing (see, e.g., Yoder 1974; Primiano 1995; Christian 2004). I have elsewhere (Hukantaival in press) discussed a suggestion that the core of the definitional problems of 'religion' and 'ritual'

lies within the relationship between language and reality, and the difficulties to satisfactorily divide and confine the complexity and dynamic nature of reality. Also, Veikko Anttonen, professor of comparative religion, has pointed out that both 'religion' and 'folk religion' are ultimately nominalist constructs rather than realistic categories (Anttonen 2004; 2012: endnote 3).

This notion does not, however, remove the need for definitions (see also Bell 2007).¹ For the purpose of this paper, I will leave the discussion of the definition of 'religion' aside, and concentrate on 'folk religion'. The classic way to categorise in scientific approaches has been to form a list of criteria that a member of the category should fulfil (about discussion on this see, e.g., Koski 2011: 110–118). In human sciences, these lists are seldom absolutely strict, and often some flexibility is allowed. Also, a list of possible components belonging to a category can be given, as in the example below.

The following elements can be seen as part of folk religion (Enges 2012: 59–60):

1) Understandings about the genesis of the universe, its structure, and the forces operating within it, understandings of human essence and life-course, death and afterlife, natural and supernatural, society, and its relationship with nature and the universe.

2) Different supernatural agencies, such as gods, spirits, and ancestors.

3) Calendar rites and rites of passage, and corresponding cult places, benign and malignant magic, folk medicine, and its understandings of diseases and healing.

4) Religious specialists, such as cunning folk, witches, and healers.

5) Popular modes of thinking, e.g. understandings of morals, norms, sanctions, and luck.

6) The religious genres of folklore, like memorates, myths, spells, and spiritual songs.

As folklorist Pasi Enges points out, this list is extremely extensive and quite close to the way that many researchers define 'worldview'. It seems that these kinds of definitions easily become too broad in an attempt to include every possible angle of the phenomenon in question. Personally, I prefer a simple definition as the one given by Don Yoder (see below), especially if we keep in mind that definitions are always problematic to some extent and one should not regard them dogmatically (see also Hukantaival in press).

The above list does not offer any means for distinguishing folk religion from 'ethnic' or 'indigenous' religions, such as the religiosity before contact with Christianity. This may cause problems if folk religion is, as a result, perceived only as a relic from pre-Christian times. The relationship with the 'official' religion is the element that is relevant to folk religion as discussed here (see also Rydving 2004). This can be seen in Don Yoder's useful definition:

Folk religion is the totality of all those views and practices of religion that exist among the people apart from and alongside the strictly theological and liturgical forms of the official religion. (Yoder 1974: 14)

Historian Euan Cameron, who has studied how European religious authorities have defined and outlined the 'wrong' religiosity, or 'superstition', at different times, calls this the relationship between 'the theory and practice' of religion. He stresses the importance to remember the distinction between the two:

Much writing on the area of superstitions has been bedevilled by a failure to distinguish adequately between what people were instructed to think and do on one hand, and what evidence suggests they thought and did on the other, between norms and reported realities. (Cameron 2010: 6)

On the other hand, folklorist Leonard Norman Primiano, who criticises the terms 'folk/popular' religion and prefers 'vernacular' religion instead, points out that, since vernacular religion is religion as it is lived, it is impossible for the religion of an individual not to be vernacular (Primiano 1995: 44). The critique offered by Primiano is partly directed towards the dichotomy in the terms 'folk' or 'popular' religion against 'official' religion. He suggests that the terms misleadingly imply that somewhere religion exists as a pure element, which is then transformed and contaminated into folk religion (ibid.: 38–40).

The term 'vernacular' is borrowed from linguistics and has meanings such as 'indigenous', 'personal', 'private', 'native', and 'local' attached to it (ibid.: 42–43). Primiano also stresses that even the institutionalised elements of organised religion have a vernacular nature and, in fact, what scholars have referred to as 'official' religion does not exist (ibid.: 45). At this point, Primiano's reasoning raises a question: Why discuss 'vernacular religion' and not just 'religion'? Perhaps Primiano is overstating a bit to make his point clear? In my mind, if we continue taking analogies from linguistics, one could compare the relationship between 'official' religion and folk religion to the relationship between literary language and spoken dialects. One is based on rules agreed upon by a specific group of people while the others are more 'alive', being constantly recreated in use (with a base in tradition, naturally). Still, literary language is also re-discussed, and rules are modified, so it is not static either, just as 'official' religion.

I agree with Primiano about 'official' religion being mostly an ideal type (ibid.: 46), and Cameron's notion of 'theoretical' religion is also somewhat similar (Cameron 2010: 6). Nevertheless, even if 'official' religion only exists in

theory, it still does exist. As with the above given analogy of literary language and spoken language, the 'official' form and 'folk' form of religion both affect each other. However, the influence of the 'official' religion has perhaps been more prominent because of authority issues.² In addition, as Cameron's study reminds us, the border between (official) religion and 'superstition' has also been constantly negotiated, thus the categories are always dynamic.

Researchers within the cognitive approaches to matters of religion, such as, for example, Harvey Whitehouse and Ilkka Pyysiäinen, point out that there are types of religiosity that are more natural to human cognition (cognitively optimal religion), and types that are more complicated, which need to be learned and rehearsed (cognitively costly religion). Theologically correct religion is cognitively costly while many aspects of folk religion stem from ordinary, everyday thinking, which originates in the immediate experience of individuals. Thus, folk religion aims at practical solutions to everyday issues, not at creating general theories. The 'naturalness' of everyday religiosity leads also persons who are explicitly committed to orthodox concepts to occasionally 'slip' into this mode since it is both easier to handle and more relevant from the everyday point of view than fixed theological systems (Pyysiäinen 2004; Whitehouse 2004: 29–59, 127–134).

The beliefs and practices of religion that have not followed the teachings of the church constitute the folk religion discussed in this paper. Some of these elements could have been inherited from pre-Christian times, but they would still have been reinterpreted from another point of view. Moreover, these elements would be mixed with Christian features, also as interpreted by people. The result is a dynamic, non-consistent whole that includes many elements that could be seemingly contradictory, but still no conflict is experienced in the mind of the practitioner. In the words of folklorist Laura Stark:

[...], folk religion represents neither Christianity's 'contamination' of ethnic folk belief nor the 'misinterpretation' of Christianity by the nonliterate rural populace, but a functional system in which the most useful elements of each belief system are adopted and fashioned into a syncretic whole. (Stark 2002: 30)

As Cameron puts it, the different forms of supernatural power overlapped and intermingled in people's minds (Cameron 2010: 62). This can be illustrated by a folklore example of a building ritual that was recorded in Pihtipudas (in Central Finland) in 1885, and has been published in the *Suomen Kansan Muinaisia Taikoja* (Ancient Magic of the Finnish People) series (SKMT):

When a stable is rebuilt, a silver coin is split in four pieces and one piece is put in the middle of each first log-joint. Then a guardian-spirit comes to the stable. One should say the Lord's Prayer and blessings while doing this. (SKMT IV, 1: I 237§; translation from Finnish by the author)

As the name of the publication mentioned above (Ancient Magic of the Finnish People) shows, 'magic' is one aspect of folk religion that has attracted much interest. Thus, a quick definition of this term is also in its place before continuing. Magic is also a term with many connotations, and especially classic scholars of religion made a considerable effort to exclude magic from religion (e.g. Frazer 1992 [1922]; Durkheim 1964 [1915]). Magic has been defined in different ways, but I have adopted a view where magic is a means to a certain desired end (see, e.g., Frazer 1992 [1922]: 11–12). Again, the category is dynamic, but the difference with other means to ends is that although the effect is believed to be a result of the action (not necessarily caused by a helping 'supernatural' being), the relationship between cause and effect does not follow the causality of action of a more 'profane' nature (or, as scientifically understood) (see Malinowski 1954 [1948]: 27–33). Thus, for example, placing a horse skull in the foundation of a hearth to prevent cockroaches from breeding in the house is counted as magic³ since, according to the everyday reasoning, the connection between cause and effect is not similar to lighting a fire to stay warm. Of course, it must always be kept in mind that the distinction between magical cause and effect and 'mundane' causality has probably not always been as clear-cut to the practitioners as it is to present scholars.⁴

FOLK RELIGION IN SURPRISING (?) PLACES

As mentioned above, the assumed Christian 'triumphalism' that Mitchell pointed out has affected our expectations regarding evidence of religious phenomena. However, as Robert W. Scribner remarked, another construct of historiography also affects the way that we see 'superstitious' beliefs in Europe's past. In the parts of Europe affected by it, the Reformation has been seen as the 'modernising' and 'civilising' moment in history, which ultimately abolished the popular culture of magic and superstition. Later on this view has been contested, and historians have pointed out that after the Reformation intelligent Protestants continued to believe in demons and spirits, and the Reformation did not remove the threat of witchcraft and hostile sorcery either (Scribner 1993; Cameron 2010: 10-14).

What about the Enlightenment then? As historians Owen Davies and Willem de Blécourt state, it is too crude and misleading to portray the Enlightenment as a period when Europe (finally) cast off the belief in witchcraft and magic. The changes that took place were subtle renegotiations rather than huge intellectual and social leaps. What did happen was that intellectual interpretations of aspects of folk magic shifted from being a very real and satanic offence to being a merely fraudulent and morally reprehensive crime. Still, after this decriminalisation of witchcraft, the majority of Europeans still felt the same way about the matters they had before, and the considerable intellectual interest regarding diabolic intervention in human affairs also continued (Davies & de Blécourt 2004: 1–5). As Cameron put it: "Therefore, it is not in the least surprising if evidence survives of popular 'superstitions' long after the supposed 'decline of magic'" (Cameron 2010: 14).

Davies and de Blécourt also remind us that the Enlightenment has been simplistically portrayed as a period when the beliefs and worldview of the 'elite' and the 'people' irrevocably pulled away from one another (Davies & de Blécourt 2004: 1). This brings us back to the question of 'folk' in folk religion. Traditionally 'folk' has been connected with rural peasant populations (small, isolated, homogenous, 'primitive') and contrasted with 'urban' cultures, or at least a distinction has been made between 'elite' and lower class 'folk' (see, e.g., Foster 1953; Crummey 1993; Christian 2004). It has been pointed out that both 'folk' and 'popular' carry the same connotation (Crummey 1993: 702; Primiano 1995: 39–40).

The example of the deposited goat skull given at the beginning of this paper was found in the middle of an urban centre, but since it dates to medieval times, the find could be dismissed as belonging to a still 'superstitious' time (before both the Reformation and the Enlightenment). Also, questions about the (truly) urban nature of a medieval town in such a peripheral area as Finland could be put forward. Another example, also from Turku, was found at excavations in 2011 by the residence of Gustaf Gadolin (1769–1843), who was the professor of Hebrew, Greek, and theology at the Academy of Turku (Väisänen 2000). On the bottom of a storage pit, the bones belonging to a hare's left hind leg were found in a position indicating that they had been put there as a hare's foot (see Fig. 2). The storage pit could not be precisely dated, but stratigraphically it belonged to the times just before the Great Fire of 1827, thus coinciding with professor Gadolin's lifetime, or at least the lifetime of his father, professor Jacob Gadolin, who owned the property before him (Pihlman et al. 2012: 3-5). During this time (the late 18th and early 19th centuries), the urban nature of Turku cannot be contested, and again the proximity of the cathedral is striking. The possible connection to the clearly educated 'elite' position of the owner of the property is also interesting. The hare's foot could certainly have belonged to a servant, giving it a more 'proper' lower class connection, but this need not be the case.



Figure 2. A hare's foot at the bottom of a storage pit on professor Gadolin's premises. Photo by Sonja Hukantaival 2011.

The hare's foot is an ancient magical object, known already c. AD 77–79 by Pliny the Elder. He explains in his *Natural History* that the hare's foot is known to cure joint pains and gout if the patient carries it as an amulet (Plinius Secundus 1963: 149). The hare's (or rabbit's) foot has since become one of the best known lucky charms and evil-averting objects, but there is little scholarly discussion on the origins and meanings of this custom (see Ellis 2002). In Finnish folklore, the hare's foot is not particularly common when compared to other magical objects. This may point to it being a fairly new (Indo-European?) introduction into the magical repertoire in this area. This could explain why 17th-century finds of this object are known in the south-western town of Turku (Hukantaival 2007), where new influences were first felt. However, there is some evidence of the use of a hare's foot as a protective magical object in the late 19th century from even such remote areas like Lapland (SKMT IV, 2: XII 41§; SKMT IV, 3: VI 820§, n6), so this matter definitely requires more investigation before anything conclusive can be said.

The possible connection between the hare's foot and a respected family of professors and clergy may seem puzzling at first glance. It could be pointed out that just two generations before, Gustav Gadolin's grandfather was born a peasant (Väänänen 2000). However, I would still refrain from insisting that magical beliefs can only be connected to lower-class people. For example, the educated elite of the 18th-century Finland still debated whether cattle plague was caused by poisonous air, bad fodder, or witches' projectiles (Nikander 1937). Also, as Laura Stark has discussed, in Early Modern Finland magical practices and beliefs were taught to children as situated knowledge, which means that it was learned by doing in the context of everyday life. For this reason, magic became an unconscious habit: the right way to do things in a certain situation (Stark 2006: 71). In this light, it may be easier to understand that even church men had assimilated certain habits and customs, and did not always question the nature of these (see also Falk 2008: 162). In addition, as discussed above, many aspects of folk religion are cognitively natural, which could also cause persons with theologically correct education to 'slip' in everyday life (Pyysiäinen 2004; Whitehouse 2004: 29–59, 127–134).

Research has shown that evidence of folk religion can be found from all periods, from centre and periphery, in urban and non-urban, as well as lower and upper class contexts (e.g. Valk 2004b: 309; Swann 2005: 116). Also, Primiano points out that the distinction between the clergy and the laity is not absolutely clear since some members of the clergy undoubtedly share many of the beliefs and practices of their lay followers (Primiano 1995: 702). Again, folk religion is to be found where evidence shows that what people thought and did was not the same as they (in theory) were instructed to do (see Cameron 2010: 6), no matter who 'the people' were. Also, folk religion is not confined to 'profane' contexts: as sacred locations, for example, churches and cemeteries are particularly central places for folk beliefs (see, e.g., Koski 2011: 105–108; Falk 2008: 152–163; Valk 2004b: 300).

The believed 'civilised' nature of Europeans (see Cameron 2010: 10–14) has also caused a tendency to see folk religion as something belonging to 'others' (see also Mitchell 2011: 106–107). This has been especially outstanding in the USA, where such archaeological sites where protective charms and divination or conjure items have been found have traditionally been interpreted as occupied by people of African American heritage (Fennell 2000: 281). The same attitude can naturally also be sensed in the idea that folk religion is something belonging to rural, 'simple' people as opposed to civilised, modern, urban people (see above).

The difficulty to understand 'superstitions' among 'civilised' people is still visible in contemporary scientific research, especially outside the humanities. An interest in different 'superstitious' beliefs has risen in the field of psychology
at the University of Helsinki. The resulting studies are interesting, although they are also quite 'painful' reading for someone with a background in culture studies. The main idea seems to be to try and explain how it is possible that many kinds of 'irrational' beliefs still exist among otherwise 'civilised' people. The attitude towards the object of study (the people who believe) is arrogant in a very '19th-century anthropologist' way (see, e.g., Lindeman & Aarnio 2006; Aarnio 2007).

Nevertheless, these studies offer some benefits that can be useful for understanding folk religion also for researchers in humanities. As a result of their studies, psychologists have deduced that humans use both an analytical and an intuitive system of reasoning. These systems are independent in a way that makes it possible for an individual to be simultaneously rational and have 'irrational' beliefs, and further:

The finding that paranormal beliefs mainly arise from an intuitive system, instead of a malfunctioning analytical system, explains why the beliefs do not vanish with the increase of education, scientific knowledge, and rational thinking. (Aarnio 2007: 6)

Psychologists' studies did indicate that individuals with a higher education are more sceptical than individuals with a lower education (e.g. Aarnio 2007: 6), but this view is challenged in another analysis of contemporary beliefs, made from the viewpoint of a folklorist (Hänninen 2009: 51–52).

Since psychologists are puzzled by 'superstitions' today, it surely should not be surprising to find evidence of folk religion at any time in the past. I also hope to have shown that evidence of folk religion should not be surprising in any context: rural or urban, domestic or ecclesiastic, educated or illiterate, upper or lower class and no matter what ethnicity is in question. There have certainly been differences both between individuals and between times and places, but the nature of these differences can better be discussed after some more research without obvious preconceptions has been carried out, hopefully with valuable contributions from archaeologists, in addition to other disciplines.

THE MULTIDISCIPLINARY ARCHAEOLOGY OF FOLK RELIGION

How can we then reach the 'practice of religion', as Cameron expressed it? In Finland, research on folk religion has traditionally been the interest of the disciplines of folkloristics and comparative religion. As a result, the material culture of folk religion has largely been excluded from study, thus serving only as illustrative material if considered at all (see, e.g., Issakainen 2006: 1–2). At the moment, there seem to be a rising interest among scholars of different disciplines in matters of folk religion in Europe. As Mitchell remarks, a positive development is currently taking place in the research:

Finally, after years of working in relatively atomistic parallel universes, such necessarily interrelated fields as folklore, history, philology, and archaeology are once again recognizing the advantages of a comprehensive approach to such subjects as witchcraft, magic, and religion, [...]. (Mitchell 2011: 22)

In an ideal situation, a truly multidisciplinary research would be realised through a joint project, comprising professionals from different disciplines all treating the phenomenon in question from their own viewpoints and discussing different ways of approaching the material. However, in practice it is often up to the individual researcher to try to operate with the different sources available. This calls for carefulness and good knowledge of source-criticism involved in each type of source. As always, special caution should be employed in combining evidence if different sources are temporally and/or regionally distant from each other (see, e.g., Gazin-Schwartz & Holtorf 1999: 13).

In addition to archaeological finds, other sources that can be used for understanding folk religion are, for example, historical sources, such as witchcrafttrial records, legal texts, and 'superstition treatises' (see, e.g., Mitchell 2011; Cameron 2010), as well as folklore material; for example, accounts on magical practices, and ethnological sources (mainly the material culture of folk religion not collected archaeologically). This list is by no means exclusive, and the possibilities vary in different countries with distinct research traditions and a different emphasis on the sources available.

Since extensive folklore collections exist in Finland, and I am using these sources in my own research on building magic, I chose to discuss some sourcecritical aspects of this material as an example (see also Gazin-Schwartz & Holtorf 1999; Valk 2006).⁵ Most of the folklore accounts concerning Finnish folk religion have been recorded in the late 19th and early 20th centuries – a point that is important to bear in mind when working with this material. Other vital aspects of understanding are concerned with how the material has come to be as it is – the 'formation processes' of folklore material, to use a term familiar to archaeologists (see Schiffer 1987).

Recently, these questions have been discussed, for example, by folklorist Kaarina Koski. She reminds us that at the time that most of the material was collected, the so-called 'Finnish research method' was prevailing in folkloristics, and it exerted significant influence on how the material was formed. According to the mentality of the period, folklore accounts were understood as a collective 'voice of the past', and individual accounts were detached from their context. On the other hand, the benefit of the research paradigm was that it needed large collections to achieve its objective to find the believed 'original forms' of the traditions. The influence of the individual collectors on the material was also considerable and researchers of the period controlled the 'authenticity' and 'folksiness' of the accounts. Collectors were not interested in asking about traditions in central areas since these were not thought to be places where the 'original' elements had survived (Koski 2011: 28–39; see also Anttonen 2004: 74–75). For these reasons, it is also crucial to familiarise oneself with the collector's guides (e.g. Mustonen 1936 [1885]) of the period for a better understanding of the formation of the folklore material.

As we are aware of the source-critical issues involved, knowledge of folklore material helps our understanding of matters of folk religion and more broadly the 'mentality of the past' (see Valk 2006: 316; also Stark 2006). Since all these different potential source materials are at hand, one could ask what the role of archaeology is in the research of folk religion. The neglected material culture of folk religion has already been mentioned, but also one critical point about many of these other sources has been remarked by historian Cameron as follows: "Nothing intrinsic to the pastoral superstition-treatises proves that any identifiable group of people actually practiced the activities that it condemns" (Cameron 2010: 69–70).⁶ To discuss whether the practices were actually real and not just imagined, Cameron turns to their survived physical evidence (Cameron 2010: 69–72). Who else than archaeologists are most competent to discuss the physical evidence of past actions?

As a result of the different 'formation processes' of varied source materials, only parts of the 'practice of religion' have been recorded and have survived. One example is given by Ralph Merrifield, who could be called one of the pioneers in discussing matters of folk religion from an archaeological perspective. When ruminating over the numerous finds of deliberately concealed shoes in the constructs of buildings, he points out that no surviving folklore or other accounts exist about this practice, even though the physical evidence shows that it has been a common custom (Merrifield 1987: 133–134; see also Swann 2005⁷). A similar example can also be given from Finland. It seems from the archaeological material that whetstones (both used and unused) have often been concealed in buildings (Hukantaival 2007: 68; 2011: 49). However, in over 700 folklore accounts on concealing objects in buildings thus far examined by the author, no whetstones are mentioned (although they are mentioned, for example, in hunting-magic, see SKMT I 306§). Concealed whetstones in buildings have also been found in southern Scandinavia (Falk 2008: 115). The whetstone "on which

iron tools have been often sharpened" is also one of the magical objects known to Pliny the Elder in his *Natural History* from circa AD 77 (Plinius Secundus 1963: 35; see also Mitchell 1985 on whetstone symbolism).

Archaeologists can also contribute to the research of folk religion by observing different phenomena in a long-term perspective. For example, Swedish archaeologist Ann-Britt Falk has studied changes in elements of folk religion (building concealments) through changes in the archaeological material, building on the idea that the latter refer to changed meanings (Falk 2008: 59). According to her studies, the Reformation had a bigger effect on folk religion than conversion to Christianity, which is quite an interesting observance (ibid.: 74, 184–201).

As Cameron remarked, there is a difference between how people were instructed to think and behave and what evidence suggests that they actually did. Archaeological finds tell us about what people actually *did*, in a highly reliable way, compared to many other sources that are often heavily influenced by authorities. To access what they *thought*, other sources may be more informative. In any case, there is no sense in confining the study of folk religion to only one type of source material, while a much broader understanding can be achieved from multiple sources.

ARCHAEOLOGISTS AND FOLK RELIGION

Even though the 'archaeology of folk religion' is a marginal offshoot of the also quite marginal 'archaeology of religion' (see, e.g., Insoll 2004: 1–5), it is still not a complete novelty. In this chapter, I will not attempt a comprehensive view on the subject, but rather make a short survey of some of the themes connected to folk religion, which have been discussed by archaeologists. Because of my own northern location, this survey is biased towards studies made in the northern parts of Europe.

One of the first serious attempts to define an archaeological field of research connected with folk religion is the aforementioned Ralph Merrifield's book *The Archaeology of Ritual and Magic* (1987). The intention of the book was to guide archaeologists to pay attention to evidence of religion in any period, but its unprejudiced attitude towards matters of folk religion in historical times might have had a most noticeable impact. The most obvious follower of Merrifield is Brian Hoggard with his 'archaeology of counter-witchcraft' (Hoggard 2004). Matters of folk religion in connection to death and burial have also interested British archaeologists. Roberta Gilchrist's awarded article on evidence of magic in medieval burials is a relevant discussion on the matter (Gilchrist 2008), and recently Sarah Tarlow (2011) has discussed attitudes towards death and the dead in Early Modern Britain and Ireland from multiple angles, including the viewpoint of folk belief.

In Scandinavia, an archaeological plea for noticing the unused potential of research in folk religion was made by Norwegian Volker Demuth in a presentation at *Kontaktseminaret* in 1999. As an example, he discussed how matters of folk religion can be reached through the decorations on Early Modern ceramics (Demuth 2000). In Finland, Marianna Niukkanen has touched upon the same subject of magical meanings in the ceramics decorations (Niukkanen 2007). Both Demuth and Niukkanen refer to the Dutch researcher Maria Garthoff-Zwaan, who discussed the symbolic meanings (fertility, regeneration and protection against evil) of the decorations already in 1988 (Niukkanen 2007: 34 > Garthoff-Zwaan & Ruempol 1988).

Since my own research subject is ritual concealments made in buildings (Hukantaival 2007; 2009; 2011), I focus on this topic specifically. The phenomenon of deliberately concealed objects in buildings has attracted the interest of many archaeologists studying historical times, perhaps since similar phenomena had first been discussed in prehistoric contexts (e.g. Capelle 1987; Henriksen 1998). The most extensive work made in northern Europe on building concealments in historical times is the licentiate thesis by Swede Ann-Britt Falk, already mentioned above (Falk 2008). Articles about the topic have also been written, for example, in the Czech Republic, Hungary and Poland (Vařeka 1994; Daróczi-Szabó 2010; Baron 2012), to mention but some studies outside the Nordic countries.

As well as it seems to be in other parts of Europe (see, e.g., Mitchell 2011: 22), the amount of recent publications indicates a rising interest in the matters of folk religion in Finland, after some more silent times. This can be seen as a growing amount of publications grazing the topic also among archaeologists. Juha Ruohonen is conducting research on cemeteries on islands, which in itself can be seen as part of folk religion since they differ from 'official' instructions on burial (see, e.g., Ruohonen 2010), but he has also written an article about evidence of a magic practice involving a coin wrapped in red woollen thread in one of these island cemeteries (Ruohonen 2011). Also, Timo Muhonen's research topic is related to matters of folk religion. He studies stone cairns connected with offerings and other practices and beliefs besides the better known connection to prehistoric burials (e.g. Muhonen 2010; 2011). Some interest in folk religion has also been visible in the studies concerning contexts in northern Finland and Lapland (e.g. Herva & Ylimaunu 2009; Äikäs & Guttorm 2011).

In Estonia, especially Heiki Valk has repeatedly discussed matters connected to folk religion. He has, for example, discussed evidence of folk religion in burial customs, like beliefs connected to village cemeteries (Valk 1995), and urban furnished graves, from the point of view of regional and ethnosocial differences (Valk 2004a). Additionally, he has studied the relationship between Christian holy sites and different sacred places of folk religion, noticing that Christianity has influenced these places in various ways (Valk 2004b; 2008). To mention another recent Estonian archaeological study connected to folk religion, an article has been written discussing a find of a stone disk engraved with symbols (most likely some sort of talisman), a unique find in Estonia (Jonuks et al. 2010). Also, the phenomenon of re-using Stone Age tools as magical 'thunderbolts' has recently been discussed in Estonia (Johanson 2009). These 'thunderbolts' have attracted the attention of archaeologists also elsewhere in Europe (e.g. Carelli 1996; Muhonen 2006).

In addition to more traditional topics of research on folk religion (such as pre-Christian survivals, offerings and magic), some interest has also risen towards the dynamic 'border area' between 'official' and folk religion. Private devotion (see, e.g., Webb 2005) is one example of such a 'border area', certainly involving many elements approved and encouraged by the 'official' religious authorities, but at the same time a 'dangerous' zone with a profound possibility for folk interpretations of religion (see Cameron 2010: 50–62). Also, for example, Christian magic is a subject that has certainly been avoided as an unorthodox topic for discussion, but this, too, is now being explored by daring researchers (e.g. Cameron 2010: 58–62; Mitchell 2011: 43–73). Janne Harjula gave a presentation at the Annual Meeting of the European Association of Archaeologists in 2012, discussing some finds of medieval wooden vessels with parts of prayers carved on them as rune inscriptions (Harjula 2012). The fluctuating border between private devotion and magic is an interesting question to be discussed in this connection as well.

One thing that can be noticed in many of these studies mentioned above is that there is little consensus among archaeologists about what folk religion is. Every researcher certainly defines the terms he/she uses according to his/ her own research tradition, but the source of the confusion might in this case be that, in general, research discussing folk religion is not well known among archaeologists. It seems that the idea that folk religion is pre-Christian religion surviving in defiance to Christianity or as a relic in peripheral areas is quite common (see, e.g., Daróczi-Szabó 2010; Valk 2004b). This is the traditional view that has influenced much of the discussion and the formation of folklore records as mentioned above. Perhaps the other extreme is the 'relational ontology' preferred by Herva & Ylimaunu (2009), in which matters of folk religion are tried to be explained outside religion altogether.

The 'archaeology of folk religion' is not a uniform field, and perhaps few of the researchers in question even consider themselves to be part of such a genre. I do not see this as a problem in itself, but discussing the theories and methods in use, and the needs for developing them, is easier after a field of research has been defined. Most of the research on folk religion carried out by archaeologists has concentrated on single find groups without wider connections to other aspects of folk religion, which is understandable since the phenomenon of folk religion is overwhelmingly vast and one could say that the 'archaeology of folk religion' is still in a basic research phase. However, it is also refreshing to notice that matters of religion are being integrated more widely into archaeological research of historical times, as in Roberta Gilchrist's recent book on medieval life in general (Gilchrist 2012).

CONCLUSIONS

Folk religion as defined in this paper is religion interpreted and re-interpreted by people in their everyday life. Different traditions have certainly had their part in this interpretation, but folk religion is still not static, and I would like to stress that folk religion is more than only survivals and persistence of pre-Christian religion. The relationship between 'official' religion and folk religion is a complex matter that will hopefully be discussed more deeply in the future.

Archaeologists have much to add to the research of folk religion since the real 'practice of religion' is to be reached most reliably through the material remains of actual customs. Nevertheless, without other sources these material remains have less potential than if they were combined with them. Since folk religion as defined in this setting is a historical phenomenon, the utilisation of historical and folkloristic sources is less problematic than in case they are used together with prehistoric finds. Still, a good knowledge of source-critical issues is needed.

If archaeological research is combined with the research on folk religion more comprehensively, it may become possible to trace the traditions (the ones that are manifested materially) and their changes back in time. This kind of research could help us answer questions about how elements of religion are preserved and how they change, and this could potentially also contribute to the study of prehistoric religions, for which additional sources are not available. There have been speculations and assumptions about the survival of religious elements, but a comprehensive study on the subject is still lacking. In this connection, a crucial question is if evidence of static customs can be considered as evidence of static beliefs, in the same way as changing customs have been interpreted as evidence of changing beliefs (see, e.g., Falk 2008). The connection between practice and belief should also be discussed more widely to answer this question. Even though I strongly support the use of additional sources when interpreting archaeological remains connected to folk religion, I do see the 'archaeology of folk religion' as a part of the 'archaeology of religion', not as a separate field. It has been suggested within the field of comparative religion that the concept of folk religion has served its purpose by pointing out that religion is more than theological, only textual, elitist, etc., and could thus already be discarded (Rydving 2004: 149). I do see the point in this: folk religion *is* included in religion, but I still feel that folk religion as a concept has not yet 'done its duty' in the field of archaeology. The discussion that has been conducted within comparative religion is not so well known outside it, so a 'set of training wheels' is in its place for the time being.

It is also good to remember that folk religion is not only to be found in the past. When looking around today, with the role of 'official' religion partly replaced by a scientific worldview, there are numerous different 'folk interpretations' about matters of religion and other beliefs (for example, about health and diet), as has been noticed by the psychologists mentioned above (Lindeman & Aarnio 2006; Aarnio 2007). Magical thinking has not disappeared either, as the example below (Fig. 3) of modern folk religion circulating in the social media on the Internet in the year 2012 shows.



Figure 3. Modern folk religion as spread in the social media (Facebook) on the Internet.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The author wishes to thank the Turku Centre for Medieval and Early Modern Studies (TUCEMEMS) for financial support to attend the Nordic TAG–conference in Oulu (2012) resulting in this paper, as well as Timo Muhonen for fruitful discussions on the topic of this paper, and professor Veikko Anttonen for valuable comments on the manuscript.

NOTES

- ¹ In my opinion it is more fruitful to accept categories without strict borders, and give a definition according to this (see Hukantaival forthcoming), than leave the difficult task undone altogether, as has also been done recently (Issakainen 2012: 21–22).
- $^{\rm 2}~$ See also, e.g., Mitchell 2011: 39–40 about the influences of 'paganism' on Christianity.
- ³ There are around fifty examples of this custom known to the author, mostly in the collections of the Folklore Archives of the Finnish Literature Society in Helsinki (SKS KRA) (e.g. SKS KRA Oulu A. Leino b) 608. 1892).
- ⁴ Although Malinowski did observe that the distinction was very clear indeed in the society he studied in Melanesia (Malinowski 1954: 27–33).
- ⁵ This part has been influenced by fruitful discussions with Timo Muhonen. I am grateful, but also accept all responsibility for the current outcome.
- ⁶ The same limitation to the folklore material on magic has been noticed by Tenka Issakainen. There is no way to be sure if the magic described has actually been practiced or if folklore describes the ways that certain circumstances have been explained. Thus she is not discussing magic as *rites* (Issakainen 2012: 12).
- $^7\,$ June Swann started researching these finds already in 1958 (Swann 2005: 115).

ARCHIVAL SOURCES

SKS KRA – Suomalaisen Kirjallisuuden Seuran Kansanrunousarkisto (The Folklore Archives of the Finnish Literature Society)

REFERENCES

Aarnio, Kia 2007. Paranormal, Superstitious, Magical, and Religious Beliefs. Department of Psychology, Studies 44. Helsinki: University of Helsinki. Available at http://urn.fi/URN:ISBN:978-952-10-4202-7, last accessed on September 19, 2013.

- Äikäs, Tiina & Guttorm, Anni 2011. Kristinuskon ja etnisen uskon kohtaamisia pohjoisessa. [Encounterings between Christianity and Ethnic Religion in the North.]
 In: J. Ikäheimo & R. Nurmi & R. Satokangas (eds.) Harmaata näkyvissä. Kirsti Paavolan juhlakirja. Vaasa: Waasa Graphics, pp. 83–94.
- Anttonen, Veikko 2004. Theory and Method in the Study of 'Folk Religion'. *Temenos:* Nordic Journal of Comparative Religion, Vols. 39–40, pp. 73–79.
- Anttonen, Veikko 2012. Literary Representation of Oral Religion. Organizing Principles in Mikael Agricola's List of Mythological Agents in Late Medieval Finland. In: Catharina Raudvere & Jens Peter Schjødt (eds.) More than Mythology. Narratives, Ritual Practices and Regional Distribution in Pre-Christian Scandinavian Religions. Lund: Nordic Academic Press, pp. 185–223.
- Asad, Talal 1983. Anthropological Conceptions of Religion: Reflections on Geertz. Man: New Series, Vol. 18, No. 2, pp. 237–259, http://dx.doi.org/10.2307/2801433.
- Asad, Talal 1993. The Construction of Religion as an Anthropological Category. In: Talal Asad (ed.) Genealogies of Religion: Discipline and Reasons of Power in Christianity and Islam. Baltimore & London: Johns Hopkins University Press, pp. 27–54.
- Baron, Justyna 2012. Ritual and Cultural Change. Transformations in Rituals at the Junction of Pagan Religion and Christianity in Early Medieval Poland. In:
 B. Gediga & A. Grossman & W. Piotrowski (eds.) Rytm Przemian Kulturowych w Pradziejach i Średniowieczu. Biskupin–Wrocław, pp. 449–464.
- Bell, Catherine 2007. Response: Defining the Need for a Definition. In: Evangelos Kyriakidis (ed.) The Archaeology of Ritual. Cotsen Advanced Seminars 3. Los Angeles: Cotsen Institute of Archaeology, pp. 277–288.
- Cameron, Euan 2010. Enchanted Europe. Superstition, Reason & Religion 1250–1750. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Capelle, Torsten 1987. Eisenzeitliche Bauopfer. Frühmittelalterliche Studien. Jahrbuch des Instituts für Frühmittelalterforschung der Universität Münster, Vol. 21, pp. 182–205.
- Carelli, Peter 1996. Blixtar och dunder, magiska under. Om åskstenstraditionen och förekomsten av stenåldersfynd i medeltida kulturlager. [Lightning and Thunder, Magic Miracles. About the Thunderstone Tradition and the Finds of Stone Age Objects in Medieval Cultural Layers.] Fornvännen: Journal of Swedish Antiquarian Research, Vol. 91, pp. 153–170. Available at http://samla.raa.se/ xmlui/bitstream/handle/raa/2840/1996_153.pdf?sequence=1, last accessed on November 27, 2013.
- Christian, William A. 2004. Folk Religion: An Overview. In: Lindsay Jones (ed.) *Encyclopedia of Religion*. Second edition, Vol. 1. Detroit: Macmillan Reference USA.
- Crummey, Robert O. 1993. Old Belief as Popular Religion: New Approaches. *Slavic Review*, Vol. 52, No. 4, pp. 700–712, http://dx.doi.org/10.2307/2499648.
- Daróczi-Szabó, Márta 2010. Pets in Pots: Superstitious Belief in a Medieval Christian (12th–14th c.) Village in Hungary. In: D. Campana & P. Crabtree & S.D. deFrance & J. Lev-Tov & A. Choyke (eds.) Anthropological Approaches to Zooarchaeology. Colonialism, Complexity, and Animal Transformations. Oxford: Oxbow Books, pp. 244–249.
- Davies, Owen & de Blécourt, Willem 2004. Introduction: Beyond the Witch Trials. In: Owen Davies & Willem de Blécourt (eds.) Beyond the Witch Trials: Witchcraft

and Magic in Enlightenment Europe. Manchester: Manchester University Press, pp. 1–8.

- Demuth, Volker 2000. Spor av folkelig religion i arkeologisk materiale fra etterreformatorisk tid. Keramikk som kulturhistorisk kilde. [Traces of Folk Religion in Archaeological Material from Post-Reformation Times. Ceramics as a Cultural Historic Source.] V. Berge & L. Nordeide & T.B. Olsen & K. Solevåg (eds.) Kontaktstensil 42. Religion og Ritual. Bergen: Fellesnordisk Råd for Arkeologistuderende, pp. 77–84.
- Durkheim, Émile 1964 [1915]. *The Elementary Forms of the Religious Life*. Transl. by Joseph Ward Swain. Fifth edition. London: George Allen & Unwin Ltd.
- Ellis, Bill 2002. Why Is a Lucky Rabbit's Foot Lucky? Body Parts as Fetishes. Journal of Folklore Research, Vol. 39, No. 1, pp. 51–84. Available at http://www.jstor.org/discover/10.2307/3814831?uid=3737920&uid=2134&uid=2&uid=70&uid=4&sid=21103065226413, last accessed on November 27, 2013.
- Enges, Pasi 2012. "Minä melkein uskon". Yliluonnollinen ja sen kohtaaminen tenonsaamelaisessa uskomusperinteessä. ["I Almost Believe." Encounters with the Supernatural in Teno Sàmi Belief Tradition.] Turku: Annales Universitatis Turkuensis C 338. Available at http://urn.fi/URN:ISBN:978-951-29-5003-4, last accessed on September 23, 2013.
- Falk, Ann-Britt 2008. En grundläggande handling. Byggnadsoffer och dagligt liv i medeltid. [A Fundamental Action. Building Offerings and Everyday Life in Medieval Times.] Vägar till Midgård 12. Lund: Nordic Academic Press.
- Fennell, Christopher C. 2000. Conjuring Boundaries: Inferring Past Identities from Religious Artifacts. International Journal of Historical Archaeology, Vol. 4, No. 4, pp. 281–313, http://dx.doi.org/10.1023/A:1009534401909.
- Foster, George M. 1953. What is Folk Culture? American Anthropologist, Vol. 55, No. 2, pp. 159–173, doi: 10.1525/aa.1953.55.2.02a00020.
- Frazer, James George 1992 [1922]. The Golden Bough. A Study in Magic and Religion. Abridged edition. The 1992 reprint. London: Papermac.
- Garthoff-Zwaan, Maria & Ruempol, Alma P.E. 1988. Communicerende vaten. Beeldtaal van slibversiering op laat-middelleeuws aardwerk in de Nederlanden. [Communicating Vessels. Imagery of Slip Decoration on Late Medieval Pottery in the Netherlands.] Rotterdam: Museum Boymans-Van Beuningen.
- Gazin-Schwartz, Amy & Holtorf, Cornelius 1999. 'As long as ever I've known it...' On Folklore and Archaeology. In: Amy Gazin-Schwartz & Cornelius J. Holtorf (eds.) Archaeology and Folklore. Theoretical Archaeology Group (TAG)–series. London & New York: Routledge, pp. 3–25.
- Gilchrist, Roberta 2008. Magic for the Dead? The Archaeology of Magic in Later Medieval Burials. *Medieval Archaeology*, Vol. 52, No. 1, pp. 119–158, http://dx.doi. org/10.1179/174581708x335468.
- Gilchrist, Roberta 2012. Medieval Life. Archaeology and the Life Course. Woodbridge: Boydell Press.
- Goody, Jack 1961. Religion and Ritual: The Definitional Problem. The British Journal of Sociology, Vol. 12, No. 2, pp. 142–164, http://dx.doi.org/10.2307/586928.
- Hänninen, Kirsi 2009. The Construction of Self in Finnish First-Person Supernatural Encounter Narratives. Doctoral thesis at the Ohio State University. Available

at https://etd.ohiolink.edu/ap:0:0:APPLICATION_PROCESS=DOWNLOAD_ ETD_SUB_DOC_ACCNUM:::F1501_ID:osu1261592657,inline, last accessed on September 23, 2013.

- Harjula, Janne 2012. Runic Inscriptions on 14th–15th Century Wooden Stave Vessels in Turku – Expressions of Language, Education and Domestic Religion. In: E.-M. Viitanen (ed.) 18th Annual Meeting of the European Association of Archaeologists, 29 August – 1 September 2012 Helsinki, Finland. Abstracts. EAA Book of Abstracts, pp. 126–127.
- Henriksen, Mogens Bo 1998. Guden under gulvet ofringer under fynske huse fra ældre jernalder. [The God under the Floor – Offerings under Buildings in Funen from the Early Iron Age.] *Fynske minder*, pp. 191–212.
- Herva, Vesa-Pekka & Ylimaunu, Timo 2009. Folk Beliefs, Special Deposits, and Engagement with the Environment in Early Modern Northern Finland. *Journal* of Anthropological Archaeology, Vol. 28, No. 2, pp. 234–243, http://dx.doi. org/10.1016/j.jaa.2009.02.001.
- Hoggard, Brian 2004. The Archaeology of Counter-Witchcraft and Popular Magic. In:
 O. Davies & W. de Blécourt (eds.) Beyond the Witch Trials: Witchcraft and Magic in Enlightenment Europe. Manchester: Manchester University Press, pp. 167–186.
- Hukantaival, Sonja 2007. Hare's Feet under a Hearth Discussing 'Ritual' Deposits in Buildings. In: V. Immonen & M. Lempiäinen & U. Rosendahl (eds.) Hortus novus. Fresh Approaches to Medieval Archaeology in Finland. Archaeologia Medii Aevi Finlandiae XIV. Turku: SKAS, pp. 66–75. Available at http://www. academia.edu/687532/Hares_feet_under_a_hearth_-_Discussing_ritual_deposits_ in_buildings, last accessed on November 27, 2013.
- Hukantaival, Sonja 2009. Horse Skulls and 'Alder-Horse': The Horse as a Depositional Sacrifice in Buildings. In: A. Bliujienė (ed.) *The Horse and Man in European Antiquity (Worldview, Burial Rites, and Military and Everyday Life). Archaeologia Baltica*, Vol. 11, pp. 350–356.
- Hukantaival, Sonja 2011. "En hästskalle i murgrunden". Arkeologiska och folkloristiska exempel på byggnadsoffer i Finland under historisk tid. [A Horse Skull in the Foundation. Archaeological and Folkloristic Examples of Building Deposits in Finland in Historic Times.] *Fornvännen: Journal of Swedish Antiquarian Research*, Vol. 106, pp. 43–53. Available at http://samla.raa.se/xmlui/bitstream/ handle/raa/3260/2011_043.pdf?sequence=1, last accessed on September 23, 2013.
- Hukantaival, Sonja in press. Understanding Past Actions: Changing Attitudes towards Ritual, Religion, and Everyday Life. Submitted for publication in the BASE 5 seminar publication.
- Insoll, Timothy 2004. Archaeology, Ritual, Religion. London: Routledge.
- Insoll, Timothy (ed.) 2011. The Oxford Handbook of the Archaeology of Ritual & Religion. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Issakainen, Touko [Tenka] 2006. "Vainajien lapset". Taikaesineet ajassa. ["The Children of the Deceased". Magic Objects in Time.] *Ennen ja nyt*, Vol. 2. Available at http:// www.ennenjanyt.net/2006_2/issakainen.pdf, last accessed on September 23, 2013.
- Issakainen, Tenka 2012. Tavallista taikuutta. Tulkinta suomalaisten taikojen merkityksistä Mikko Koljosen osaamisen valossa. [Ordinary Magic. An Interpretation

of the Meanings of Finnish Magic Practices in the Light of Mikko Koljonen's Expertise.] Annales Universitatis Turkuensis, C 347. Turku: TYJ. Available at http://urn.fi/URN:ISBN:978-951-29-5158-1, last accessed on September 23, 2013.

- Johanson, Kristiina 2009. The Changing Meaning of 'Thunderbolts'. *Folklore: Electronic Journal of Folklore*, Vol. 42, pp. 129–174. Available at http://www.folklore.ee/folklore/vol42/johanson.pdf, last accessed on September 23, 2013.
- Jonuks, Tõnno & Friedenthal, Meelis & Haak, Arvi 2010. Värtnakeder, talisman või nõiaese – märkidega kiviketas Viljandimaalt Rattama talust. [A Spindle Whorl, a Talisman or a Witchcraft Object: A Stone Disc Marked with Symbols from Rattama Farm in Viljandimaa.] In: Ü. Tamla (ed.) *Ilusad asjad. Tähelepanuväärseid leide Eesti arheoloogiakogudest.* [Beautiful Things: Significant Artefacts from the Archaeological Collections in Estonia.] Muinasaja teadus, Vol. 21. Tallinn: Tallinna Ülikooli Ajaloo Instituut, pp. 269–286.
- Koski, Kaarina 2011. Kuoleman voimat. Kirkonväki suomalaisessa uskomusperinteessä. [Powers of Death. Church-väki in Finnish Folk Belief Tradition.] Suomalaisen Kirjallisuuden Seuran Toimituksia 1313. Helsinki: SKS.
- Lindeman, Marjaana & Aarnio, Kia 2006. Superstitious, Magical, and Paranormal Beliefs: An Integrative Model. *Journal of Research in Personality*, Vol. 41, No. 4, pp. 731–744, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jrp.2006.06.009.
- Malinowski, Bronisław 1954 [1948]. *Magic, Science and Religion and Other Essays*. The 1954 reprint. New York: Anchor Books A23.
- Merrifield, Ralph 1987. *The Archaeology of Ritual and Magic*. New York: New Amsterdam Books.
- Mitchell, Stephen A. 1985. The Whetstone as Symbol of Authority in Old English and Old Norse. *Scandinavian Studies*, Vol. 57, No. 1, pp. 1–31.
- Mitchell, Stephen A. 2011. Witchcraft and Magic in the Nordic Middle Ages. Philadelphia: University of Pennsylvania Press.
- Muhonen, Timo 2006. Kolme ajallista näkökulmaa ukonvaajoihin. Kivikauden kiviesineet myöhempien aikojen kuriositeetteina. [Three Temporal Views on Thunderbolts. Stone Age Stone Objects as Curiosities of Later Times.] Kuriositeettikabi.net 3, pp. 1–23. Available at http://kuriositeettikabi.net/numero3/Ukonvaajat.pdf, last accessed on September 23, 2013.
- Muhonen, Timo 2010. Kiviröykkiöt parannusperinteen näkökulmasta. [Stone Cairns from the Viewpoint of Healing Tradition.] In: S. Knuuttila & U. Piela & L. Tarkka (eds.) *Kalevalamittaisen runon tulkintoja*. Kalevalaseuran vuosikirja 89. Helsinki: SKS, pp. 200–223.
- Muhonen, Timo 2011. Chasing the Ghost: Empty Cairns of the Finnish Lake District with Glances of Folk Tradition. In: J. Harjula & M. Helamaa & J. Haarala (eds.) Times, Things & Places. 36 Essays for Jussi-Pekka Taavitsainen. Turku: J.P. Taavitsainen Festschrift Committee, pp. 320–343.
- Mustonen O.A.F. 1936. *Taikanuotta: eli opas taikojen kerääjille*. [The Magic Seine: A Guide for Collectors of Magic.] Fifth edition. Helsinki: SKS.
- Nikander, Gabriel 1937. Boskapspesten i Österbotten på 1700-talet. [The Rinderpest in Ostrobothnia during the 18th Century.] *Budkavlen*, No. 1, Meddelanden från institutet för nordisk etnologi vid Åbo Akademi, pp. 1–13.

- Niukkanen, Marianna 2007. The Form and Decoration of Redware Vessels: Functionality and Hidden Symbolic Meanings. In: K. Majantie (ed.) *Ruukkuja ja ruhtinaita :* saviastioita ja uunikaakeleita ajalta 1400–1700 = Pots and princes : ceramic vessels and stove tiles from 1400–1700 = Fat och furstar : lerkärl och ungskakel från 1400–1700. Archaeologia Medii Aevi Finlandiae XII. Turku: SKAS, pp. 26–35.
- Pihlman, Aki & Hukantaival, Sonja & Lompolo, Virva & Martiskainen, Heidi & Saloranta, Elina 2012. Turku I. Tuomiokirkonpuisto. Kaupunkiarkeologinen kaivaus 2011. Kaivausraportti, Turun museokeskus. [Turku I. Cathedral Park. A Town Archaeological Excavation 2011.] Unpublished excavation report. The Museum Centre of Turku.
- Plinius Secundus, Caius 1963. Natural History. Vol. 8, Libri XXVIII–XXXII. Translated by W.H.S. Jones. The Loeb Classical Library 418. Cambridge: Harvard University Press.
- Primiano, Leonard Norman 1995. Vernacular Religion and the Search for Method in Religious Folklife. Western Folklore, Vol. 54, No. 1, pp. 37–56, http://dx.doi. org/10.2307/1499910.
- Pyysiäinen, Ilkka 2004. Folk Religion and Theological Correctness. *Temenos*, Vols. 39–40, pp. 151–165.
- Ruohonen, Juha 2010. Kuolleiden saaret. Historiallisen ajan keskisuomalaisten saarihautausmaiden luonne ja käyttö hautapaikkoina. [Islands of the Dead. The Nature and Use of Central Finnish Historical Island Cemeteries.] *J@rgonia*, Vol. 8, No. 17, pp. 1–25. Available at http://research.jyu.fl/jargonia/artikkelit/jargonia17_ruohonen.pdf, last accessed on September 23, 2013.
- Ruohonen, Juha 2011. A Witch's Coin from Tervo. In: J. Harjula & M. Helamaa & J. Haarala (eds.) *Times, Things & Places. 36 Essays for Jussi-Pekka Taavitsainen*. Turku: J.P. Taavitsainen Festschrift Committee, pp. 344–357.
- Rydving, Håkan 2004. Saami Religion and Saami Folk Religion. What is the Difference? *Temenos*, Vols. 39–40, pp. 143–149.
- Saloranta, Elina 2010. Puurakentaminen ja puurakennukset Turussa 1300-luvulla. [Timber Constructions and Wooden Buildings in Turku in the 14th Century.] Turun museokeskus, Raportteja 22. Varhainen Turku, pp. 57–77.
- Schiffer Michael B. 1987. Formation Processes of the Archaeological Record. Albuquerque: University of New Mexico Press.
- Scribner, Robert W. 1993. The Reformation, Popular Magic, and the "Disenchantment of the World". *The Journal of Interdisciplinary History*, Vol. 23, No. 3, pp. 475–494, http://dx.doi.org/10.2307/206099.
- Stark, Laura 2002. Peasants, Pilgrims, and Sacred Promises. Ritual and the Supernatural in Orthodox Karelian Folk Religion. Studia Fennica Folkloristica, Vol. 11. Helsinki: SKS.
- Stark, Laura 2006. The Magical Self: Body, Society and the Supernatural in Early Modern Rural Finland. FF Communications 290. Helsinki: Suomalainen tiedeakatemia.
- Steadman, Sharon R. 2009. Archaeology of Religion. Cultures and Their Beliefs in Worldwide Context. California: Left Coast Press Inc.

- Suomen Kansan Muinaisia Taikoja (SKMT) I. Metsästys-taikoja 1891. [Hunting Magic 1891.] M. Varonen (ed.). Suomalaisen Kirjallisuuden Seuran Toimituksia 76. Helsinki: SKS.
- Suomen Kansan Muinaisia Taikoja (SKMT) IV, 1. Karjataikoja 1933. [Livestock Magic 1933.] A.V. Rantasalo (ed.). Suomalaisen Kirjallisuuden Seuran Toimituksia 76. Helsinki: SKS.
- Suomen Kansan Muinaisia Taikoja (SKMT) IV, 2. Karjataikoja 1933. [Livestock Magic 1933.] A.V. Rantasalo (ed.). Suomalaisen Kirjallisuuden Seuran Toimituksia 76. Helsinki: SKS.
- Suomen Kansan Muinaisia Taikoja (SKMT) IV, 3. Karjataikoja 1934. [Livestock Magic 1934.] A.V. Rantasalo (ed.). Suomalaisen Kirjallisuuden Seuran Toimituksia 76. Helsinki: SKS.
- Swann, June 2005. Interpreting Concealed Shoes and Associated Finds. In: I. Ericsson & R. Atzbach (eds.) Depotfunde aus Gebäuden in Zentraleuropa – Concealed Finds from Buildings in Central Europe. Archäologische Quellen zum Mittelalter 2. Berlin: Scrîpvaz-Verlag, pp. 115–119.
- Tarlow, Sarah 2011. *Ritual, Belief and the Dead in Early Modern Britain and Ireland.* New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Väänänen, Kyösti 2000. Gadolin, Jacob (1719–1802). Kansallisbiografia-verkkojulkaisu. Studia Biographica 4. Helsinki: SKS. Available at http://www.kansallisbiografia. fi/kb/artikkeli/2260/, last accessed on September 23, 2013.
- Väisänen, Maija 2000. Gadolin, Gustaf (1769–1843). Kansallisbiografia-verkkojulkaisu. Studia Biographica 4. Helsinki: SKS. Available at http://www.kansallisbiografia. fi/kb/artikkeli/3193/, last accessed on September 23, 2013.
- Valk, Heiki 1995. The 13–17th Century Village Cemeteries of South Estonia in Folk-Tradition and Beliefs. *Folk Belief Today*. Tartu: Eesti Keele Instituut, Eesti Kirjandusmuuseum, pp. 501–509. Available at http://www.folklore.ee/rl/pubte/ ee/usund/fbt/valkh.pdf, last accessed on September 23, 2013.
- Valk, Heiki 2004a. Artefacts in Estonian Urban Churchyards: Reflections on Different Traditions and Ideologies. In: D. Kattinger & J.E. Olesen & H. Wernicke (eds.) Der Ostseeraum und Kontinentaleuropa 1100–1600. Einflussnahme – Rezeption – Wandel. Schwerin: Thomas Helms Verlag, pp. 103–112.
- Valk, Heiki 2004b. Christian and Non-Christian Holy Sites in Medieval Estonia: A Reflection of Ecclesiastical Attitudes towards Popular Religion. In: J. Staecker (ed.) The European Frontier. Clashes and Compromises in the Middle Ages. Lund: Almqvist & Wiksell International, pp. 299–310.
- Valk, Heiki 2006. Archaeology, Oral Tradition and Traditional Culture. In: V. Lang & M. Laneman (eds.) Archaeological Research in Estonia 1865–2005. Tartu: Tartu University Press, pp. 311–316.
- Valk, Heiki 2008. Offering Practices at Two Holy Stones in Setomaa, South-East Estonia. In: A.-B. Falk & D.M. Kyritz (eds.) Folk Beliefs and Practice in Medieval Lives. BAR International Series 1757, pp. 67–78.
- Vařeka, Pavel 1994. Customs and Rites Connected with the Building Process of a Rural House and its Importance for the Study of Archaic Notions about Space and

Landscape. *Mediaevalia Archaeologica Bohemica 1993*, Památky archeologické, Supplementum 2, pp. 139–144.

- Webb, Diana 2005. Domestic Space and Devotion in the Middle Ages. In: A. Spicer & S. Hamilton (eds.) Defining the Holy. Sacred Space in Medieval and Early Modern Europe. Hants: Ashgate Publishing, pp. 27–47.
- Whitehouse, Harvey 2004. Modes of Religiosity: A Cognitive Theory of Religious Transmission. Cognitive Science of Religion Series. Walnut Creek, CA: AltaMira Press.
- Yoder, Don 1974. Toward a Definition of Folk Religion. Western Folklore, Vol. 33, No. 1. Symposium on Folk Religion, pp. 2–15, http://dx.doi.org/10.2307/1498248.

SACRIFICE OR OFFERING: WHAT CAN WE SEE IN THE ARCHAEOLOGY OF NORTHERN EUROPE?

Ester Oras

Abstract: This article analyses the concepts of sacrifice and offering, with a further aim to discuss how to decode and differentiate these practices in archaeological material. The main criteria for distinguishing sacrifice and offering from anthropology and comparative religious studies are presented. The focal points are the relationship between sacrifice and offering, questions of linguistic preferences, and qualitative criteria such as concepts of value, destruction and sanctification. The problems of making a distinction between the two concepts are discussed on the basis of the archaeological record of intentional artefact deposits in northern Europe, especially Estonia. As a result, it is argued that there can be no universal and strictly distinguishing definitions for these religious practices. They share a common idea of communication with the supernatural via giving, but any further distinction depends on the specific cultural context of both the practitioners and contemporary scholars investigating the archaeological record. Therefore, any universal definitions that result from trying to distinguish between sacrifice and offering are problematic, and they should be seen rather as scholarly categories, which, however, help to acknowledge the multifaceted and variable nature of these religious phenomena. This article stresses the importance of acknowledging the context-dependency of any religious and ritual activity and dismissing a quest for defining and applying concepts related to such activity cross-regionally and -temporally.

Keywords: archaeology, deposits, northern Europe, offering, religion, ritual, sacrifice

INTRODUCTION

In recent decades, the archaeology of ritual and religion has developed into a flourishing discipline with its own specialist publications, methodological and theoretical discussions and various regional case studies. A clear emergence of such publications was evident in the 1980s and early 1990s (e.g. Renfrew 1985; 1994; Garwood et al. 1991; Carmichael et al. 1994), but a considerable increase has taken place since the turn of the millennium (see, e.g., Insoll 2004a; Insoll 2004b; Barrowclough & Malone 2007; Kyriakidis 2007; Hays-Gilpin & Whitley

2008; Rowan 2011). The Oxford Handbook of the Archaeology of Ritual and Religion (Insoll 2011a) was published in 2011. The topics covered in these numerous books and articles are varied, including different geographical regions, temporal scales, and general abstract questions. Debates about religious and ritual practices, such as sacrifice and offering, are represented among them. However, the way that these two terms are utilised in different publications often contains some fluidity and vagueness. There is also not much of a clear and in-depth discussion as to which term – sacrifice or offering – is preferred in specific research contexts and why.

Intentional artefact deposits, be it hoards, wealth deposits, special or structured deposits, votives, etc. (for discussion about terminology see, e.g., Osborne 2004; Garrow 2012; Oras 2012), are one of the find groups which often involve the use of the terms 'sacrifice' and 'offering'. This group of archaeological material is a widespread phenomenon with a long-term history. In the northern European context, it is possible to talk about the emergence of artefact deposits as a separate and specific archaeological find group from the Mesolithic onwards (e.g. Stjernquist 1997; Berggren 2010). The material from northern European intentional artefact deposits is very rich in the Bronze Age (e.g. Levy 1982; Čivilytė 2009) and abundant in the Iron Age (see, e.g., Fabech 1991; Hedeager 1992; Ilkjær 2000; Jørgensen et al. 2003; Bliujiene 2010; Oras 2010). The aim of this article is to discuss the choice of terms that archaeologists use when talking about various practices of artefact depositing in northern Europe. Which term – either sacrifice or offering – should be used in discussing northern Europe prehistoric contexts and why? Can we differentiate between sacrifice and offering in northern Europe prehistory on the basis of archaeological material and how? Are there any universal applications of these terms regardless of time and space? Is the differentiation important for the practitioners or is it purely a scholarly endeavour? These are the questions taken into consideration in the following pages.

I start by introducing some general explanations and issues related to the definitions of and distinctions between sacrifice and offering. The traditional use and definition of these two terms in the social sciences and humanities is discussed, and the main difficulties of distinguishing these two concepts at both the mental and material level are analysed. These difficulties are approached via what I call the four main confusions: confusion of language, value, destruction and concepts of sacred/holy (see below). Thereafter, I discuss if and how these differences can be traced in material culture alone, i.e., whether we can separate those two concepts in archaeology. This analysis and discussion is based on the material of the northern Europe intentional artefact deposits.

The broader aim of this article is to contribute to the debate of terminologyrelated issues in the archaeology of religion and ritual. It has to be emphasised that I am not planning to analyse long-term and detailed developments of any specific religion(s) and/or religious practices. This article is rather terminology-based, aiming to provide a polemic discussion on the choice of terms that archaeologists prefer to utilise in their academic research on past religions.

SACRIFICE AND OFFERING: GENERAL DEFINITIONS

Although several important qualitative differences can be distinguished in the concepts of sacrifice and offering (see below), there are certain common characteristics in the general definitions of these terms. The Oxford English Dictionary Online¹ entries define them as follows:

Offer n.: An act of offering something for acceptance or refusal; an expression of intention or willingness to give or do something if desired; a proposal, an invitation.

Offer v.: To present (something) to God, a god, a saint, etc., as an act of devotion; to sacrifice; to give in worship.

Offering n.: Something presented or sacrificed to God, a god, a saint, etc., in worship or devotion; a thing (as fruits, a slain animal, money, etc.) given as an expression of religious homage; a sacrifice; an oblation.

Sacrifice n.: Primarily, the slaughter of an animal (often including the subsequent consumption of it by fire) as an offering to God or a deity. Hence, in wider sense, the surrender to God or a deity, for the purpose of propitiation or homage, of some object of possession. Also applied *fig.* to the offering of prayer, thanksgiving, penitence, submission, or the like.

Sacrifice n.: That which is offered in sacrifice; a victim immolated on the altar; anything (material or immaterial) offered to God or a deity as an act of propitiation or homage.

Sacrifice v.: To offer as a sacrifice; to make an offering or sacrifice.

Very often the word 'sacrifice' is preferred in dictionaries and encyclopaedias as the main entry. For instance, in the *Encyclopedia of Religion* edited by Mircea Eliade (1987), there is no special entry for the word 'offering', and instead the words 'almsgiving', 'sacrifice', and 'tithes' are referenced. The same applies to the *Religion Past & Present: Encyclopedia of Theology and Religion* (Betz 2007),

The Concise Oxford Dictionary of World Religions (2000), and The Concise Oxford Dictionary of Archaeology (2008).

In the *Encyclopedia of Religion*, Joseph Henninger (1987) defines the word 'sacrifice' as a religious act on its highest level. He also points out that it is often used as a synonym for 'offering'. According to him, the latter forms a wider category that refers to presenting a gift in general, and sacrifice can form one part of that act. He also emphasises that it is the receiver of the gift that matters, i.e., the supernatural being with whom one wishes to communicate via the gift.

In the most recent encyclopaedia of religious studies, Philippe Borgeaud (2012) gives a rather specific definition of the word 'sacrifice':

[...] *Sacrifice* denotes both the living creature or offering sacrificed and the ritual action (e.g. destruction) through which that creature or object is dedicated to a supernatural being. [...] Etymologically *sacrifice* suggests an action in which the sacrificed object is "made holy / sacred" (Lat. *Sacrum facere*).

In *The Concise Oxford Dictionary of World Religions* (2000), the term 'sacrifice' is defined as follows:

(Lat., 'that which is made sacred'). The offering of something, animate or inanimate, in a ritual procedure which establishes, or mobilizes, a relationship of mutuality between the one who sacrifices (whether individual or group) and the recipient – who may be human but more often is of another order, e.g. God or spirit. Sacrifice pervades virtually all religions, but it is extremely difficult to say precisely what the meanings of sacrifice are – perhaps because the meanings are so many.

The Concise Oxford Dictionary of Archaeology (2008) defines the same word as follows:

The slaughter of an animal or person or the surrender of a possession as an offering to a deity. [...] Although generally seen as ceremonial in context, sacrifice may have functional ends institutionalized in the practice itself, for example the regulation of population and the creation of an instrument of political terror.

The main link between these two concepts according to those definitions as well as the classical works on this subject (e.g. Firth 1963; Baaren 1964; Turner 1977; Bourdillon & Fortes 1980; Hubert & Mauss 1964; Hicks 2001; Girard 2011) is that they both form an important means of communication with the supernatural via giving up or presenting something in order to attain its (his/her) favour. However, there are different opinions about the main elements of these practices as well, and this is where it all becomes confusing and complicated.

Based on the definitions provided above, different ideas about the distinction of sacrifice and offering can be traced. For instance, Theodorus Petrus van Baaren (1964) has emphasised that offering is an element of sacrifice, the materiality of it. According to him, offering plays a crucial role in the act of sacrifice along with other elements, such as the active agent conducting the sacrifice, the time and place, the method, the receiver and the motives behind it. Another example is by Jan van Baal (1976: 161–162), who states that sacrifice and offering are both gifts, but that "a sacrifice is not necessarily a more deeply religious ceremony than an offering. [...] Reversely, an offering can be a highly impressive religious ceremony without including a sacrifice". Thus, it is easy to see a certain contradiction already. While Henninger (1987) categorises sacrifice under offering as a special kind of gift giving, and Baal (1976) seems to handle them as two sides of the same coin, then Baaren (1964) prefers to leave offering solely in the position of one, albeit crucial, element of the sacrificial act - the material part of what is given away (Fig. 1). At the same time, Borgeaud (2012) barely mentions offering as a term related to the actual action of sacrifice, but rather uses it to refer to the object that is sacrificed. The definitions also diverge in more specific aspects, such as the importance of destruction, animate or inanimate objects, dependency on value and changes in the quality of participants and materialities used (see further below).



Figure 1. Relations between sacrifice and offering according to a) Henninger (1987), b) Baaren (1964) and c) Baal (1976).

The more one reads about these concepts and terms, the more evident it becomes that all the possible simplicities of making sense of and comparing those two terms vanish quickly. Not only is there disagreement in discussions on the general relationship of these two concepts, but different scholars also emphasise different qualitative aspects and characteristics of each, drawing distinctions between them accordingly. In other words, there is no general consensus on the relationship between sacrifice and offering, and the defining criteria vary scholar by scholar. It all becomes even more complicated when considering relevant archaeological literature about these phenomena and trying to apply the concepts of sacrifice and offering as distinct categories to the prehistoric archaeological record.

SACRIFICE OR OFFERING: THE FOUR MAIN CONFUSIONS AND NORTHERN EUROPE ARCHAEOLOGY

The four detailed qualitative and distinguishing aspects can be found in the literature about the definitions, characteristics and meanings of the concepts 'sacrifice' and 'offering'. First, the separation of the terms and their use in specific case studies seems to depend on who is writing about them and where this person is situated. I tentatively call it language confusion. Second is the question of what specific criteria apply to sacrifice or offering and what qualitative changes are expected to happen as a result of sacrifice or offering. I have divided these aspects into the confusions related to the concepts of value, destruction and sacred/holy (see below for details).

Language confusion

The first of the aforementioned issues – the question of language – relates partly to the tradition of the scholarship in the specific region where a scholar is based, but more importantly to the terminology and native language of the scholar him/herself. These two terms – 'sacrifice' and 'offering' – do not have equivalents in all languages. Looking at the dictionary results, it strikes the eye that in some languages only one possible answer is suggested whilst others include more variable words (see Table 1).

Language	Sacrifice	Offer / Offering
Estonian	-	Uri (noun), urjama (verb)
		Kahi, and
		Ohver(dus)
Finnish	-	Uhri
Danish (applied	-	Ofring
to Scandinavian		
languages in general)		
German	-	Opfer
French	Sacrifice	Offre, offrande
Italian	Sacrificio	Offerta
Latin	Sacrificium	Offerre (verb), oblatio
Lithuanian	Pasiūlymas	Auka
Latvian	Upuris	Piedāvājums
Polish	Składanie	Oferta, ofiara
Russian	Жертвоприношение	Подношèние (religious),
		предложение

Table 1. A selection of dictionary results to words 'sacrifice' and 'offering'.

It seems that the word 'sacrifice' does not have an equivalent in either the Germanic branch of the Indo-European languages or in the Finno-Ugric languages. According to the Oxford English Dictionary, the verb 'offer' is an old Germanic root (documented use in Old English) that predates 'sacrifice' as a later loan from Romanic languages, which in primary use related to slaughter and altar.² In this context, it is interesting that differentiation between the two seems to exist in the Slavic and Baltic languages, which are part of the Indo-European language family. However, in those languages, it is difficult to draw a relation with Latin equivalents of sacrifice. Thus, in geographical terms, we can see that one word relating to 'offering' prevails in northern Europe, mainly among the Finno-Ugric and Germanic languages, while a distinction is made in the Romanic, Slavic and Baltic languages. It makes one think about the specifics of the choice of words and the related meanings of those actions for the practitioners. At least in the case of the Estonian language and etymology, there seem to exist two word categories: old and practice-specific local words (uri, kahi, and), and general, more abstract (loan?) words that relate to the word 'offering'. Might it also reflect the essential differences in the religious practices of different cultures?

According to the Estonian Etymological Dictionary, the Estonian word 'ohver' is a loan-word from Low German (EE 2012: 335). The background of this word is closely connected to history, especially the northern crusades in the 12th and 13th centuries. During the conversion of the country in the 13th century, when the official language of the period was Latin, the words used in the written sources for this specific ritual practice were derivations from sacrificere and *immolare* or other Latin words relating to the victim and the act of killing (cf., e.g., HCL 1982; Tamm & Jonuks forthcoming). As the main interest groups in the region at the time were of German origin, it is likely that the German words 'Offeringe' and 'opperen/offeren' were utilised in spoken language as well. Germans, or at least the German-speaking population, remained a ruling class over the following centuries, and their language dominated in official documents and history writing. Native dialects and relevant terminology, including those in relation to religious practices, became marginalised and remained at the level of oral tradition. As a result, the native terms were left out of history recordings for centuries, and the concepts that were familiar to higher class were used instead. Although it cannot be entirely excluded that the Estonian word 'ohver' is an earlier loan from Scandinavian languages, e.g. from the Viking Age or even before that, it is most likely that its origin is directly connected to the German conquest and long-term reign in the region.

Therefore it can be argued that there is no Estonian primary and old word that would precisely accord with the abstract terms of either 'sacrifice' or 'offering'. The word 'and' means literally a gift, and derives from the verb 'andma' (to give) which is an old Finno-Ugric word that can be found in several languages. 'Kahi' is referred to as a drinking offering. This too has an old Finno-Ugric root relating to (alcoholic) drink, possibly mead, and it most likely comes from Finnish (EE 2012: 115–116). 'Uri' means an offering and derives from Finnish 'uhri', but it seems to have been borrowed into written Estonian language in the early 20th century (EE 2012: 579) and in contemporary Estonian it is related to poetic language. If we were to take language as one argument explaining the origin and time-depth of specific activities, it seems that the whole picture of activities that we would call a phenomenon of offering in Estonia(n) was not something abstract and universal, but more nuanced and action-specific. Additionally, the qualitative distinction between sacrifice and offering does not seem to be of any importance at all. The native speakers of other languages can probably provide similar examples of other specific words that can be translated and reduced to the academic terms of 'sacrifice' or 'offering', but which actually have a much more variable and subtle field of meanings in the native language.

Another intriguing cultural differentiation in the use of the terms 'sacrifice' and 'offering' derives from the language of the researcher. Although there are more particular and specific Finno-Ugric words available, most of the contemporary scholars still tend to use the widely spread and academic words 'sacrifice' and 'offering'. This is most likely related to the development of academic disciplines and scientific writing of the Modern Era. It has to be remembered that the scientific language in the 19th century was very rarely a native one. In the context of the eastern Baltic and as a result of long-term historical development from German conquest to centuries of foreign rule by mainly Germans and Russians, the scientific and academic terminologies were largely based on German or Russian, with a dominance of the former. It seems that the terms and concepts picked up at the beginning of the academic discipline became the norm and tradition. Additionally, there is no escape from this terminology issue when writing in foreign languages, such as German or English. One simply has to decide which foreign word best applies to a relevant concept in the native language and culture.

However, even if the word in one's local language and the possible translation of it in another language are directly related, the use of foreign terms is sometimes inconsistent. One such example is the derivation of 'offering' in Scandinavian languages. For instance, in the writing on artefact deposits in Iron Age Scandinavia, one can easily recognise that the word 'offering' is preferred in Scandinavian languages (e.g. Hagberg 1964; Harck 1984; Ilkjær 2002; Hansen 2006). However, quite often when the same or similar material is presented in English, the term 'sacrifice' is used instead (Fabech 1991; Randsborg 1995; Carlie 1998; Helgesson 2004; Berggren 2006; Nørgård Jørgensen 2008), sometimes even by the same authors (Ilkjær 2003; Hansen 2006). The same tendency of the mixing of the two terms concurrently in English texts is evident in publications by Finno-Ugric scholars as well (e.g. Jonuks 2009b; Wessman 2009; Oras 2010; Salmi et al. 2011). The words 'sacrifice' and 'offering' often occur simultaneously and are utilised as synonyms. This altogether contributes to some extent to the general confusion as to which term is more suitable and why, as well as whether there is or should be any differentiation.

Value

The second confusion relates to the concept of 'value'. It is mainly Raymond Firth (1963) who in his cross-cultural analysis of the organisation of sacrifice and offering stressed that sacrifice means presenting something valuable for the favour of the supernatural. Not everything is suitable for sacrifice, but the act must be related to giving up something at a cost. He sees such gifts as one part of a process of general allocation of resources, in which the degree and quality of what is given within this act is important. At the same time, he regards offering as something that is just given away — something that is available and not extraordinary.

However, there seems to be some disagreement about this concept of value. Namely, as Michael F.C. Bourdillon (1980: 12) implies, the recognisable economic value is not the main characteristic of the sacrifice. He points out ethnographic examples in which ordinary and mundane objects can be regarded as suitable for the sacrifice. Firth himself also arrives at the conclusion that quite often the value of the sacrificed is not obvious or clearly measurable. It can be manipulated, with objects of high value substituted for lower ones, communal participation included, etc. Thus, although the idea of giving up something at a cost is to some extent inscribed in the sacrifice, there is in practice a rational calculation and manipulation of value in it. It is the aim, intention and quality of the practice – "the spirit of the gift", according to Firth (1963: 23) – that dictates the suitability of the object for sacrifice. Thus, the distinction between offering and sacrifice on the basis of an object's value is a very problematic and complicated one. The same can be followed in The Concise Oxford Dictionary of World Religions (2000), which states that an object is given a value by the actual act of sacrifice itself.

These difficulties are particularly significant in archaeology. How can we estimate an object's value in the past, and is this concept of value universally recognisable? Literature about the value and evaluation of objects both in archaeology and anthropology is vast. Value can be attributed via materials that are rare, durable and attractive, but also acquired in certain ways, including being part of certain assemblages (Randsborg 1973: 565; Haselgrove 1982; Renfrew 1986: 148-149; Lesure 1999). But value is not only economic and measurable on a material basis. One only has to think in terms of object biographies (sensu Appadurai 1986; Kopytoff 1986) and culture-specific or emotional or individual values (Davenport 1986; Thomas 1991; Weiner 1992; Lillios 1999; Mauss 2002; Miller 2001; Myers 2001). Therefore, it is often very complicated to decode and assess the value of a gift without further ethnographic record or the attestations of the participants themselves. It altogether means that besides the complications stated above by the anthropological scholars themselves, the concept of value in distinguishing sacrifice and offering can be highly problematic in archaeology.

One good example of the shifting concepts of valuables and context specific evaluation of objects in Estonia is the tradition of deposition of stone axes (see Johanson 2006; 2009). These items were most certainly rare and expensive valuables in their context of production and initial use. They acquired practical, economic and symbolic meaning. However, in later periods when stone was replaced by other production materials, some of these items were still clearly



Figure 2. A selection of different Iron Age wealth deposits from Estonia: silver ornaments from Paali II (AI 3235), iron axes from Igavere (AI 2712: 45–49), and bronze ornaments from Reola (AI 4102) finds. Photomontage by Ester Oras 2013.

regarded as valuables. They were used for healing purposes and deposited in ritual activities. The concept of giving something away at a cost is thus very different from one context to another in the case of these stone axes. However, it would be farfetched to classify Mesolithic and Neolithic stone axe deposits under 'sacrifice' and later period finds under 'offering' due to the objects' relative material value in their contemporary depositional context.

Another good example is the comparison of different Iron Age intentional artefact deposits in the eastern Baltic (see, e.g., Oras 2010; 2012). The phenomenon as such is very similar: there is an acknowledged and intentional selective deposition of different objects in different contexts. The deposits include gold, silver, a vast amount of iron and bronze, but also organic and stone items (see Fig. 2). Surely they all had different values in the Iron Age, but it is hardly reasonable to call some of them 'sacrifices' and others 'offerings' on the basis of the relative economic value of objects.

Destruction

The next qualitative confusion is the idea of destruction. Numerous scholars, such as Firth (1963: 13), Baaren (1964: 9–10), Baal (1976: 161–162), Bourdillon (1980: 10), Girard (2011) and especially Henri Hubert and Marcel Mauss (1964: 12), emphasise that sacrifice should include, if not destruction of, then at least considerable physical transformation of objects. It is important to change the physical characteristics of an object or living being in order for it to be acceptable for the supernatural. The destruction mainly relates to the blood-letting of the

victim (be it human or animal), which can be followed by communal consumption of its remains, or more general destruction, such as the burning or crushing of other items (plants, paper, ceramics, etc.). Hubert and Mauss (ibid.: 12–13, 99) stress that we are dealing with 'sacrifice' if the items are destroyed, but with 'offering' if their physical state is not altered. They also conclude that the efficiency and religious energy is thus higher in the case of sacrifice as opposed to offering, and that the ceremonial destruction of an object is crucial to creating a communicative link between the supernatural-sacred and the profane world.

Similar ideas have also been expressed by archaeologists. As Timothy Insoll (2011b: 151) describes, there is a difference between sacrifice and offering, because the latter lacks a destructive element. He develops this thought even further with the ideas of personified material objects that therefore can be regarded as 'living victims' and the tradition of artefact destruction prior to deposition applies to them as well (ibid.). Discussions of the material agency of objects, which relates to the personification of artefacts that make people act in certain ways and do certain things, are of relevance here (see, e.g., Knappett 2005; Hoskins 2006; Knappett & Malafouris 2008).

The ritual killing of objects prior to deposition, either as separate deposits or as burial goods, is a widespread cultural phenomenon (in Estonian context see, e.g., Jonuks 2009a: 252, and literature cited therein). Perhaps this idea of destruction also explains why Scandinavian scholars studying Iron Age deposits prefer to use the term 'sacrifice' in English texts as opposed to 'offering' in Scandinavian languages. Quite often a previous ritual manipulation, such as burning, bending and smashing objects, can be traced in the Scandinavian Iron Age bog deposits (Ilkjær 2000; 2002; 2003). However, not all the items in these so-called Scandinavian booty deposits are destructed, and the amount of objects handled in such a way varies from one site to another. Are we talking about different religious practices – separated sacrifices and offerings – during the same event?

Another example from Estonian material is the comparison of different intentional artefact deposits. In Estonian folkloristic and historical material, there are several examples of leaving different kinds of waste, from food remains to wool, ribbons and glass, on sacred stones or trees (Fig. 3.; see, e.g., Loorits 1990; Paulson 1997; Hiiemäe 2011). Some of those traditions are carried out even today (see, e.g., Valk 2007). To draw a difference between sacrifice and offering on the basis of destruction here is rather complicated. If the wool is not burnt, does it mean it is an offering? If the glass bottle is left behind, is it an offering? But if it is broken, does it turn into a sacrifice? Thinking in archaeological terms, what if the bottle breaks as a result of later activities or weathering after its initial depositional act?



Figure 3. An offering stone with shards of glass bottles and pieces of horse shoes from Varbla from 1936. Photo source: ERA f 262.

As it can be drawn from these questions, there are examples in which the concept of destruction turns out to be quite problematic. Destruction might be a good and archaeologically recognisable criterion for distinguishing sacrifice and offering. Indeed, as seen in most of the definitions given above and from the several ethnographic and archaeological examples, killing, i.e., blood-letting and also consumption of the being, is a crucial element in performing sacrifice, which distinguishes it from offering (for northern Eurasian context see, e.g., Jordan 2003: 123–129; Vallikivi 2004: 94–95; Äikäs et al. 2009). I agree that destruction is very useful for emphasising inherent differentiations in the meanings and symbolism of ritual practices in the case of living beings. However, it remains a matter of debate whether this particular physical criterion should be a universal distinguishing criterion applied to artefacts and plants as well. Peter Metcalf (1997: 416) raises the problem: very often one talks about offerings in the case of different goods, but about sacrifice in those cases in which living beings are involved. He also points out that even the latter does not always necessarily include physical destruction.

So should we take destruction as a decisive characteristic that separates sacrifice and offering? Perhaps the whole idea of destruction is one specific form of sacrifice, directly related to the practicalities when dealing with the nature of a living 'victim' – they just would not stay put! The idea of destruction might be an important element in the cases where living beings are involved, but not necessarily in the case of objects. Therefore the distinction of sacrifice and offering on the basis of whether destruction is evident is a somewhat biased approach. I would rather agree with Henninger (1987: 545), who concludes that the destructive element can be decisive for decoding sacrifice for some scholars, but it is not universal and applicable to every case.

Sacred/Holy

The final and perhaps the most classical confusion in relation to distinguishing sacrifice and offering is the question of the intrinsic quality of the act and the object. As a simple translation exercise indicates, sacrifice in Latin derives from the word *sacrificium*, where *sacer* means 'holy' and *facere* 'to make', resulting in 'to make holy/sacred'. The concepts, distinctions and definitions of 'holy' and 'sacred' are problematic, and there is an ongoing discussion about whether these terms can or should be used as synonyms (see, e.g., Oxtoby 1987). Here I use them as synonyms in order to explain the supposedly qualitative change happening as a result of a specific religious act, i.e., 'to sacrifice' means 'to make something holy' or 'to sanctify'.

The idea of qualitative change as a distinctive criterion is the main point that Hubert and Mauss support. They state that sacrifice is a religious act through which the moral conditions of the participant and the presented objects alter – they are sanctified (Hubert & Mauss 1964: 9–11). The same idea is followed by Firth (1963: 13), who describes that certain mental state or moral quality changes are supported or renewed in the sacrificial act. What people and objects were before the sacrifice is different, perhaps even culturally and religiously lower, from what they are after this practice. From this, it can be derived that if in sacrifice something or someone is made special, holy and sacred, then the concept of offering does not necessarily have to include such a qualitative alteration (Hubert & Mauss 1964: 11). The main problem, especially for archaeology, is that this meaningful difference is applied to the objects and subjects on a mental and qualitative scale, given by the participants.

Nevertheless, not all scholars agree with such separation. For instance, Baal objects to the idea of the sacred nature of the gift by saying that it is too accidental a feature (1976: 161-162). In archaeological perspectives, making a

distinction on the basis of a moral and mental qualitative change of the objects in question is difficult, especially when relying solely on the material remains of the acts in which those objects were involved. Although such questions and specifications might be available for anthropologists, it is an almost impossible, or at least highly speculative, field of analysis for prehistoric archaeologists. The differentiation between the two is particularly problematic if we think of distinguishing acts of sacrifice and offering that both might have taken place in religious-related places and times concurrently, and might also share similar depositional context. All the archaeological examples discussed above lack necessary information about the changing quality of an object that is impossible to deduce without the participants' input. We do not know if depositing objects in a peat bog or leaving stone axes in the ground meant a qualitative difference in the meaning of the object and whether they were thought to become sacred themselves. It is impossible to pursue such meanings on the basis of material culture. Indeed, even ethnographic studies cannot always provide examples in which all participants agree with the general aim, meaning and qualitative changes of their religious actions (see, e.g., Humphrey & Laidlaw 1994). Thus, the criterion of changing qualities and sanctifications cannot be a universal or single answer for making a distinction between sacrifice and offering. I agree that the qualitative change of the items, places and people involved is an important aspect in acknowledging different intensities and scales of religious acts. However, it largely relies on the mental affiliation of the participants in such acts and is thus open to variable interpretations. As a result, it is the most difficult criterion of those being discussed to apply to the archaeological record when trying to distinguish sacrifice and offering.

DISCUSSION

As can be seen above, there is no general agreement as to what distinguishes sacrifice and offering on a qualitative basis. In fact, there are even different opinions about the relationship of these concepts to one another: are we talking about two different practices, or are they parts of each other. The distinctions drawn by anthropologists or scholars of religious studies are very problematic when it comes to archaeological data. As soon as one goes in depth with the analysis of sacrifice and offering and tries to apply specific distinctions to archaeological material, it often happens that the top-down universal definitions and criteria just do not fit with the matter at hand. So why is it such a hard task to distinguish sacrifice and offering, especially in archaeology? The answer lies in the consideration of the context. It is the cultural and religious context of a specific act – be it religious activity or research practice – that determines the essential criteria for sacrifice and offering as well as if, and on what basis, they should be distinguished from one another. As contexts vary in spatial and temporal terms, so do the characteristics and ideas about those specific religious phenomena. In some contexts, there is no importance in the distinction, while in others, the categories and definitions provided above seem to be alien or considerably more nuanced, while still in others, the distinction might be an essential part of the local religious system. Therefore, problems in applying those terms to specific material are inevitable as long as one tries to use universal criteria and definitions. The context-dependency is in fact one of the main reasons why universal categorisations and definitions often do not match with specific archaeological material.

The context is not only the past cultural background. It also includes the context in which a specific term has developed, and the context of the researcher with his or her historically set research traditions. Every term has its research history, which influences its definitions and relating categorisations. Scholars themselves are carriers of their cultural context and cannot leave it behind when dealing with past and distant cultures. The educational and broader cultural context as well as scholarly tradition influences the terms that are used in a particular research. In this sense, one cannot escape the concepts of sacrifice and offering, including questions about the differentiation of the two, because they are an intrinsic and important part of the researcher's contemporary cultural and work atmosphere with its own historical background. Therefore, although most probably arbitrary from the practitioner's perspective, the analysis of sacrifice and offering and their elements is to some extent unavoidable from the scholarly point of view. The question is rather if and how scholars can apply the distinctions and definitions derived from the academic research of the last 200 years to thousands of years before the point when we started to actually think about such categorisations of religious practices. Secondly, it is worth keeping in mind that the definitions and distinctions derived from the in-depth study of one religion do not necessarily have to apply to another.

Starting from the past context, its importance is best demonstrated by the archaeological examples of intentional artefact deposits discussed above. The whole idea of intentional artefact deposits is a long-term and widely spread practice in northern Europe. It covers a variety of materials and objects in a variety of contexts from different times. It would be naïve to presume that the idea behind and meaning of intentional artefact concealments was the same over time and in different regions. There was a changing and developing belief system behind those practices. In the case of Estonia, we can talk about a

nature-oriented animated worldview with totemic and shamanistic practices in the Mesolithic and Neolithic societies, celestial fertility as well as agricultural and ancestor-related rituals in the Bronze and Early Iron Ages, and later period polytheistic systems until the very end of the prehistoric period; and some of those religious systems (e.g. natural sacred places or ancestor cults) were probably followed over millennia (Jonuks 2009a). With the conversion and arrival of Christianity, the religious system kept developing according to its local context, and there are several examples of enduring so-called pagan practices throughout the Middle Ages and Modern Period despite the arrival of the new world religion. These practices also include intentional artefact deposits (see, e.g., Valk 2004; Jonuks 2007). The picture of the long-term religious development in Estonia is colourful and gradually evolving, and within it different ideas and practices are combined, accepted and rejected. Some of them are the result of inner socially derived and large-scale political or economic developments (e.g. change from hunter-gatherers to agriculture), and others relate to short-term historical events or foreign contacts (e.g. Crusades in the 13th century). Therefore, it is in essence problematic to apply the same universal definitions and distinguishing criteria to such broad categories of religious practices as sacrifice and offering without considering the different contexts in which they take place.

Turning to scholarly context, as discussed under language confusion, there are no such distinct terminology categories of sacrifice and offering in Estonian at all. Unfortunately, we have no solid evidence of what terms pre-Christian Estonians used for their ritual practices. However, the fact that the word 'ohverdus' is not a native one and most likely derives from Germanic languages suggests that this abstract concept is rather late and foreign for the indigenous Estonian culture. Its use by religious practitioners and in relation to specific rituals most likely relates to later historical and scholarly developments, which have direct connotations with German tradition and historical events. This is also supported by the fact that Estonian native words are more specific or have a considerably wider meaning attached to them. The concept of offering was preferred in the local scholarly tradition as a result of developments in the academic research in religious studies. Through a process carried out by German-speaking scholars, the words chosen became deeply rooted for the next decades. It makes one wonder why, if at all, the concepts of 'sacrifice' and 'offering', as defined and discussed above, are even considered in discussing Estonian pre-Christian religion. They seem to be relatively later conceptual additions in Estonian religion and closely related to the academic and modern worldview. I certainly do not wish to infer that the idea of communication with the supernatural via particular gifts was missing in prehistoric or the following historic religion in what is now Estonia. I would rather argue that these periods had such different contents, contexts and connotations that the definitions of 'sacrifice' and 'offering' as based on institutionalised religions do not seem to apply to prehistoric northern Europe quite as precisely. In addition, the whole idea of distinction does not necessarily have to be an intrinsic problem for the past practitioners at all.

This altogether leads to the conclusion that distinguishing sacrifice and offering in the archaeological record and analysing the relationship between these two concepts might be a purely scholarly pursuit leading to categories that do not have much importance in the eyes of the practitioners themselves. Depending on culture, these two concepts may, but do not necessarily, have to exist as separate entities. They might merge into one whole idea of communicating with the supernatural via particular gifts or have much more specific subdivisions that relate to either a particular place or specific form or quality of the objects used. What actually matters is that we are dealing with the religious practice that aims at communication with the supernatural (in the widest sense) by means of rendering something. Perhaps the whole conglomeration and variability of those cultural actions of communication with the supernatural is the reason why scholars feel a need to classify and subcategorise their subjects of research. It just helps to approach the material and make the entangled and changing elements of sacrifice and offering better understandable for the outsider.

In this sense it might also help to think in terms of *emic* and *etic* categories (sensu Harris 1976) when talking about sacrifice and offering and their distinction in our scholarly work. In the former, it probably does not play a decisive role for the practitioner to make a difference between offering and sacrifice as long as the ways, aims and directions of communication are appropriate according to his/her cultural context. From the *etic* perspective, the distinctions between various culturally intertwined elements and questions about their relations help to translate them into the words and worlds of contemporary scholars. However, in the case of archaeology, it has to be acknowledged that the *emic* category is something very difficult to grasp because of the fragmentary nature of our data, as well as time and cultural distance from the subject of study. The mental and motivational basis of participants is something that is often unavailable to archaeologists. We have to rely on the materialities of the past practices and derive the meanings and motivations of the past people from them. Moreover, if the separation of and relationship between sacrifice and offering are not always clear in the ethnographic instances, in which both physical and mental aspects of those practices are evident and available, then what are we aiming to accomplish using only the fragmented archaeological record? One solution might be to supplement our material with ethnographic or

historical parallels, which, if critically evaluated and close in terms of cultural context, might help to attain different details and nuances about the intentions and ideas of the practitioners in the past. However, in most cases, such comparisons can only broaden our perspective and provide food for thought rather than give us a firm argument or proof. Therefore, the whole idea of distinguishing sacrifice and offering in prehistoric archaeology might remain at the level of *etic* categorisations due to the nature of this specific source material.

So, in terms of archaeology, what can we do with these two concepts - sacrifice and offering? Or perhaps it is better to ask if it is a necessary endeavour to do something about them at all. The Concise Oxford Dictionary of World Religions (2000) states, "Sacrifice pervades virtually all religions, but it is extremely difficult to say precisely what the meanings of sacrifice are – perhaps because the meanings are so many". Several scholars have actually agreed that there is no single and generally applicable definition or theory for sacrifice, because it varies from one society to another. Providing a universal definition for sacrifice and offering is a mission impossible, not to mention distinguishing them from each other (Baaren 1964: 1–2; Bourdillon 1980: 23; Metcalf 1997; Hicks 2001; Carter 2003: 6–7; Girard 2011: 32). Of course I do not propose that one should give up thinking about possible distinctions and definitions of these terms. They are important parts of our scholarly reasoning. I rather see a need to analyse critically if and how much universality there can be when it comes to defining and distinguishing sacrifice and offering for archaeological research, and if one should expect those or perhaps some completely different distinctions in archaeological material in the first place.

As a result, the answer to the question – do we see sacrifice or offering in northern European archaeology? – is that we see both, but neither of them is as distinguished or clear-cut as expected from universal definitions. There is evidence of communication with the supernatural via giving, but further distinctions and elements depend on the specific spatial and temporal context, as well as the ideas and aims of the practitioners. Sometimes it is possible to draw distinct qualitative categories between the objects or subjects included in those acts. In other cases, the emphasis seems to be quite different from what is supposed to apply according to the universal definitions. The way contemporary society and scholars understand and divide sacrifice and offering cannot always be expected to be part of the mind-set of people in the distant past.

CONCLUSION

Different religious systems contain different beliefs, practices and concepts, as well as different relations and distinctions between them. The same applies to sacrifice and offering. We cannot create any checklist for either archaeologists or anthropologists to distinguish sacrifice and offering with specific criteria, such as value, destruction or sacralisation. The maximum achievable generalisation is the above-mentioned concept of communication with the supernatural. If we see that, we see sacrifice or offering, perhaps both at the same time. The choice of what, at what cost, and how exactly is given and what happens to it next is prescribed and inevitable for practitioners – these aspects derive from the cultural tradition of the particular society. The characteristics that look so important for contemporary scholars for making a distinction between sacrifice and offering might not be an issue for the practitioners themselves. That is why finding universal definitions and ways of distinguishing sacrifice and offering is intrinsically problematic if not impossible. Instead, it is necessary to explicitly think about the use of specific words in and concepts applied to particular cultures and languages, keeping in mind both the contemporary context of a particular practice and the influence of the scholarship tradition.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I am very grateful to the anonymous reviewer who helped to develop this article into the current form, and to Enn Veldi who gave very useful comments about the language-related questions. I also want to express my sincere gratitude to Amira Kanwal for revising the English language. I thank Tonno Jonuks for his comments on the first draft of this article and for organising the sessions "Archaeology of Holiness" at the 12th Nordic Theoretical Archaeology Group (NTAG) meeting in Oulu (25–28 April 2012) and "Archaeology of Religion: Thinking about Terminology" at the 34th Theoretical Archaeology Group meeting in Liverpool (17-19 December 2012) together with me. My sincere gratitude belongs to all the participants of those sessions for developing fruitful discussions and raising additional issues. This article would have been substantially poorer without those ideas. This research was supported by Wolfson College (University of Cambridge), the Estonian Science Foundation Grant (ETF8956) 'The Materiality of Religion - Religious Artefacts in Estonian Archaeological Collections', and by the European Union through the European Regional Development Fund (Centre of Excellence in Cultural Theory (CECT)).
ABBREVIATIONS

AI – collection of archaeology at the Institute of History, University of Tallinn ERA f – Estonian Folklore Archives, Estonian Literary Museum

NOTES

- ¹ http://www.oed.com, last accessed on October 10, 2013.
- ² http://www.oed.com, last accessed on October 10, 2013.

REFERENCES

- Äikäs, Tiina & Puputti, Ann-Kaisa & Núñez, Milton & Aspi, Jouni & Okkonen, Jari 2009. Sacred and Profane Livelihood: Animal Bones from Sieidi Sites in Northern Finland. Norwegian Archaeological Review, Vol. 42, No. 2, pp. 109–122, http:// dx.doi.org/10.1080/00293650903289641.
- Appadurai, Arjun 1986. Introduction: Commodities and the Politics of Value. In:
 A. Appadurai (ed.) The Social Life of Things: Commodities in Cultural Perspective. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, pp. 3–63.
- Baal, Jan van 1976. Offering, Sacrifice and Gift. Numen, Vol. 23, No. 3, pp. 161–178, http://dx.doi.org/10.1163/156852776X00094.
- Baaren, Theodorus Petrus van 1964. Theoretical Speculations on Sacrifice. Numen, Vol. 11, No. 1, pp.1–12, http://dx.doi.org/10.1163/156852764X00015.
- Barrowclough, David A. & Malone, Caroline (eds.) 2007. *Cult in Context: Reconsidering Ritual in Archaeology*. Oxford: Oxbow.
- Berggren, Åsa 2006. Archaeology and Sacrifice. A Discussion of Interpretations. In: A. Andrén & K. Jennbert & C. Raudvere (eds.) Old Norse Religion in Long-Term Perspectives: Origins, Changes, and Interactions. An International Conference in Lund, Sweden, June 3–7, 2004. Vägar till Midgård, Vol. 8. Lund: Nordic Academic Press, pp. 303–307.
- Berggren, Åsa 2010. Med kärret som källa. Om begreppen offer och ritual inom arkeologin. [Fens as Sources. On the Concepts of Sacrifice and Ritual in Archaeology.] Lund: Nordic Academic Press.
- Betz, Hans Dieter (ed.) 2007. Religion Past & Present: Encyclopedia of Theology and Religion. 4th edition. Leiden: Brill.
- Bliujienė, Audronė 2010. The Bog Offerings of the Balts: 'I Give in Order to Get Back'. *Archaeologia Baltica*, Vol. 14, pp. 136–165. Available at http://www.ku.lt/leidykla/ files/2012/09/Archaeologia_BALTICA_14.pdf, last accessed on November 26, 2013.
- Borgeaud, Philippe 2012. Sacrifice. I. Religious studies. In: H.D. Betz & D.S. Browning & B. Janowski & E. Jüngel (eds.) Religion Past & Present: Encyclopedia of Theology and Religion. Vol. 11. Leiden: Brill, pp. 380–381.

- Bourdillon, Michael F.C. 1980. Introduction. In: M.F.C. Bourdillon & M. Fortes (eds.) Sacrifice. London: Academic Press for the Royal Anthropological Institute of Great Britain and Ireland, pp. 1–27.
- Bourdillon, Michael F.C. & Fortes, Meyer (eds.) 1980. Sacrifice. London: Academic Press for the Royal Anthropological Institute of Great Britain and Ireland.
- Carlie, Anne 1998. Käringsjön. A Fertility Sacrificial Site from the Late Roman Iron Age in South-West Sweden. *Current Swedish Archaeology*, Vol. 6, pp.17–37. Available at http://www.arkeologiskasamfundet.se/csa/Dokument/Volumes/csa_vol_6_1998/ csa_vol_6_1998_s17-37_carlie.pdf, last accessed on October 15, 2013.
- Carmichael, David L. & Hubert, Jane & Reeves, Brian & Schanche, Audhild (eds.) 1994. Sacred Sites, Sacred Places. London: Routledge.
- Carter, Jeffrey 2003. General Introduction. In: J. Carter (ed.) Understanding Religious Sacrifice: A Reader. Controversies in the study of religion. London & New York: Continuum, pp. 1–11.
- Čivilytė, Agnė 2009. Wahl der Waffen Studien zur Deutung der bronzezeitlichen Waffendeponierungen im nördlichen Mitteleuropa. Universitätsforschungen zur prähistorischen Archäologie, Vol. 167. Bonn: R. Habelt.
- Davenport William H. 1986. Two Kinds of Value in the Eastern Solomon Islands. In:
 A. Appadurai (ed.) The Social Life of Things: Commodities in Cultural Perspective. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, pp. 95–109.
- EE 2012 = *Eesti etümoloogiasõnaraamat.* [The Dictionary of Estonian Etymology.] Iris Metsmägi & Meeli Sedrik & Sven-Erik Soosaar (comps. & eds.), Iris Metsmägi (ed. in chief). Tallinn: Eesti Keele Sihtasutus.
- $Eliade, Mircea \, (ed. \, in \, chief) \, 1987. \, The \, Encyclopedia \, of \, Religion. \, New \, York: \, Macmillan.$
- Fabech, Charlotte 1991. Booty Sacrifices in Southern Scandinavia. A Reassessment. In:
 P. Garwood & D. Jennings & R. Skeates & J. Toms (eds.) Sacred and Profane: Proceedings of a Conference on Archaeology, Ritual and Religion: Oxford 1989.
 Monograph (Oxford University Committee for Archaeology); Vol. 32. Oxford: Oxford University Committee for Archaeology, pp. 88–99.
- Firth, Raymond 1963. Offering and Sacrifice: Problems of Organization. The Journal of the Royal Anthropological Institute of Great Britain and Ireland, Vol. 93, No. 1, pp. 12–24, http://dx.doi.org/10.2307/2844331.
- Garrow, Duncan 2012. Odd Deposits and Average Practice. A Critical History of the Concept of Structured Deposition. Archaeological Dialogues, Vol. 19, No. 2, pp. 85–115, http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/S1380203812000141.
- Garwood, Paul & Jennings, David & Skeates, Robin & Toms, Judith (eds.) 1991. Sacred and Profane: Proceedings of a Conference on Archaeology, Ritual and Religion: Oxford 1989. Monograph (Oxford University Committee for Archaeology);
 Vol. 32. Oxford: Oxford University Committee for Archaeology.
- Girard, René 2011. Sacrifice. East Lansing: Michigan State University Press.
- Hagberg, Ulf Erik 1964. Järnålderns offerfynd ur svenskt perspektiv. [Iron Age Offerings from Swedish Perspective.] *Tor*, Vol. 10, pp. 222–239.
- Hansen, Jesper 2006. Offertradition og religion i ældre jernalder i Sydskandinavien: med særlig henblik på bebyggelsesofringer. [Offering Tradition and Religion in the Early Iron Age Southern Scandinavia: With a Special Emphasis on Building Offerings.] Kuml: Årbog for Jysk Arkæologisk Selskab, pp. 117–175.

- Harck, Ole 1984. Gefäßopfer der Eisenzeit im nördlichen Mitteleuropa. Frühmittelalterliche Studien, Vol. 18, pp. 102–121.
- Harris, Marvin 1976. History and Significance of the EMIC/ETIC Distinction. Annual Review of Anthropology, Vol. 5, No. 1, pp. 329–350, http://dx.doi.org/10.1146/ annurev.an.05.100176.001553.
- Haselgrove, Colin 1982. Wealth, Prestige and Power: The Dynamics of Late Iron Age Political Centralisation in South-East England. In: C. Renfrew & S. Shennan (eds.) Ranking, Resource and Exchange: Aspects of the Archaeology of Early European Society. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, pp. 79–88.
- Hays-Gilpin, Kelley & Whitley, David S. (eds.) 2008. *Belief in the Past: Theoretical Approaches to the Archaeology of Religion*. Walnut Creek, CA.: Left Coast Press.
- HCL 1982 = Henriku Liivimaa kroonika = Heinrici chronicon Livoniae. Transl. by R. Kleis. Tallinn: Eesti Raamat.
- Hedeager, Lotte 1992. Iron-Age Societies: From Tribe to State in Northern Europe, 500 BC to AD 700. Oxford: Blackwell.
- Helgesson, Bertil 2004. Tributes to be Spoken of: Sacrifice and Warriors at Uppåkra. In:
 L. Larsson (ed.) Continuity for Centuries. A Ceremonial Building and its Context at Uppåkra, Southern Sweden. Uppåkrastudier, Vol. 10. Acta archaeologica Lundensia. Series In 8°, Vol. 48. Lund: Almqvist & Wiksell, pp. 223–239. Available at http://safranek.tmit.bme.hu/eszter/regeszet/letoltesek/cikk%20-%20 helgesson%202004%20uppakra,%20fegyver%C3%A1ldozat.pdf, last accessed on Novemebr 26, 2013.
- Henninger, Joseph 1987. Sacrifice. In: M. Eliade (ed. in chief) The Encyclopedia of Religion, Vol. 12. New York: Macmillan, pp. 554–557.
- Hicks, David 2001. Sacrifice. In: N.J. Smelser & P.B. Baltes (eds. in chief) International Encyclopedia of the Social & Behavioral Sciences, pp. 13439–13441. Available at http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/B0080430767009505, last accessed on October 15, 2013.
- Hiiemäe, Mall (ed.) 2011. *Pühad kivid Eestimaal*. [Holy Stones in Estonia.] Tallinn: Tammerraamat.
- Hoskins, Janet 2006. Agency, Biography and Objects. In: C.Y. Tilley & W. Keane & S. Küchler & M. Rowlands & P. Spyer (eds.) Handbook of Material Culture. London: SAGE, pp. 74–84, http://dx.doi.org/10.4135/9781848607972.n6.
- Hubert, Henri, & Mauss, Marcel 1964. Sacrifice: Its Nature and Function. London: Cohen & West.
- Humphrey, Caroline & Laidlaw, James 1994. The Archetypal Actions of Ritual: A Theory of Ritual Illustrated by the Jain Rite of Worship. Oxford: Clarendon Press.
- Ilkjær, Jørgen 2000. *Illerup Ådal: Archaeology as a Magic Mirror*. Højbjerg: Moesgård Museum.
- Ilkjær, Jørgen 2002. Den bevidste ødelæggelse i krigsbytteofringerne. [The Deliberate Destruction of War Booty Sacrifices.] In: K. Jennbert & A. Andrén & C. Raudvere (eds.) *Plats och praxis: studier av nordisk förkristen ritual*. Vägar till Midgård, Vol. 2. Lund: Nordic Academic Press, pp. 203–214.
- Ilkjær, Jørgen 2003. Danish War Booty Sacrifices. In: L. Jørgensen & B. Storgaard & L. Gebauer Thomsen (eds.) The Spoils of Victory: The North in the Shadow of the Roman Empire. Copenhagen: Nationalmuseet, pp. 44–65.

- Insoll, Timothy (ed.) 2004a. Belief in the Past: The Proceedings of the 2002 Manchester Conference on Archaeology and Religion. BAR 1212. Oxford: Archaeopress.
- Insoll, Timothy 2004b. Archaeology, Ritual, Religion. New York: Routledge.
- Insoll, Timothy (ed.) 2011a. The Oxford Handbook of the Archaeology of Ritual and Religion. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Insoll, Timothy 2011b. Sacrifice. In: T. Insoll (ed.) Oxford Handbook of the Archaeology of Ritual and Religion. Oxford & New York: Oxford University Press, pp. 151–165, http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/oxfordhb/9780199232444.013.0012.
- Johanson, Kristiina 2006. The Contribution of Stray Finds for Studying Everyday Practices: The Example of Stone Axes. *Estonian Journal of Archaeology*, Vol. 10, No. 2, pp. 99–131. Available at http://www.kirj.ee/public/va-arh/arch-2006-2-1. pdf, last accessed on October 25, 2013.
- Johanson, Kristiina 2009. The Changing Meaning of 'Thunderbolts'. Folklore: Electronic Journal of Folklore, Vol. 42, pp. 129–174. Available at http://www.folklore.ee/ folklore/vol42/johanson.pdf, last accessed on October 15, 2013.
- Jonuks, Tõnno 2007. Holy Groves in Estonian Religion. *Estonian Journal of Archaeology*, Vol. 11, No. 1, pp. 3–35. Available at http://www.kirj.ee/public/Archaeology/2007/ issue_1/arch-2007-1-1.pdf, last accessed on October 15, 2013.
- Jonuks, Tõnno 2009a. *Eesti muinasusund*. [Estonian Prehistoric Religion.] Dissertationes Archaeologiae Universitatis Tartuensis, Vol. 2. Tartu: Tartu Ülikooli Kirjastus. Available at http://dspace.utlib.ee/dspace/bitstream/handle/10062/9494/ Jonukst%C3%B5nno.pdf?sequence=1, last accessed on November 26, 2013.
- Jonuks, Tõnno 2009b. *Hiis* Sites in the Research History of Estonian Sacred Places. *Folklore: Electronic Journal of Folklore*, Vol. 42, pp. 23–44. Available at http:// www.folklore.ee/folklore/vol42/jonuks.pdf, last accessed on October 15, 2013.
- Jordan, Peter 2003. Material Culture and Sacred Landscape: The Anthropology of the Siberian Khanty. Walnut Creek, CA: AltaMira Press.
- Jørgensen, Lars & Storgaard, Birger & Thomsen, Lone Gebauer (eds.) 2003. The Spoils of Victory: The North in the Shadow of the Roman Empire. Copenhagen: Nationalmuseet.
- Knappett, Carl 2005. Thinking Through Material Culture: An Interdisciplinary Perspective. Philadelphia, PA: University of Pennsylvania Press.
- Knappett, Carl & Malafouris, Lambros (eds.) 2008. Material Agency: Towards a Non-Anthropocentric Approach. New York: Springer.
- Kopytoff, Igor 1986. The Cultural Biography of Things: Commoditization as Process. In:
 A. Appadurai (ed.) The Social Life of Things: Commodities in Cultural Perspective. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, pp. 64–91.
- Kyriakidis, Evangelos (ed.) 2007. *The Archaeology of Ritual*. Los Angeles, CA.: Cotsen Institute of Archaeology.
- Lesure, Richard 1999. On the Genesis of Value in Early Hierarchical Societies. In: J.E. Robb (ed.) *Material Symbols: Culture and Economy in Prehistory*. Occasional paper (Southern Illinois University at Carbondale. Center for Archaeological Investigations), Vol. 26. Carbondale: Center for Archaeological Investigations, Southern Illinois University, pp. 23–55.
- Levy, Janet E. 1982. Social and Religious Organization in Bronze Age Denmark: An Analysis of Ritual Hoard Finds. BAR International Series, Vol. 124. Oxford: B.A.R.

- Lillios, Katina T. 1999. Objects of Memory: The Ethnography and Archaeology of Heirlooms. Journal of Archaeological Method and Theory, Vol. 6, No. 3, pp. 235–262.
- Loorits, Oskar 1990. *Eesti rahvausundi maailmavaade*. [Worldview in Estonian Folk Religion.] Tallinn: Perioodika.
- Mauss, Marcel 2002. The Gift: The Form and Reason for Exchange in Archaic Societies. London: Routledge.
- Metcalf, Peter 1997. Sacrifice. In: T. Barfield (ed.) *The Dictionary of Anthropology*. Oxford & Cambridge, Mass.: Blackwell, pp. 416–417.
- Miller, Daniel 2001. Alienable Gifts and Inalienable Commodities. In: F.R. Myers (ed.) *The Empire of Things: Regimes of Value and Material Culture*. School of American Research Advanced Seminar Series. Santa Fe: School of American Research Press, pp. 91–115.
- Myers, Fred R. 2001. Introduction: The Empire of Things. In: F.R. Myers (ed.) *The Empire* of *Things: Regimes of Value and Material Culture*. School of American Research Advanced Seminar Series. Santa Fe: School of American Research Press, pp. 3–61.
- Nørgård Jørgensen, Anne 2008. The Porskjær Weapon Sacrifice: Introduction and Preliminary Results. In: A. Abegg-Wigg & A. Rau (eds.) Aktuelle Forschungen zu Kriegsbeuteopfern und Fürstengräbern im Barbaricum: Internationales Kolloquium, unterstützt durch Carlsbergfondet, Schleswig, 15.–18. Juni 2006. Schriften des Archäologischen Landesmuseums. Ergänzungsreihe, Vol. 4. Neumünster: Wachholtz, pp. 193–207.
- Oras, Ester 2010. Ritual Wealth Deposits in Estonian Middle Iron Age Material. *Estonian Journal of Archaeology*, Vol. 14, No. 2, pp. 123–142, http://dx.doi.org/10.3176/arch.2010.2.02.
- Oras, Ester 2012. Importance of Terms: What is a Wealth Deposit? *Papers from the Institute of Archaeology*, Vol. 22, pp. 61–82, http://dx.doi.org/10.5334/pia.403.
- Osborne, Robin 2004. Hoards, Votives, Offerings: The Archaeology of the Dedicated Object. World Archaeology, Vol. 36, No. 1, pp. 1–10, http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/00 43824042000192696.
- Oxtoby, Willard G. 1987. Holy, Idea of the. In: M. Eliade (ed. in chief) *The Encyclopedia* of *Religion*. Vol. 6. New York: Macmillan, pp. 431–438.
- Paulson, Ivar 1997. Vana eesti rahvausk: Usundiloolisi esseid. [Old Estonian Folk Religion.] Tartu: Ilmamaa.
- Randsborg, Klavs 1973. Wealth and Social Structure as Reflected in the Bronze Age Burials: A Quantitative Approach. In: C. Renfrew (ed.) The Explanation of Culture Change: Models in Prehistory. Proceedings of a Meeting of the Research Seminar in Archaeology and Related Subjects Held at the University of Sheffield. London: Duckworth, pp. 565–570.
- Randsborg, Klavs 1995. *Hjortspring: Warfare and Sacrifice in Early Europe*. Aarhus: Aarhus University Press.
- Renfrew, Colin 1985. The Archaeology of Cult: The Sanctuary at Phylakopi (with contributions by P.A. Mountjoy... [et al.] and with the assistance of Callum Macfarlane... [et al.]). London: British School of Archaeology at Athens.
- Renfrew, Colin 1986. Varna and the Emergence of Wealth in Prehistoric Europe. In:
 A. Appadurai (ed.) The Social Life of Things: Commodities in Cultural Perspective. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, pp. 141–168.

- Renfrew, Colin 1994. The Archaeology of Religion. In: C. Renfrew & E.B.W. Zubrow (eds.) The Ancient Mind: Elements of Cognitive Archaeology. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, pp. 47–54, http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511598388.007.
- Rowan, Yorke M. (ed.) 2011. Archaeological Papers of the American Anthropological Association. Special Issue: Beyond Belief: The Archaeology of Religion and Ritual. American Anthropological Association.
- Salmi, Anna-Kaisa & Äikäs, Tiina & Lipkin, Sanna 2011. Animating Rituals at Sámi Sacred Sites in Northern Finland. *Journal of Social Archaeology*, Vol. 11, No. 2, pp. 212–235, http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/1469605311403962.
- Stjernquist, Berta 1997. The Röekillorna Spring. Spring-Cults in Scandinavian Prehistory. Stockholm: Almqvist & Wiksell International.
- Tamm, Marek & Jonuks, Tõnno forthcoming. Religious Practices of the Native Population of Livonia in the Medieval Written Sources (11th–15th Centuries). In: M. Kõiva (ed.) Mythologia Uralica. Esthonica. Helsinki: Suomalaisen Kirjallisuuden Seura.
- The Concise Oxford Dictionary of Archaeology 2008. Edited by Timothy Darvill. Oxford: Oxford University Press. Oxford Reference Online, available at http://www. oxfordreference.com/views/ENTRY.html?subview=Main&entry=t102.e3642, last accessed on October 16, 2013.
- The Concise Oxford Dictionary of World Religions 2000. Edited by John Bowker. Oxford: Oxford University Press. Oxford Reference Online, available at http://www. oxfordreference.com/views/ENTRY.html?subview=Main&entry=t101.e6210, last accessed on October 16, 2013.
- The Oxford English Dictionary Online. Available at http://www.oed.com, last accessed on October 16, 2013.
- Thomas, Nicholas 1991. Entangled Objects: Exchange, Material Culture, and Colonialism in the Pacific. Cambridge, Mass.: Harvard University Press.
- Turner, Victor 1977. Sacrifice as Quintessential Process: Prophylaxis or Abandonment? *History of Religions*, Vol. 16, No. 3, pp. 189–215, http://dx.doi.org/10.1086/462765.
- Valk, Heiki 2004. Christian and Non-Christian Holy Sites in Medieval Estonia: A Reflection of Ecclesiastical Attitudes towards Popular Religion. In: J. Staecker (ed.) *The European Frontier. Clashes and Compromises in the Middle Ages.* Lund: Almqvist & Wiksell International, pp. 299–310.
- Valk, Heiki (ed.) 2007. Looduslikud pühapaigad: Väärtused ja kaitse. [Holy Natural Places. Values and Protection.] Õpetatud Eesti Seltsi Toimetised, No. 36. Tartu: Õpetatud Eesti Selts. Available at http://maavald.ee/hiis/raamat2007/ hiiekogumik.pdf, last accessed on November 26, 2013..
- Vallikivi, Laur 2004. Arktika nomaadid šamanismi ja kristluse vahel: Jamb-to neenetsite pöördumine baptismi. [Arctic Nomads between Shamanism and Christianity: Conversion of Jamb-to Nenets to Baptism.] Master's thesis. Tartu: Tartu Ülikool.
- Weiner, Annette B. 1992. *Inalienable Possessions: The Paradox of Keeping-While-Giving*. Berkeley & Los Angeles, CA.: University of California Press.
- Wessman, Anna 2009. Levänluhta A Place of Punishment, Sacrifice or Just a Common Cemetery? *Fennoscandia Archaeologica*, Vol. 26, pp. 81–105. Available at http:// www.sarks.fi/fa/PDF/FA26_81.pdf, last accessed on October 16, 2013.

MATERIALITY OF RELIGION: RELIGION-RELATED ARTEFACTS IN ESTONIAN ARCHAEOLOGICAL COLLECTIONS

Tõnno Jonuks, Ester Oras, Kristiina Johanson

Abstract: In the following, an overview will be given about the progress of a three-year project, the purpose of which was to map and study religion-related objects in Estonian archaeology collections and to discuss the terminology for the archaeology of religion. As a result, a database has been created, consisting of descriptions of over 2000 objects across Estonia, which can be related, one way or another, with religion. An additional outcome of the project is a glossary of the main religion-related terms, which aims at encouraging scholars to define or describe the definitions that are employed in their studies, and especially at helping them to distinguish between different terms utilised.

Keywords: archaeology of religion, material culture, terminology

INTRODUCTION

Archaeologists' interest towards religion has a long-term history. The relevance of the topic and approaches to these issues have changed over time and developed in accordance with the main theoretical schools, evolution of methods and general interests of archaeologists. Often enough, the material is approached through site-specific or narrower material cultural corpus. More abstract questions about the concept of religious materiality and the focus on terminology are the results of more recent scholarly work. However, these questions have gained very little attention in Estonian archaeology. This situation initiated the project Materiality of Religion: Religious Artefacts in Estonian Archaeological Collections (ETF 8956), which was kindly agreed to be funded by the Estonian Science Foundation. Our aim was to map religion-related objects and discuss the relevant terminology based on Estonian archaeological material. These two fields have been studied to a lesser extent in Estonia; yet, in the near future, they might form some of the most crucial research problems in the archaeology of religion. In the following, we will provide a brief overview of the general development of the archaeology of religion and its main traditions in Estonian scholarship, and the main results of our research project with a special focus

http://www.folklore.ee/folklore/vol55/artefacts.pdf

on terminology and evidence of religious materialities in Estonian archaeological collections.

ARCHAEOLOGY OF RELIGION: A BRIEF OVERVIEW

Archaeologists have always been interested in religion. Although approaches have changed since the very first excavations in the Near East during the 19th century, it has often been one of the key issues. Scholars studying past religions have witnessed various traditions of handling their material. In the very beginning, archaeology had mainly a technical role, offering new sources and finds that were interpreted within mythological frameworks. Interestingly enough, such an enthusiastic tradition, in which finds were fitted into mythological narratives, was influential not only in the Near East and Mediterranean countries, but literally everywhere in Europe. In Eastern Europe, where a rich written material about mythology was not present, folklore was raised to that importance (e.g. Gimbutas 1974) and thus archaeological finds were interpreted on the basis of narratives from considerably later oral tradition.

This optimistic approach got an offensive reaction from the New Archaeology (Hawkes 1954) and for decades religion was not considered to be a proper and serious subject for archaeologists. Nevertheless, as it had been recognised widely, religion played a crucial part in the lives of past people and thus religion as a subject still emerged from time to time. In those cases rather the old traditions were followed, in which the narrative (be it a mythological text or a folk story) formed the general frame. It all changed in the late 1980s, during the period of post-processual archaeology (e.g. Garwood et al. 1991; Renfrew 1994 as the first milestones), when the interpretations made by archaeologists themselves started to be highlighted. This created a new framework, which was more independent of written or spoken narratives and relied on archaeological data. It took almost a decade until a real explosion in the field happened in the 2000s. Since then multiple studies have been published and a new concept – the archaeology of religion - has emerged. Multiple conferences have been held (e.g. Garwood et al. 1991; Andrén et al. 2006), studies have been published (e.g. Insoll 2001, 2004a; Kyriakidis 2007; Fogelin 2008), first textbooks have been written (Insoll 2004a; Wesler 2012) and a massive handbook concluding the present theories and approaches has been compiled (Insoll 2011b).

RELIGION AND MATERIAL CULTURE

Even though the leading theorists have not often regarded religion as an appropriate academic field of archaeology, there have always been attempts to interpret past beliefs. One of the reasons behind these attempts has included finds (figurines, pendants, artefacts with mystical and unknown inscriptions, etc.) that, by common knowledge, are associated with religion. A clear trend can be followed, in which mainly the attractive figurines, human sculptures in particular, have dominated in archaeological interpretations, while more common and thus tedious finds have remained somewhere in the background. A well-known example of the tendency to prefer attractive finds in interpretations is the treatment of the Scandinavian Bronze Age religion, which probably brings the Trundholm sun-chariot before the eyes of most readers. Despite a few analogies with rock-carvings or razors, in which the sun and horse appear together, it is a unique find, which still largely shapes our approach to the religion of the entire period.

The desire for the attractive and exotic finds, something 'different', can be followed already from the very early studies of religion and the critique of this approach is nearly as old. It can be observed in several cases. The study of sacred kingship would be the best known example of how an exotic concept of a social system has attracted scholarly interest and how its critique has emerged (Rowlands 2004 and references therein). The concept of associating appealing, yet also odd finds with religion can possibly be considered as universal, which is best expressed in the well-known joke about archaeologists having trouble with interpreting objects – if nothing else comes to mind, it must be religious, cultic or ritual.

Besides the problematic utilisation of actual archaeological finds, the term 'materiality' itself has also been interpreted vaguely. Various phenomena have been labelled with it, from archaeological finds to monuments and sites and even to the landscape itself (e.g. Droogan 2012). Preference of landscape indicates the emergence of a more general trend in studying religions and in many regions or periods landscape is the main source. The aforementioned 'attractiveness' has a certain role here because scholars tend to choose more charismatic and thus seemingly more informative examples as their source material. Two extreme examples can be provided in this connection. First, we could think about the richness of Neolithic figurines in south-eastern Europe, where most of the studies about religion are based on sculptures (e.g. Gimbutas 1974; Biehl 1996; Chapman 2000). On the contrary, we rarely find studies based on finds from the British Isles; the research of prehistoric religion there is based mainly on monuments and landscape analyses (e.g. Bradley 1998; Edmonds 1999; Pollard

2009). Such a choice of sources emphasises or overemphasises some sides of past religions and leaves others unstudied.

The past few years have witnessed a rising interest towards the materiality of religion by archaeologists but even more by the anthropologists of religion (e.g. Fogelin 2008; Insoll 2009; Morgan 2010; Engelke 2011). Along with the discussions about the agency, the studies of material culture have acquired a new perspective and since then religious and symbolic meanings have often been debated. Still, following the aforementioned attractiveness, archaeologists have often chosen figurines as an example of the materiality of religion (e.g. Meskell 2004). Besides figurines, another clear topic is the tendency to set an emphasis on power systems. It is common for many periods and regions to talk about the religiosity of the nobility, chiefs, etc., and attempts to focus on common people are rather recent (see, e.g., Hansen 2006; Hukantaival 2007). This partly seems to be a matter of choice for scholars, while at the same time the religiosity of the nobility is better represented and objects connected with them seem to be more explicit.

Another topic, closely related to the aforesaid – the question of termino-logy – has emerged as well. How to label religion-related artefacts and what sort of terms should we use at all while discussing past religions? In studies so far it is common that different terms have been used, while too often inconsistencies manifest themselves. If we look at the most widely applied terms, such as 'animism', 'magical', 'ritual', etc., we can see that they are used in such a wide array of contexts that the words are already losing their content. Scholars have often avoided defining or interpreting the terms themselves and usually some wide and universal definition is used. Such a practice has resulted in the misuse of terms and thus the same phenomenon can appear in very different contexts. As for one solution, each author should define or describe how they understand the concepts they use, which is partly necessary for the readers to understand why the terms have been chosen, and partly also for the authors themselves to realise what each term actually *means* and thus to avoid empty labels, the meaning of which remains obscure (cf. also Insoll 2004a; Kaliff 2005).

ARCHAEOLOGY OF RELIGION IN ESTONIA

While the previous sections were striving towards the generalisation of a wider context, the situation with studying past religions in Estonia is slightly different. Due to various historical reasons religion was never a systematic field of study for archaeologists until the 21st century. The very first archaeologists from the 19th century focused mainly on stone graves as the richest monuments in Estonia. For the archaeologists from the beginning of the 20th century it was more important to study 'the history of Estonians' and thus hillforts and Stone Age sites were added to the previous selection. As at the same time folklorists offered their own narrative view about the past religions, archaeologists were satisfied with that and thus there was no need for the archaeological approach. During the second part of the 20th century, within the frame of scientific atheism, religion did not become a special field of interest and only single publications touched upon this field (e.g. Jaanits 1961; Tamla 1985). As a by-product, religion was used for interpretation in several contexts (e.g. numerous small-scale studies by Vello Lõugas), but especially in interpreting graves and cemeteries (e.g. Valk 1994; 2001 [1999]). Following the more general trends in Western and Northern Europe, the landscape has attracted the interest of archaeologists since the 1990s, when religion first appeared as a specific field in Estonian archaeology (Lang 1999; Vedru 2011; Jonuks 2007).

In a broader picture archaeological finds, either more or less related to religion, were used in single publications only. In those cases a careful selection of artefacts, such as cross pendants and tooth pendants in particular, served as illustrations for a general frame created by other disciplines, e.g. folkloristics or ethnology. Still it must be noted that, despite a few examples, neither folklorists nor ethnologists have had any systematic interest in artefacts. For example, in the course of folkloristic fieldwork on the Island of Saaremaa in the 1970s, local people offered to the students stone axes, which they called thunderbolts, but the latter were not interested (Mare Kõiva, pers. comm.). The approach has changed during the past few years and artefacts associated with religion have been more involved in discussions (e.g. Jets 2001; Johanson 2009; Oras 2010; Jonuks et al. 2010; Jonuks 2013).

This traditional situation, in which artefacts have rarely been used in the interpretations about religion, has created an extensive corpus of sources for past religions that has not been studied, and despite a few attractive examples (like figurines from Neolithic hunter-gatherer sites) has been left in storages. It was namely the lack of knowledge about the finds that have been scattered in different archaeological collections all around Estonia that created the necessity for a more systematic study.

THE DATABASE

The first purpose of the project was to study archaeological collections, map finds and create a database of artefacts that could be associated with religion. The first and most crucial question was of course: What is related to religion? How can we find, verify and define religion-related objects? It is widely known that in certain circumstances and depending on the context everything can be connected to religion, but that was not a solution suitable for us. Thus a clear danger existed to either tumble into the same trap described above and focus on attractive or odd finds only, or fall into the other extreme and regard everything as potentially religion-related, thus stating nothing really. Some colleagues have even asked: Are those the beautiful things? – referring to the same concept of attractive items that have mostly been favoured in interpreting religion. As pointed out above, the usage of 'beautiful' things could afford us a one-sided picture based on exceptional artefacts; it was decided to have a broader view and involve the 'boring' finds to a greater extent. The latter gives us an opportunity to study and see a more conventional religious behaviour than single attractive finds permit. The mission was motivated by the fact that Estonian archaeological material is rather poor in really attractive finds. In general, Estonian archaeological collections are smaller than their counterparts in Western Europe, which made the grandiose aim – to go through all archaeologicol got collections – possible in the first place.

But still, the question remains: How to recognise religion-related objects? First of all, the preference of the term 'religion-related objects' over 'sacred objects' needs to be explained. The latter has been favoured in analogous museological studies, in which the term has been directly associated with official religions (e.g. Brooks 2012). 'Religion-related' objects include artefacts that are more loosely connected with religion, like pieces of lime, melted together with human bones and teeth, but also grave goods from a funeral pyre. These could help to better understand the cremation process, as well as ritual activity and, in the end, also the wider religious background.



Figure 1. Melted lime from Türsamäe stone grave together with pieces of human bones and a bronze ornament (AI 2012 I 34). Photo by Tõnno Jonuks 2013.



Figure 2. A selection of artefacts, the form of which is associated with religion, mythology and / or ritual: a) a cross pendant and a pendant of sheathed knife made of antler (AI 3578: 1766); b) a double-headed horse (AI 4008: 324); c) a sword bent in spiral form (AM A 580: 2020) and d) a dog or a horse figurine (AM A 554: 777). Photos by Tõnno Jonuks 2013.

Two main criteria were chosen for the selection: the form and the context. According to the former, the shape of the object was derived from religious ideas. As a classical example, a pendant or a figurine can be mentioned here, the form of which directly originates from beliefs, mythology, cult, etc. Other objects, like deliberately broken or damaged grave goods, were classified according to this as well, and here again the modified shape of the object, like a sword turned into a spiral, was decisive. The category of form also included symbols that had been used for the decoration of jewellery. Although most of the symbolism seems to be too uniform and universal to carry any specific (religious) meaning, some symbols (the cross and its derivatives in particular) seem to carry a purposeful belief. At the same time several objects, which may have had a symbolical role, like axes, swords, etc., were excluded. In the studies of the Bronze Age Scandinavia the symbolic objects (swords, razors) play a crucial role (see Kristiansen & Larsson 2005; Kaul 1998); however, it has not been possible to follow this in Estonia.

Another criterion – the context – is even more conditional. There are only single cases known from the entire prehistory of Estonia, in which deposits have been interpreted as sacrificed (see Oras 2010), and are thus included in a clear religious context. Rare examples are known in which finds have been gathered from particular holy places known from folk religion, like the surroundings of sacred stones or trees (Jonuks 2011). Based on context, several objects were recorded that did not (chronologically) 'fit' into their finding context; one of the reasons for that may have been the association of the finds with religion or magic. A classic example is the Stone Age axes and arrowheads from the Late Iron Age and medieval contexts (Johanson 2009). Most of the objects that were classified as 'religious' according to the context do not have any special external features and it was the context, or the place, that made those particular objects different and special. As an example, nails that were found from the trunk of the Ulendi offering linden (AI 2679) may be mentioned. According to oral tradition, nails were hammered into the trunk to hold ribbons that were carrying gleet from tumours, and so the tree was functioning as a scapegoat. Without oral tradition those nails would have nothing to do with religion. Oral tradition also initiated the recording of several magical or healing objects. These are usually the most ordinary artefacts – coins, fossils, stone axes, strike-a-lights, etc. It is only the oral tradition, mostly recorded at the beginning of the 20th century, which says that these were really used for magical or healing purposes.

The latter will raise another complex of questions concerned with the sources of the past religions. Differently from the rest of Europe, Estonia and Eastern Baltic in general have an influential tradition of using oral tradition from the 19th and 20th centuries for interpreting religion from the distant past (e.g. Kulmar 1992). Due to several historical processes, oral tradition gained its importance already in the 19th century and as archaeologists did not participate actively in the discussions about religion, the importance of folk tales became essential. As traditional written sources from the Baltic region, like medieval chronicles,



Figure 3. A selection of finds, the religious meaning of which derives from the find context: a) iron nails (AI 2679, photo by Tuuli Kurisoo 2013) found from the tree trunk of Ülendi sacred tree, and b) a flint arrowhead found from the Early Modern context from Tartu (TM A 50: 449, photo by Arvi Haak 2010).

contribute little, if anything at all, to the understanding of past religions, then folk tradition along with the ethnographic analogies of the Finno-Ugric tribes in Russia formed the main background, within which the meaning was given to archaeological finds. As such analogies came from different temporal and cultural contexts, it was only natural that many archaeological objects that did not fit with examples from living cultures, were overlooked.

It is clear without saying that there are no objective criteria to suggest that some things are more religious than others. So it must be remembered that the artefacts recorded during the project were selected by the team and decisions were made according to our knowledge and backgrounds. Still, the choice was made on the broadest possible level, keeping in mind that the collection of data should be competent and suitable also for the future studies. Due to this, also exotic objects (e.g. rock crystal) or artefacts of unknown purpose (e.g. ceramic *things*) were included.



Figure 4. a) A piece of a rock crystal (AI 3960: 41) from Tamula Neolithic fisher-hunter settlement and cemetery site and b) a ceramic 'object' of unknown purpose (AI 4510). Photos by Tõnno Jonuks 2013.

TERMINOLOGY

Besides the mapping of religion-related artefacts and creating of a relevant database, another major aim of the research grant was to elaborate on the terms that archaeologists use in their research on past religions. We created a short glossary of most relevant and frequently used terms in the context of northern Europe, especially Baltic archaeology, including words like: cosmology/ cosmogony, cult, magic, myth, sacrifice and/or offering, sacred/holy/numinous, religion, ritual, totem, votive. This list is by no means exhaustive, but reflects the main interests and problems that we tackle in our own research on the archaeology of religion. The following terminology discussion is certainly not a detailed overview of all the problems and solutions within the archaeology of religion. It rather aims to exemplify some of the issues that become evident when focusing on the questions of terminology and choice of words used in this field of study. In order to gain a broader perspective on terminology-related discussions, a conference session Archaeology of Religion: Thinking about Terminology was also organised at the 34th Annual Conference of the Theoretical Archaeology Group meeting in Liverpool in December 2012, as part of the research grant.

The classical starting point for the studies of religion, be it present or past, is the question of definition. Naturally in the context of our grant project, we should offer a definition to 'religion'. As follows from the above explanations for religious artefacts, the task is definitely not easy and can even be considered a dead end. So, instead of stating in the manner of Harvey Whitehouse (2004: 230), "religion is whatever we agree to say it is", we could try to understand religion in the framework of and through the opposition to other terms, which have been used in seemingly similar contexts. The first item to look into would be the distinction between religion and ritual. Such discussions have a long-term history in anthropology and religious studies. While the earlier scholars tried to provide universal definitions of these terms (cf., e.g., classical works by Tylor 1929 [1871]; Durkheim 2002 [1915]; Firth 1951; Geertz 2002 [1966]; Turner 1967), then later discussions debated about the usefulness and applicability of such endeavours (Asad 1983, 2002; Goody 1961; Lewis 1980). It is clear that neither religion nor ritual is easily defined and each attempt to provide universal explanations for those abstract concepts includes biases and hindrances. The implication of these discussions for archaeology is that religion as a very wide and abstract category is often left entirely undefined, and the concept of ritual(s) as more materiality-related and therefore visible to archaeologists is used instead (cf. Insoll 2004a; 2004b). The latter is most commonly inspired by the now classical works about the concept of ritualisation by Bell (1992; 1997). When talking about religion, plural forms, i.e., different religions

in the past and present, are used in order to emphasise the multifaceted nature of religious worldviews depending on spatial and temporal contexts (cf. articles and case studies in Insoll 2011b; for Estonian material see Jonuks 2005; 2009).

The main problem that haunts the use of the term 'ritual' is that, being indeed most wide and archaeologically best recognisable, it can be applied to almost everything. It often seems that 'ritual' has turned out to be an umbrellaword used whenever some religious, but also ideological and social events, are involved. The examples include a range of activities from feasting, witchcraft, votive deposits, and sacred natural objects to foundation deposits, waste pits, public show-off, etc. The discussion of non-religious rituals in anthropology (cf., e.g., Moore & Myerhoff 1977; Kertzer 1988; Connerton 1989) has certainly influenced these developments. Another debate that has unquestionably broadened the scope of the term 'ritual' in archaeology is the abandonment of strict and opposing profane vs. the sacred connotation of the term (e.g. Brück 1999; Bradley 2003, 2005; Insoll 2004b: 2-3). The strict division into sacred and profane, special and ordinary, is a by-product of the post-enlightenment worldview, from which the scholars find it hard to step out. As pointed out by several researchers, rituals can be practical and daily, rational and also differently interpreted and perceived by the practitioners themselves. Rituals can be ordinary, socially inspired, even daily activities just as much as they are sacred, religious and a special kind of practice.

The discussions that loosen our idea of ritual have certainly broadened our understanding of past societies and the widened scope of the concept of ritual. However, does that broadening of the concept also mean losing something from its essential quality and meaning? Even though we agree to the idea of the allencompassing nature of ritual, not every formalised, repeated, structured and prescribed act is necessarily a ritual. One can think of a family dinner and the following washing-up, personal morning routines or daily factory work. As stated by Bell (1992; 1997) and Humphrey & Laidlaw (1994), there must be a special quality involved, because this special inner quality turns an act into a ritual. Indeed, every act can be ritualised and in this sense all the daily might become a ritual, if a special inner qualitative change is thought to happen. However, it is exactly this qualitative change that pulls the act away from the ordinary, gives it a special meaning, becomes ritualised and turns it into a ritual. The qualitative change involves the creation of a relationship with the supernatural and it has its symbolic connotations that can be applied to the act either physically or mentally. The methodological issues, such as how archaeologists can grasp those materially and mentally applied qualitative meanings, are a topic of another larger debate. What is important here is to note that even though ritual is a much wider concept than just religion in practice, it still has an essential connection with religion and the supernatural. Perhaps this is also the reason why some scholars have turned their eyes back to the importance of religion when defining ritual (e.g. Garwood et al. 1991: vii; Fogelin 2007; Verhoeven 2011).

Ritual as a broad umbrella-term includes also several other terminologyrelated confusions when it comes to its subtypes and -divisions. The words that are most difficult to define and distinguish from each other, but which are commonly used in seemingly similar interpretations, are 'ritual', 'magic', 'cult', 'sacrifice' and 'offering' (with the addition of 'votive'). More than anything else, the use of those terms seems to be a matter of local scholarly traditions and geographically determined preferences.

A large area of confusion is the distinction and relation between religion and magic, and together with these the religious and magical practices as well as religious and magical artefacts. The dichotomy of magic and religion has been long discussed by historians of religion, whereas opinions have ranged from one extreme, in which magic and religion are viewed as in strict opposition with each other, to the other, in which the term *magic* has been regarded as a "semantic trap" and expelled from scientific circulation altogether (see more in Graf 1991: 188). The early anthropologists (Edward Spencer, Edward Burnett Tylor, James Frazer) made a clear distinction between magic and religion, seeing magic as a means to control events and religion as a way to explain events. However, the post-war intellectualists (Ian Jarvie, Jack Goody) regarded magic both as controlling events and as explaining them through attribution to magical agency, and religion as the means to explain events as well as influence them via divine intervention (see more in Cunningham 1999: 77). So, the clear-cut distinction between magic and religion was lost; however, a distinction between the magical agency and religious divination stepped in instead. For different researchers in the history of scholarship some aspects have played a more decisive role in acknowledging the presence of either magic or religion, and thus supplicative (religion) vs. manipulative (magic); symbolical (religion) vs. practical (magic); private/secret (magic) vs. public (religion) or individual (magic) vs. collective (religion) have been emphasised. However, most researchers from the 19th century onward, who deal with the topic of magic, have acknowledged the existence of grey areas; in fact, if we take the definitions and explanations as the basis, then the majority of practices seem to fall into this grey area between religion and magic. This is hardly a surprising conclusion for somebody dealing with definitions and terminology, but what is surprising is the number of researchers who still classify the artefacts they find either as magical or religious.

So, is there a difference between magic and religion and can it be grasped? The difference apparent on a conceptual level is not so obvious when discussing practices and artefacts; for example, using a religious prayer and a so-called magical amulet simultaneously in the same practice, or using the Bible in church rituals as well as in different popular healing practices, etc. Ideas from different initial sources intertwine in popular practices and their connection with clear-cut conceptions is not real. In that sense magic and magical practices are very practical, with a specific purpose and an unambiguous outcome; they are performed individually when needed and cannot be regarded as exceptional. This in turn means that any object can have a meaning in a magical procedure, and thus be regarded as a magical item (e.g. simple nails in the offering tree). On the other hand, like in the case of rituals, in which not all repeated actions are ritualised, not every practice with a focussed purpose and an explicit outcome is magical. In line with rituals, the relationship with the supernatural must be created here as well, which in the case of magic could be called the magical state of mind (Wax & Wax 1962), magical interpretation (e.g. Sørensen 2005), magical consciousness (Greenwood 2009), faith, or ritual sense (Bell 1992).

In this volume a detailed overview of the questions of sacrifice and offering is provided by Ester Oras. Looking at the definitions of and relations between ritual and cult, there seems to be a rather large gap between the use of these terms in religious studies and archaeology. The former tend to relate cult to non-traditional and innovative religious movements, which are often shortterm and person-related, such as the cult of emperors (cf. relevant definitions in The Concise Oxford Dictionary of World Religions (2000) and The Concise Oxford Dictionary of Archaeology (2008)). In archaeology the concept has a much wider connotation. First of all, cult is most often used as a synonym to ritual in the studies of prehistoric and protohistoric Mediterranean contexts (cf. Renfrew 1985; Barrowclough & Malone 2007). The second larger use area is related to the cult of ancestors (Insoll 2011a), and as such has been widely applied to Estonian material as well (e.g. Lang 1999; Jonuks 2009). The third example of the utilisation of the word 'cult' is connected to different religiousrelated sites from both history and prehistory. In these cases it is noteworthy that different terminology can be applied to rather similar types of sites, e.g., for the eastern Baltic natural sites that have been used as religious sites the terms like sacred places, holy places, groves, or cult sites have been used (Tamla 1985; Vaitkevičius 2004; Jonuks 2007; Urtāns 2008). In those studies it is not always clear why one word is preferred to another and if there is any essential difference between the connotations of those specific words in the first place. It rather seems to be a matter of scholarship tradition in a particular geographical region which is decisive when it comes to choosing terminology for such a specific dataset. The problem might also relate to the question of language and translation: the choice of words and their related meanings in native languages are not always directly transferrable to foreign languages such as English and German (see also discussion of sacrifice and offering in Oras, this volume). Thus the choice of terminology and related meanings are also constrained and influenced by the availability of concepts in specific languages.

There are also some terms and concepts that seem to have a rather strict chronological and spatial distribution. The question of cult and its relation to Mediterranean context was already pointed out above. Another such example is the concept of shamanism. This religious world view is most commonly discussed in the studies of Stone Age religions (e.g. Lewis-Williams & Clottes 1998) and the people living in the northern forest belt regions (Price 2001). Very seldom can we see such elaborate examples of shamanism in Bronze and Iron Age contexts (see, e.g., Randsborg 1993; Price 2002). It is rather obvious that the reason is indeed in the spread of certain religious concepts within a particular cultural and environmental context.¹ However, shamanism is a good example of context-specific religion-related terminology that most likely cannot be applied to and searched for in every region and period of time. It shows a high sensitivity of utilising at least some terms when studying past religions. Another such example of geographically and temporally constrained and traditionally developed terms would be the concept of 'votive'. This term most likely derives from the Mediterranean protohistoric and historic contexts and has been used in scholarship inspired by those case studies (see the definition of 'votive' in The Concise Oxford Dictionary of Archaeology (2008); cf., e.g., Renfrew 1985; Aitchison 1988; Crawford 2004; Osborne 2004). In northern Europe Bronze or Iron Age studies the words such as 'sacrifice' or 'offering' are usually employed even if those practices in different times and regions might share several similar characteristics.

As seen in most of those examples of terms and definitions, the main inspiration for archaeologists derives from anthropology, sometimes also from the religious studies. It is a whole new topic for discussion if and to what extent such loans have been fruitful, well-argued or misused. The main difference that is always worth re-emphasising is the question of sources. The information available to ethnographers and scholars of religious studies is usually very different from that used by archaeologists. If the former can rely on direct contact and evidence from the practice-in-happening, then the latter is based on the fragmentary remains of past practices, from which some (*sic*!) can indeed be related to religious and ritual activities. As can be seen in the example of relating or distinguishing magic and religion, very often the material remains solely do not reflect any religious-related activity involving the object. First, we need ethnographic parallels or written sources in order to attain this interpretation. Second, we still lack firm arguments or direct evidence to provide final and single interpretations of something being religious. Therefore the question remains how reliable it is to borrow definitions from other social sciences if the source material is essentially different. Do we need our own, i.e., specific archaeologists' terminology and definitions for the study of religion, e.g., the network of terms for materialised religion or religious materiality? When do we have enough evidence from material remains to say that we are dealing with the same phenomena in the distant past that are described and defined in anthropology? The relevance of those questions might be best exemplified if we try to combine the source material that was under focus in our grant: objects in themselves as they lay on the shelves in museums and other research institutes.

Let us take a simple example of a cross-shaped pendant. Which religionrelated term (if any at all) should be applied to it? Is it a religious object, a ritual object, perhaps a cultic or even magical one? Or perhaps none of those? For instance, as discussed by Jonuks and Kurisoo (this volume), a cross might be interpreted as a universal decorative element (ordinary design element), a sign identifying the wearer as a Christian (religious object? or ritual object?) or a protective amulet (magical object?). Or could a cross pendant be all of those at the same time and thus blur the differences between all those terms?



Figure 5. A silver brooch from Lagedi with two crosses (AM 1100). Was the cross a symbol of faith or prosperity? Or was it a protective amulet? Or all of those together? Photo by Tõnno Jonuks 2013.

To decide for one and against the other, further information about its find context, related objects and sites is necessary. However, the cross-shaped pendant is, to some extent, simpler and more universally spread phenomenon, which is familiar to us even in our contemporary world. But what can we think of pendants in the shape of a human face or a knife? Are they ritual, religious, magical, shamanistic, totemic or cultic? Or do they symbolise a craftsman? A wealthy person? Or is it just a nice piece of decoration?

Choosing the right term will be even more complicated if an example comes from the religious context but not from form. An ordinary nail, hammered into a tree-trunk as mentioned earlier, can be used as a good example of this. As it is known from folklore, nails were symbols of a wish or a pray. Or, for instance, a pair of ordinary scissors, used for divination: How shall we label such objects? They are not religious or cultic by themselves as they have not been made for that purpose or stored in any special way. They are not offered either. So we possibly need to consider another type of objects – magical mediums. Magical mediums would be objects that are part of mundane material culture, can be incorporated into religious behaviour and the supernatural, just like scissors in the divination mediate foretelling. Or like a coin that was put on an ill part of a body, was associated with the illness and if left in a spring or on a stone, the coin as a proxy should have tied the sufferings of the body with this place.

This is where the problems of terminology lie if we deal with objects only. Without any further information about the context, spatial and temporal belonging, relationship to other objects or features, attestations of the user or parallels from historic and ethnographic record, the interpretation of the artefact cannot go any further than symbology and possible religion-relatedness. With no regard to sites, practices, and use of the object, the label 'religious object' is the widest and safest, if we agree that it is religion-related at all. However, the answer and story that it provides is also very abstract and general, and does not embrace much of the essential meaning and function of the object. Therefore, the label 'religious object' calls for a need and encourages scholars to look for parallels and comparisons from other sources, or to ask for further archaeological information that would allow to go deeper into the meaning and function of the object, i.e., to interpret it in a more nuanced and detailed way.

FUTURE PLANS

The project has yielded over 2000 objects recorded in the database along with photos and descriptions. According to the original plan, which hopefully will succeed in the coming years, the database and a glossary of terms will be published online, with explanations in English. Apparently, there are so many single and unique objects, which are often stray finds, that only the publishing of raw data could help us to find analogies. This would also help to move further from the general term 'religious object' and find a more reasonable and detailed interpretation. The aim of the project was, first and foremost, to collect data, create an environment for future studies and map some of the most potential issues. The publishing of studies of some single items (Jonuks 2013) or groups (Oras forthcoming a; Jonuks & Joosu 2013) has started as well. A large-scale study has already been conducted within the project about the Late Iron Age cross pendants (Kurisoo 2012; 2013) and will be extended to all Late Iron Age pendants in the coming years. An analysis has been carried out of wealth deposits in all the Eastern Baltic countries (Oras forthcoming b) and another one is in preparation about the concept of magic in archaeology and about objects possibly used for magical purposes.

Although a few publications have already been completed, the actual study of religious objects in Estonia is just about to begin and this project merely created a basis for it. Predictions for the future are never appreciated, but on the basis of the past three years some changes as compared to the previous decades can be pointed out. As was mentioned previously, the early tradition of using archaeological finds was based on either folkloristic or ethnological frame, in which only suitable examples were used as illustrations. Later on the tradition reversed and archaeological finds started to be interpreted on the basis of folklore or ethnology. Due to this, interpretations of objects are largely only humanitarian. The current trend rather points to the more important role of a scientific approach and several new methods of study have been used already or are in progress for pointing out new perspectives for object biographies.

Another methodological possibility, especially for the unattractive massmaterial, would be to apply some qualitative statistics to the material collected. A large-scale database that covers also ordinary mass finds, e.g. tooth pendants, allows us to see how this tradition has changed, what animals have been used, when they have been killed, etc. As interpretations of religion have often been based on some single objects, broader comparative analyses are necessary for many groups of finds, including pendants, fossils, lithic material from the Mesolithic and Neolithic in later contexts, etc. These are all crucial subjects when discussing religion in archaeology, but far too often scholars have based their analyses only on single examples and stretched that result to other contexts as well, without any particular sources.

In conclusion, as a result of our project we have only just started to grasp the multifaceted problems that need to be tackled when studying religion on its material bases. During data collection and the following interpretations, we also became increasingly aware of the difficulties of providing more detailed definitions, conceptual categorisations, meanings and functions to specific archaeological material. Thus, this project emphasises once again the importance of multi-methodological and multi-source approaches in the archaeology of religion. We have gathered a good amount of data on religious-related archaeological finds in Estonia and started to grasp the theoretical and methodological issues that emerge when doing a paralleled and comparative study of specific object types within the frame of a larger data corpus. The initial ideas presented in this overview article are just tentative results and the data gathered during this three-year period will be developed further in future projects, publications and discussions.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors are grateful to many colleagues in Estonia and also abroad, who have discussed the issues presented above with us and thereby helped to elaborate the whole project. We are especially thankful to the staff of the Estonian county museums and to the keepers of archaeology collections in central institutions (Tallinn University Institute of History, University of Tartu) for their help in using their collections. Without their assistance and trust this project and its future outcomes would have been impossible.

This research is supported by ETF grant 8956 *Materiality of Religion: Religious Artefacts in Estonian Archaeological Collections*, in collaboration with the European Union through the European Regional Development Fund (Centre of Excellence in Cultural Theory (CECT)), and SF 0030181s08.

ABBREVIATIONS

AI – collection of archaeology at the Institute of History, University of Tallinn
ERA – Estonian Folklore Archives, Estonian Literary Museum
TM A – collection of archaeology at the Tartu City Museum
AM A – collection of archaeology at the Estonian History Museum, Tallinn

NOTE

¹ But according to the preferences of scholars in how to define the term, shamanism can appear also in Modern Age rural Europe (e.g. Ginzburg 1983), or in any temporal or spatial contexts, defined according to the neuropsychological features (e.g. Lewis-Williams & Dowson 1988; Whitley 2005) indicating again the importance of the scholarly interpretation of the word.

REFERENCES

- Aitchison, Nick B. 1988. Roman Wealth, Native Ritual: Coin Hoards within and beyond Roman Britain. World Archaeology, Vol. 20, No. 2, pp. 270–284, http://dx.doi.or g/10.1080/00438243.1988.9980072.
- Andrén, Anders & Jennbert, Kristina & Raudvere, Catharina 2006. Old Norse Religion: Some Problems and Prospects. In: A. Andrén & K. Jennbert & C. Raudvere (eds.)
 Old Norse Religion in Long-Term Perspectives: Origins, Changes, and Interactions.
 Vägar till Midgård, Vol. 8. Lund: Nordic Academic Press, pp. 11–14.
- Asad, Talal 1983. Anthropological Conceptions of Religion: Reflections on Geertz. Man, Vol. 18, No. 2, pp. 237–259, http://dx.doi.org/10.2307/2801433.
- Asad, Talal 2002. The Construction of Religion as an Anthropological Category. In: M. Lambek (ed.) A Reader in the Anthropology of Religion. Blackwell anthologies in social and cultural anthropology, Vol. 2. Malden, MA: Blackwell Publishers, pp. 114–132.
- Barrowclough, David A. & Malone, Caroline (eds.) 2007. *Cult in Context: Reconsidering Ritual in Archaeology*. Oxford: Oxbow Books.
- Bell, Catherine 1992. Ritual Theory, Ritual Practice. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Bell, Catherine 1997. *Ritual: Perspectives and Dimensions*. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Biehl, Peter F. 1996. Symbolic Communication Systems: Symbols on Anthropomorphic Figurines of the Neolithic and Chalcolithic from South-Eastern Europe. *Journal of European Archaeology*, Vol. 4, No. 1, pp. 153–176, http://dx.doi. org/10.1179/096576696800688097.
- Bradley, Richard 1998. The Significance of Monuments: On the Shaping of Human Experience in Neolithic and Bronze Age Europe. London & New York: Routledge.
- Bradley, Richard 2003. A Life Less Ordinary: The Ritualization of the Domestic Sphere in Later Prehistoric Europe. *Cambridge Archaeological Journal*, Vol. 13, No. 1, pp. 5–23, http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/S0959774303000015.
- Bradley, Richard 2005. *Ritual and Domestic Life in Prehistoric Europe*. London: Routledge.
- Brooks, Mary M. 2012. Seeing the Sacred: Conflicting Priorities in Defining, Interpreting, and Conserving Western Sacred Artifacts. *Material Religion: The Journal of Objects, Art and Belief*, Vol. 8, No. 1, pp. 10–29, http://dx.doi.org/10.2752/17518 3412X13286288797818.

- Brück, Joanna 1999. Ritual and Rationality: Some Problems of Interpretation in European Archaeology. *European Journal of Archaeology*, Vol. 2, No. 3, pp. 313–344, doi:10.1177/146195719900200303.
- Chapman, John 2000. Fragmentation in Archaeology: People, Places and Broken Objects in the Prehistory of South-Eastern Europe. London & New York: Routledge.
- Connerton, Paul 1989. *How Societies Remember*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Crawford, Sally 2004. Votive Deposition, Religion and the Anglo-Saxon Furnished Burial Ritual. World Archaeology, Vol. 36, No. 1, pp. 87–102, http://dx.doi.org/10.1080 /0043824042000192641.
- Cunningham, Graham 1999. *Religion and Magic: Approaches and Theories*. New York: New York University Press.
- Droogan, Julian 2012. *Religion, Material Culture and Archaeology*. London: Bloomsbury Academic.
- Durkheim, Émile 2002 [1915]. The Elementary Forms of Religious Life. In: M. Lambek (ed.) A Reader in the Anthropology of Religion. Blackwell Anthologies in Social and Cultural Anthropology, Vol. 2. Malden, MA: Blackwell Publishing, pp. 34–49.
- Edmonds, Mark 1999. Ancestral Geographies of the Neolithic: Landscape, Monuments and Memory. London & New York: Routledge.
- Engelke, Matthew 2011. Material Religion. In: R.A. Orsi (ed.) *The Cambridge Companion* to *Religious Studies*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, pp. 209–229.
- Firth, Raymond 1951. Elements of Social Organization. London: Watts.
- Fogelin, Lars 2007. The Archaeology of Religious Ritual. Annual Review of Anthropology, Vol. 36, No. 1, pp. 55–71, http://dx.doi.org/10.1146/annurev. anthro.36.081406.094425.
- Fogelin, Lars (ed.) 2008. Religion, Archaeology and the Material World. Occasional Paper No. 36. Center for Archaeological Investigations. Carbondale: Southern Illinois University.
- Garwood, Paul & Jennings, David & Skeates, Robin & Toms, Judith (eds.) 1991. Sacred and Profane: Proceedings of a Conference on Archaeology, Ritual and Religion: Oxford 1989. Monograph, Oxford University Committee for Archaeology, Vol. 32. Oxford: Oxford University Committee for Archaeology.
- Geertz, Clifford 2002 [1966]. Religion as a Cultural System. In: M. Lambek (ed.) A Reader in the Anthropology of Religion. Blackwell anthologies in social and cultural anthropology, Vol. 2. Malden, MA: Blackwell Publishing, pp. 61–82.
- Gimbutas, Marija 1974. The Goddesses and Gods of Old Europe: Myths and Cult Images. London: Thames & Hudson.
- Ginzburg, Carlo 1983. The Night Battles: Witchcraft and Agrarian Cults in the Sixteenth and Seventeenth Centuries. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press.
- Goody, Jack 1961. Religion and Ritual: The Definitional Problem. *The British Journal* of Sociology, Vol. 12, No. 2, pp. 142–164, http://dx.doi.org/10.2307/586928.
- Graf, Fritz 1991. Prayer and Magic in Religious Ritual. In: C.A. Faraone & D. Obbink (eds.) Magika Hiera: Ancient Greek Magic and Religion. New York & Oxford: Oxford University Press, pp. 188–213.
- Greenwood, Susan 2009. The Anthropology of Magic. Oxford & New York: Berg.

- Hansen, Jesper 2006. Offertradition og religion i ældre jernalder i Sydskandinavien: Med særlig henblik på bebyggelsesofringer. [The Tradition of Offering and Religion in South Scandinavia in the Early Iron Age: With Special Emphasis on Settlement Offerings.] Kuml: Årbog for Jysk Arkæologisk Selskab. Aarhus: Aarhus Universitetsforlag, pp. 117–175.
- Hawkes, Christopher F. 1954. Archaeological Theory and Method: Some Suggestions from the Old World. *American Anthropologist*, Vol. 56, No. 2, pp. 155–168, doi: 10.1525/aa.1954.56.2.02a00660.
- Hukantaival, Sonja 2007. Hare's Feet under a Hearth Discussing 'Ritual' Deposits in Buildings. In: V. Immonen & M. Lempiäinen & U. Rosendahl (ed.) *Hortus Novus: Fresh Approaches to Medieval Archaeology in Finland*. Archaeologia Medii Aevi Finlandiae XIV. Turku: Suomen Keskiajan Arkeologian Seura, pp. 66–75.
- Humphrey, Caroline & Laidlaw, James 1994. The Archetypal Actions of Ritual: A Theory of Ritual Illustrated by the Jain Rite of Worship. Oxford Studies in Social and Cultural Anthropology. Oxford: Clarendon Press.
- Insoll, Timothy (ed.) 2001. Archaeology and World Religion. London & New York: Routledge.
- Insoll, Timothy 2004a. Archaeology, Ritual, Religion. New York: Routledge.
- Insoll, Timothy 2004b. Are Archaeologists Afraid of Gods? Some Thoughts on Archaeology and Religion. In: T. Insoll (ed.) Belief in the Past: The Proceedings of the 2002 Manchester Conference on Archaeology and Religion. BAR International Series, Vol. 1212. Oxford: Archaeopress, pp. 1–6.
- Insoll, Timothy (ed.) 2009. Special issue: Materiality, Belief, Ritual: Archaeology and Material Religion. Material Religion, Vol. 5, No. 3. Available at http://www.ingentaconnect.com/content/bloomsbury/mar/2009/00000005/00000003;jsession id=4t6m1fp36ueuk.alice, last accessed on December 3, 2013.
- Insoll, Timothy 2011a. Ancestor Cults. In: T. Insoll (ed.) The Oxford Handbook of the Archaeology of Ritual and Religion. Oxford & New York: Oxford University Press, pp. 1043–1058, http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/oxfordhb/9780199232444.013.0066.
- Insoll, Timothy (ed.) 2011b. The Oxford Handbook of the Archaeology of Ritual and Religion. Oxford & New York: Oxford University Press, doi: 10.1093/ oxfordhb/9780199232444.001.0001.
- Jaanits, Lembit 1961. Jooni kiviaja uskumustest. [Characteristic Beliefs of the Stone Age.] In: E. Jansen (comp.) *Religiooni ja ateismi ajaloost Eestis*, Vol. 2. Tallinn: Eesti Riiklik Kirjastus, pp. 5–70.
- Jets, Indrek 2001. Mõnda müütide kajastumisest muinas-Eesti ornamentikas. [About the Reflection of Myths in Ancient Estonian Ornamentation.] In: P. Leppik (ed.) *Uurimusi müüdist ja maagiast*. Tallinn: Tallinna Pedagoogikaülikooli Kirjastus, pp. 135–144.
- Johanson, Kristiina 2009. The Changing Meaning of "Thunderbolts". Folklore: Electronic Journal of Folklore, Vol. 42, pp. 129–174. Available at http://www.folklore.ee/ folklore/vol42/johanson.pdf, last accessed on November 26, 2013.
- Jonuks, Tõnno 2005. Archaeology of Religion: Possibilities and Prospects. *Estonian Journal of Archaeology*, Vol. 9, No. 1, pp. 32–59.

- Jonuks, Tõnno 2007. Holy Groves in Estonian Religion. *Estonian Journal of Archaeology*, Vol. 11, No. 1, pp. 3–35. Available at http://www.kirj.ee/public/Archaeology/2007/ issue_1/arch-2007-1-1.pdf, last accessed on December 3, 2013.
- Jonuks, Tõnno 2009. Eesti muinasusund. [Prehistoric Religions in Estonia.] Dissertationes archaeologiae Universitatis Tartuensis, Vol. 2. Tartu: Tartu Ülikooli Kirjastus. Available at http://hdl.handle.net/10062/9494, last accessed on December 3, 2013.
- Jonuks, Tõnno 2011. An Archaeology of Holy Places: Can We Find 'Forgotten' Sacred Sites? *Kultūras krustpunkti 5*. Rīga: Nordik, pp. 78–88.
- Jonuks, Tõnno 2013. An Antler Object from the Pärnu River: An Axe, a God or a Decoy? In: K. Johanson & M. Tõrv (eds.) Man, His Time, Artefacts, and Places. Collection of articles dedicated to Richard Indreko. Muinasaja teadus, Vol. 19. Tartu: University of Tartu, pp. 225–246.
- Jonuks, Tõnno & Friedenthal, Meelis & Haak, Arvi 2010. Värtnakeder, talisman või nõiaese – märkidega kiviketas Viljandimaalt Rattama talust. [A Spindle Whorl, a Talisman or a Witchcraft Object: A Stone Disc Marked with Symbols from Rattama Farm in Viljandimaa.] In: Ü. Tamla (ed.) *Ilusad asjad. Tähelepanuväärseid leide Eesti arheoloogiakogudest*. Muinasaja teadus, Vol. 21. Tallinn: Tallinna Ülikooli Ajaloo Instituut, pp. 269–286.
- Jonuks, Tõnno & Joosu, Lauri 2013. Pendants of St. Anthony Cross with the Crucifixion from Estonia: Possible Badges of a Folk Pilgrimage. *Estonian Journal of Archaeology*, Vol. 17, No. 2, pp. 123–138, doi: 10.3176/arch.2013.2.02.
- Kaliff, Anders 2005. The Grave as Concept and Phenomenon: Reflections on the Relation between Archaeological Terminology and Interpretation. In: T. Artelius & F. Svanberg (eds.) Dealing with the Dead: Archaeological Perspectives on Prehistoric Scandinavian Burial Ritual. Ödeshög: The Swedish National Heritage Board, pp. 125–142.
- Kaul, Flemming 1998. Ships on Bronzes. A Study in Bronze Age Religion and Iconography. PNM Studies in Archaeology & History, Vol. 3, No. 1. Copenhagen: National Museum of Denmark.
- Kertzer, David I. 1988. *Ritual, Politics, and Power*. New Haven, CT: Yale University Press.
- Kristiansen, Kristian & Larsson, Thomas B. 2005. The Rise of Bronze Age Society. Travels, Transmissions and Transformations. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Kulmar, Tarmo 1992. Eesti muinasusundi hingefenomenoloogiast. III: Hingekujutlused Eesti kiviaja arheoloogiaaineses. [On Phenomenology of Soul in Ancient Estonian Religion. III: Reflections of the Notions of Soul in Stone Age Archaeological Finds in Estonia.] Akadeemia, Vol. 9, pp. 1870–1887.
- Kurisoo, Tuuli 2012. Ristripatsid Eesti 12.–13. sajandi laibakalmistutes: kas ehted või usu tunnused? [Cross-Shaped Pendants in the 12th-13th-Century Inhumation Burials: Adornments or Signs of Belief?] Õpetatud Eesti Seltsi aastaraamat, pp. 213–234. Available at http://www.ut.ee/OES/wp-content/uploads/Kurisoo.pdf, last accessed on October 3, 2013.
- Kurisoo, Tuuli 2013. Hilisrauaaegsed ristripatsid ja ristimärgiga rinnalehed Eestis. [Latest Iron Age Cross Pendants and Silver Round Pendants with a Cross

Motif from Estonia.] Master's thesis. Tartu: Tartu Ülikool, Ajaloo ja arheoloogia instituut. Available at: http://www.arheo.ut.ee/docs/MA13_Kurisoo.pdf, last accessed on November 25, 2013.

- Kyriakidis, Evangelos (ed.) 2007. *The Archaeology of Ritual*. Los Angeles: Cotsen Institute of Archaeology.
- Lang, Valter 1999. Kultuurmaastikku luues. Essee maastiku religioossest ja sümboliseeritud korraldusest. [Creating the Cultural Landscape: An Essay on Religious and Symbolic Organisation of the Landscape.] *Eesti Arheoloogiaajakiri*, Vol. 3. No. 1, pp. 63–85.
- Lewis, Gilbert 1980. Day of Shining Red: An Essay on Understanding Ritual. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Lewis-Williams David & Clottes Jean 1998. The Shamans of Prehistory: Trance and Magic in the Painted Caves. New York: Harry N. Abrams.
- Lewis-Williams David J. & Dowson, Thomas A. 1988. The Signs of All Times: Entoptic Phenomena in Upper Palaeolithic Art. *Current Anthropology*, Vol. 29, No. 2, pp. 201–245. Available at http://www.jstor.org/discover/10.2307/2743395?uid=3 737920&uid=2134&uid=2&uid=70&uid=4&sid=21103031512791, last accessed on December 3, 2013.
- Meskell, Lynn 2004. Divine Things. In: Elizabeth DeMarrais & Chris Gosden & Colin Renfrew (eds.) Rethinking Materiality: The Engagement of Mind with the Material World. McDonald Institute Monographs. Cambridge: McDonald Institute for Archaeological Research, pp. 249–259.
- Moore, Sally F. & Myerhoff, Barbara G. (eds.) 1977. Secular Ritual. Assen: Van Gorcum.
- Morgan, David (ed.) 2010. *Religion and Material Culture: The Matter of Belief*. London & New York: Routledge.
- Oras, Ester 2010. Ritual Wealth Deposits in Estonian Middle Iron Age Material. *Estonian Journal of Archaeology*, Vol. 14, No. 2, pp. 123–142, http://dx.doi.org/10.3176/arch.2010.2.02.
- Oras, Ester, forthcoming a. East Baltic Middle Iron Age Wealth Deposits in Burial Areas: An Example of Regional Cultural Practice. *Archaeologia Baltica*, Vol 19.
- Oras, Ester, forthcoming b. Practices of Wealth Depositing in the 1st-9th-Century AD Eastern Baltic. Doctoral dissertation. Division of Archaeology, University of Cambridge.
- Osborne, Robin 2004. Hoards, Votives, Offerings: The Archaeology of the Dedicated Object. World Archaeology, Vol. 36, No. 1, pp. 1–10, http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/00 43824042000192696.
- Pollard, Josh 2009. The Materialization of Religious Structures in the Time of Stonehenge. *Material Religion: The Journal of Objects, Art and Belief*, Vol. 5, No. 3, pp. 332–353, http://dx.doi.org/10.2752/175183409X12550007729987.
- Price, Niel S. 2001. The Archaeology of Shamanism. London: Routledge.
- Price, Niel S. 2002. *The Viking Way: Religion and War in Late Iron Age Scandinavia*. Aun, Vol. 31. Uppsala: Department of Archaeology and Ancient History, Uppsala University.
- Randsborg, Klavs 1993. *Kivik Archaeology & Iconography*. Acta Archaeologica, Vol. 64, No.1. København: Munksgaard.

- Renfrew, Colin 1985. The Archaeology of Cult: The Sanctuary at Phylakopi. London: British School of Archaeology at Athens.
- Renfrew, Colin 1994. The Archaeology of Religion. In: C. Renfrew & E. Zubrow (eds.) The Ancient Mind: Elements of Cognitive Archaeology. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, pp. 47–54, http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511598388.007.
- Rowlands, Michael 2004. The Materiality of Sacred Power. In: Elizabeth DeMarrais & Chris Gosden & Colin Renfrew (eds.) *Rethinking Materiality: The Engagement* of Mind with the Material World. McDonald Institute Monographs. Cambridge: McDonald Institute for Archaeological Research, pp. 197–203.
- Sørensen, Jesper 2005. Charisma, Tradition and Ritual: A Cognitive Approach to Magical Agency. In: H. Whitehouse & R.N. McCauley (eds.) Mind and Religion: Psychological and Cognitive Foundations of Religiosity. Walnut Creek, CA: AltaMira Press, pp. 167–185.
- Tamla, Toomas 1985. Kultuslikud allikad Eestis. [Cult Springs in Estonia.] In: Rahvasuust kirjapanekuni. Uurimusi rahvaluule proosaloomingust ja kogumisloost. Eesti NSV Teaduste Akadeemia Emakeele Seltsi Toimetised, Vol. 17, pp. 122–146.
- The Concise Oxford Dictionary of Archaeology 2008. Timothy Darvill (ed.). Oxford University Press. Oxford Reference Online, available at http://www.oxfordreference. com/views/ENTRY.html?subview=Main&entry=t102.e3642, last accessed on October 16, 2013.
- The Concise Oxford Dictionary of World Religions 2000. John Bowker (ed.). Oxford University Press. Oxford Reference Online, available at http://www.oxfordreference. com/views/ENTRY.html?subview=Main&entry=t101.e6210, last accessed on October 16, 2013.
- Turner, Victor 1967. The Forest of Symbols: Aspects of Ndembu Ritual. Ithaca, N.Y.: Cornell University Press.
- Tylor, Edward B. 1929 [1871]. Primitive Culture: Researches into the Development of Mythology, Philosophy, Religion, Language, Art, and Custom. 5th reprint. London: John Murray.
- Urtāns, Juris 2008. Ancient Cult Sites of Semigallia = Zemgales Senās Kulta Vietas. Riga: Nordik.
- Valk, Heiki 1994. The Reflection of Pre-Christian Beliefs in the Estonian Medieval and Post-Medieval Village Cemeteries. *Mitteilungen für Anthropologie und Religionsgeschichte*, Vol. 8. Münster: Ugarit Verlag, pp. 177–189.
- Valk, Heiki 2001 [1999]. Rural Cemeteries of Southern Estonia 1225–1800 AD. CCC Papers 3. Visby: Gotland University College Centre for Baltic Studies; Tartu: University of Tartu, Archaeology Centre.
- Vaitkevičius, Vykintas 2004. *Studies into the Balts' Sacred Places*. BAR International Series, Vol. 1228. Oxford: John and Erica Hedges Ltd.
- Vedru, Gurly 2011. Põhja-Eesti arheoloogilised maastikud / Archaeological Landscapes of North Estonia. Dissertationes archaeologica Universitatis Tartuensis 3. Tartu: Tartu University Press. Available at http://dspace.utlib.ee/dspace/bitstream/ handle/10062/16297/vedru_gurly.pdf?sequence=1, last accessed on November 26, 2013.
- Verhoeven, Marc 2011. The Many Dimensions of Ritual. In: T. Insoll (ed.) The Oxford Handbook of the Archaeology of Ritual and Religion. Oxford & New

York: Oxford University Press, pp. 115–132, http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/ oxfordhb/9780199232444.013.0010.

- Wesler, Kit W. 2012. An Archaeology of Religion. Lanham & Boulder & New York & Toronto & Plymouth: University Press of America.
- Whitehouse, Harvey. 2004. *Modes of Religiosity: A Cognitive Theory of Religious Transmission*. Walnut Creek & Lanham & New York & Toronto & Oxford: Altamira Press.
- Whitley, David S. 2005. Introduction to Rock Art Research. Walnut Creek, CA: Left Coast Press.
- Wax, Murray & Wax, Rosalie 1962. The Magical World View. Journal for the Scientific Study of Religion, Vol. 1, No. 2, pp. 179–188, http://dx.doi.org/10.2307/1384696.

NEWS IN BRIEF

THE SEVEN-YEAR CONFERENCE SERIES ABOUT HOLY PLACES HAD A WORTHY ENDING IN ST. PETERSBURG

In 2007, the first international conference in the series "Holy Places around the Baltic Sea" was organised at the Estonian Literary Museum in Tartu. The purpose of the conference was quite clear: it was supposed to bring together researchers studying holy places. The first conference aptly characterised the situation in this field of research: although researchers from different countries knew each other, contacts were casual and knowledge of sources in different regions was random. The one-day conference, which was hard to fill with papers, was followed by a two-day excursion to the holy places in the north-east and south-east Estonia. The tour turned out to be the most fruitful part of the event as discussions were initiated right on the spot, not on the basis of pictures shown on the wall. When a decision was made in Tartu to have another conference of the kind, obviously nobody imagined that it would develop into a series continuing for seven years and embracing the eastern and southern coast of the Baltic Sea.

The first conference in Tartu was followed by the next one in Kernave, Lithuania, in 2008, then in Turaida, Latvia, in 2009, on Seili Island, Finland, in 2010, in Ketrzyn, Poland, in 2011, in Kaliningrad, Russia, in 2012 and in St. Petersburg, Russia, in 2013. All the conferences took place at the beginning of May and were combined with a tour of the neighbourhood, with an emphasis on local holy places. Although an excursion could be regarded as entertainment, it constituted an integral part of the conference, enabling the participants to gain firsthand experience of these places. However, personal emotions and impressions outweigh any good and detailed descriptions. Maybe gaining personal experience about holy places in different countries could be regarded as one of the most important results of the conference series.

When speaking about holy places in the Baltic Sea region, we often emphasise their *naturalness*, which is especially clearly expressed in the usage of a special term *natural holy place*. This was also demonstrated by several papers as well as the Turaida conference title "Natural Holy Places or Holy Places in Nature". At the same time, some of the presentations strongly doubted the whole concept of naturalness. It seems that in the Baltic Sea region the notion *natural* is mainly needed in contrast with sacral buildings (churches, chapels, etc.) which are also holy places. Therefore, it could rather be more sensible to use a notion *non-official holy place* or something like that when discussing alternative religious places in the Christian period.

Proceeding from the general term *natural holy place*, a concept has evolved of a relatively uniform phenomenon, which, although it has subdivisions, such as sacred trees, stones, springs, hills, forests, etc., is generally universal. It was this particular argument disseminated mainly in literary sources that was refuted during the excursions most clearly (at least in the author's opinion). While the holy places in Estonia and north of Latvia (where the tour of Latvian conference took place) were similar to each other, it was difficult to find any equivalents in the Estonian material to Lithuanian *alka*(sacred grove)-places associated with strongholds and other power centres.



Participants of the conference "Complexity and Regional Aspects of Natural Holy Places" on an excursion at Staraya Ladoga. Photo by Žilvinas Montvydas 2013.

This indicates that the traditions related to holy places have largely been different. In addition to these, conference papers have discussed a number of places which cannot be categorised as classical *natural holy places*, yet nobody contests their holiness. As an example, we could mention building sacrifices in medieval and early modern period towns, which are far from nature, yet still in a religious context. Also, examples from a more distant past have been discussed under the umbrella term of natural holy places, as, for instance, votive depositions of possible religious objects from the Middle Iron Age. All this indicates that the umbrella term should be further explained and expanded, in terms of the context, with a new content.

Just like holy places differ from each other, each country has also followed their own traditions in their studies. While in Kaliningrad, which suffered severely during the 20th century and featured changes in population, only one "classical" holy place was shown – an erratic boulder split in two – then in the Catholic-background Poland only pre-Christian archaeological sites were demonstrated as holy places. It is likely due to these differences that Estonia and the eastern coast of the Baltic Sea in general is regarded as the only region in Europe in which so-called natural holy places are preserved. To support this view, during the whole conference series no researchers could be found to deliver a paper on this topic in Western Europe or Scandinavia. However, it is more probable that the problem actually lies in the research situation and thus neither in Western Europe, nor in Scandinavia non-official holy places have become research objects. This was well illustrated by Ceri Houlbrook's paper delivered at the last conference in St. Petersburg, which discussed wish trees in Scotland, the trunks of which have been covered by coins driven into the wood as tokens in order to gain the fulfilment of wishes. Despite a few exceptions, researchers from western countries are, as a rule, only negligibly interested in holy places, which is especially interesting if we consider the trend of the past decades to investigate non-conventional topics. One of the possible reasons might be that archaeologists were the initiators of the current conference series and also constituted the majority of the participants, whereas holy places have traditionally been the domain of folkloristics and linguistics. However, holy places in these fields rather seem to be a marginalised topic, and have largely become a sphere of research for archaeology.

The reasons why natural holy places became significant for Baltic researchers are certainly multifaceted. On the one hand, it is the material associated with the religion of the past times: there are no striking and (seemingly) easily interpreted ancient relics in the Baltic Sea region, such as henges or megaliths. Also, we lack such complete myth narratives as those in Scandinavia. On the other hand, however, during the 19thcentury enlightenment and romanticism period, paganism became one of the attributes of national identity and, as its only material expression was landscape objects, these holy places deserved an unproportionally great interest on the eastern coast of the Baltic Sea as compared to other regions. Maybe these two factors, in combination with the private interest of researchers, are the reason why natural holy places feature the most well-established research tradition namely in the Baltic countries. Undoubtedly, the fact that holy places are still in use has also contributed to the interest of academic researchers in these studies.

Despite the Baltic-centred topic and negligible research elsewhere, the conference hosted several researchers of international renown, such as Timothy Insoll from Manchester University, Rudolf Simek from Bonn University, Leszek Słupecki from Rzeszow University, etc. However, the most significant result of the conference series is definitely the formation of an operating network and merger of several younger-generation researchers.

The series that continued for seven years has until now yielded three publications (*Folklore*, Vol. 42, in 2009, *Archaeologija Baltica*, Vol. 15, in 2011, and *Kulturas Krustpunkti*, Vol. 5, in 2011) and three more are forthcoming, so the series has undoubtedly justified its existence. Several conferences raised issues and topics for further investigation. Many presentations were case-based and focused on examples. However, instead of introducing the material, we would need a more methodological approach, and in addition to the comparison of traditional archaeology and folkloristics, other disciplines should also be involved. Only a few presentations dealt with the rich source material of modern age travelogues, and the issue of historic maps was never discussed. One of the future research directions could be co-operation with natural sciences to study ecology and land use throughout different periods and, on this basis, reconstruct the appearance and background system of holy places. Also, material culture associated with holy places and their preserved traces deserve more detailed research.

In the future, the temporal aspect of holy places should be studied further and the former ahistorical approach should be replaced by a context-based one. Considering the temporal factor would be a step further from the crucial question whether the natural holy places are pre-Christian. According to traditional approach, everything outside the currently official religion belongs to the pre-Christian period. It is obvious that the concepts under the umbrella term *natural holy places* are not unambiguous and that non-official holy places could have been used also during the Catholic or Protestant period. However, even if the history of some holy places can be traced back to the pre-Christian period or even earlier, the activities and beliefs associated with the places have considerably changed in time. Therefore, the question of pre- or post-Christianisation is not relevant as practically all the source material about local holy places dates from the folk tradition of the late 19th and the 20th centuries. And the question of the position of non-official holy places in medieval or Modern Age societies would be even more interesting and important than speculations about their datings.

A new sphere of research that emerged during the past few conferences is the use of holy places today. It is not only academic circles that are interested in holy places, and the meaning of holy places in contemporary world is definitely wider than just providing evidence of a former religion. Here we should also emphasise that in Estonia the circle of people currently using the holy places is supposedly the most influential and partly also determines the academic approach. Yet, the users of holy places also influence the sources and shape the new meanings of these places. Considering the fact that such new religious movements are gradually gaining a firm footing, new opinion leaders emerge who determine the use of holy places.

A seven-year conference series on the same topic must be tiring and the past few conferences also indicated that the initial freshness and excitement were gradually passing. So we deemed it wise to finish the series after having provided examples from the holy places of all the countries on the eastern coast of the Baltic Sea and, what is even more important, after establishing a network and introducing different ways and traditions of research. Yet, no conference, especially a seven-year-long focused series, is enjoyable without participants, so we are grateful to all the participants and organisers. However, it would be wrong to leave the achieved results just drifting. Hopefully, after a certain pause and reconsideration of the topic, we can continue discussions about the tangibility and temporality of former religions as well as landscape phenomena.

Tõnno Jonuks
INTERNATIONAL SYMPOSIUM "CHARMS ON PAPER, CHARMS IN PRACTICE"

The 16th Congress of the International Society for Folk Narrative Research (ISFNR) took place in Vilnius, Lithuania, on June 25–30, 2013, and within its framework an international symposium under the heading *Charms on Paper, Charms in Practice* was organised jointly by the ISFNR Committee on Charms, Charmers and Charming, and the Institute of Lithuanian Literature and Folklore.

The ISFNR working group has set an aim to coordinate research into charms in different countries, elaborate systematic methods of analysis and encourage studies into charming traditions, as well as to compile local and international catalogues of charms, corresponding scientific publications and databases. The chairman of the committee initiated in 2007 is Jonathan Roper (Great Britain/Estonia), and the members are Daiva Vaitkevičienė (Lithuania), Mare Kõiva (Estonia), Lea T. Olsan (Great Britain), Haralampos Passalis (Greece), Éva Pócs (Hungary), Emanuela Timotin (Romania) and Andrey Toporkov (Russia). The working group publishes an annual journal entitled *Incantatio* (http://www.folklore.ee/incantatio).

Conferences are organised regularly (at least every second year) and the proceedings are prepared for publication. The first conference was held in Pécs (2007), and was followed by similar events in Tartu (2008), Athens (2009), Bucharest (2010) and Moscow (2011). Two pre-conferences on the same topics were organised in London (in 2003 and 2005). An overview of the Moscow conference of 2011, Oral Charms in Structural and Comparative Light, was published in Folklore: Electronic Journal of Folklore in 2012¹.

Four collections have been published with the proceedings of the previous conferences: Charms and Charming in Europe (2004, editor Jonathan Roper); Charms, Charmers and Charming: International Research on Verbal Magic (2009, editor Jonathan Roper); Oral Charms in Structural and Comparative Light. Proceedings of the Conference of the International Society for Folk Narrative Research's (ISFNR) Committee on Charms, Charmers and Charming. 27–29th October 2011, Moscow (2011, editors Tatyana Mikhailova, Jonathan Roper, Andrey Toporkov, Dmitri Nikolayev)²; and The Power of Words: Studies on Charms and Charming in Europe (2013, editors James Kapaló, Éva Pócs and William Ryan).

The Vilnius conference held on June 25–29 consisted of seven sessions with twentyfive presentations. Researches originated from the United States, Estonia, Ireland, India, Great Britain, Italy, Japan, Croatia, Greece, Lithuania, Latvia, Switzerland, Hungary, Romania and Russia.

Many of the presentations discussed the traditions of European charms manuscripts, as well as conformity between written and oral texts. A number of speakers touched upon the social practice of manuscripts and the possibilities for using them in reconstructing the ritual practices of the past.

The first session under the heading *Verbal Charms in Practice* dwelt upon Anglo-Saxon, Irish and Bulgarian manuscript charms. Lea T. Olsan (Cambridge, Great Britain) analysed the cases in which medieval Christian charms manuscripts had been supplemented with citations from Roman poets. Ilona Tuomi (Cork, Ireland) spoke about four Irish medical charms that are preserved in the Abbey of St. Gall in Switzerland.

Ciaran Arthur (Canterbury, Great Britain) analysed the literary methods used in an 11th-century Anglo-Saxon charm, which is preserved at the British Library. Svetlana Tsonkova (Budapest, Hungary) characterised medieval Slavic charms and non-canonical prayers, which have survived in manuscript form or in writing on amulets.

The central topic of the second session was contemporary charms. James Kapalo (Cork, Ireland) introduced a peculiar phenomenon in Gagauz culture: Mother of God appears to women in their dreams, providing healing powers to them and helping to acquire literacy. Yukari Nagayama (Sapporo, Japan) shared her observations about the usage traditions of protective and harmful charms in the native people of Kamchatka. Daiva Vaitkevičienė (Vilnius, Lithuania) introduced to the audience the research carried out among the Lithuanian community in western Belorussia in 2010–2012, which was aimed at detecting the influence factors of folk medicine practices as social phenomena, as well as the network of charming specialists. Rajketan Singh Chirom (Imphal, India) analysed the Chupsa Moithemba tradition in Manipur state, India, drawing attention to the usage of charms in ritual contexts.

The third session focused on the topics of charms and Christianity. Toms Kencis (Riga, Latvia) dedicated his presentation to the Latvian version of the *Super petram* charm (St. Peter sitting on a rock). Haralampos Passalis (Thessaloniki, Greece) discussed the motifs connected with St. Sisinnius and the demonic Gillo in Late Byzantium and post-Byzantium Greek tradition. Andrey Toporkov (Moscow, Russia) generalised the use of the beginning and particularly the first verse of St. John's gospel ("In the beginning was the Word") as part of a charm and magic practice on the example of Christians of different countries.

The fourth session dealt mainly with magical manuscripts. Emanuela Timotin (Bucharest, Romania) shared her knowledge of the codicological features and spread of Romanian manuscript charms dating from the 17th–19th centuries. Eleonora Cianci (Pescara, Italy) analysed, on the basis of German medieval and Early Modern Age manuscripts, the versions of the Three Good Brothers charm. Aigars Lielbārdis (Riga, Latvia) introduced Latvian charm manuscripts as well as heavenly and chain letters similar to them.

The fifth session was dedicated to charms studies. Jonathan Roper (Tartu, Estonia) introduced two significant archives of European charms: the texts archive on approximately 23,000 index cards, established by Adolf Spamer (1883–1953) in Dresden, and the one deposited in Copenhagen, which was created by Ferdinand Ohrt (1873–1938), researcher in the field of European word magic. Nicholas Wolf (New York, United States of America) spoke about charm manuscripts in English and Irish, dating from the years 1700–1850, which include materials on medicine, as well as prayers and secular poetry. Saša Babič (Ljubljana, Slovenia) discussed the research traditions of Slovenian charms, as well as the main types of healing charms. Davor Nikolić and Josipa Tomašić (Zagreb, Croatia) introduced the rich prayer-like charms collection in Croatian archives, the texts of which can be divided into exorcism and apotropaic prayers.

The sixth session dwelt upon charms, demons and fright. James Kapalo (Cork, Ireland) and Haralampos Passalis (Thessaloniki, Greece) compared Greek and Gagauz healing rituals against fright. These charms are used in the case of diseases and posttraumatic conditions caused by fright. Judit Zsuzsanna Kis-Halas (Tartu, Estonia) presented the Hungarian versions of the same charms, supplementing them with comparisons from all over the world, including South America. Larissa Naiditch (Jerusalem, Israel) analysed dialogue in German charms ("Begegnungs Segen").

The last session focused on various phenomena bordering between charms tradition and social practices. Emese Ilyefalvi (Budapest, Hungary) discussed obscenity in Hungarian charms. Åsa Ljungström (Uppsala, Sweden) gave an overview of attitudes towards charms manuscripts preserved in family lore throughout four hundred years (from the 17th to the 20th century). Evgeniya Litvin and Anna Kozlova (St. Petersburg, Russia) analysed the new forms of charms aimed at losing weight and enlarging breasts, which are disseminated on the Internet. Julia Ladygienė (Vilnius, Lithuania) discussed, by way of communication theory, standard situations between the magic specialist and the patient.

The conference programme and abstracts have been published in the book entitled Folk Narrative in the Modern World: Unity and Diversity. The 16th Congress of the International Society for Folk Narrative Research. June 25–30, 2013. Vilnius, Lithuania. Program and Abstracts. Vilnius 2013.

Andrey Toporkov

Notes

- ¹ Vol. 50, pp. 156–161, available at www.folklore.ee/folklore/vol50/n04.pdf, last accessed on December 4, 2013.
- ² The collection is in two languages and its parallel heading in Russian is Zagovornye teksty v strukturnom i sravnitel'nom osveshchenii. Materialy konferentsii Komissii po verbal'noi magii Mezhdunarodnogo obshchestva po izucheniiu fol'klornykh narrativov.

BOOK REVIEWS

MASTERWORKS OF ANCIENT GREECE



Michael K. Kellogg. *The Greek Search for Wisdom*. New York: Prometheus Books, 2012. 341 pp.

In Robert A. Heinlein's short story *By His Bootstraps* (Heinlein 1970), the main character Bob Wilson, who is writing a philosophical dissertation in a locked room, finds himself in the midst of weird events, and, as a result, he travels 30,000 years into the future. He is in a huge palace, part of which is suitable to be inhabited by people, while the rest is described as follows:

Great halls large enough to hold ten thousand people at once – had there been floors for them to stand on. For there frequently were no floors in the accepted meaning of a level or reasonably

level platform. [---] He crawled gingerly forward and looked over the edge. The mouth of the passage debouched high up on a wall of the place; below him the wall was cut back so that there was not even a vertical surface for the eye to follow. Far below him, the wall curved back and met its mate of the opposite side – not decently, in a horizontal plane, but at an acute angle. (Heinlein 1970: 75–76)

In this far future, Wilson also meets some people, who lead a rather primitive life in the palace, and who tell him that the palace was built by the High Ones, creatures of unknown origin and fate, who once visited the Earth.

In Greek mythology, Minotaur, a monster with the head of a bull, lives in a labyrinth on Crete Island, and he is killed by the Athenian hero Theseus with the help of Ariadne and a ball of thread given by her (Graves 1957: 336-339).¹ Historically, the labyrinth myth could be based on the palace of Knossos with its maze of halls and corridors, in which the plunderers of Athens roved around; also there was a labyrinth-patterned dancing floor in front of the palace (ibid.: 345-346). The word 'labyrinth' might have been derived from *labrys*, a ritual double-headed axe, the term being neither of Greek nor (most probably) of Indo-European origin (Frisk 1991: 67). The palace in Knossos dates back to the Minoan-Mycenaean era (3rd-2nd millennium BC), with Minoan non-Indo-European culture dominating in the first half. At the end of the Mycenaean era, in the 12th century, the legendary Trojan War presumably took place. So the ancient Greek culture was founded on the ruins of an alien culture, and drew material for its myths from the latter. Also, the ruins of antiquity have contributed to a large extent to the spread of the Renaissance, both directly and figuratively. As a specimen of physical heritage, we could mention the Colosseum in Rome, which was, among other things, also used as a quarry, as after the end of the era of antiquity no proper function was found for the structure. Here we also have to bear in mind that antiquity, which we tend to regard as the cradle of European culture, also presents a case of domesticating the alien,

which never completely succeeds. Occidental culture re-translates antiquity into the present day, both the texts and the culture in general. Beginning from the Renaissance, we can mention here the humanists, and from the recent past also Michel Foucault and Jacques Derrida, who are renowned even today, in the 21st century.

So, a simplistic approach to another culture could involve two possibilities: we can either look for similarities and interpret the alien from our own viewpoint or point out the differences and try to understand them as much as possible. The aforementioned citation from R.A. Heinlein describes an encounter with the alien and abstruse.² Michael K. Kellogg's popular science book entitled The Greek Search for Wisdom, on the other hand, focuses on the domestication of ancient Greek culture. This volume covers, in temporal sequence, the following Greek authors and their masterworks: Homer, Hesiod, Aeschylus, Sophocles, Euripides, Herodotus, Thucydides, Aristophanes, Plato and Aristotle. This list of names indicates that the author focuses on the classical era in ancient Greece (the 5th and 4th centuries BC). The only ones who belong to the archaic, pre-classical era (ca 800-500 BC) are epic poets Homer and Hesiod. Also, the selection of authors is geographically rather limited: except for Homer and Hesiod, only historian Herodotus³ did not come from Athens, although he also frequented this city and befriended Pericles (see pp. 189-191) and Sophocles (pp. 99-126), who were representatives of the classical spirit of Athens. On the one hand, in a certain sense it was the highlight of ancient Greek culture: Kellogg compares the creative outburst of the period in Greece to that of the 16th-century Western Europe, the time of Leonardo, Michelangelo, Raphael, Montaigne, Cervantes and Shakespeare (p. 101). On the other hand, however, the selection of authors can be traced back to the viewpoint of more recent culture. Classical Athens represents the values that the Occident has idealised commencing the Renaissance. However, we cannot overlook Homer and Hesiod, as they were the foundations of the entire ancient Greek culture. Without knowing Homer, we would not be able to interpret the heritage of the classical era. Kellogg represents pure tradition and re-produces the myth underlying European identity. He does not pose a question as to what extent contemporary ideals could have been transmitted to antiquity during the Renaissance or later on, when some of these did not even exist in this form. So, Kellogg speaks neither about the different nor about the alien; yet, now and then, domesticates rather boldly. For example, on page 57 he argues that the beginning of *Theogony* by Hesiod, which describes the emergence of the world from chaos, is, in a certain sense, like an ancient version of Steven Weinberg's book The First Three Minutes (Weinberg 1988). Also, according to Kellogg, Euripides's tragedies Electra and Orestes start in Aeschylus's world and end in that of Pulp Fiction (p. 129). Kellogg here discusses allusions and does not identify Hesiod's cosmogony with the modern theory of physics, or Euripides's tragedies with Hollywood cult movies; so such comparisons cannot be regarded as wrong; yet, they mediate the message by which we are direct heirs of antiquity and it is quite easy to skip the 2500 years and cultural differences that separate us from this era.⁴

The compilation principles of the book could be criticised to a certain extent. In the introduction, Michael K. Kellogg says that it was not difficult to select the ten most distinguished authors, as the heritage of lyric poets and pre-Socratics is too fragmentary, Pindar's odes "are an acquired taste" and "Xenophon [---] is not on a par with the others considered here" (p. 23). The latter two argumentations are clearly judgemental.

As concerns the fact that the works of lyric poets have survived only fragmentarily, we cannot, regardless, underestimate their impact on the Greek wisdom, which seems to be the main topic in Kellogg's book. Besides, the works of neither the elegists⁵ nor the iambographers⁶ are dwelt upon in more detail. Also, "[---] the Hellenistic⁷ philosophers, who left only fragments behind, are properly considered only along with their Roman counterparts" (p. 23). The Greek authors of the Roman Empire (beginning the 1st century BC) are not mentioned at all; for example, Plotinus's name cannot be found in the index part at the back of the book (pp. 329–341), although he based his work on classical culture and left a permanent imprint on the more recent Christian tradition.

Although the absence of lyric poets, pre-Socratics and authors from Hellenistic and Roman Empire periods could be justified to a certain extent by focusing on the classical era, the cream of Greek culture, it still remains disputable why Greek rhetoric has been mentioned only fleetingly, although it is one of the intrinsic elements of the classical democratic Athens. Orator Demosthenes is mentioned only transiently in the chapters dedicated to historian Thucydides and comic playwright Aristophanes; yet, the name of Demosthenes's contemporary rival Aeschines is totally missing in Kellogg's book. We could recall here that Demosthenes's public political speeches against Philip II of Macedon, who jeopardised the independence of Athens, are regarded as the highlight of political speech by the same tradition that Kellogg represents. The term 'Philippic' denoting a fierce attacking political speech also derives from Demosthenes.

We have to admit that M.K. Kellogg's work *The Greek Search for Wisdom* can rather be categorised as popular science. For the most part, the author makes no attempts to say something new, but rather tells the story of an era and its culture and draws parallels with the present day. This is also testified by only infrequent references to secondary sources. Hereby the author cites the traditional and foundational treatments, such as Erich Auerbach's *Mimesis* (1973), Werner Jaeger's *Paideia* (1986), Friedrich Nietzsche's *Birth of Tragedy* (1968) and Alfred North Whitehead's *Process and Reality* (1985). Yet, the author also refers to some authoritative more modern treatments, so that at each topic the reader is given allusions of how to proceed. A commendable feature is suggestions for further reading at the end of the book (pp. 291–297), which offers a more detailed overview of secondary sources. However, practically all the sources referred to are English translations. In places, citations in the book are inconsistent.⁸

When speaking about the strong points of Michael K. Kellogg's book, we could first mention its comprehensiveness. If we leave aside the aforementioned criticism about the selection of authors, the book gives an excellent overview of Greek culture in the classical era. The reader is provided with a short biography and a list of the most significant works by all the ten authors. This is followed by a more detailed treatment of selected topics or some books. Kellogg places the writers and their works in a wider historical and cultural context.

In the case of Homer, Kellogg dwells upon *The Iliad* and its characters – Achilles, Patroklos, Hector and Priam – as well as hero ethics, the role of gods and so-called terrible beauty.⁹ The other epic poem by Homer, *The Odyssey*, is mentioned only fleetingly. In the case of Hesiod, the significant topics to be discussed are conscious authorship, changing roles of gods in comparison to Homer¹⁰, and farmer's ethics. Here Kellogg focuses on *Works and Days*. The following chapters are dedicated to three famous Greek tragedians: Aeschylus, Sophocles and Euripides. In the chapter about Aeschylus, the topics under discussion include Persian wars and democracy in Athens; here Kellogg also dwells on *Oresteia*, the only survived antique trilogy of tragedies. The chapter about Sophocles focuses¹¹ on the tragedies concerned with the Theban rulers: *Antigone, King Oedipus* and *Oedipus at Colonus*. Euripides's plays *Electra* and *Orestes* are compared to Aeschylus's *Oresteia*, as they are based on the same myths and feature the same characters. In more detail Kellogg discusses Euripides's *Medea* and *The Bacchae*. A recurrent topic for all the three tragedians is attitude towards the gods and its evolution throughout times; this is what people's own position is based on, which from Kellogg's point of view seems to be even more important.

The following two chapters are dedicated to the so-called first historians, Herodotus and Thucydides. Herodotus is mentioned by the title "The Father of History", conferred by Cicero, but here Kellogg also recalls the derogatory attitude of his critics in Early Modern Times, who branded him "The Father of Lies". Herodotus's travels, his attitude towards myths and his moral principles are also discussed here. The connecting element of his voluminous history study, The Histories, is the Persian Empire; on the one hand, the work describes the countries and peoples that the Persians occupied, while on the other, the background is constituted by the Greek-Persian Wars. In the chapter about Herodotus, M.K. Kellogg focuses mainly on Persian danger, the famous conflicts on the Plain of Marathon and at the pass of Thermopylae, on the Salamis Sea Battle, and repelling of the Persian attack near Plataea. Thucydides's History starts from where Herodotus's chronicles left off, and focuses on the Peloponnesian War. Here Kellogg discusses the following topics: growth in the power of Athens, conflict with Sparta, the plague, Athenian tragic campaign in Sicily, and the consequences of the war. A separate mention is made about the commanders – Pericles, Cleon and Brasidas, as well as Demosthenes.

The following chapter is dedicated to Aristophanes, the most renowned¹² representative of the Old Attic Comedy. First, Kellogg gives an overview of the Old Attic Comedy in general as well as the performances, which is followed by more detailed introductions of Aristophanes's so-called peace plays, *The Acharnians, Peace*, and *Lysistrata*, which feature a certain reaction to the Peloponnesian War that impoverished Athens. These are followed by discussions of *The Birds, Plutus*, and *The Assemblywomen*¹³, which describe social utopias. A separate subchapter is dedicated to *The Clouds*, which lampoons philosophy, sophistry and mainly Socrates, and *The Frogs*, which ridicules tragedians.

The last two chapters of M.K. Kellogg's book are dedicated to philosophers Plato and Aristotle. In the case of Plato, the focus is only on his *Symposium*. The speeches in the praise of love are grouped as follows: Phaedrus, Pausanias and Eryximachus; Aristophanes and Agathon; Socrates and Diotima; Alcibiades. Diotima's speech enables Kellogg to also touch upon Plato's theory of Forms. In Aristotle's philosophy, M.K. Kellogg focuses on ethics, moderation, and recommendable way of life in this regard. More detailed are discussions of man as a "political"¹⁴ creature and Aristotle's theory of politics.

The above description gives the reader an idea of the core of Kellogg's book, which is the human being¹⁵. It becomes most explicit in the chapters about philosophers. In the case of Plato, the analysis focuses on one of his middle dialogues about love. Undoubtedly, *The Symposium* is also an essential dialogue; yet, some others missing in Kellogg's book are just as important or even more so from the point of view of his theory of Forms. Focus on Aristotle's ethics and politics is also one-sided, as the philosopher's writings on metaphysics and logic¹⁶ as well as works dedicated to nature and literary criticism¹⁷ have been practically overlooked. Yet, the latter have exerted a strong impact on the more recent tradition. But as concerns the human being, for Kellogg it is a constant that connects us to other cultures and eras.¹⁸

In conclusion we could say that Michael K. Kellogg's book, *The Greek Search for Wisdom*, is a gripping summary of the Greek authors of the classical era as well as their works, providing also a historic and cultural background of the era. The book revives the era of antiquity for the reader. Yet, the reader should bear in mind that the overview is not comprehensive, but constitutes a limited selection of authors and topics. Also, we have to be aware that there is a gap between the familiar and the alien, which was referred to in the beginning. Only after we have acknowledged it, we can start mapping unknown lands.

Neeme Näripä

Notes

- ¹ M.K. Kellogg also recommends his book (p. 291).
- ² As the palace also has rooms for people, it also has a familiar element.
- ³ Herodotus was born in Halicarnassus, Asia Minor.
- ⁴ Comparisons with the works of William Shakespeare are frequent (about Homer in more detail on p. 46, about Euripides on p. 129) and the Old Testament (e.g. on p. 124 the banished Oedipus in Sophocles's play *Oedipus at Colonus* is compared to Job in the Old Testament). From the viewpoint of antiquity, such comparisons are certainly anachronistic; yet, they help to make the texts of antique authors more reader-friendly.
- ⁵ Theognis, Solon and Mimnermus could be mentioned among the most renowned ones.
- ⁶ E.g. Hipponax and Archilochus. In the case of the iamb, a separate discourse could be seen, which existed in a certain form also during the classical period (see Steinrück 2009).
- ⁷ The beginning of the Hellenistic era is marked by the death of Alexander the Great in 323 BC, and the end by the Battle of Actium in 31 BC.
- ⁸ On pp. 122–123, the author claims, unreferenced, that according to Aristotle, tragedy was supposed to make people sympathise with the hero's sufferings and understand the vulnerability of the human "in a universe whose purpose and meaning we cannot fully grasp", whereas on pages 127 and 129 there are references to Aristotle's *Poetics*. On p. 114 the author quotes Hegel through George Steiner (1984: 4).
- ⁹ The expression 'terrible beauty' can be found only in Robert Fagles's translation cited by M.K. Kellogg. Kellogg uses this expression to characterise the entire epic poem. Also we have to note that in Kellogg's citations the numbers of verses in *The Iliad* do not correspond to those in the more wide-spread publications (Kellogg refers here to verses 3.187–190, whereas in the more wide-spread publications these are 3.156–160).

- ¹⁰ Mainly in Hesiod's *Theogony*.
- ¹¹ The content and themes of other plays by Sophocles are also briefly presented.
- ¹² Actually, Aristophanes is the only author in the Old Attic Comedy whose several works have survived virtually complete.
- ¹³ Kellogg sees it as a parody of state organisation in Plato's *The Republic*.
- ¹⁴ Here the relationship is, above all, to polis (Greek city-state), not politics in the modern sense of the word.
- ¹⁵ In this respect, this book could be compared to Jean-Pierre Vernant's excellent collection *The Greeks* (Vernant 1995).
- ¹⁶ In *Metaphysics* and *Organon*, respectively.
- ¹⁷ About natural sciences, e.g., in the *History of Animals*, and *Parts of Animals*; about literary criticism in *Rhetoric* and *Poetics*.
- ¹⁸ On pp. 43–46 Kellogg suggests that Greek gods could have been merely metaphoric aspects of the human *psyche*, i.e., general human archetypes.

References

- Auerbach, Erich 1973. *Mimesis: The Representation of Reality in Western Literature*. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.
- Fagles, Robert (trans.) 1998. Homer: The Iliad. New York: Penguin Books.
- Frisk, Hjalmar 1991. Griechisches etymologisches Wörterbuch II. Heidelberg: Carl Winter Universitätsverlag.
- Graves, Robert 1957. The Greek Myths. Volume one. New York: George Braziller.
- Heinlein, Robert A. 1970. By His Bootstraps. In: *The Menace from Earth*. New York: New American Library, pp. 39–88.
- Jaeger, Werner 1986. *Paideia: The Ideals of Greek Culture*. Volume 1. Archaic Greece: The Mind of Athens. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Nietzsche, Friedrich 1968. The Birth of Tragedy. In: Walter Kaufmann (transl. & ed.) Basic Writings of Nietzsche. New York: Modern Library, pp. 1–144.
- Steiner, George 1984. Antigones. New Heaven: Yale University Press.
- Steinrück, Martin 2009. Der Neue Iambos: Studien zu den Formwegen eines griechischen Diskurses im Hellenismus und der Kaiserzeit. Hildesheim: G. Olms.
- Vernant, Jean-Pierre (ed.) 1995. The Greeks. Chicago: The University of Chicago Press.
- Weinberg, Steven 1988. The First Three Minutes: A Modern View of the Origin of the Universe. New York: Basic Books.
- Whitehead, Alfred North 1985 [1929]. Process and Reality: An Essay in Cosmology. New York: The Free Press.

SUPERNATURAL BEINGS IN SLOVENIAN FOLKLORE



Monika Kropej. *Supernatural Beings from Slovenian Myth and Folktales*. Ljubljana: Scientific Research Centre of the Slovenian Academy of Sciences and Arts, 2012. 284 pp.

The book entitled *Supernatural Beings from Slovenian Myth and Folktales* by Slovenian ethnologist Monika Kropej gives a detailed overview of more than 150 supernatural beings in Slovenian folklore. As source material, the author uses mainly folktales, along with historical and literary treatments, and draws parallels with the lore of other European countries (and, to a lesser extent, also non-European cultures), also suggesting possible literary influencers. In addition, the author's attention focuses on regional peculiarities (quite a few creatures are known only regionally or by different names in

different regions). At the end of the book, the reader can find a sizable bibliography of cited works and a register of Slovenian supernatural beings.

In the introductory part, the author presents an overview of the history of myths studies and outlines the current situation in traditional Slovenian folk tradition. The author argues that, although folktales and other fields of lore have nearly ceased to be presented in traditional contexts, an overall increase of general interest in folklore can be observed. However, the modern spheres of folklore application (e.g. entertainment and tourism) largely differ from those of the past.

The main part of the book is presented in four subdivisions. The first one discusses supernatural creatures in cosmology. Here the reader can find depictions of the creatures related to the motifs explaining the creation and functioning of various phenomena in the world, such as a huge fish carrying the earth on its back, or a bull, whose movements cause earthquakes, as well as different deities, such as Kurent, Veles, Kresnik, or Mother Goddess Mokoš and her derivates. As an equivalent of St. George, Slovenian folklore has Zeleni Jurij (Green George), and the author gives an interesting explanation about the origin of beliefs related to him. The second subdivision gives an overview of mythical animals (e.g. the unicorn, the seahorse and the centaur), as well as dragons, snakes and birds, and also the roles attached to them. A well-known creature is the snake king (or -queen) guarding treasures, who, as many other mythical creatures, is depicted as white, as well as house snakes in the role of mythological home guardians. The next subdivision, 'Between Heaven and Earth', examines giants, creatures that are connected to concrete natural environments (e.g. forest and mountain beings, water sprites), creatures foretelling the future, and fairies. About a dozen water sprites with different names are mentioned, several of which have predominantly had the function of intimidating children. The last subchapter, 'Demons and Bewitched Souls', enables us to have a glance at the images in Slovenian folklore related to the afterworld. The reader is given the reasons why some people wander around on the earth as spirits; for example, people who have died an unnatural death or unbaptised dead children can turn

into restless spirits; nor can cursed people or unpunished criminals find their peace. This subchapter also includes descriptions of more commonly known creatures, such as werewolves and vampires. However, by Slovenian religious beliefs, some of the deceased return to the world of the living with good intentions, for example, to redeem a promise or reconcile with an enemy. An interesting overview is given about the personifications of various troubles and dangers, such as death, epidemics (e.g. plague) or voracity.

The book ends with a glossary of supernatural beings, which provides a concise summary of their main characteristics. In conclusion I can say that the book features creatures that are known both in Estonian and other beliefs, as well as those typical of only Slovenian folklore. Therefore, it serves as a valuable source material for all researchers interested in supernatural beings; yet, due to its affable style, it could also be well received by a wider readership.

Reet Hiiemäe

RESCUED EPICS¹

Kádár, László & Katū, Balčigīn. *Аврагдсан туульс. Rescued Epics*. Three Heroic Epics from the Repertoire of the Bayit Bard Uwxīn Bat. Budapest: L'Harmattan Kiado, 2012. 215 pp.

Mongolian epics as a folklore genre are well known in Europe especially thanks to a multi-volume edition *Mongolische Epen* initiated in 1975 by Nicholas Poppe. Dozens of texts, published in their full length or as short presentations of plots, mostly in German, opened the wonderful world of epics to Western scholars as well as to the readers interested in the phenomenon. It is obvious that much less can be said about English translations of Mongolian epics; and it is exactly the reason why we are going to briefly present a new book, jointly



prepared by László Kádár and Balčigin Katū under the editorship of Ágnes Birtalan and Zsolt Szilágyi.

The history of this volume goes back to 1962, when a young doctoral candidate László Kádár tape-recorded three epic stories from the storyteller Uwxīn Bat in Ulan Bator, Mongolia. It took 46 years for his tape-records to finally be digitalised and transcribed by the Mongolian folklorist Balčigin Katū and, after being translated into Hungarian and later also into English, appear in a printed form. In his very vivid preface to the book the collector describes his work with the storyteller, and one can but admire both his achievements and his unselfishness: while working with Uwxīn Bat, he recorded everything that he was able to pay for. According to Kádár, the fee he paid him amounted to his monthly stipend, which, Kádár adds, he would deem "a very modest remuneration for his extraordinary performance" (p. 11). Many of us, especially from the former Soviet countries, who used to work with storytellers, often did the same in order to safeguard as many examples of the epic tradition as possible, even if we did not have any stipend at all. The preface also contains a short but quite informative biography of Uwxīn Bat (1899–1972?) (pp. 12–13).

The book includes three epic stories from the rich repertoire of Uwxīn Bat: Bum Erdene – One Hundred Thousand Treasures (pp. 43–144, 4987 lines), Dalain Šar Bodon – Giant Yellow Boar (pp. 145–190, 2212 lines), and Tüšet Mergen Xānā Köwün Kölög Erdene – Son of Tüshet Khan, Valliant Treasure (pp. 191–212, 1037 lines). They all belong to the Bayit epic tradition, even though Bum Erdene is also known among another Mongolian group called Dörböt (p. 15, 17). The story of Bum Erdene is already well known to epic researchers, whereas the second text appears here for the first time, and the third one recorded from another Mongolian storyteller in 1979 was published once in Mongolian (Katū 2001). All this makes the English edition especially valuable.

In order to better understand the context of Mongolian epics in general and some specific details of the published plots in particular, the book is supplied by a long introductory chapter written by Balčigin Katū, who is well known among folklorists due to many Mongolian epic texts published by him. In the chapter entitled 'About Uwxīn Bat's Epic Poems' (pp. 15–42) Katū tells us in detail about all the variants of the three epics recorded in the 20th century (pp. 15–17), compares some nuances of eight variants (we would say, versions) of Bum Erdene epos (pp. 18–39), and finally shares with us his ideas about the structure of Mongolian epics (pp. 39–42). The way of comparison (too general) and the language (not so well corresponding with academic terminology²) do not give much satisfaction, but anyway, as it is said, it helps understand some details of these three epic stories.

Finally we can add that the English translation (at least, for a non-native speaker) is absolutely readable, for it reproduces the charm and beauty, and sometimes even the rhyme (alliteration) of Mongolian epics. The only problem we can see is the editors' idea to consciously avoid including any remarks, notes or other explanations to any parts, loci communes, formulas, terms, or proper names of the published texts, which makes the readers' task quite challenging. The readers are advised to consult in all difficult cases the really good and professional description of the Mongolian mythology published by one of the volume editors (Birtalan 2001). All of this would be just fine, if the suggested reading were published in English. But this is not the case, which significantly limits the audience of the reviewed book. At the same time the book includes a CD with the voice of Uwxīn Bat, which significantly compensates for the lack of sufficient academic comments. By adding the CD, the editors have partly broadened the audience, because it makes the book attractive for linguists, dialect researchers, and ethnomusicologists as well. Even lay readers would benefit from listening to the beautiful voice of the singer.

The book really deserves its name "rescued epics". We would suggest reading it to all those researchers who are interested not only in Mongolian folklore but also in Asian cultures in general.

Dmitri Funk Moscow State University / Tomsk State University

> Elena Nam Tomsk State University

Notes

- ¹ Written in the framework of the project "Man in a Changing World. Problems of Identity and Social Adaptation in History and at Present" (the RF Government grant No. 14.B25.31.0009).
- ² E.g. "matriarchal society" (p. 29); "before the period of married couples, women were not fewer than men, even outnumbered them, but later the number of women fell back and the search for wives began"; "at some developmental stage of Mongolian society" (p. 38), to name but a few.

References

Birtalan Ágnes 2001. Die Mythologie der mongolischen Volksreligion. In: Egidius Schmalzriedt & Hans Wilhelm Haussig (eds.) Wörterbuch der Mythologie: Die Alten Kulturvölker 34. Stuttgart: Klett-Clotta Verlag, pp. 879–1097.
Katū Balčigin 2001. Bayad ardīn tūl. [Bayit Folk Epics.] Ulānbātar.

REFLECTIONS ON THE FIGHT AGAINST THE IMAGE OF SHAMANISM



Sundström, Olle 2007. Kampen mot "schamanismen": Sovjetisk religionspolitik gentemot inhemska religioner i Sibirien och norra Ryssland. Studier av inter-religiösa relationer 40. Uppsala: Universitetstryckeriet. [The Struggle against "Shamanism": Soviet Religious Policy towards the Indigenous Religions of Siberia and Northern Russia.] 221 pp. In Swedish.

In his book, Olle Sundröm explores the Soviet decades-long attempts to silence "shamanism". Sundström uses quotation marks in writing about this topic and argues that in Soviet sources the term "shaman" is taken out of its initial context and applied specifically as a negative category according to Marxist-Leninist worldview. Thus, this book is dedicated less to the analysis of Siberian indigenes' real life transformations

and rather concentrates on the treatment of shamanism in Soviet ideology and religious policy. According to Sundström, the Soviets first created an image of the indigenous religious enemy and then executed a sophisticated strategy for demolishing their opponents, supposedly threatening the whole Soviet system at grass-roots level.

The monograph starts with extensive overviews of Marxism-Leninism, its approaches to religion and different periods of Soviet anti-religious policy. This context-building helps us to recall the main arguments of Marxist and Russian Communist classical authors and to understand the way that these ideas finally shaped Soviet political applications among the northern peoples.

The last and most important chapter is dedicated to the analysis of religious politics in Siberia and Russian North, concentrating predominantly on the early Soviet period (the 1920s and 30s). The author aims to provide readers with a really comprehensive frame for reflections, and his study also depicts a few features of shamanic revival, contextualised by post-Soviet developments.

Sundström's intention is to investigate ideological sources, the application and results of the Soviet religious politics in the case of indigenous groups of the northern areas of European Russia, Siberia and the Far East. In order to achieve his goal, Sundström explores the published sources and research of Soviet and Russian scholars as well as their international colleagues.

In the analysis of Marxist discourse, Sundström points out some meaningful controversies between the ideas of Marx and Lenin. As Sundström argues, Russian modifications of Marxist philosophy of religion had some specific and severe consequences for the northern peoples of Russia. Whereas Marx and Engels saw religion as a protest against human misery, Lenin interpreted religion as a hegemony over souls. Sundström also stresses that Marx's philosophical determinism was replaced by Lenin's activism. So it becomes clear that Soviet approach to religion was shaped as rather hostile and aggressive.

Sundström points out that in the 1920s, the northern peoples and their shamans underwent a relatively peaceful period and shamanism's social position even strengthened. But during the following decade, shamans became considered exploiters of the working population of the northern peoples. Although a few anti-shamanic regulations were adopted already during the 1920s, in general this argument is clear and adequate. Consequently, shamans became repressed in the 1930s.

Repressions against shamans were ideologically prepared and followed by social campaigns meant to renegotiate the shaman's image. In popular and scholarly literature shamans became depicted as violent, cheating and profit-seeking representatives of the old capitalist system. Sundtröm considers evidence about shamans' misdeeds concerning their fellow northerners and the Communist regime, as well as official descriptions of struggle against shamans, "fragmentary and anecdotal". It is certainly complicated to compose a complete factual overview of the Communist-shamanic conflict in the Soviet Union.

Anyhow, I am not sure that the public image of shamans of that period can be categorised simply as anecdotal. It is true that during the 1930s even images of whole ethnic groups became extremely pejorative in the Soviet Union. The most famous of these is the Chukchi case. Beginning 1930, the Chukchi became the notorious heroes of Soviet anecdotes, being depicted as the most backward in literature and feature films. But if one reads papers from the 1920s, it appears that the Chukchi were then described as the most advanced people among the northern minorities, and relatively well off (developing trading business exclusively with the Americans, buying ships from Alaska, longing for American education, enjoying jazz). Definitely, beginning the 1930s, it was decided to introduce a totally different public image of the Chukchi in particular, and the same was basically done about all northern minorities.

Yet, it was not simply a mockery; this new image was carefully calculated. If people live well and shamans are smart and useful, there is no need for intervention. The new image of ridiculous northerners and particularly shamans prepared and supported reforms and repressions among the indigenous inhabitants of the North.

Sundström defines the public and official image of a shaman in early Soviet context as "a leading person among the peoples of the North who resisted the socialist reconstruction by referring to his or her indigenous worldview, ritualising this resistance in accordance with that worldview" (p. 199). So, according to Sundström, the Soviet ideologists produced an alleged causal relationship between the northern indigenous religion and people's resistance against the Soviet regime. But it is not clear whether it was an almost pure ideological invention or this image resembled the social reality of the period to a certain degree.

Ideologically unbiased researchers of later periods and indigenous sources from our fieldwork strongly support the concept of a prominent presence of religious issues in indigenous northerners' conflicts with administrators and party officials throughout the 1930s. It is worth considering that accents of pressure were different from the actual effects of anti-shamanic campaigns. To illustrate with an example: when shamanism was abolished publicly, it went underground. Official ideology regarded shamanism merely as a superficial anti-communist ideology and actual reasons for contradictions were economic and power relationships. But indigenous people considered shamanism real and kept it going even if it was publicly dismissed.

My calculated impression is that there was a definite connection between religion, resistance and repressions. It can be admitted that, in general, the Soviet propaganda is adequate in this respect. But in more specific cases, ideologically accurate accusations in shamanism were often applied as formal arguments in repressing indigenous people.

Sundström reveals how the Soviet anti-religious policy was later changed periodically but remained basically the same. Changes in its implementation were simply tactical, depending on various political and social factors but also on the individual approaches of the current Communist Party leaders. The 1930s was a period of especially harsh measures, aimed at liquidating religion completely. Basically, the authorities managed to make religion (including shamanism) disappear from the public sphere.

In conclusion, one can easily recognise that the structure of the monograph is clear and logical. The main emphasis is laid on the analysis of the developments in the 1920s– 30s and these are really decisive decades in the recent history of Russian northern indigenous minorities. Characteristically, the destiny of "shamanism" reflects these major changes in a distinguished way. The author has succeeded in providing a systematically conceptualised and creatively accomplished study of Siberian native peoples lives during the past hundred years.

Art Leete

OUR AUTHORS

Maria Petersson works as a project leader/archaeologist at the Swedish National Heritage Board, Contract Archaeology Service East (RAÄ, UV Öst). She specialises in the Early Iron Age, working mainly with large-scale archaeological excavations. Another of her fields of interest is agrarian archaeology, involving investigations of both arable land and gardens. Her doctoral thesis from 2006 deals with animal husbandry and cattle herding during the Late Bronze Age and Early Iron Age in Östergötland, Sweden. A project she has been carrying out since 2009 concerns a long-term perspective on settlement and landscape in Östergötland.

maria.petersson@raa.se

Anne Carlie is Associate Professor of archaeology. Since 2000, she has been working with archaeological excavations at the National Heritage Board in Sweden, specialising in the Iron Age period. Besides identifying traces of ritual practices, her fields of interest include the social organisation of settlements and sacrificial sites.

anne.carlie@raa.se

Tõnno Jonuks, PhD, is a senior researcher at the Estonian Literary Museum, Department of Folkloristics. He is interested in the archaeology of religion, especially in northern Europe. His main research interests involve studying of the processes of change in past religions, sacred places, and recently also artefact studies.

tonno@folklore.ee

Tuuli Kurisoo is a PhD student at Tallinn University and she works at the Institute of History of Tallinn University. Her research focuses on different symbols and their meanings in Late Iron Age Estonia. She is interested in understanding the importance of adornment use and questions of representing identities through material culture, as well as its connections to religion.

tuuli.kurisoo@tlu.ee

Sonja Hukantaival is a PhD student of archaeology at the University of Turku, Finland. The subject of her thesis is deliberately concealed objects in buildings from historical times in Finland. The topic is approached from the perspectives of both folklore accounts on magic practices involving concealed objects and factual finds of concealments. Her interests include also a wider perspective of material culture of folk religion.

sonja.hukantaival@utu.fi

Ester Oras is a PhD student of archaeology at the University of Cambridge. Her research focuses on the Iron Age and early medieval hoard finds, wealth deposits and other intentional artefact concealments in the eastern Baltic. Her main fields of interest include practice theory, agency, ritual, religion, history of archaeology, and archaeochemistry.

eo271@cam.ac.uk

Kristiina Johanson is a PhD student at the University of Tartu. Her research focuses on the secondary use of archaeological objects. The main emphasis of her studies is set on different interpretations of Stone Age artefacts from chronologically later contexts, e.g. apopotraic or healing magic.

kristiina.johanson@ut.ee

Dettp://www.falldore.ee/fallelore

Archaeology of Religion

🙀 🕥 🔮

vol. 55 http://www.folklore.ee/folklore Ester Oras, Archaeology of Holiness: Session Held at the 12th Tonno Jonuks Nordic TAG Conference in Oulu, Finland Maria Petersson Hulje: Calendrical Rites along a Small Stream Anne Carlie Archaeology and Ritual: A Case Study on Traces of Ritualisation in Archaeological Remains Tonno Jonuks, To Be or Not to Be ... a Christian: Some New Pers-Tuuli Kurisoo pectives on Understanding the Christianisation Sonia Finding Folk Religion: An Archaeology of Hukantaival 'Strange' Behaviour Ester Oras Sacrifice or Offering: What Can We See in the Archaeology of Northern Europe? Tonno Jonuks. Materiality of Religion: Religion-Related Ester Oras. Artefacts in Estonian Archaeological Collections Kristiina Johanson

Archaeology of Religion

On the cover: A gilded silver rivet dated to the 5th-6th cc. AD, from the excavations of Ojaveski stone grave, Kadrina parish. (AM A 349: 345)

A dog or a horse figurine. (AM A 554: 777)

11

8340

